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PREFACE

IT is probable that these Memoirs would never
have seen the light, but for the fact that in some
books, comparatively recently published, which
deal with the history of the campaigns of the
Sutlej and of the Indus, it appeared that on at
least one occasion blame was imputed to Sir
Joseph Thackwell, either owing to the writers
not being in possession of a complete knowledge
of all the attendant cirewmstances, or because
they were not aware of the terms of the actual
orders from Lord Gough by which the actions
of Sir Joseph Thackwell were guided or controlled.
General Thackwell was not only the most loyal
of subordinates, but he had ever carefully reframed,
even in his private correspondence and journals,
from anything approaching comment or criticism
of the actions or commands of his superiors, In
all the pages of his diaries—bridging the lapse of
years between Corunna and Gujerat—there is no
word of adverse, much less of hostile, criticism.
He had, too, a horror of anything like literary

or journalistic con®roversy in regard to military
v
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operations; he strongly disapproved of officers
writing for the Press—in a letter written before
his son Edward came to India he warns him, as
he values his own prospects and his father’s good
opinion, “never to write in the newspapers.” The
“ Narrative of the Second Seikh War ” was written,
as the author admits, without Sir Joseph’s know-
ledge or countenance, and it is unquestionable
that its publication gave him no little annoyance.
Nearly half a century has, however, passed
‘away since the General’s death, and it is thought
that in justice to his memory some attempt may
now well be made to show how circumstances
shaped the events in which he bore a leading
part, and to what extent such of his actions as
have been questioned were fettered by his loyal
observance of the orders of those who were
responsible for the carrying out of the general
scheme of operations,

Major-General W. de 'W. R. Thackwell, C.B,,
V.D.,, J.P., of Wynstone Place, Gloucestershire, the
eldest surviving son of Sir Joseph Thackwell, has
for some time past wished to publish his father’s
memoirs, and has unreservedly placed at my
disposal for this purpose, not only all the late
Sir Joseph Thackwell’s journals and the manu-
script® record he compiled of the services of the
15th Hussars in Spain, but a mass of correspond-
ence—private letters and copies of public docu-
ments—connected with the events of a long and
‘particularly varied military career.



PREFACE vii

I am greatly indebted to my brother, Major
Wiylly, of the staff of the Royal United Service
Institution, for much help in the way of reference
to the literature of the wars wherein Sir Joseph
Thackwell was engaged, and to Mr. William
Foster, of the India Office, for assistance in regard
to maps.

In the matter of the spelling of Indian place-
names, I' have thought it less confusing to ignore
the different manner in which these are spelt by
the various writers quoted, and to spell each one
throughout in the way to which the ordinary
reader is best accustomed.

H.C.W.
March, 1908,
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Military Memoirs of Lieutenant-General
Sir Joseph Thackwell

CHAPTER I

JosEPH THACKWELL, the subject of these memoirs,
was born on the 1st February 1781 at Rye Court,
almost under the shadow of the Malvern Hills, and
in that picturesque and historically interesting por-
tion of the county of Worcester which marches
with Gloucestershire, and which is known as Malvern
Chase. He was the fourth son of John Thackwell,
of Rye Court and Moreton Court, Lord of the
Manor of Birtsmoreton and Berrow, and was
descended from an' old Worcestershire family.
His mother was Judith, daughter of J. Daffy, of
Maysington, a descendant of the Egyoke family.
There is little or no record of young Thackwell’s
boyhood ; he appears, however, to have been
educated chiefly in Worcester, and when barely
seventeen and a half he was appointed to the
Worcestershire Regiment of Provisional Cavalry,
in which his commission as Cornet signed by Lord
Coventry, Lord-Lieutenant of the county, bears
1



2 EARLY SOLDIERING

date 18th August 1798. The Provisional Cavalry
was a short-lived force, which had been called into
existence just ten years previously when the alarm
of invasion was at its height and appears to have
been in some degree a Home Defence Regular
Cavalry for service in the British Isles only—
being quite distinct from either the Yeomanry or
the Volunteer Cavalry. Fortescue states in his
“ History of the British Army” that owners of
horses kept for riding or carriage were “required
to'provide one trooper and horse for every ten of
such horses, while those that possessed fewer were
lumped together to provide their horsemen jointly.
This Provisional Cavalry was entitled to pay if
embodied, and was reckoned to comprise fifteen
thousand men.” The Worcestershire Regiment
had been embodied in 1797, and when Cornet
Thackwell joined them i Worcester the corps
was commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Hon. John
Somers Cocks. Thackwell was posted on appoint-
ment to Captain Parker’s troop—the regiment com-
prised but four troops—and his brother subaltern
was & Lieutenant Thomas Garden. '

On the 4th November the regiment marched
from Worcester vid Shrewsbury and Bridgnorth
to Chester, and about this time Captain Parker
appears to have resigned his commission, the
command of his troop devolving upon Captain
Thomas Webb.

During April and May of the following year the
Worcestershire Regiment of Provisional Cavalry
had its headquarters in Liverpool, and was there
commanded by Major Bromley, the commanding:
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officer being absent at Westminster attending to
his parliamentary duties; at this time Thackwell
was on detachment at Wigan, and later—on the
regiment moving to Shrewsbury—he seems to have
been detached in Liverpool and afterwards in
Preston. On the 12th September 1799 Thackwell
was promoted to the rank of licutenant, and trans-
ferred to Major Henry Bromley’s troop; and on
the 7th of the following month the regiment
moved by march route to Liverpool, under orders
from Major-General O. Nicholls, and thence
embarked for servicer in Ireland, where, “in
greater measure than in other countries, the
French Revolution had stirred inert minds to
activity, and active minds to precipitation.” The
embarking strength of the four troops would
appear to have been 187 men, since the pay-list
"of that date contains a credit for £294 10s. 6d.
“ embarkation money,” at the rate of £1 11s. 6d.
per man, The regiment disembarked at the Pigeon
House Dock, remained for a short time in Dublin,
and moved on the 14th November to Carlow.

At this period the British army contained an
enormous variety of regiments—*“regular regiments
for general service, regular regiments for European
service, regular regiments for home service, invalid
companies and other corps for garrisons at home
and abroad, militia, provisional cavalry, yeomanry,
volunteers, associations of cavalry, and associa-
tions of infantry,”* coloured levies and foreign
troops; and yet the military authorities of those
days seem to have found the time for the in-

! Fortescue.



4 JOINS THE FIFTEENTH

dulgence of a taste—one moreover which they
have bequeathed in full measure to their successors
in more modern times—for tonstantly and bewilder-
ingly changing the titles of regiments. Thus the
corps in which young Thackwell was now serving
had commenced its existence in 1796 as the
Worcestershire Regiment of Provisional Cavalry;
barely three years later it became the Worcester-
shire Regiment of Light Dragoons, and finally in
January 1800 its title was once again altered to
that of the Worcestershire Regiment of Fencible
Cavalry.

The regiment did not remain long in Ireland,
and I have been unable to discover that it was
ever actively engaged against the rebels; early in
1800 it again left Dublin, marched from Liverpool
to Bewdley and thence to Worcester, where on
the 12th April the regiment was finally disbanded,
Joseph Thackwell being gazetted on the 28rd of
that month Cornet by purchase in the 15th Light
Dragoons, whose headquarters were then stationed
at Canterbury, and joining a troop quartered at
Ramsgate on or before the 15th May.

At this period’ the 15th King’s nght Dragoons
bore a reputation second to none in the British—
or indeed in any cavalry. As Eliott’s Light Horse
the regiment had taken part, just forty years before,
in its maiden battle, and the name “ Emsdorff”
ceommemorates their gallantry and their heavy losses
during that engagement in the Seven Years’ War,
when going into action 450 strong they lost in
killed and wounded 4 officers, 125 men and
126 horses, and *five Battakons of French were
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defeated and taken by this regiment with their
Colours and nine pieces of cannon on the plains
of Emsdorff' July the sixteenth 1760.”* But when
young Thackwell was appointed there were officers
still serving in the regiment who had taken part in
an even greater feat of arms; Aylett was there who
had led the three squadrons of the Fifteenth at Villers
en Cauchies; there too were Calcraft, who had
ridden with him, and Robert Wilson——this last in
after-years the British Military Commissioner with
the Russian Army during Napoleon’s disastrous
campaign of 1812. The regiment had even now
but just returned from active service in Holland
under H.R.H. the Duke of York, where their
behaviour had earned for them the right to bear
the word “Egmont-op-Zee” upon their guidons
and appointments.

Truly a good school for a. young cavalryman
anxious so to train his mind and body that he
might rise to high rank in this particular branch
of the service! ,

When Thackwell joined the 15th Light Dragoons,
then commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel George
Anson, he was at first posted to Captain Sandford
Lambe’s troop, but in the following Jupe he was
transferred to that commanded by Majoi"[{nd Lieu-
tenant-Colonel Aylett, with whom he seems to
have remained until promoted lieutenant on the
18th June 1801, when he joined Captain James
Mansfield’s troop at Hertford.

During the autumn of 1800 and the winter of

! Inscription on a helmet issued to Eliott’s Light Horse after the
Seven Years’ War, and now in the Officers’ Mees, 15th Hussars,
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18001 the Fifteenth were at Dorchester, but in
the early part of April the regiment was ordered
to the neighbourhood of Taunton in consequence
of serious riots in Somersetshire, two troops being
sent to Launceston and Bodmin. Just now the
Fifteenth must have presented a very fine appear-
ance ; it was already 800 strong, but the ten troops
were now each augmented to 90 men and horses,
and in June the strength of the regiment was
again further increased until its establishment was
950 rank and file, with 1,012 horses. It seems
clear that already thus early Thackwell had shown
the zeal and ability which were ever afterwards to
distinguish him; for in September 1801, it being
determined to attach two galloper guns to each
regiment of light cavalry, he was sent in charge
of a party to Brighton to go through a special
course with Horse Artillery.. In the spring of
the following year, however, it seemed as though
the career of our young officer was likely to be
prematurely blighted ; the preliminaries of peace:
had been already signed in London in the previous
October, and the treaty of Amiens—which was
really nothing more than a suspension of arms—
was signed on the 25th March 1802. The imme-
diate result of a peace was the reduction of the
army, and the 15th Dragoons, which at the moment
were only twelve men short of their establishment,
was one of the first corps to suffer. In May 3828
men were discharged and 244 horses were trans-
ferred or cast, while in June two troops were
reduced, and the remaining eight were placed on
an establishment of 64 men and 54 horses, when
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the two junior captains, lieutenants, and cornets
were placed on the half-pay list. Among these
officers thus cast adrift was Joseph Thackwell,
and on the 25th June he had severed—fortunately
only temporarily—his connection with the regi-
ment with which, in the future, he was to see
so much and so distinguished service,

Already-in March 1808 the hostile attitude of
the First Consul was the cause of an augmenta-
tion in the strength of the various regiments of the
British Army ; the Fifteenth was brought up to a
strength of 75 men and 65 horses per troop, and
was stationed at different points on the Kentish
coast, and by July the establishment was further
raised to a total of 85 men for each of the eight
troops.

Thackwell appears to have been re-posted to his
old regiment on the 20th April 1804, but seems
for a time to have been supernumerary to the
establishment, since it is not until August that
his name is to be found on the pay list as attached
to a troop. In this month, however, two addi-
tional troops, making a total of ten, were placed on
the establishment, and Thackwell was then posted
to that nominally commanded by Captain Leitch,
who had been adjutant of the Fifteenth when
Thackwell first joined. As Leitch, however, was
absent on the staff' at this time as aide-de-camp
to the Duke of Cumberland, the troop—which was
at Blandford, the headquarters of the regiment
being at Winchester—was, for some time at least,
commanded by Lieutenant Thackwell.

In the beginning of March 1805 the establish-
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ment of each troop was raised to 106 men and the
same number of horses ; and in July the regiment
proceeded to Weymouth, where a very large force
had been assembled, and where the Fifteenth ap-
pears to have been brigaded with the 8rd Hussars of
the King’s German Legion. The regiment remained
at Weymouth—in Radipole Barracks—during the
succeeding year, and here at last Thackwell had
to hand over the troop he had so long commanded
as a subaltern to a Captain Augustus Heiliger, who
was brought in from the 2nd Light Dragoons of
the Legion. It was while quartered at Weymouth
that the Fifteenth were converted into hussars. On
the 9th April 1807 Captain Loftus was promoted
from the Fifteenth to a majority in the 88th Foot ;
but Thackwell’s promotion to the vacant troop,
which should have followed, was not notified until
the 11th July, although the date of his promotion
to captain was afterwards antedated to the earlier
date. He was appointed to command 1. Troop.
Meanwhile the regiment had begun to hope that
they were again to see service in the field, for
on the 21st May an order was received from the
Horse Guards to hold themselves in readiness
to embark for foreign service.

For some reason, however, the order was can-
~ celled, and it was not until the autumn of the year
following that the wishes of all ranks were to be
realised. In July 1807 the 15th Hussars had
moved to Woodbridge Barracks and Wickham
Market, and here the Hussar Brigade—7th,
10th, and 15th Hussars—was got together under
command of Major-General Lord Paget. The
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spring and summer of 1808 were spent in Essex,
and then at last, early in October, an order was
received for eight troops, each of 85 men and
- horses, to be held in readiness for foreign service.

The reason for this movement was the events
which had been transpiring in Portugal. On the
21st August the battle of Vimiera had been
fought, and on the 80th a treaty, known as the
Convention of Cintra, had been concluded at
Lisbon; Sir Hew Dalrymple had been recalled
to England; Sir Arthur Wellesley and, later,
Sir Harry Burrard had quitted the army in the
field ; and the forces in the Peninsula had been
left under the command of Sir John Moore, who
had landed on the very day of the battle which
closed that phase of the campaign. It was the
6th October before a despatch containing the first
determinate plan of campaign arrived at Lisbon,
where Sir John Moore then was.

“Thirty thousand infantry and five thousand
cavalry were to be employed in the north of
Spain. Of these, ten thousand were to be €m-
barked at the English ports, the remainder to
be composed of regiments drafted from the
army then in Portugal. Sir John Moore was
to command, and was authorised to unite the
whol¢ by a voyage round the coast or by a
march through the interior,”

Sir David Baird was directed to take under his
orders the force destined to be added to that
already under Sir John Moore in the Peninsula,

! Napier.
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and of which the greater part was collecting at
Cork and Falmouth—the cavalry at Portsmouth.

On the 20th the regiment began its march for
the port of embarkation, remained a few days
at Guildford en route, and finally embarked at
Portsmouth on the 28th and 30th October. The
embarking strength was 27 officers, 86 sergeants,
682 rank and file, and 682 horses. Captain Thack-
well was the junior but one of his rank. The
7th and 10th Hussars, completing the brigade, had
already set sail some days previously, and with
them was the brigadier, General John Slade, who
had served in the 10th until he had attained the
rank of second lieutenant-colonel, and under whom
the 15th Hussars had alveady served when at
Weymouth.

The voyage across the Bay was stormy, and
twenty-two horses died; but between the 12th
and 15th November the men and baggage of the
regiment were safely landed at the pier at Corunna
—the horses being towed ashore at the sterns of
the boats—and on the 21st the 15th Hussars
commenced their march up-country.

The strength of the Fifteenth marching out of
Corunna is given in the *“states” as 527 rank
and file—total of Hussar Brigade, 1,538.



CHAPTER 11

Sir Davip Barrp, with the bulk of his division,
had arrived at Corunna on the 18th October, but
his disembarkation had been very greatly delayed
by the action of the Spanish authorities. He had
expected to find every arrangement made for the
reception and accommodation of his troops, but
he speedily learnt that not only was the arrival
of the British force entirely unexpected, but that
the Junta of Galicia, then sitting at Corunna,
did not consider itself authorised to receive the
English troops, or to permit their disembarkation
without the sanction of the Supreme Government,
and the projected landing was consequently delayed
to obtain this permission.

Sir John Moore had written to Sir David from
Lisbon on the 12th October, the day before the
ships conveying the reinforcements from England
had anchored at Corunna, stating that he had
decided to march the troops with him through
Spain and Portugal, in preference to embarking
them and joining Sir David at Corunna by sea;
that he meant to move upon Almeida and Ciudad
Rodrigo by three different roads; that his march

thence would be on. Burgos; and that “at some
1
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intermediate place, which shall afterwards be
settled, our junction must be made.” Sir David
Baird was enjoined to place his troops in the most
convenient cantonments in and about Corunna,
and equip them for the field. On the 22nd Sir
John Moore wrote again announcing that most
of his regiments had started, but in the meantime
the courier sent to Madrid had returned to Corunna
conveying to Sir David permission to land in
the event only of its being found impracticable
to proceed by sea to Santander ; if disembarkation
did take place it must be in detachments of not
more than 800 men at one time, which were then
to be successively pushed on into Castile from the
pbrt of disembarkation. It was only by objecting:
in the strongest terms to this division of his force,
that Sir David was eventually enabled to canton
his troops in the towns and villages on the two
principal roads leading to Leon and Castile,
pending their proper equipment for field service.
As a matter of fact, however, the leading troops
of the force under Sir David Baird—the light
brigade with Brigadier-General Craufurd—was
actually on its march towards Astorga on the 28th
October, six days only after the permission to
land the troops had arrived at Corunna.

The cavalry-—whose embarkation at Portsmouth
had been delayed owing to the dearth of horse-
transports—were fortunate in that they were able
to disembark at Corunna very shortly after arrival.
Marching by the great Madrid road, General
Slade’s brigade moved through Betanzos, Monte
Guitirz, Lugo, Nogales, Villafmanca and Bembibre,



CONTRADICTORY ORDERS 18

and closed up with the force under command
of Sir David Baird, whose advanced posts were
in front of Astorga. General Slade, writing in
his diary of this march, states that the Hussar
Brigade halted at Betanzos on the 20th, Guitirz
on the 2Ist, Lugo on the 22nd, and Nogales on
the 24th, but these dates do not, however, appear
to agree with those mentioned in the records of
the 10th and 15th Hussars. The marches were
made by night, and the cold was very great, while
between Travedelos and Rogalos the road was
nothing but a track through the mountains with
a precipice on one side.

Much uncertainty had existed with respect to
the movements of the force under Sir David Baird.
Late on the night of the 29th November Sir David
had received a letter from Sir John Moore
announcing the defeat and dispersion of the
Spanish army under Castanos, and stating that
it was in consequence his intention to retreat
upon Portugal, while Baird was directed to fall
back upon Corunna, whence he was to sail for
the Tagus. At this time Moore estimated that
the French had 110,000 men in Spain; it was
certain that the Spaniards had no longer anything
like an army in the field ; while the British force,
even if united, was not of sufficient strength to
contend single-handed with the armies of Napoleon.
Baird then, in pursuance of his instructions, with-
drew his infantry to Villafranca, but decided to
retain for a few days at Astorga the cavalry
brigade which had but lately arrived at that
place.  On the &th December Sir John
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Moore wrote to Sir David Baird ordering him
to return with his whole force to Astorga, and
stating that it was his intention to do “all that
the wishes of his country and duty demanded”
to support the resistance which the people of
Madrid seemed ready to offer to the advance
of the French. In this letter Sir John Moore
asked that two regiments of cavalry should be
sent to him; Sir David, however, decided to send
forward the whole of the Hussar Brigade which
reached Benevente on the 6th, and on the 8th
December arrived at Zamora on the Duero, up
the left bank of which river it advanced through
Toro to Tordesillas. On the 15th it threw out
outposts towards Rio Seco to cover Sir John
Moore’s movement from Salamanca, joining hands
with Sir John Moore’s cavalry, consisting of the
18th Hussars and the 8rd Hussars of the King’s
German Legion under Brigadier-General Charles
Stewart. Moore’s projected advance upon Valla-
dolid was now given up, and on the 16th the
army, marching by Toro, continued its movement
upon Mayorga for the purpose of effecting a
junction with Sir David Baird’s corps and attacking
Soult. '

At Mayorga on the 20th December the long
anticipated junction of the forces of Moore and
Baird was at last effected.

Mayorga was within three leagues of Sahagun,
where it was stated that between seven and eight
hundred of the enemy’s cavalry were posted under
General Debelle. The Fifteenth had only marched
into Mayorga late that evening but were ordered
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to co-operate with the 10th Hussars and four guns
in the endeavour to cut off the French detachment.
For this purpose the 10th Hussars with the guns,
under General Slade, were to move along the right
bank of the Cea direct upon Sahagun, and about
daybreak push into the town, whilst the Fifteenth
with Lord Paget advanced by the opposite bank of
the river. The 10th and 15th, with the guns and
a small party of the 7th Hussars, accordingly left
Mayorga at midnight on the 20th December.
General Slade writes in his diary :

“ A more dreadful night the troops could not
be exposed to, as it was particularly dark, a severe
frost, with sleet falling, and the snow drifted in
many places to the depth of four feet. Many
horses fell, and one man had his leg broken.”

Between five and six in the morning of the
21st the advanced guard of the Fifteenth fell in
with a French patrol and took five prisoners, but
the rest escaping, owing to the extreme dark-
ness, the alarm was given. The regiment now
advanced with all possible expedition to cut off
the retreat of the enemy, and a little before day-
break approached Sahagun, where the French were
discovered formed up. Between the two forces
the ground was broken by a hollow way, and,
as the Fifteenth drew near, the enemy retired
towards a bridge on their left. Lord Paget moved
the regiment in columns of divisions and trotted
along parallel to the enemy’s line of march, but
a good deal behind them. The French frequently
endeavoured to crosgthe head of his column, when
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he changed the direction to prevent his flank being
turned. At length the French halted and formed
line, when the Fifteenth, having passed the enemy’s
left flank, also halted, wheeled into line and charged
with resistless impetuosity. The hostile cavalry
was absolutely borne down and unhorsed by the
superior activity and weight of our Hussars ; many
were killed and wounded, and the whole body
was overwhelmed and scattered ; two lieutenant-
colonels, eleven other officers and 154 men were
taken prisoners, twenty were killed and 125 horses
captured, while the casualties in the Fifteenth, con-
sidering the numbers opposed to the regiment—
double its own force—were few—only two rank and
file and four horses being killed, whilst the Colonel
and Adjutant, 18 rank and file, and 10 horses were
wounded.

Lord Paget expressed to all ranks of the Fifteenth
his grateful thanks for the gallant way in which
.they had behaved; Colonel Colquhoun Grant
~and Lord Paget were each given a medal ; the
conduct.of the Hussars received warm praise from
Sir John Moore in his despatch, dated Benevente,
28th December, to L.ord Castlereagh ; and the .
regiment was subsequently honoured with the
royal authority to bear the word “Sahagun” on
its appointments in commemoration of this action.

On the 21st, Baird’s division occupied the town
from which the French had been driven, and here,
too, Sir John Moore established his headquarters ;
the cavalry was pushed out towards the Carrion
and Saldanha.

The army was to have advanced at eight o’clock
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on the night of the 28rd December to attack Soult
in his position on the Carrion River ; but, previous
to the hour named, Sir John Moore received in-
formation from the Marquis de la Romana that
Bonaparte, having become acquainted with the
menace of the forward movement of the British,
had not only turned against them the troops
which were marching on Portugal, but was him-
self advancing from Madrid with an overwhelm-
ing force to cut off the English armies from
Galicia. In consequence of this information, Sir
John Moore determined to abandon the proposed
movement against Soult and to lose no time in
regaining the neighbourhood of Astorga, whence
the retreat of the British force might in some
degree be assured.

“ From the points occupied by the British army,
two principal roads lead on Astorga. That on the
north, crossing the Esla by a bridge at Mansilla
de los Mulos, and passing thro gh Leon, is the
more direct line of communication” (but this road
was occupied by the Spanish troops under la
Romana). “ The southern line crosses the Esla by
the bridge at Castro Gonzalo, about a league in front
of Benevente, through which town it passes. It
was along this road that Sir John Moore and the

rincipal gart of the army began to retreat ; whilst

ir David Baird was directed with his division
to take an intermediate direction by cross roads,
leading to Valencia de Don Juan, a town situated
on the Esla, about equidistant from the bridges
before mentioned, at which place the river is pass-
able by a large ferry-boat, and, in a dry season, at
a ford in the neighbourhood.”

! Hook.
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At this moment the English army was almost
hemmed in by the converging forces of the
French. In front, Soult had been strongly rein-
forced until he alone was now in superior strength
to the British, and there was danger lest he might
slip round Moore’s left and cut him off from
Corunna ; Junot, with the army liberated by the
terms of the Convention of Cintra, was moving up
from Burgos, and had reached Palencia; Lefebvre
was marching from Salamanca; while Bonaparte
himself, moving up like a whirlwind from Madrid,
across the deep snows and the wild hills of the
Guadarama, wag already close upon Tordesillas.
Lord Paget sent forward strong patrols, and the
cavalry preserved a bold front while the infantry
withdrew. General Slade chronicles in his diary :

“On the 25th, at three in the morning, we
marched back to Sahagun ; but how different the
treatment to that we received on advancing! No
more ringing of bells, no longer did the air resound
- with ‘ Long live the English ! All the shops were
shut, and not anything to be got. I may truly say
it was the most unpleasant Christmas Day that
could be spent.”

On the 26th the whole army was in full retreat
towards the coast. The cavalry reached Mayorga
on this date, and here the 10th Hussars had what
Napier describes as *“ a hardy action,” adding :

“The English cavalry had been engaged more or
less for twelve successive days, with such fortune
and bravery that above five hundred prisoners
had already fallen into their hands, and their leader
being excellent, their confidepce was unbounded.”
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On the 27th the Fifteenth reached Valderas, and
on the following day Benevente, and of these two
marches General Slade remarks that—

“we were thirteen hours on horseback—and a
most severe day it was, 1 should conceive that
not less than forty horses sunk from fatigue, and
had to be shot. . . . Marched to Benevente, It
rained the whole of this day, which after the frost
made the roads almost impassable. No ploughed
field, after the Breaking up of a frost, could be in
a worse state. The exertions of the artillery, and
the difficulties they encountered, exceed every-
thing I could have conceived,”

On the 29th the Reserve and Craufurd’s Brigade
quitted Benevente; but the cavalry remained in
that town, having guards at the fords of the Esla:
on this day General Lefebvre Desnouettes, with
five squadrons of Hussars of the Imperial Guard,
forded the river above the town and attacked the
picquets commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Otway,
of the 18th Hussars, 'The result was most credit-
able to the 10th, 18th, and 8rd German Hussars, led
by Brigadier-General Stewart ; but a few orderlies,
one of whom was killed, were the only men of the
Fifteenth who were engaged, the rest were with the
column, but moved up to the support of the cavalry.
The French did not, however, cross the Esla again,
and the Fifteenth continued its retirement on La
Baneza. The cavalry arrived at Astorga on the
81st ; and here, as recorded by General Slade—

“it was reported that the French were advancing
upon us. The Hussar Brigade assembled at our
alarm posts at 8 p.m¢ where we remained till mid-
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night,” (Thackwell says until two in the morning.)
“ We then marched to Bembibre, arriving at
2 p.m. the following morning. The many delays
were owing, in the first instance, to the depth of
the snow, and also from the frequent interruptions
we met with from carriages being overturned,
artillery wagons burning, ete.”

The mountains were covered with snow, and the
cold was intense, and some idea of the sufferings of
the troops may be gathered from the statement in
the records of the 10th Hussars, that “in the Tenth
alone, Captain Darley and seventeen private soldiers
died of fatigue, while sixty horses were destroyed to
prevent their falling into the hands of the enemy.”

Part of the Fifteenth covered the retreat from
Bembibre on the 2nd January, and with all its
exertions could not keep in its front the many
stragglers, who had, therefore, to be left to their
fate. The French cavalry had entered the town
before our picquets had well left it, and they
pressed much upon the rear during this march,
the Fifteenth having three horses killed, and two
or three men and horses wounded. That night
the whole regiment bivouacked on the high road
near a large dwarf wood three or four miles in
front of Calcabello—two troops on some open
rising ground, and the remainder nearly a mile
further to the rear. Thackwell states that here
“ several infantry stragglers, who had been miser-
ably gashed by the French cavalry, crawled to our
fires in the night, and were sent to the rear under
protection.”

Next morning the enemyyshowed a disposition
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to advance ; but losing a few men killed, wounded,
and taken, they desisted. At this time the strength
of the Fifteenth was under 800 men and horses,
and many of the latter were utterly exhausted,
lame from want of shoes, and could scarcely be
urged to a faster pace than a trot. In the evening
the British retired fighting through the town; the
French dragoons closed twice with the skirmishers
of the Fifteenth, and had several men killed, but
did not succeed in taking a single prisoner from
the regiment. From Villafranca the route lay over
the Monte del Cebrero, traversing a country so
broken and intersected as to prevent cavalry acting,
or indeed of moving at all except by the road. The
regiment, therefore, continued its retirement during
the night, and on the morning of the 4th left a
squadron of 80 rank and file, mounted on the freshest
horses, at Nogales to act with the infantry rear guard.

On the 6th Moore halted at Lugo and offered
battle, but the offer not being accepted the march
was resumed at night.-the Fifteenth remaining
on picquet until 5 a.m., keeping the fires burning
to delude the enemy into the belief that the
British Army was still in position, and then retiring
in torrents of rain to Betanzos. On the 11th the
army reached Corunna, and on the 15th the enemy
in considerable force drove in the outposts and
took " possession of the wooded heights overlooking
the British position; of the picquet of Hussars,
100 strong, several horses were wounded on this
occasion. A patrol under Thackwell, who was in
command of the cavalry picquets, was sent by
Sir John Moore to gscertain if the French were
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extending to their left. It proceeded about five
miles to our right front without meeting the
enemy, and part of the picquet remained out till
the morrow, but was not engaged in the battle.

Of the horses of the 15th Hussars, thirty only
were permitted to embark, some were given up
to the Commissariat Department, and the remainder
were slaughtered on the beach, the regiment em-
barking on the afternoon and night of the 16th
January. Towards the end of January, the Fifteenth
were disembarked at Portsmouth, Plymouth, and
Falmouth, landing with only 29 horses out of the
682 which theyhad taken with them when proceeding
on active service little more than three months
previously.

“The distance from Sahagun, the point at which
Moore’s retreat began, to Corunna, where he ex-
pected the British transports to be waiting for him,
was, in a direct line, about 160 miles; the actual
march of the troops was Frqbably about 220 miles. ...
During this retreat of eighteen days it will be
seen that Moore’s forces actually halted four days,
and it seems difficult to understand how a British
Army, unshaken by defeat, and splendidly led,
should practically have fallen into ruin in a period
of time so short. But the march from Sahagun
to Corunna was, for suffering and horror, like a
tiny section of the Moscow retreat. The track
lay .through the savage Asturian hills. It was
winter time—tempests raged almost incessantly.
Every stream was swollen, every ravine was choked
with snow.”?

! The only cavalry taking any part in the action appear to have
been forty men of the 15th Hussars, under Lieutanant Knight, forming

the escort of Sir John Moore.
* Fitchett, \
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Of the march from Astorga to Villafranca, Lord
L.ondonderry says:

“ The condition of the army was at this time a
most melancholy one; the rain came down in
torrents; men and horses were floundering at every
step; . . . the shoes of the cavalry horses dropped
off, and the horses themselves soon became useless.
It was a sad spectacle to behold these fine creatures
urged and goaded on till their strength utterly failed
them, and then shot to death by their riders, in
order to prevent them falling into the hands of the
enemy.”

Writing of the march of the 1st January, he says:

“ At this time the enemy’s cavalry, though they
seldom sought an opportunity of coming to blows
with us, pressed closely and incessantly upon our
rear; we rode frequently many miles in sight of
each other; and from time to time our rearmost
dragoons would exchange pistol shots with their
leading files.”

But throughout the retreat, as in the advance,
the work of the mounted portion of the force was
singularly brilliant, and few will be found to disagree
with the historian who says that—

“the part taken by the cavalry under Paget in
this retreat was very gallant. They faced with
cheerful courage and tireless hardihood the vastly
superior French cavalry, which pressed on the
British rear, and never failed to overthrow them
in the actual shock of the charge.”*

t Fitchett.



CHAPTER III

DuriNG the next four years the 15th Hussars
remained in England, and Captain Thackwell was
thus debarred from taking any part in the events
of that momentous period of the war in Spain
and Portugal. Instead, there was the usual round.
of home soldiering—change of quarters, reviews
on Hounslow Heath and Wimbledon Common ;
the Fifteenth being on at least one occasion
brigaded under their old commander, Lord Paget,
with the regiments—the 10th and the 18th Hussars
—in company with which they were again, ere
long, to see service in Spain.

Twice the monotony of home service was broken
by employment of an unusual character. In April
1810 the regiment was ordered to London from
Hounslow and Hampton Court to aid in suppress-
ing the riotous assemblages of the populace, which
took place when the House of Commons ordered
one of its members, Sir Francis Burdett, to be
taken into custody and lodged in the Tower for
a breach of privilege. Burdett had made himself
unpopular with the Government by vigorously
supporting freedom of speech and Catholic eman-
cipation, as well as by protesting against the

24
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suspension of the Habeas Corpus Act, against the
existing prison discipline, and against the enormous
taxation. He was apprehended at his rooms, and
conducted to the Tower by the Fifteenth and a
detachment of the Life Guards.

Again, on the 15th November 1811 the regiment
was hurried up from Colchester, where it was
then quartered, to Nottingham in consequence of
the disturbed state of the manufacturing districts.
Ned Lud was a Leicestershire imbecile who had
acquired some local notoriety by destroying
machinery, and his name was given to the
riots in which the popular discontent expressed
itself in the Midlands about this time. General
distress being caused by the progress of the
industrial revolution, the anger of the Luddites
was directed against the new machinery, much
of which was destroyed, and the whole of the
regiment was employed for several months at
the end of 1811 and the beginning of 1812 in
keeping order in Nottinghamshire, Yorkshire, and
Lancashire.

It was while quartered in November 1812 at
Manchester and the neighbouring cities and towns
that the Fifteenth received orders to hold six
troops, each of 90 men and horses, in readiness
for foreign service, On the 15th of the following
month the regiment marched for Portsmouth vid
Chichester and Arundel, was inspected by General
Hammond on the 18th January and embarked,
under command of Colonel Colquhoun Grant, on
the 15th and 16th, landing at Iisbon between the
8rd and 7th February.
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The four years which had elapsed since Thack-
well had quitted the Peninsula had been—

“years of struggle—of advance and retreat, of
triumph and of disaster ; shining threads of victory
interwoven with black threads of calamity and
hardship. If those years had seen the glories of
Talavera and of Salamanca, of Busaco and of
Badajos, they had also seen the black days of the
retreat to Torres Vedras, and the later retreat
after the failure at Burgos.”?

But the Fifteenth reached Lisbon in time to take
part in a campaign as glorious and as successful
as any which had preceded it, and as epoch-making
as any which were to follow under the same leader-
ship. Wellington had utilised the months which
followed the retreat from Burgos in reorganising—

“the allied army with greater strength than before.
Large reinforcements, especially of cavalry, had
come out from England, the efficiency of the
Portuguese was restored in a surprising manner,
and discipline had been vindicated in both services
with a rough but salutary hand. . . . Nor had the
English general failed to amend the condition of
those Spanish troops which the Cortes had placed
at his disposal. By a strict and jealous watch over
the application of the subsidy, he kept them clothed
and ged during the winter, and now had several
powerful bodies fit to act in conjunction with his
own forces.””

At the opening, then, of the campaign of 1818
Wellington was able to command the services of
something like 90,000 fighting men, 40,000 of

! Fifchett. ? Napier.
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whom were British and all of whom were in a
high state of efficiency.

“ The relative strength for battle was no longer in
favour of the French ; their force had been reduced ‘
by losses in the secondary warfare, and by drafts
since Wellington’s retreat, from 260,000 to 280,000,
Of the last number 30,000 were in hospital, and
only 190,000 men, including the reserve at%a{ronne,»
were present with the Eagles; 68,000, inc uding
sick, were in Aragon, Catalonia, and Valencia ; the
remainder, with the exception of the 10,000 left
at Madrid, were distributed on the northern line
of communication from the Tormes to Bayonne.”*

These troops were strung out across Spain from
Clausel’s army in the Asturias on the north-west
to the force under Suchet on the east in Valencia,
and the success of the French in the struggle which
was impending depended upon King Joseph being
able to concentrate his scattered armies rapidly
upon any one point.,  Wellington had decided—

“to_operate with his left, ascending the right of
the Duero to the Esla, crossing that river to unite
with the Galicians, while the rest of the army
advancing from the Agueda should force the
passage of the Tormes. By this combination,
which he hoped to effect so suddenly that the
King should not have time to concentrate in
opposition, the front of the allies would be changed
to their right, the Duero and Carrion turned and
the enemy thrown in confusion over the Pisuerga.
Then moving forward in mass the English general
could fight or turn any position taken up by the
King; gaining at each step more force by the
junction of the Spanish irregulars until he reached

! Napier.,
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the insurgents at Biscay ; gaining also new com-
munications with the fleet and consequently new
depdts at every port opened.”?

To prevent the concentration of the French armies
by which alone King Joseph might have offered an
effectual resistance to the design of the British, Wel-
lington held Suchet to the eastern coast by despatch-
ing an expedition to Tarragona, while Clausel in the
Asturias was rendered immovable by the partisan
warfare which was set going in his neighbourhood.

The Fifteenth was intended to form a Hussar
Brigade with the 10th and 18th Hussars, and
was the first regiment of the brigade to land in
Portugal, the Eighteenth arriving at the beginning,
and the Tenth not until the middle of February,
and it was only on 4th April that the brigade®
started to join Lord Wellington, the Fifteenth
leading. The following extracts from Captain
Thackwell's diary describe the main incidents of
the march and of the ensuing compaign :

“4th April—The three right troops of the
regiment marched at 11 o'clock from Belem to
Saccavem, distant three leagues.”

“ 5th.—Marched at 8 o’clock, and passed a small
river in front of Saccavem on a bridge of boats . . .
gfassed through the right of the Lines of Torres

edras, within half a league of Alhandra ; the road
is closed in with a work containing five or six guns,
and the line continues over a very steep and broken
ridge ; several batteries and a deep ditch connect it
with the Tagus ; and two or three batteries from
the islands therein flank the road from Alhandra.”

! Napier,
? Commanded by Colonel Colquhoun Grant.
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Azambuja was reached on 6th April, and here
and in the vicinity the brigade was closed up and
remained for several days, not leaving till the
20th, when the Fifteenth moved on and reached
Santarem. Marching by Thomar, Espinal—where
“the country,” remarks Captain Thackwell, «is
getting very rugged and mountainous and the
roads very bad,”"—and Celorico, Freixados was
reached on the 11th May, and here a halt was
made for the whole brigade once more to close aip.

“18th May.—The three regiments of Hussars
were inspected at 10 o'clock. this day, six miles
in front of Freixados on the Almeida road, by
the Commander of the Forces, who was pleased
to express his entire approbation of the fine ap-
pearance of the brigade, but particularly of that of
the 15th Hussars, which was considerably stronger
than either of the others, each squadron having
80 files in it ; my squadron had 81 including half-
squadron officers.  The brigade merely marched

ast by half-squadrons, ranked off, trotted past
y divisions and advanced in parade order.”

(On the 26th April, the “state” of the Anglo-
Portuguese Army shows the strength of the Hussar
brigade as follows: 10th Hussars, 505; 15th
Hussars, 521 ; 18th Hussars, 504.)

To Lieutenant-General Sir Thomas Graham,
who had only the month previous rejoined the
army in the field from sick-leave in England, had
been entrusted the direction of the force which
was to turn the French right by the Tras-os-
Montes—a region which King Joseph and his
military advisers had judged impassable for the
movements of an army.
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“ It was shaggy with forests, horrent with snowy
eaks, scarred deep with leaping mountain torrents.
hree great rivers had to be crossed; hill-crests,

white with winter snows or buffeted with angry
winds, had to. be surmounted, and many a
mountain pass, that never before hdd echoed to the
tramp of disciplined battalions, had to be threaded.”*

General Graham had under his command some
40,000 men, comprising Ponsonby’s, Grant’s, Bock’s,
Anson’s and ID’Urban’s cavalry brigades, the First,
Third, Fourth, Fifth, Sixth, and Seventh Divisions,
Pack’s and Bradford’s brigades of Portuguese in-
fantry, and a Spanish Division under Colonel
Longa.

“19th May.—Marched this day to Corriscada.”

“ 21st.—Marched to St. Amaro, and thence to the
river Duero—two small leagues, the country ve
‘hilly and bold, the road tolerable. The two léz
squadrons passed the river and encamped on the
right bank, the right squadron encamped on the
left bank in a beautitul olive grove and had
abundance of green forage. The difficulty of
getting the pontoon train over the river and up
a tremendous hill on the other side prevented our
crossing to-day.”

“ 22nd.—The right squadron passed the Duero
at Barca de Focinho at daybreak this morning and
marched to Torre de Moncorvo—a league and a
quarter. This is a very pretty town, pleasantly
situated among the mountains, The 18th and
10th Hussars also crossed to-day and marched to
the same place. The river Duero is beautiful
beyond description, and about 180 yards across at
the ferry, the current in places very rapid. On the

! Fitchett,
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hills on the right bank are three small field-works
thrown up by General Silviera, to prevent the
French crossing the river in 1811.”

(“ By the 24th May, after trying marches over
nearly impassable mountain tracts, Graham’s wing
was occupying a line on a front of forty miles
extending from Braganza on the left to Miranda
de Duero on the right. The force was formed in
three columns. On the left, the cavalry brigades
of Anson and Ponsonby, the First Division, and
Pack’s brigade held Braganza. In the centre,
Bock, D’Urban, the Fifth Division, and Bradford
were at Onteiro, the Third Division at Vimioso on
the right, the Fifth and Seventh Divisions, with the
18-pounder battery, occupied Molhadas and Miranda
de Duero, which the Hussar Brigade and Fourth
Division, who formed a link between the two
wings, were rapidly approaching.”)*

“ 26th May.—Marched to Sindim, a very pretty
town situated on a commanding eminence. Saw
from a hill in the neighbourhood a long way into
Spain, also Forcatello, a large town near the
junction of the Tormes witi the Duero, also
Miranda de Duero three leagues up the right bank
of the Duero.”

“ 27th.—Marched and encamped with the right
of the brigade on Castes, and the left on Brandi-
lanes in an oak grove in rear of a rivulet;
passed Villa Garcia and Constantin. The Fourth
Division of infantry were encamped on the left of
the road, midway between these villages and several
brigades of artiﬁery. On this day we found the
outposts of the army ; plenty of green forage, no
enemy near. The infantry passed our encampment
in two columns at half-past 10 o’clock in the direc-
tion of the River Esla, also some of the artillery.”

-t Butler,
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“29th.—Marched at 4 a.m. and crossed the River
Aliste at the ford of Mugo; the 10th Hussars
formed the right column and passed the wooden
bridge on the Aliste—the left column passed
through the village of Mugo, turned to the right
through Carvajales and encamped within two miles
and a half of the ford of Almenda on the Esla,
the whole brigade on a woody ridge with a marshy
rivulet in front—not easy to surprise. The in-
fantry and artillery encamped three miles in rear
near Carvajales. . . . At 2 p.m. rode with Colonel
Grant with a party of 10th Hussars to reconnoitre
the ford of Almenda, and found a French picquet
of about 60 cavalry compesed of Lancers, Heavy
Cavalry, and Chasseurs.  Colonel Grant and his
Brigade-Major endeavoured to discover the ford
on the left, whilst I moved along the bank to the
right and discovered the ford on the right, and
proved the practicability of it by nearly passing
over—the river broad ; the current very rapid ; the
water at the deepest part near four feet, and the
banks rising in hills. - Obliged to return by a party
of the enemy moving rapidly towards me. Joined
by Colonel Grant, Brigade-Major Jones, -and
Colonel Ross (20th Foot), pointed the ford out to
them and crossed the river with the two first.
The enemy moved towards us, and we retired.
This passage might be easily defended with heavy
guns—but if the enemy have only light, two
18-pounders will cover the passage of the ford and
secure the formation on the heights. I was the
first man of the British Army that crossed the
Esla at the ford of Almenda.”

“ 81st.—The intention of Lord Wellington to
pass the army to the left bank of the Esla this day
was evident from the Hussar Brigade having re-
ceived orders to be in readiness to march at 1 a.m.
Accordingly it marched at that hour, left in front ;
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my squadron (although the right one) formed the
advanced guard, a brigade of nine-pounders accom-
panying the brigade. At daylight the head of the
column reached the ford of Almenda, and no
enemy was visible. I received my instructions
from Colonel Grant to trot up the hill, and to attack
any description of force that might be opposed
to me, and he would take care to support me with
the brigade. The squadron entered the river
attended by some companies of the 51st Regiment,
and a corporal of the 18th Hussars acted as guide
for the ford. The ford was much swollen and the
river was very broad and rapid ; from the imperfect
light a ledge of rocks in the ford could not be
discovered, and many of the horses fell and threw
their riders into the water, who were saved with
difficulty, owing to the infantry holding the
horses by the stirrups and preventing them re-
covering themselves. The whole brigade, how-
ever, got safely over, with the exception of a horse
drowned, but between 20 and 80 of the Fifty-first
and Chasseurs Britanniques were drowned. The
remainder of the army crossed by a pontoon bridge
thrown over a mile higher up.  The right squadron,
on crossing the river, advanced up the hill at a
moderate trot, the right division forming the ad-
vance under Lieutenant Finch; the fourth division
formed the reserve under Captain Wodehouse.
On reaching the top of the hill I discovered the
enemy’s picquet, consisting of about 60 men,
formed in the village. I immediately formed my
two right divisions in line with intervals, whilst
the two left formed the support. The enem

commenced firing; 1 instantly ascended the hi

to the right to reconnoitre, and the enemy com-
menced retiring, I immediately advanced to the
attack, but the orders given not being obeyed,
the divisions in passing the village got into confu-

8
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sion, which from the enemy’s rapid retreat and
-my rapid pursuit could not be remedied. I
continued the pursuit nearly three miles, taking care
to reconnoitre the country as I advanced, and at
last ‘came up with them and succeeded in making
prisoners of about 50 men—nearly 20 of whom
contrived to make their escape in the woods after
they had been passed. Many were very badly
wounded, and some were badly wounded who
made their escape. 1 had never more than ten
men in action, and sometimes not above four or
fivee The enemy during their retreat were rein-
forced by thirty men more, some of whom added
to the number of prisoners.. I stopped the pursuit
within about a league and a half of Zamora, on dis-
covering myself not supported and seeing in my
front nearly 200 cavalry formed on a hill to cover
the defeated body.  The enemy commenced
skirmishing, and I gradually retired to a position
behind a rivulet covered by my skirmishers, This
I maintained until the enemy displayed two
squadrons on the hill in front. I then commenced
my retreat through the wood, and took up a
position in the rear of it, where the brigade soon
made its appearance. . . . The prisoners were all
of the 16th Dragoons.”

“2nd June.—A most infernal night. Joined
the regiment off picquet on the Toro road at
half-past four on its march to Toro; near that
town heard the French had just retired; the
Tenth and Eighteenth advanced at a trot, and the
enemy’s rear was found formed midway between
Toro and Morales, and consisted of part of the 21st
Dragoons, supported at Morales by the remainder
of the 21st and 16th Dragoons. The British
artillery fired nine rounds upon their rear with
little effect; they were charged by the 10th
Hussars and a squadron of the Eighteenth at Morales
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and pursued half a league beyond under cover

of six pieces of artillery, formed in a most com-
manding position, and the 5th and 12th Dragoons.

The enemy’s artillery did some execution among

the Tenth, particularly when upon the causeway

that leads across a morass. They however passed

and drove the enemy over the first hill. During

this time the Eighteenth and Fifteenth formed the

reserve, and were extremely steady under a fire of
round shot and shell. One of the latter dropped in

the centre of my squadron without doing the slight-

est damage, The Tenth were ordered to retire,

and the position being reconnoitred was considered

as too strong to be attacked. The loss of the

enemy in this affair was upwards of 200 men;

that of the Tenth and Eighteenth was one officer

killed and 27 men killed, wounded, and missing.

Returned to Morales for the night.”

In this action Colonel Grant was wounded,
and Lieutenant Woodberry, 18th Hussars, relates
that a Frenchwoman, whose husband, a French
officer, was killed in the charge, was captured among
the prisoners, disguised as a man in civilian clothes.

“5th June—Marched to Penaflor; the 14th
Dragoons and 1st Germans bivouacked near
Penaflor, as did the Fifth and Seventh Divisions
of infantry,” :

“6th.—Marched to within two leagues of
Duenas, and bivouacked opposite St. Cecilia, where
a flag of truce arrived concerning the prisoners
taken by the 10th Hussars; the officer reported
that the French headquarters were at Duenas.
The whole of the Allied Army is so well concen-
trated that it could form in battle order in less
than two hours.”

“7th—Marched to Villa Bona; the army
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marched in five columns, our brigade with the
centre one, the Fifteenth forming the advance
guard. . . . Crossed the River Carrion at Palencia
without opposition, the French having retired at
6 o'clock; we arrived at 9.30 am. ... Joseph
Bonaparte left Palencia yesterday.”

“8th.—Marched to Tamora, left the Third
Division at Mozon ; the Fifth and the First were
in front of Amusco, being the left column, the
Sixth and Seventh were a league in rear of Tamora,
and the Fourth and Light Divisions were with
us. The right column marched on the Burgos
road and consisted of the Second Division and
Portuguese.”

“ 9th.—The left column marched to Santillana,
and five Divisions were at Pena and Tamora. . . .
Crossed the canal of Castile, which we first saw
at Palencia. . . . Lord Wellington’s Headquarters
were this day at Amusco, yesterday at Amusco
also, on the 7th at Palencia, on the 6th at Castro
Monte, on the 5th at Lia Mota, on the 4th at Toro.”

¢ 10th.—Crossed the River Pisuerga, of consider-
able breadth, fordable below the bridge. . . . The
brigade formed the outposts with infantry columns
‘iIn the rear. Headquarters this day at Molga de

uso‘!’

“12th.—The brigade assembled between Ovillo
and Castillio, and formed the advance of the
centre columns; heard that the enemy were in
force. Passed through Isar and ascended the
opposite heights ; the heavy brigade marched
through Hormillos, and upwards of twenty
squadrons of the enemy’s cavalry were assembled
on the hills. Dispositions were made for attack
by the Hussar Brigade, Colonel Ponsonby’s
brigade and General D'Urban’s Portuguese
brigade, and the Fifteenth were ordered to attack
the right. We advanced for that purpose, but
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the enemy retired and formed a junction with a
large body of infantry on our right, and the whole
filed over the River Urbel by the bridge of
Tardajas under the fire of our guns, which did
little execution. Had two divisions of infantry
been up, the left wing of the enemy’s army
would have been destroyed. The 8rd Dragoons
and 14th Light Dragoons attempted a charge, but
without success. The French loss was about a
hundred men killed, wounded, and prisoners. Bad
generalship displayed by the French, which our
want of infantry prevented us profiting by. The
enemy showed upwards of 80,000 men on this
occasion. The brigade retired to Isar for the
night. Men on their horses from 8.80 a.m. to
4 p.m.”

g 15th June.—The troops that passed the Ebro
to-day were the Hussars, I1st Germans and 14th
Light Dragoons, 12th and 16th Light Dragoons,
General D’'Urban’s Portuguese brigade, and the
8rd, 4th, and 5th Heavy Dragoons with twelve
pieces of cannon. The Fourth and Light Divisions
encamped on the other side of the river. The
country becoming very mountainous and the road
rugged. The descent to the river is very steep and
the road bad—upwards of a mile in length through
a tremendous ravine; the river is about twenty
yards broad and fordable in several places, but the
bed is rocky and the current very rapid; the
bridge has five arches. The village of Arenas is in
a valley half a mile across bounded by immense
clifs and mountains, the river’s course being
generally through a ravine bordered by stupendous
rocks 600 or 700 feet high. After passing the
river, the road runs up the left bank for three
miles, and forms one of the strongest passes in
nature. The scenery is romantic beyond deserip-
tion.”
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“ 18th.—Marched to Villa Alta and encamped for

the night, three-quarters of a league in front of it.
Longa’s corps of guerillas had stopped at Villa
Alta, because the %‘?ench were in their front. A
patrol of the 12th Light Dragoons had fallen in
with the enemy the evening before, and on this
day about 8,000 men took up a position at Osma
-—half a league in front of Berberana, on the
Miranda road. They were skirmished with by
the 12th and 16th Dragoons, and soon after
attacked by the light battalions of the First and
Fifth Divisions in front, whilst part of the Light
Division turned their left. These movements
obliged them to retire, with the loss of upwards
of 800 men prisoners, besides many killed and
wounded. Some of the latter reported that 1,100
men were entirely dispersed in the woods.”
- “19th.—Marched through Osma, and half a
league from it turned to the left and followed a
cross road.direct to Vittoria, and encamped in
advance of Subijana de Morillos, the road for
nearly the last two leagues through a rocky valley.
The French had about 10,000 men in this position,
which was attacked and carried by the Fourth
Division without material loss, probably owing to
the Light Division driving an enemy’s division
before it at some distance to our right. The
Fourth Division in front and General D'Urban’s
cavalry formed the advance posts.”

“20th.—The prospect of a halt to collect the
columns, as General Sir R. Hill's army marched
considerably to the right yesterday morning. The
French reported to be in position near Vittoria, to
the amount of between 60,000 and 80,000 men.”

The French left rested on the heights which
came to an end at Puebla de Arlanzan, their line
extending across wooded and broken country in
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front of the village of Arinez, while the right of their
centre was posted on a steep height covered with
artillery-—which commanded the valley of the
Zadorra. 'The right was stationed near Vittoria,
intended to defend the passages of the river near
that city, and to cover the right centre of the army,
while there was a reserve in rear of their left, at
the village of Gomecho. The attack on the
French position was to take place as follows: the
right column of the Allied Army, consisting of
General Hill’s corps with a brigade of the Spanish
Division under Morillo, was to attack the enemy’s
left, and gain possession of the heights above
Puebla, and afterwards of the village of Subijana,
when ‘the Fourth Division was to cross the Zadorra
at Nanclares, the Light Division at Tres Puentes,
and the Third and Seventh by a bridge higher up.
These four divisions, forming the centre of the
army, were to attack the heights on which the
enemy’s centre leaned, while the left, commanded
by Sir Thomas Graham, and consisting of the First
and Fifth Divisions, two Portuguese brigades and
Longa’s Spaniards—supported later on in the day
by the army of Galicia under Giron—was to move
across from the Bilbao road for the purpose of
forcing the passages of the Zadorra, at the villages
of Gamara Mayor and Abechuco, where the
British had three divisions of infantry with a strong
body of cavalry.

Wellington’s orders for the movement of the
Army on the 21st June direct that—

“ The Light Division will move at daybreak, and
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proceed by the road along the River Bayas, through
the pass leading to Subijana, and thence by Monte-
vite and the camp of the Fourth Division to the
village of Nanclares.

“One squadron of the 15th Hussars will act
with the A.G. of this division. The remainder of
the 15th Hussars and Major Gardiner’s troop of
Horse Artillery will follow the rear of the Light
Division. The Fourth Division will follow in
rear of the 15th Hussars.

“The 18th and 10th Hussars will follow the
Fourth Division,” '

“ Monday, 21st June 1818.—Marched at half-
past eight o'clock in the direction of Vittoria. A
short distance from Nanelares halted to give time
to the right and left columns to advance, on
account og discovering the French army in position
on the left bank of the Zadorra. . . . The enemy’s
army consisted, according to reports, of 6,000
cavalry, 70,000 infantry, with a numerous artillery
advantageously posted on the salient angles of the
position. At 9 am, Sir Rowland Hill’s column
commenced its attack on the enemy’s left, and the
sharpshooters began to gain ground. The centre
column advanced by the right bank of the Zadorra
to Tres Puentes—a village nearly opgosite the
enemy’s right; this movement gave them some
~ uneasiness, and they advanced a battery of Horse
Artillery to oppose it, but did not prevent the
division forming on the other side of the river, and
a battery placed above the village soon silenced
that of the enemy and occasioned him some con-
siderable loss. At this moment Sir Thomas
Picton’s division made its appearance on the
“enemy’s right, and commenced a cannonade and a
brisk attack along the right bank of the Zadorra
and crossed it above Tres Puentes. Till this time



THE ENEMY FALLS BACK 41

the enemy had defended himself most obstinately
on his left and centre, but the Light Division,
having in the most gallant style carried the hill
that covered his centre, made him retreat from
these points. He however took up a strong posi-
tion on a ridge in rear of the village of Berostiguela,
which he filled with infantry. This however was
carried by the Light Division at the same time
that his left was obliged to give way to the steady
advance of Sir Rowland Hill’s troops ; his position
on the ridge still remained, but this after some
opposition was taken by the Fourth and Light
Divisions, and many of the guns were captured.
In this attack the Portuguese infantry behaved
with the utmost gallantry and suffered severely.
“ At this time the cavalry (with the exception
of a squadron of the Kighteenth led by Captain
Turing, who, without orders, charged a column of
infantry which killed him and several men) had not
been engaged, but suffered some loss from the
enemy’s artillery, At 6 p.m. the right and centre of
the army were on the height above Vittoria, and the
left of the enemy’s army was retreating under
the heights before mentioned—the centre in great
confusion through Vittoria, and the right, which
had made a most gallant resistance at the village
of Gamarra against Sir Thomas Graham’s column
of the First and Fifth Divisions, partly by
Arazua, and partly by Gomez. Lord Wellington
now ordered tl;xe Fifteenth to pass the flats, leaving
Vittoria to the right, and endeavour to cut off the
enemy’s retreat from Aranjuez. On descending,
we found this operation very difficult, from the
intersected nature of the ground, the dykes about .
which were filled with French horses. This, how-
ever, was surmounted, and the regiment moved to
the attack of a regiment of heavy cavalry, which
advanced to cover a retreating column of infantry,
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and many of both were sabred and the column
broken. The cavalry retired under the protection
of a regiment of Hussars and one of Dragoons, partly
rallied and moved to the attack, which was met with
the cool determination of the Fifteenth, and the
enemy were beat back with loss. At this moment
six squadrons of the enemy’s cavalry, Hussars and
Dragoons, made their appearance in our rear ; these
were charged by the squadron of reserve under
Captain Cochrane, which did not prevent their
endeavours to cut us off; but the Fifteenth, having
in part changed its front, advanced to the charge
and the enemy were driven back to the village of
Gomez. During these operations the enemy’s
infantry succeeded in effecting its retreat, and not
being supported it was judged prudent to dis-
continue the pursuit. Had either of the regiments
of Hussars been in second line, 2,000 men would
have been the fruit of our attack; as it turned
out a general, a colonel, several officers, and about
180 men were made prisoners, besides sixty or
seventy more, who were picked up by the people
in our rear, and in addition to killed and desperately
wounded left on the field. An infantry standard
was also taken by us, and the enemy’s loss
altogether was 12,000 men, 151 pieces of cannon,
most of his baggage and cattle, his military chest,
ete.

“We encamped for the night in & wood half
a league in front of Gomez.”

At Vittoria Captain Thackwell received a severe
contusion on the right shoulder from the hilt of a
sword, from a thrust.

On the night of the battle the brigade bivouacked
a short league in front of Vittoria, moving off next
day with the main column towards Pampeluna.
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The French left a considerable garrison in this
town and retired towards the pass of Roncevalles,
followed by the light troops. The left column
under Sir Thomas Graham advanced by the pass of
Adrian upon Tolosa, whither General Foy had re-
tired with about 12,000 men; General Hill’s corps
was left to blockade Pampeluna ; while the Third,
Fourth, Seventh, and Light Divisions, with the
Hussar Brigade, and Ponsonby’s brigade of Heavy
Cavalry, marched by Tafalla and passed the River
Arragon by the bridge of Cappanoda in the hope
of intercepting General Clausel’s corps of upwards
of 12,000 men. This general had advanced on
the 22nd June to the neighbourhood of Vittoria ;
but finding the French to be totally defeated, he
fell back upon Logrono, followed by the Fifth and
Sixth Divisions, the Household Cavalry, and
D’Urban’s Cavalry Brigade, and thence by forced
marches upon Tudela, which he reached on the
27th. Pressed by Mina’s and Sanchez’s cavalry,
he recrossed the Ebro and marched on Zaragoza,
eventually evading further pursuit by retiring
through the pass of Jaca.

On the 80th June—all hope of intercepting
Clausel being at an end—the Hussar Brigade re-
crossed the Arragon River and was stationed for
three weeks at Olite. While here a change was
effected in the composition of the cavalry brigades :
the 10th and 15th Hussars forming one brigade,
under Major-General Lord Edward Somerset ; the
18th Hussars were brigaded with the 1st Hussars
of the King’s German Legion; and Colonel
Grant was transferred to the command of the
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brigade consisting of the 18th and 14th Light
Dragoons.

“In this campaign of six weeks, Wellington
marched with 100,000 men 600 miles, passed six
great rivers, gained one decisive battle, invested
two fortresses, and drove 120,000 veteran troops
from Spain.”*

! Napier,



CHAPTER 1V

“TEN days after the battle of Vittoria, Marshal
Soult, under a decree issued from Dresden, suc-
ceeded the King 'as lieutenant to Napoleon. .
Travelling with surprising expedition he was
enabled on the 12th July to assume the command
of the three beaten armies, now reorganised in one
under the title of the 4drmy of Spain. . . . At this

eriod General Paris was still at Jaca, but Clausel

ad entered France, and Soult, reinforced from the
interior, had nine divisions of ‘infantry, a reserve,
and two divisions of cavalry, besides light horsemen
attached to the infantry. Including garrisons, and
twelve Italian and Spanish battalions not included
in the organisation, he had 114,000 men, and,
as the armies of Aragon and Catalonia had about
66,000, 180,000 men and 26,000 horses were still
menacing Spain.”’

The army of Spain was posted as follows : Clausel
was on the left at St. Jean Pied de Port; in the
centre was d’Erlon about Ainhoa, while Reille was
on the right at Puerto de Vera. The Reserve was
behind the Bidassoa about Irun, and the cavalry
divisions were respectively on the Nive and the
Adour.

Wellington’s dispositions were as under: the

1 Napier
45
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right was formed by Hill’s. corps, of which, on the
outer flank, Byng’s brigade with a Spanish division
held the southern issues of the passes of Roncevalles
and Ibaneta; the rest of the Second Division held
the pass of Maya and the Fourth Division formed
the support to the above; while Picton, eighteen
miles south of Maya, was the general reserve to
Hill's corps. Twelve miles west of the pass of
Maya was the Seventh Division at Echallar ; the
Light Division held the village of Vera, the Sixth
Division at Estevan forming a central reserve. The
First Division, with the troops of Giron and Longa,
held the line of the Bidassoa from Vera seawards ;
the Fifth Division, with the Portuguese, besieged
San Sebastian on the left, while Pampeluna on the
right was blockaded by the Spaniards. Asthe two
fortresses were fifty miles apart no little work was
thrown upon the cavalry in keeping open the com-
munications.

Wellington’s «theatre of operations was g
trapezoid, with sides from forty to fifty miles in
length, and having Bayonne, St. Jean Pied de Port,
San Sebastian and Pampeluna, all fortresses in
possession of the French, at the angles. The
Interior, broken and tormented by savage moun-
tains, narrow craggy passes, deep water-courses,
precipices and forests, appeared a wilderness, which
no military combinations could embrace, and sus-
ceptible only of irregular and partisan operations.”?

The allied forces formed practically three
distinct armies—the one blockading Pampeluna,
the other besieging San Sebastian, while the third

! Napier.
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army, or centre of the allies, *“was indeed an
army of succour and connection ; but of necessity
very much scattered and with lateral communica-
tions so few, difficult, and indirect as to prevent any
unity of movement.”?

On the 24th July Soult collected the right and
left wings of his army, with one division of the centre
and two divisions of cavalry, at St. Jean Pied de
Port, leaving General Villate with the reserve on
the great road to Irun in front of Sir Thomas
Graham’s corps, and on the 25th attacked Byng’s
post at Roncevalles with between 30,000 and 40,000
men. The Fourth Division moved to the support
of General Byng, and these troops maintained them-
selves during the day; but their position being
turned in the afternoon, they fell back during the
night to Zubiri. On the same day the enemy with
two divisions had attacked the Second Division at
Maya, which, in consequence of the retrograde
movement from Ronecevalles, retired to Irunta and
on the 28th to Lizasso.  Lord Wellington was not
informed of these attacks till late at night on the
25th, and at first intended to concentrate his army
on the 27th towards Zubiri ; but Picton and Cole,
not thinking they could hold their ground until
that time, retreated to the position of Huerta and
arrived there early on that date. In consequence
of this event, the Hussar Brigade under Lord
Edward Somerset marched at daybreak on the
morning of the 27th and arrived on the right of
the position at Huerta about five o’clock in the
afternoon. Through the valleys of the Argu and

! Napier.
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Lanz lead the direct roads from Roncevalles and
the pass of Maya to Pampeluna, and between them
and in front of Villa Alba is a broken mountain of
considerable height and extent. Upon it was posted
the Fourth Division, Byng’s British and Campbell’s
Portuguese Brigades—their left at a chapel behind
Sorauren in the valley of Lanz, and the right on
a height which defended the high road from
Roncevalles. Morillo’s division ‘of Spaniards and
the troops which could be spared from the block-
ading corps before Pampeluna were in reserve. At
an angle with the mountain above mentioned is a
low ridge which joins the Argu on its left bank
and there forms a strong rocky pass, but it is not
difficult of access, as it extends to the hills beyond
Olaz, and in front of this ridge was a small rivulet
having steep banks. On this position were placed
the Third Division and the Hussars, supported by
Ponsonby’s brigade of cavalry, this being the only
ground on which the latter arm could act with
advantage. The enemy formed on the mountain
between the Lanz and Argu Rivers, and one division
and a large body of cavalry on that in front of
the Third Division. They attacked the hill com-
manding the Zubiri road, but were repulsed by a
battalion of Portuguese and a Spanish regiment.
The thunder was tremendous and rain fell in
torrents towards night.

Early in the morning of the 28th the Sixth
Division occupied the mountain on the right of
the River Lanz, and extended in rear of the left
of the Fourth Division. The Fifteenth was to-day
posted in the first line between two brigades of the
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Third Division ; the Tenth and Eighteenth, with a
brigade of Horse Artillery, were on the extreme
right ; the heavy cavalry supported the Hussars.
Next morning early the enemy’s right advanced
in great force from Sorauren along the Lanz valley,
but was assailed with a most destructive fire in
front, flanks, and rear from the left of the Fourth
and from part of the Sixth Division—which latter
had most opportunely arrived—and was repulsed
with enormous loss. To extricate it a serious
attack was made on the left of the Fourth Division,
and the battle became general along the line, but
the enemy’s repeated attacks were repulsed with
heavy casualties. "All the regiments of the Fourth
Division charged with the bayonet——some of them
even four times. The enemy having upwards of
2,000 cavalry and a numerous infantry in front
of the Third Division, made demonstrations to
attack its position, but these ended in partial
skirmishing by their light troops and in detaching
a body of cavalry over the rivulet to feel our
right : these were driven back by the Hussars
stationed there. On the 29th the regiment covered
the right of the position; the Seventh Division
was on the left of the Sixth, and two of the
enemy'’s divisions had followed Hill’s corps to
Ostiz. The brigade of Household Cavalry arrived
and took post on the right. Finding an impene-
trable barrier to the relief of Pampeluna in the
position of the British right and centre, the French
hoped by driving back Sir Rowland Hill's corps
on the left to turn it, and thus gain their object.
For this purpose, on the night of the 28th, Soult
4
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drew from his left more than half the infantry
and on the following day a brigade of cavalry,
reinforced his right with one division, and during
the night of the 29th occupied in force the crest
of the mountain on the right of the Lanz, opposite
the Sixth and Seventh Divisions, withdrawing all
his troops from the left. There was only some
skirmishing on this day.

On the 80th Yord Wellington became the
assailant whilst the enemy attacked Sir Rowland
Hill. The Seventh Division carried the crest of
the mountain in its front, and the Sixth then got
possession of the village of Sorauren. The Third
Division advanced at 8 o'clock in the morning,
turned the left of the enemy’s centre by the
Roncevalles road, whilst the Fourth attacked the
hill in front, the crest of which was gained by
12 o'clock, and the enemy fell rapidly back towards
the frontier. Their guns were sent to St. Jean
Pied de Port after the battle of the 28th, and
their cavalry was employed in carrying their
wounded men to the rear.

General Hill repulsed the enemy with great loss
on the same day; on the morrow he defeated
their rearguard of two divisions in the pass of
Donna Maria, and on the 1st August the army was
in the same position it had occupied on the 25th
of the preceding month.

The infantry won immortal honour in these
battles, but, fought among mountains and defiles
where the cavalry could not act, this arm had little
opportunity of sharing in the glory of their comrades
or of reaping advantage from the enemy’s retreat.
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The Fifteenth remained for a short time in the
villages of Elcano and Sagasetta, then marched
to Artagona and then to Lurraga, General Sir
Stapleton Cotton' and the Cavalry Headquarters
being at Tafalla.

On the 18th October the right squadron under
Captain Thackwell marched to Salinas de Pamplona
to assist in the blockade, apprebensions being
entertained that the garrison would attempt its
escape in the direction of Jaca. A squadron of
the 10th Hussars was placed under his command,
and at a village in the rear of the blockading troops
they remained on this duty till the town sur-
rendered on the 81st, and the garrison, amounting,
sick including, to about 4,000 men, marched out
at 2 o'clock on the following day and laid down
its arms. To support the attack on the enemy’s
fortified position on the Nivelle on the 10th
November, the Fifteenth advanced through the
mountains on the 4th to the banks of the Bidassoa ;
but the broken and hilly nature of the country,
and the difficulty of procuring forage, rendered
it expedient that it should remain at St. Estevan
on the Bidassoa, whence it soon returned to the
vicinity of Pampeluna. Marching again on the
15th December by Tolosa and the bridge of Irun,
it entered France, and was quartered at Campo
and the villages on the right bank of the Nive—
and continued on outpost duty in front of Urcuray
during the month, watching the valleys of Macaye
and Mondionde and the road to St. Jean Pied de
Port. Theright of the army stationed in this quarter

! Afterwards Field-Marshal Lord Combermere.
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consisted of two divisions of infantry, the Spanish
division under Morillo, and two brigades of cavalry ;
these were several times threatened with attack by
the enemy, but nothing of importance occurred.

In consequence of the bad roads and wet weather
the regiment experienced much difficulty in pro-
curing forage and had frequent skirmishes with
the enemy’s picquets and detachments in obtaining
it. But as the foraging parties of the troops
investing Bayonne were also permitted to enter
the valleys of Macaye and Mondionde for the
same purpose, the forage was soon exhausted, and
shortly after the middle of January the horses
were grazed, when practicable, and fed, until the
opening of the fresh campaign, with chopped furze
pounded with a mallet.  Notwithstanding, however,
the want of the usual rations of hay and the
very small allowance of corn which was issued,
the horses kept their condition remarkably well,
a result attributable to the unremitting attention
of the officers and the exertions of all ranks.

The “state” of the Allied Army for the 16th
" January 1814 shows the Hussar Brigade as having a
strength of 1,488, the Fifteenth having 466 effectives,
while the 7th Hussars, which had joined the brigade
from England during the winter, were 518 strong.

“ Early in February a sudden frost fell on the
moist plains around Bayonne and turned the leagues
of liquid mud into stone. And the frost, which made
the earth rigid, set loose all the streams of war.”!

The campaign opened on the 14th of that
! Fitchett.
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month, the right of the army driving in the
enemy’s position on the Joyeuse River and the
St. Jean Pied de Port road, and afterwards defeat-
ing General Harispe and Paris at Garris. The
right squadron of the Fifteenth under Captain
Thackwell moved out on the 14th, and had one
man and two horses wounded in assisting to drive
back the enemy’s picquets; the movement of
this squadron was intended to favour the observa-
tions of the general commanding the cavalry as
well as to preserve the communications between
the right and left columns. The squadron was
then pushed out by St. Martin and Oregue in
front of the Third Division, and established a
picquet on the 17th, without interference by
the enemy, beyond the heights of Came on the
right bank of the Bidouze River—watching the
roads to La Bastide, Leren, and Peyrehorade.
The remainder of the regiment joining the
advanced squadron, they watched the enemy’s
posts on the Gave d’Oleron., The right of the
army having crossed the Gave, the Third Division
occupied a position on its banks opposite the téte-
de-pont at Sauveterre, where the enemy had a
corps of 5,000 to 6,000 men, and on the 24th this
division, with the Hussar Brigade, made a feint of
passing the Gave d'Oleron at a ford near
Sauveterre to favour the passage of the Second,
Light, and Portuguese Divisions at Villenave and
of the Sixth near Montford. The ford near the
bridge was deep and impracticable, and although
a few cavalry and infantry passed the river it was
found expedient to withdraw them owing to the
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impossibility of affording support, and owing also
to the superiority of the enemy. In withdrawing,
the infantry sustained some loss; the Hussars did
not suffer, although much exposed to the enemy’s
shells. During this demonstration, which was
never intended to develop into a real attack, the
enemy blew up the bridge covered by their téte-
de-pont, and the columns on the right passed the
Gave, and moved by the road leading from
Sauveterre towards Orthes.

On the 25th the Hussars passed the Gave d’Oleron
by a good ford below the bridge of Sauveterre,
and occupied for the night the villages in front
with outposts towards the bridge of Berenc .
the Third Division were in and in rear of the
town. Whilst these operations were taking place,
the left of the army, consisting of the Fourth and
Seventh Divisions, and Colonel Vivian’s brigade
of Hussars (18th Hussars and 1st Hussars King’s
German Legion) which bhad been in observation
on the lower Bidouze, passed the Gave de Pau
near Peyrehorade on the morning of the 26th,
and advanced along the road leading to Orthes,
the enemy having retired from that position in
consequence of the movements on their left. As
the column approached, the Hussar Brigade, with
the Fifteenth in front, passed the Gave de Pau
by a ford below Berenc, followed by the Third
Division. The enemy’s cavalry picquets were
driven back, but the passage was effected a few
moments too late to cut them off on the
Peyrehorade road; the only result therefore was
some skirmishing, in which one man and horse
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of the Fifteenth were killed and three rank and
file and two horses wounded.

The French army had taken up a strong position ;
their left in the town of Orthes and on the heights
above it; their centre on a continuance of the
same heights, and their right on a salient occupy-
ing the village of St. Boes. The Fifth and Light
Divisions crossed the Gave de Pau at Berenc
at daylight on the 27th, and about ten o’clock
the Fourth Division, supported by the Seventh,
and by Colonel Vivian’s brigade of Hussars,
attacked the enemy’s right, and soon after the
Third and Sixth Divisions with the Hussar Brigade
attacked his left centre, the Light Division, part of
which was in reserve, maintaining communication
between the columns on its flanks. These attacks
at length dislodged the enemy from the heights
and gained the victory. The Second Division
forced the passage of the river above Orthes, and
with a brigade of eavalry was directed on the
great road between that place and St. Sever. The
enemy had defended his several positions obstinately,
and retired in good order, but threatened on his
left, and, the British beginning to close on the last
position held by his centre, he commenced a
precipitate retreat on the river called the Luy de
Bearn, and this soon became a flight, the fugitives
spreading all over the face of the country. In
these operations the Fifteenth was close in sup-
port of the infantry of the centre, and experienced
some loss from the enemy’s fire, but the ground
was too broken to allow of its charging. The
7th Hussars were more fortunate, being at the
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head of the brigade during the enemy’s retreat,
and the leading squadron charged the rear of ‘the
French on the road to Sault de Novailles. On
reaching the hill beyond this village the French
right wing was discovered retreating in the
greatest confusion over the meadows towards the
river; the 7th were ordered along the road leading
to Sault de Novailles, and turning to the left soon
came up with the flying enemy. The Fifteenth
continued to advance at a trot along the main road
in the hope of closing on the confused mass in
front, but within less than a mile of Sault de
Novailles the brigade of eavalry attached to the
Second Division debouched upon the road in its
front. The enemy's left and centre passed the
river in the. greatest confusion, and it was thought
that had the pursuit continued many prisoners
might have been captured ; it was, however,
ordered to be given up, and some guns on the
heights on the left of the town, covered by the
river in front and part of the rallied French
infantry, rendered any attack inexpedient, even had
not the closing day prevented it. :

The Fifteenth had one man and two horses
killed, six men and five horses wounded.

On the 1st March the regiment formed the
advanced guard of the centre column of the army
from the bivouac on the river to.near Caceres,
crossing the Adour by a ford just below the broken
bridge of St. Sever. Within a league of Grenade,
the right squadron under Captain Thackwell, being
in advance, began to skirmish with the enemy’s
rear guard, which defended for a short time the
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passage of a broken bridge over a deep rivulet.
On approaching the town the right half-squadron
pressed the enemy rapidly through it upon their sup-
port by a continued attack, charged and drove 250
to 800 men of the 18th Chasseurs & Cheval along the
road, for more than three-quarters of a mile, upon
two companies of infantry posted in the enclosures
of a farmhouse near the road. The fire from these
at less than a hundred yards distance checked the
pursuit, the more as the left half-squadron had
been ordered to halt at the entrance of the market-
place of Grenade nearly a mile in rear. The troop
in advance did not consist of more than 45 men,
owing to men being left with prisoners and patrols
which had not rejoined, and it therefore became
necessary gradually to withdraw from the heavy
mass in front. “This gave the French cavalry
encouragement—they rallied, and, flanked by their
infantry, commenced to charge ; but the Fifteenth
rear division, fronting, and galloping to the attack,
drove them back for more than a hundred yards.
Jhe enemy repeated their charge and were again
repulsed ; but freed from the fire of assailants who
could not be reached, the advanced guard made no
further retrograde movement, and their opponents
then retreated upon Caceres. Several prisoners
who had been captured, contrived, however, to
escape, and the enemy were able to recover a
number of their wounded.

On the arrival of the head of the division, about
half an hour afterwards, the squadron continued
its movement to within a short distance of Caceres,
when the enemy’s rear guard of infantry with three
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guns posted on a thickly wooded eminence in
front stopped its further advance! These were
soon, however, driven from their positions by a few
rounds from the artillery of the division and the
advance guard of the infantry, and outposts were
then established for the night. In this affair the
right troop had one horse killed and six men and
six horses wounded, and Captain Thackwell had
the good fortune to have his conduct approved by
Lieutenant-General Sir Stapleton Cotton, and to
be recommended by him for the brevet of Major,
and the following cavalry divisional orders were
issued in approbation of the conduct of the right
squadron of the Fifteenth.

“ Lieutenant-General Sir Stapleton Cotton re-
quests that Major-General Lord ‘Edward Somerset
will express to the officers and men of the 15th
Hussars his gratification at witnessing the gallant
and soldierlike conduct of that part of the regi-
ment which was engaged with the enemy yes-
terday.

“(Signed) J. ELLey, COLONEL, A.A.G.”

“ Major-General Lord Edward Somerset has
much pleasure in making known the cavalry orders
to the corps composing his brigade, and joins the
Lieutenant-General in expressing his perfect appro-
bation of the conduct of the brigade on the 27th

} One man of the advanced squadron, Robert Walton, had a narrow
escape from a shell which carried away the cloak from his back (the
men having cloaked owing to the heavy rain) and burst without doing
any further damage. The advance guard was here most fortunate, for
many round shot and shell were fired at it, but only one horse—a
French one taken a few hours before—was wounded.



AFFAIR AT ST. GERMIER 59

ult. The Major-General has also to return his
thanks to the 10th and 15th Hussars for their
ga.llant attacks on the enemy’s cavalry on the two
ollowing days, and feels convinced that, with
troops thus disciplined, the most' complete success
may be expected to attend their future operations
against the enemy.

“(Signed) C. Jones, M.B.”

The French having been repulsed at Aire on the
2nd March by the Second Division with consider-
able loss, and by the Sixth Division at Caceres,
the outposts were established near Plaisance, but
soon fell back in front of St. Germier, in con-
sequence of the enemy concentrating at Conchez
and threatening the right at Aijre. Lord Welling-
ton’s advance had been delayed owing to the heavy
rain, the rapid current of the Adour preventmg
the laying down of pontoons, and owing to the
necessity of repairing the bridges—all of which had
been broken down by the enemy.

Some changes now took place in the regiment.
On the 10th March Lieutenant-Colonel Dalrymple
arrived from England and displaced Major Griffiths,
who had commanded the Fifteenth since Colonel
Grant had left it for a brigade. Five other
officers also joined, and the establishment of the
regiment being increased by two troops, ten
sergeants, two trumpeters, and 148 rank and file
joined headquarters on the 15th with 160 horses,

The French having retired upon L.embege on the
15th, it was determined to drive back their picquets
in front of St. Germier, and on the afternoon of the
following day the centre squadron of the Fifteenth
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was formed in column of divisions—the road not
admitting of a greater front—and advanced sup-
ported by the right squadron under Captain Thack-
well. On approaching the enemy the leading
division charged with the utmost vigour, driving
his advanced squadron back in confusion upon the
remainder of the 18th Chasseurs 4 Cheval, composed
of some 800 men. The attack was none the less
continued by the centre squadron of the Fifteenth,
and the enemy, giving ground, retreated as
rapidly as his close formation would permit, and
was pursued for about two miles. He at length
gained the village of ILa Cassade, on the road
to Plaisance, where, being secured by hedges and
walls, it was deemed best to discontinue the
pursuit. The right squadron was here ordered to
the front to find the outposts for the night, and
the enemy continued his retreat, a picquet
watching the approach to the former place, and,
recrossing the river on the outposts advancing
at daybreak next morning.

Major Griffiths now took over command of the
right squadron, Captain Thackwell being transferred
to the charge of the left.

The regiment continued in the advance, and on
the 20th the army moved in two columns from
Vic-en-Bigorre and Rabastens upon Tarbes, where
Marshal Soult was in position with his right upon
the heights near the windmill of Oleac, and his
centre and left retired, but with a strong corps
occupying the town of Tarbes. The right column
of the Allies advanced by the road leading from
Vic-en-Bigorre, drove the enemy from Tarbes, and
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was then disposed for the attack of his left, whilst
the Sixth Division, passing the village of Dours,
attacked his right, and the Light Division, supported
by the Hussars, drove the French troops from the
heights above Orleix. The enemy opposed these
attacks but feebly, and retired over the narrow
river towards Tournay. The Hussars were pushed
rapidly on in pursuit of his right, but the enemy
avoided the only ground where cavalry could act,
and unfortunately gave no opportunity for the
attack. '

The French Army continued its retreat upon
"Toulouse, followed by the British, and on the 25th
March the Fifteenth was on outpost in front of
St. Lys on the La Touche River. On the day
following it had a squadron on duty at Tourne-
feuille, which had to resist an attack of the enemy’s
infantry in a situation where cavalry could not
reach them ; and on the 27th, Captain Thackwell’s
squadron, after gaining possession of St. Simon,
found it to be untenable against infantry and
therefore withdrew.

The heavy rain and the melting of the snow in
the Pyrences rendered it impracticable to lay a
bridge over the Garonne before the 4th April,
although a demonstration to pass the river was
made between Toulouse and Muret on the 28th
March ; but the attempt was abandoned on account
of the roads towards the Ariége being impractic-
able for cavalry and artillery. By the 1st April
the enemy had withdrawn most of his troops into
Toulouse, and his advanced posts were not more
" than & mile from the bridge, on the left bank
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of the river. The army under Wellington was
stationed as follows: the Fourth Division and
Vivian’s Hussars were at St. Martin on the left ;
the Sixth Division and 10th Hussars at and in
front of Tournefeuille ; the Third Division was in
reserve at Plaisance ; the Light Division and 15th
Hussars at and in front of St. Simon; and the
Second Division was at Portel and Muret, with
four brigades of cavalry. On the morning of the
4th the Hussars marched to La Chapelle, and
passed the Garonne by a pontoon bridge of seven-
teen boats, without opposition, being followed in
the course of the day by the Third, Fourth, and
Sixth Infantry Divisions, two brigades of cavalry,
and four of artillery. 'These troops took up a
position in front with the right on the Garonne
and the left on the Ers River; Captain Thackwell's
squadron found the outposts at Gagnae.

The enemy’s picquets in front of Feneuillet were
driven in on the 8th, and on the same day the
pontoon bridge was removed to the Chiteau de
Gagnac, Freyre’s corps of Spaniards crossing to the
right bank of the Garonne, followed on the next
day by the nght Division,

Toulouse is encompassed on three sides by the
Garonne and canal of Languedoc, and, in addition
to its ancient walls, tétes-de-pont covered all the
bridges over the river leading to the town, and
these were in numerous places defended by
artitlery and by musketry from the old ramparts.
On the heights between the town and the Ers
River the enemy had constructed five redoubts
connected in parts by lines of entrenchments
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extending to Montaudran. All the bridges over
the KErs—the banks of which were steep and
impracticable—were broken down except that at
Croix d'Orade. Soon after 5 o'clock on the
morning of the 10th, the British columns were put
in motion to attack this formidable position
occupied by the enemy in considerable force. The
Second Division was to act on the left of the
Garonne, and the pontoon bridge was laid over
the river nearer to Toulouse, to afford a readier
communication with the Third Division—intended
to press on the téte-de-pont and fortified houses
covering the canal bridge nearest the Garonne,
supported by the Light Division and Bock’s
brigade of cavalry. = The Spaniards were to attack
the north-west part of the position supported by
the Heavy Cavalry; the Fourth and Sixth
Divisions, with the Hussars of Somerset’s brigade,
were to turn and attack the right; while Vivian’s
brigade of Hussars was to watch the movements of
the enemy’s cavalry on both banks of the Ers
beyond the left. :

At 8 o'clock in the morning, the Spaniards
began to skirmish with the French, and, although
annoyed by a galling fire from five or six field
pieces on rising ground, began to form in two lines
in front of the enemy’s left, and about ten o’clock
attacked with vigour; but, the right being turned,
were soon obliged to retire with great loss, and
were rallied with difficulty under cover of the
cavalry and the Light Division, which moved up
on their right in support. The Fourth and Sixth
Divisions had crossed the Ers at the bridge of
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Croix d’Orade, and about eleven o’cloek, formed in
three lines, the Fourth Division leading, carried
the village of Montblanc, and moved up the Ers
until they. outflanked the enemy’s right, then
re-formed and advanced to theattack of the heights.
The Hussars, left in front, quickly followed the
movements of this column and did not suffer
much, although the road led them within less than
800 yards of the ememy’s guns, which from the
redoubts were beating time to the din of small
arms. A column of the enemy’s cavalry, which
had begun to descend the heights to attack the
right of the Sixth Division and the brigade of
nine-pounders, was repulsed by this timely move-
ment, which brought the brigade in rear of the
Sixth Division ; these had most gallantly taken the
first redoubt with guns, and lodged themselves on
the heights. The Hussars crossed, exposed to a
heavy fire from the enemy’s 2nd and 8rd redoubts,
and six guns on an eminence near the canal, in
the hope of falling on his infantry in retreat to-
wards the canal and town; but as it was seen that
no advantage could be reaped from this movement,
they fell back under cover of the heights.

The artillery of the left column had remained
behind ; it was now brought up, the Spaniards
were re-formed, and the Sixth Division moved
to the attack of the 2nd and 3rd redoubts defend-
ing: the enemy’s centre, carried both and took
a great number of prisoners. But before these
could be disarmed and the redoubt nearest the:
town properly occupied, a heavy column made
a desperate attack, retook it and endangered the
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brigade ; the check was, however, only momentary,
for all opposition gave way before the supporting
body of troops, and the French were driven back
to the town with great loss. The position of the
Sixth Division commanded the two redoubts on the
enemy'’s left, and these, on being cannonaded and
threatened by this division along the heights and
by the Spaniards in front, were evacuated by 5
o’clock in the afternoon. The whole range of the
heights was now in our possession, but the enemy
kept up a useless fire until late in the evening from
guns on the canal covering his right, and from a
six-gun battery on rising ground before the town.

During these operations the Second Division
forced the enemy from the entrenched suburbs
within the old town wall, while the Third Division
drove them into the téte-de-pont on the canal
bridge ; but in attempting to carry this work, the
division was repulsed with loss by a superior force,
aided by the garrison of a fortified convent near
to it.

On the night of the 11th the enemy evacuated
Toulouse and retired towards Castelnaudary and
Carcassone by the only road left them between
the canal and the Ariége River, but Generals
Harispe, Baurot, St. Hilaire, and 1,600 men were
made prisoners, and guns and stores of all descrip-
tions were taken, At 9 o'clock on the following
morning the Hussars followed the enemy’s move-
ments to Baziége, near which place the Hussars
of the King’s German Legion had the last affair
with the enemy, for on the morrow intelligence
was received that Bonaparte had abdicated in

5
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favour of Louis XVIII., and hostilities ceased.
The brigade, however, marched on the 17th from
the vicinity of St. Sulpice to Puylaurens, in conse-
quence of Soult not acknowledging the decree of
the Provisional Government; but a few days
afterwards—

“the Duke of Dalmatia, who had now re-
ceived official information from the chief of the
Emperor’s staff, notified his adhesion to the new
state of affairs in France—and with this honourable
distinction, that he had faithfully sustained the
cause of his great monarch until the very last
moment.” !

The Fifteenth went into cantonments in the
villages in the neighbourhood of Toulouse, the
headquarters of the Hussar Brigade being at
Villandrique. On the 1st June the regiment
commenced its march for Boulogne, where the
British cavalry was to embark for England, and,
moving by way of Cahors, Limoges, Orléans,
Mantes, Gisors, Abbeville, and Montreuil, arrived
in the vicinity of that place on the 11th July,
having marched about 650 miles. The greater
part of the regiment landed at Dover on the 17th,
the remainder the next day, and the whole as-
sembled at Hounslow, where it was quartered.

! Napier.
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WHeN the Fifteenth reached England from France,
the strength of the twelve troops of which the
regiment was composed amounted to 910 men,
exclusive of officers, with 746 horses, but on the
9th August four troops were struck off' the establish-
ment, 850 men were discharged, and 288 horses
were cast, the establishment being now fixed at
eight troops, each of 69 men and 56 horses. On
the 11th August the regiment marched to Liverpool
and there embarked for Ireland on the 8th
September. A few days were spent in Dublin,
after which headquarters and three troops were
quartered at Clonmel, the remainder of the Fifteenth
being at out-stations.

But with the New Year the peace of garrison
life in Ireland was dispelled. Napoleon had left
Elba on the 26th February, and landed three days
later in France, but it was not until the 6th March
that the news even of his departure reached Vienna
and the Congress which was there in session. The
Congress, which was “ perishing of mere strife
among its own members, strife bred of unsatisfied
greed and fast-kindling jealousies,” ! became at once
united at the news and acted with decision.

1 Fitchett.
67
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“ The powers, therefore, acted as though Napoleon
were once more the master of France. They
signed a declaration on 18th March declaring him
beyond the pale of civil and social relations. . . .
On 25th March the League of Chaumont was
formally renewed, the four great Powers binding
themselves to contribute 150,000 men each, and
not to lay down their arms without joint consent,
and only when Napoleon should be unable to give
further trouble,”*

In England preparations were at once put for-
ward for the speedy assembly in the Netherlands
of 2 mixed force of 106,000 British, Hanoverians,
Belgians, and Nassauers, under the command of
the Duke of Wellington.

Under' date of the 19th April Captain Thack-
well's diary contains the following entry: «The
day cloudy, with some rain.  'The order to prepare
six troops for foreign service received this day.”
On the 4th May the regiment marched for Cork
—wheére a number of small brigs had been taken
up for the passage of ‘the Fifteenth to Ostend
—and sailed on the 18th. Ostend was reached
on the morning of the 19th, and here the vessel
in which Captain Thackwell sailed was run
ashore on the sands near the town, and at 1 p-m.
disembarkation commenced by lowering the horses
into the water and swimming them ashore. No
time was wasted on landing, for at 8.80 the same
afternoon the regiment marched up the left bank
of the canal fourteen miles to Bruges, and thence
by Eckloo to Sleydinge within six miles of Ghent,
where Louis XVIIL had established his court.

! Fitchett,
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Moving on the 26th, the Fifteenth passed through
Ghent and occupied several small villages about
St. Gooritz, St. Marie Anderhove, and Mickelbecke
Elste ; they now found themselves brigaded with
the 7th Hussars and the 2nd Hussars of the
German Legion, under their old commander,
Major-General Sir C. Grant, and took part on
the 29th in a grand inspection, by Lord Welling-
ton and Marshal Prince Bliicher, of the whole of
the British Cavalry—46 squadrons with 86 Horse
Artillery guns,and arocket brigade—commanded by
Lord Uxbridge—near the village of Schendelbecke,

From Captain Thackwell's diary the weather at-
the end of May and beginning of June seems
to have been very unsettled, rain falling nearly
every day. Friday 16th June was, however, fine
and warm, when an order was received to march
with the greatest expedition. = Starting at 7.30 a.m.
the Fifteenth moved by Grammont, Braine le
Comte, and Nivelles—a distance of 15} leagues:
—and finally bivouacked at about midnight near
Quatre Bras—too late to take part in the action
fought there that day, and hearing there of the
defeat of the Prussians at Ligny. The following
entry occurs in Captain Thackwell’s diary dated

the 17th June:

“ A very fine morning, everything quiet. Saw
the ground on which the action was fought the
preceding day. The right rested on a wood of
considerable f;ngth, and this was occupied by the
Brunswickers and Belgians. Nothing particular to
mark the position. Many Cuirassiers lay dead.
Sent by the Earl of Uxbridge to our picquet on
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the right, and to post’another watching the forest
of Hautain le Val. In consequence of the retreat
of the Prussians, the infantry fell back about
10 a.m. to a position in front of Waterloo on the
Brussels road. At nearly 3 p.m. the cavalry,
which had remained in position, retired through
Genappe in three columns. The column on the
main road was followed by a large body of cavalry
and some guns, and these were occasionally charged
by- the Life Guards and 7th Hussars; the last
regiment suffered severely. The right column,
consisting of the 138th Light Dragoons,' 15th
Hussars, 2nd Light Dragoons of the German
Legion, and the Duke of Cumberland’s Hanoverian
Hussars, was not pursued. 1 commanded the rear
guard, On the Nivelles road near Lillois some
French squadrons of light troops cut in and made
some baggage wagons with wounded and cattle
Erisoners; these were checked by Captain Wode-

quse’s squadron, half a squadron of the 18th and
some of the Germans, and a few prisoners were
made. At three this afternoon the rain fell in
*torrents, which continued at intervals. The fields
were perfect swamps. The Thirteenth and Fif-
teenth bivouacked in'a field of rye on the right of
the village of Mont St. Jean; fortunately there
were some infantry huts standing, which afforded
a little shelter from the torrents of rain which
fell during the night. No rations or supplies of
any description.”

At 4 o'clock on the morning of” the 18th the
- Fifteenth marched to their position in the front
line at the angle in the rear of Hougoumont, with
three troops detached on the right of the Nivelles

! The 13th Light Dragoons was attached to Grant's brigade in place
of the 2nd Hussars of the German Legion, which had not yet joined,
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road, in front of the right flank of the army, which
at this point was partly refused.

During the earlier part of the action the
Fifteenth suffered some loss from the cannonade
in front, as well as from a heavy battery on the
high ground overlooking the Nivelles road, and
occupied the same position until 2 o’clock, when
the brigade received orders to charge ten squa.drbns
of Lancers posted on the heights on the enemy’s
left of the Nivelles road, covered by a deep ravine.
For this purpose the Fifteenth, followed by the
Thirteenth, moved off to their right, exposed to a
sharp fire of round shot until'they became sheltered
by the inequalities of the ground While making
dlsposmons to cross the ravine, a tremendous
shouting from the Lancers drew attention to a
large body of Cuirassiers and other cavalry which
seemed to carry all before them on the open
ground between Hougoumont and La Haye Sainte.
Grant’s brigade at once made for them—this
movement bringing the Thirteenth in the front line,
the Fifteenth following in support. The French
cavalry was driven back 200 or 300 yards, but
its numbers being much superior to those of the
English brigade, the latter’s flanks were enveloped
and it was obliged to fall back and rally behind
the infantry. -

From this period until the énemy was ﬁnally'
driven from the field, the regiment made various
charges-—sometimes  attacking hostile infantry,
again engaged with the Lancers, or driving back
the Cuirassiers. Major Griffiths had been killed,
Lieutenant-Colonel Dalrymple had had his left
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leg taken off by a round shot,' and the command
of the Fifteenth devolved upon Captain Thackwell,
who had already had two hotses ‘shot under him.
It was about 7.80 p.m. that, in leading a charge
upon a square of the Guard, Thackwell was shot
through the bridle hand ; he instantly placed the
reins between his teeth, but a few seconds after-
wards he was again shot in the left arm, shattering
the bone between the elbow and the shoulder,
and fell to the ground.

In the battle the Fifteenth had 3 officers and
25 men killed, or died of wounds, and 7 officers
and 45 men wounded.’ ,

It may perhaps not be out of place to include
here a copy of a letter written many years
after the battle, in reply to a printed communica-
tion from Lieutenant Siborne, then engaged in
constructing his well-known model of the field
and battle of Waterloo, asking for information
on certain specified points in connection with
the position and formation of the 15th Hussars, at
the period of the battle represented on the model,

‘ ““ Grouorster, 20th Dee. 1834,
“ S1IR,

“1 must plead a severe indisposition in excuse
for having so long delayed replying to - your
communication of the 18th November relative
to the position of the 15th Hussars in the attack
of the right of the British by the Imperial Guard,
about 7 o'clock in the evening at the Battle of
Waterloo, and regret that from the lapse of time,

! The same round shot then passéd through the body of Sir
Colguhoun Grant's charger.
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and the circumstance of my having been severely
wounded about that hour, I am unable to transmit
that full account of movements and positions,
which might have been rendered at an earlier
date. However, as you have the advantage of
Lieutenant-Colonel Wodehouse’s statement of the
occurrences of that day, and may procure one from
Lieutenant-Colonel Hancox, who commanded the
regiment at the close of the battle, and who resides
near Nottingham, I trust the barrenness of m
information may be supplied from those channels
of authentic source and that the King’s Hussars
may be placed in the situation that belongs to
them.

“Before I reply to your queries I had better
here state that the squadrons of the regiment
were not more than 52 to 55 files each, including
officers, and that one squadron and one division
of another were detached from the regiment on
the morning of the 18th of June and did not
rejoin it, except for a short period, during the
day. This detached body was posted in observa-
tion in front of the valley leading to Braine le
Leud, and as its operations were confined to
skirmishing, its loss was' trifling.

-“1st. With respect to the query ¢ What was
the particular formation of the 15th Hussars at
the moment (about 7 p.m.) when the Imperial
Guard, advancing to attack the right of the
British forces, reached the crest of our position ?’
I beg to trace the formation of the 15th Hussars
at A in the plan. On its flanks were British
infantry in square, but I am not certain what
regiments, as part of Lord Hill's corps from the
second line, were then in the first line, and I am
not sure whether the site of the traced position
is not a little too much in advance. The 18th
Light Dragoons were either to the right or the
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right rear of the Fifteenth ; but as the troops were
at this time closely concentrated in this part of
the position, it was a ditlicult matter to distinguish
particular corps.

“2nd Query. ‘What was the formation of
that part of the enemy’s forces immediately in
front of the 15th Hussars ?° At B I beg to trace,
according to the best of my recollection, a body
of about 1,000 infantry in square, supported by
a large body of Cuirassiers and other cavalry.
This square was charged by the three troops
and a half of the 15th Hussars, as it was halted
In fine order, about the time of the advance of the
Imperial Guard, or a little before; but as I was
then severely wounded, I did not observe in what
manner these troops were supported on their
flanks, or how their retreat was conducted, but
very large masses of cavalry were in their rear.
With regard to the crops growing on the fields on
the 18th June, I beg to state, as well as I am able
to remember, that there was no fallow land in the
vicinity of the Waterloo and Nivelles road, on
the right, in the direction of Braine le Leud, nor
on the left, as far as the crest of the position and
Hougoumont. The crops were for the most part
wheat, rye, and oats, or clover or grass hay, and
particularly the latter in the hollows and ravines
on the left of the track leading from the Nivelles
road towards Braine le Leud; however, towards
the enemy the crops were so much trodden down
that the surface looked more like broken stubble
than a golden harvest.

¢ In the early part of the day the position of the
15th Hussars was in the plan at C, that of the right
squadron at C2, and that of a picquet at C38; but
after the battle had begun until about half-past 2
p-m. it was at D, and for nearly an hour afterwards
it was at E, whence it moved with the 18th Light
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Dragoons to about F, for the purpose of attacking
ten squadrons of Lancers posted in line in rear
of a deep ravine at G. It then joined the right
squadron of the regiment; but owing to the
impetuous attack of the French cavalry on the
right centre of the British position, the intended
attack on the Lancers was given up, and the
regiment, leaving the right squadron where it
was originally posted, retraced its steps to the
vicinity of the position A, and was immediately
engaged in the attack, by charge or skirmishing,
of Cuirassiers and other cavalry; and this
lasted until the enemy’s cavalry found it could
make no lasting impression on this part of the
position,

“The enemy’s cavalry and infantry moved in
column, both 1n advance and retreat, the former
being at about quarter distance, and T understand
when the British line advanced that three troops
of the 15th Hussars charged a body of infantry as
well as some Lancers.

“'The position of the regiment being in rear of
Hougoumont, the masses of infantry which would
have closed on its post were intercepted by the
troops defending that place and none of the
enemy’s infantry to the best of my recollection
gassed its enclosures, and the first I saw of that
orce in the immediate front of the Fifteenth was
the column charged by my squadron; but I
witnessed the advance of many heavy masses of
infantry which attacked ITougoumont, although
soon after the firing began the distant movements
of the enemy’s columns were from this point of the
position but indistinctly seen owing to the smoke,
which hung lazily on a surface saturated with rain.
The left of the enemy’s infantry extended to the
Nivelles road nearly in line with G in the plan,
whence a heavy fire of artillery was kept up, for
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the chief part of the engagement, upon the angle of
the BritisE position.

“Begging you will believe I shall be happy to
give any further explanation, I have the honour to
be, ete. ete. ete.

“Jos. THACKWELL,

“ Late Lieutenant-Colonel Com. 15th Hussars.”

On the 9th of the July following the date of
this communication Lieutenant-Colonel Thackwell
submitted to Lieutenant Siborne, for Major-
General Sir Colquhoun Grant, this account of the
proceedings of the 5th. Cavalry Brigade at Water-
loo :

“ Having been requested by Lieutenant-General
Sir Colquhoun Grant (owing to his inability in
consequence of a severe family affliction) to reply
to your printed letter of 28th October 1834,
soliciting information with respect to the proceed-
ings of the 5th Brigade of Cavalry in the Battle of
Waterloo, I beg leave to state, in connection with
a former communication relative to the movements
of the 15th Hussars, that, with reference to the
query, * What was the formation of the 5th Cavalry
Brigade, ete. ete. ?°:

“The brigade about this time was formed in line
of squadrons at or about AA, Al, A2, in the plan,
according to report and the best of my belief and
recollection ; but there might have been a square
of our infantry between the Fifteenth and the
Thirteenth, and their position might have been 50
or 80 yards more to the left. 1 must, however,
here remark that the relative situation of the three
regiments was not the same throughout the day,
the Thirteenth being for a great part of the conflict
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on the left of the Fifteenth. The squadrons at this
time did not probably amount to 80 files each. I
should also perhaps explain here that the 18th Light
Dragoons had jomned the brigade that morning in
consequence of the 2nd Hussars of the Legion not
having returned from the frontier; that the 15th
Hussars had a squadron in a ravine at Al, and a
Eicquet at A2, from the beginning to the end of the

attle, which detachments suffered some loss b
cannon fire and skirmishing; and that the 7t
THussars were very weak, having suffered most
severely on the debouch of the French cavalry from
Genappe the preceding afternoon,

“ With regard to the second query, - What was
the formation of that part of the enemy’s forces
immediately in front of the brigade ?° The enemy’s
troops, cavalry and infantry, were in column, the
former at perhaps half or quarter distance. It
is a difficult matter at this distant period to trace
the enemy’s formation more particularly, but a
};n'l%e force of his cavalry was in this part of the

eld.

“In reference to the general proceedings of the
brigade, I beg to stdte that it was under the
crest of the position, in rear of the angle at
Hougoumont, until about 8 p.m., when the 15th
Hussars and 18th Light Dragoons were moved
to the Ravine D between the Nivelles road and
Braine-le-Leud, for the purpose of attacking 10
squadrons of Lancers in two lines, forming the
left of the French Army at E.  Whilst dispositions
were making for the attack the Lancers began
cheering, and on looking towards the position we
had quitted, the cause of the cheering was dis-
covered to be an impetuous attack by the French
cavalry upon our infantry and guns, the limbers
of which were going rapidly towards the Nivelles
road. The French cavalry passing between the
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squares of the infantry were charged and driven
back by the cavalry of the 3rd Brigade (Dorn-
berg’s) and the 8rd Hussars of the Legion.

“This attack was several times repeated ; and
Sir Colquhoun Grant, judging that the attack of
the Lancers was only a secondary object, most
judiciously took upon himself the responsibility of
taking the two regiments back to the ground they
had left, the Thirteenth leading, which regiment
formed line to the front, and at or about the spot
marked B charged a body of Cuirassiers, who were
driven back for more than 800 yards to the low
ground beyond C. The Fifteenth also formed
to the front, to the left of the Thirteenth, and
charged a mass of Cuirassiers, which were likewise
driven back for a like distance upon heavy masses
of cavalry, who, beginning offensive operations in
front and on the flank, compelled the Thirteenth first
and afterwards the Fifteenth to retreat to their own
line, where the steadiness of the two regiments
had the effect of checking any further serious
attack upon this point for some time; but the
skirmishers of the Fifteenth were employed against
the Cuirassiers and other Cavalry in front, who
were kept at some distance. -

“ More to the left, however, the enemy’s cavalry
made some demonstrations in advance and attacks.
Between 6 and 7 o'clock a column of nearly
1,000 infantry advanced to within 150 yards, or
less, of the first line, to near the spot F on the
plan, supported by a large body of Cuirassiers
and other cavalry about C. This square was
charged by the two squadrons of the 15th Hussars
and its further advance was checked. Shortly
after some Light Cavalry and Iancers, who in-
commoded the front of the adjoining squares of
“infantry, were charged and driven back by the
same corps. The 7th Hussars and the 18th Light
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Dragoons were also most actively engaged, and
on the general advance the regiments of the
brigade made several attacks on the cavalry as
well as infantry, in one of which Colonel Kerrison,
of the first-named regiment, had a horse killed
under him, and Major Grifliths, of the 15th Hussars,
was killed in charging the latter ; and these attacks
contributed greatly to the loss and confusion of the
enemy. Sir Colquhoun Grant had five horses
killed and wounded under him. He was in Hussar
uniform, and rode, at about 7 o’clock, a very fine,
large, chestnut horse, which was wounded.

“ The prompt, judicious, and fortunate movement
of the brigade from the designed attack of the
Lancers, to that of the Cuirassiers before men-
tioned, restored confidence to this part of the line,
which seemed to be in danger, and may justly
be considered an event of the utmost im-
portance,

“I should imagine it was previous to the return
of the brigade that the cavalry attack witnessed by
Major Mercer occurred.  However, I saw no cavalry
in the ravine leading to Braine-le-Leud from the
time we quitted the angle of the position to that
of our return, except the Thirteenth and Fifteenth
passing along it, although there might be cavalry
at the spot stated by Major Mercer. It might
have taken place afterwards, for 1 know, by report
at the time, that a body of Cuirassiers passed
between the squares of infantry to our left, and
being unable or unwilling to return, retreated towards
the Nivelles road, and passed the small post of
the 15th Hussars; but those who escaped were
said to be not more than thirty, some having been
knocked down by the fire of the Fifty-first, the direc-
tion of which prevented their being charged by the
above -detachment. But a difficulty occurs here,
as at this time a considerable part of Lord Hill’s
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corps had joined the first line, and probably
Major Mercer with it. - I think I heard this body
was charged, but never knew when, or by what
corps. - It is certain that no attack by cavalry
had been made on the position near Hougoumont
until after the two regiments had quitted that
part of the field to move against the Lancers,
and it is therefore probable some mistake may
have occurred as to time, and that the circum-
stances mentioned may have -originated in the
same affair.

“I trust I need not apologise for this long state-
ment, confiding in the hope that you have received
Sir Colquhoun Grant’s note intimating that he had
desired me to transmit it after having perused
and confirmed all the events of moment therein
mentioned.”

" Thackwell was left all night where he fell, but
the following extracts from his diary show the
events of the next few days:

“ Monday, June 19th.— A very fine day ; found
by Assistant Surgeon Jeyes, and conveyed to the
hospital. Arm very stiff and painful ; at half-past
8 o'clock had it amputated close to the shoulder ;
the pain great, but I bore it with fortitude, and
was greatly complimented on my heroism. The ball
had shattered the bone from the shoulder to within
an inch of where it was divided. Put to bed in
billet No. 1,148, Section 1st, Place du Grand
Sablon.”

 Tuesday, 20th.—The day fine ; a little better—
wrote a letter to England.”

“ Thursday, 22nd.—A fine day ; shaved myself.”

“ Tuesday, 27th.—A fine day; took a few turns
in the square.”
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“ Wednesday, 28th—Walked in the Park for
near two hours, rather fatigued myself. Called
on the Colonel, who appeared in good spirits,
chatted with him for more than half an hour.”

“ Saturday, July 29th.—Rode to Waterloo, and
ordered the monument on the officers of the
Fifteenth who fell in the battle.”

On Thursday, 10th August—little more than
seven weeks after his severe wound—Thackwell
was on his way to rejoin the regiment, and march-
ing by Hal, Braine le Comte, Mons, Le Cateau,
Cambrai, Bapaume, Amiens—where- he witnessed
the public entry of the Duke de Berri, and where
he found General Dornberg and the 8rd Cavalry
Brigade--Breteuil and Gisors to Lions la Forét,
where he rejoined the headquarters of the 15th
Hussars. |

(It is very noticeable all through Captain
Thackwell’s diaries how invariably when marching
he studies the country passed’ over, from a military
and especially from a cavalry point of view.) .

In September Thackwell had a few days’ leave
in Paris, and shortly after his return, on the
8rd October, the regimental headquarters were
moved to Gisors. From here he went to Dangu,
where General Grant had his headquarters in a
chateau belonging to General la Grange, and here
he had a curious day’s fox-hunting, of which sport
he remarks; ¢ The hounds bad—-the woods are so
large and the foxes so:numerous that the practice
is to shoot them whilst hunting, Killed one—
chased a hare—bad sport.”

6
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On the 10th October the regiment marched by
way of Rouen to Trouville, and remained here
until. the 18th December, when the Fifteenth
marchéd to join a new brigade at Dieppe, moving
by: Ourville and St. Valery. Early in the New
Yeéar the regiment moved again, marching on the
11th January 1816 to Trevent, on the 21st to
Avesnes le Comte, early in February to Bailleul,
only half a league from the Belgian frontier, and
on the 29th March to Bourbourg, the last station
of the regiment during the Occupation.

A reduction in the strength of the British con-
tingent in France having been decided on, the
Fifteenth was amongst the first regiments ordered
to England. On Sunday, the 5th May, the regi-
ment marched to Hondschoute and handed over
151 horses to the 7th, 80 to the 18th Hussars, and
18 to the 11th Light Dragoons. The non-com-
missioned officers were allowed to retain their
horses, of which only 76 were now remaining in
the regiment. Here the Fifteenth appears to
have been inspected by Sir Stapleton Cotton, now
Lord Combermere, who, on Lord Uxbridge being
wounded at Waterloo, had been summoned to
France to command the British cavalry of the
Army of Occupation.

On the 6th and 7th the regiment proceeded
to Calais for embarkation, the dismounted men
and a few horses sailing on the latter date. The
remainder of the regiment was to have sailed on
the 9th, but the wind was contrary, and the
embarkation was not effected until the following
day, and it was not until the 14th that the fleet
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of packets, with the 15th Hussars and 18th
Light Dragoons, sailed for England, arriving at
Dover at 8 o’clock the same night.

Next day the Fifteenth disembarked and marched
to Canterbury, where the whole regiment was
assembled, and where the medals granted for the
Waterloo campaign were issued to officers and
men. The following honours were also granted :
the word “ Waterloo ” was added to the distinctions
borne by the regiment; Colonel Dalrymple was
honoured with the dignity of Companion of the
Bath ; Captain ‘Thackwell was promoted Major
vice Griffiths, killed in action : and Captain Hancox,
who had brought the regiment out of action at
Waterloo, was given the brevet rank of Major,
All ranks had the further privilege of reckoning
two years’ service for the battle.

On the 28th May the regiment marched to
Hounslow, where on' the 1st June, having been
newly mounted, it was inspected by the Duke of
York, and on the 3rd marched for Nottmgham,
Birmingham, and Wolverhampton,



CHAPTER VI

Masor THACKWELL'S squadron was stationed now
at Birmingham, and here on the 28th October
a riot took place towards evening. The troops
were called out and cleared the streets, but many
stones were thrown by the mob and one of these
struck Major Thackwell on the head, rendering
him insensible for several hours. Several of the
rioters were lodged in the gaol, and by midnight
all was quiet. The mob collected again in the
course of the next morning, but the Riot Act
was read, and by 2 p.m. the mob was entirely dis-
persed, and at night the streets were empty. Two
more troops of the Fifteenth were brought into
Birmingham, but their services were not required.
At this time there was a very great deal of unrest
all over the country, and both in this year and
in the following the military were constantly
called out in aid of the civil power.

In June 1817 Major Thackwell was promoted
to the brevet rank of Lieutenant-Colonel in the
Gazelte of the 21st, wherein it was stated *the
undermentioned officers to have a step of pro-
motion whose former recommendations were over-

looked for special services in the field.” And
84
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now for some twenty long years Thackwell was
to be condemned to a life, not of inaction,
but of peace-soldiering. The army was reduced,
the regiment was split up and occupied country
quarters, and did not come together again until
October 1821, But for Lieutenant-Colonel Thack-
well the years were not wasted, and were devoted,
in a manner someéwhat unusual for those days,
to the unceasing study of his profession. His
correspondence shows how constantly he was in
communication with leading cavalry soldiers upon
questions of drill and manceuvre, and how greatly
his views upon such matters were sought after
and appreciated.  Colonel Dalrymple' appears
from this time forward until his death to have
been but little with the regiment, all matters
connected with its command falling in a large
measure into the hands of Lieutenant-Colonel
Thackwell. His diaries for these years are full
of mentions of regimental field days lasting eight
and nine hours, of exercises in reconnaissance and
outpost duty, and in constant inspection of troops
and squadrons at out-stations. While, however,
he did not spare those under him, he spared
himself still less; he was constantly in the saddle,
and the long rides he took almost daily all over
the country—forty to sixty miles a day—
helped to keep him physically fit for the more
active work of his profession which was still before
him. On the 6th June 1820 Colonel Dalrymple
died of abscess of the brain, and Lieutenant-

! Colonel Dalrymple was the second son of General Sir Hew
Dalrymple of Cintra fame.
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Colonel Thackwell succeeded him in the command
of the King’s Hussars.

Ernest Augustus, Duke of Cumberland, had
been Colonel of the Fifteenth since 1801 and had
always taken a very active interest in its affairs,
All questions concerning it—not only in regard
to appointments, exchanges, and promotions, but
details of uniform and mounting—had always
been referred to His Royal Highness, and in
Colonel Thackwell’s correspondence are many
letters from the Duke of Cumberland or from
his staff, showing how very close was the super-
vision the Duke always exercised over the regiment
of which he was the Honorary Colonel. In
-January 1828 there is some question of reverting
to a former pattern of bit, which has not the
Duke’s approval— besides,” he remarks, ¢ the
very look of them, as they resemble coack horse
*bits ‘and therefore certainly very little becoming
for a Hussar.” On the question of remounts
.the Colonel cautions the Commanding Officer to
“beware of purchasing cocktails ; they are frightful,
and what I have most studiously avoided buying.”
Writing in May 1823 His Royal Highness says,
“1 long very much to see once again the regiment
which I hear from all sides is in very high order.”
He is very particular in regard to officers desirous
of exchanging into the regiment, and when applica-
tions reach him he puts very searching inquiries to
Colonel Thackwell on the subject. He is loth
to consider any exchange with an infantry officer,
remarking very properly on one occasion that
“my object is to bring young men into the
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regiment who will rise progressively, and by being
therefore thoroughly grounded in the system of
the corps will, I hope, become good cavalry officers ;
you will therefore inform the officers in question
that I cannot consent to the exchange.”

On the 25th December 1827 the Duke of
Cumberland, who had been Colonel of the Fifteenth
for some six-and-twenty years, severed his connec-
tion with that regiment on being appointed to the
Coloneley of the Blues. There can be no doubt
that His Royal Highness was very sincerely
attached to the regiment he had so long com-
manded, and in several letters written at that
time to Lieutenant-Colonel Thackwell he . ex-
pressed the sorrow he felt at parting.

“The 25th,” he wrote, “was for me a most
1p’:ainful day, as having had the honour and

appiness of being Colonel of that distinguished
regiment for twenty-seven years, 1 felt a sort of
father’s affection for the Corps.” He writes to
Colonel Thackwell of *an acquaintance of six-
and-twenty years which has existed between’
yourself and me, and 1 believe you are the only
officer or man I may say remaining in the regiment
since 1 had first the honour of commanding it.
I beg,” repeats the Duke, “that you will assure
the whole corps of officers of my sincere regard
and faithful attachment. As to yourself, I need
not say how much I regret that our military
connection which has now subsisted twenty-six
years, will cease naturally on the 25th December.”

The Duke of Cumberland was succeeded in
command of the Fifteenth by Majar-General
Sir Colquhoun Grant.
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In August 1825 Codlonel Thackwell and two
officers of the regiment, Lieutenant Temple and
Cornet Rose, went over to Berlin and attended
some great manceuvres which were held in
the vicinity. They left Hamburg on the 27th,
travelling by post wagon, and the roads bemg very
bad, only arrived at Berlin on the 29th in the
evening, -putting up at the Hétel Stadt Rom.
Two days after their arrival the manceuvres began,
and Colonel Thackwell was out early and late.
He describes very fully in his diary all he witnessed,
and gives the Prussian cavalry every credit for
steadiness * in manceuvre, and . for the thorough
training of the horses, but finds their movements
slow, everything being done at a steady trot, while
even in the charge the gallop was only used for a
very short distance. 'The infantry impressed him
with their steadiness, but Colonel Thackwell adds
a remark, whieh our military attachés have often
uttered of late years in regard to German
manceuvres—viz. that  there, was ‘unpecessary
exposure to cannon and musketry fire in close
order.” The Dukes of Cumberland and Cambridge
were both present at this time in Berlin, and
Colonel Thackwell met and was presented to
several of the men who had helped to raise Prussia
after the disasters of Jena and Auerstadt—General
Hake, von Knesebeck, Miiffling and Gneisenau
- and others, -

The officers of the Fifteenth left Berlin for
Russia on the 25th September, and arrived at a
town about thirty miles from Warsaw, on the
Polish frontier, where the manceuvres of the
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Russian army were to take place. Thackwell
thought the men fine and the horses good, and the
latter generally in excellent condition, while the
Polish horses were much better. bred than the
Russian.  Altogether some 1,300 cavalry and
7,000 infantry were seen here. On the 8rd October
the three officers left for Berlin on their return
to England; they returned thence by Lelps1c,
where they visited the battlefield, and by Frank-
fort to Calais, whence they crossed to ‘Dover,
arriving in England on the 9th November. A

Dunng the remainder of the present tour of
service of the regiment in England, Colonel Thack-
well was very frequently employed in the inspection
of corps of yeomanry cavalry all over the country

In July 1824 the Fifteenth embarked at Bristol
for Ireland-—no less than twelve vessels were then
requlred to transport even a comparatively weak
regiment of cavalry—and was quartered at Cork.
Here General Sir John Lambert was in command,
the Compmander-in-Chief in Ireland being I.ord
Combermere. It was here that Colonel Thackwell
seems to have met the young lady whom he after-
wards married—Miss Maria Audriah Roche, the
eldest daughter of the late Francis Roche of
Rochemont, County Cork, of the Fermoy family,
and niece of Colonel Roche of Trabolgan House,
Co. Cork. In April of the year following the
Fifteenth moved to Dublin, where Thackwell met
Sir Hugh Gough, under whom he was to see
so much service in the future, and who was then
commanding the 22nd Regiment.

On the 9th July Colonel Thackwell was married
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to Miss Roche at Trabolgan House by the Bishop
of Cloyne, her uncle and guardian, Colonel Roche,
giving -her away—and on the 3rd September the
newly married couple took up their abode in the
Commanding Officers’ quarters in Portobello
Barracks, Dublin. '

Almost throughout the whole of the remainder
of Colonel Thackwell’s command of the King's
Hussars, the regiment was greatly split up, finding
many detachments, and it was but seldom that the
Fifteenth could be drilled or manceuvred together
as a whole. None the less, the inspections by
the commanding officer were frequent and close,
and Colonel Thackwell was constantly travelling
long distances by coach, chaise, or on horseback,
to visit his troops and squadrons at out-stations.
As a result of his unremitting supervision the
regiment seems on every occasion to have been
well reported on by the many distinguished officers
by whom from time to time it was inspected—
the Duke of Cumberland, I.ord Hill, Lord Com-
bermere, Sir Hussey Vivian, Sir Colquhouh Grant,
and others—and it is very noticeable, from Colonel
Thackwell’s correspondence and diaries, how often
commanding ‘officers of other cavalry regiments
made a point of being present whenever any
special parade or inspection of the 15th Hussars
was ordered. It is not only, however, in the
maintenance of .the high character of the regiment
for drill and manceuvre that the hand of the
commanding officer may be noticed. With the
approval of Major-General Sir Colquhoun Grant,
then Colonel of the regiment, Colonel Thackwell
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drew out and published a new set of Standing
Orders, those formerly in use having been lost some
years previously, He also appears to have con-
ceived the idea of writing the history of the
regiment, and some closely written bundles of
manuscript in his handwriting, which are still
extant, seem to leave no doubt, from the similarity
of innumerable paragraphs, that for the greater
part of the ‘ Historical Record of the Fifteenth
Hussars,” written and published by Richard Cannon
of the Adjutant-General’s Office in 1841, that
writer was very greatly-indebted to the material”
Colonel Thackwell had collected, and much of
which he had put into shape. It should be
remembered that while Colonel Thackwell was in
command of the King’s Hussars, many of the
actors in some of the most prominent achievements
of the regiment were still alive, and were, some
of them, in constant touch with their old corps.
Sir William Aylett and Sir William Keir—or
Keir Grant as he latterly called himself—are
mentioned in Colonel Thackwell’s diaries as dining
with the regiment on “ the thirty-fifth anniversary
of the glorious action of Villers en Couché,” where
these two Paladins had won the cross of Maria
Teresa ; and there is, among the Colonel’s corre-
spondence, a letter from Major Pocklington, who
brought the two squadrons of the Fifteenth out
of action on the same glorious occasion, which is
evidently written in compliance with Colonel
Thackwell's request for some account of the
service of the regiment in Flanders, and wherein
Pockington tells, in modest terms, of those stormy
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but never-to-be-forgotten days. But besides these
old officers of the 15th Light Dragoons, there were
men still living who had served in the regiment
at Emsdorff in 1760, and in the days when it was
still known to fame as Eliott’s Light Horse.
Journeying through the Midlands in June 1827
Colonel Thackwell records in his diary that at
Winslow, near Aylesbury—

“1 saw poor old William Ovitts, aged eighty-six,
a veteran soldier who was in the King’s Hussars,
and behaved nobly at the battle of Emsdorff, He
seems decrepit, but hasall his faculties, and would
rejoice much in fighting his battles over again with
the garrulity of old age. The Duke of Cumberland
allows him £7 per annum, no pension having been
granted him—but he seems poor, although well
clothed. He lodges with one Mr. J ennings, a
saddler.”

"There is a letter to Colonel Thackwell, dated
Horse Guards, 19th February 1881, from Mr.
Richard Cannon, wherein he writes:

“Being anxious to afford you every possible
assistance in rendering the records of the 15th
King’s Hussars as creditable and as complete as
they can be made, 1 have ventured to send you
by this post the volume of Gazettes for the year
1762, to which you state you wish to refer for
particulars of the Continental Wars at that
period.”

There is a copy also of a letter addressed by
Colonel Thackwell, on the 11th August 1881, to
Lieutenant-General Sir Robert Wilson-—another
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of the Knights of the Maria Teresa Order—wherein
he writes :

“That being in daily expectation of receiving an
order from the Adjutant-General to transmit the
revised history of the King’s Hussars, he feels
obliged to beg Sir Robert Wilson will have the
goodness at his convenience to return him the
narrative of the campaigns of 1799. At the same
time Lieutenant-Colonel Thackwell ventures to
hope Sir Robert Wilson will have the kindness
to correct any error he may discover in thé detail
of circumstances, and add anything which may
have been omitted, as he cannot but be extremely
desirous that the account of the transactions of the
regiment at these periods should have the autho-
rity of so distinguished a participator in them.”

It seems greatly to be regretted that Colonel
Thackwell was, for some reason or other, never
able himself to complete the work he had under-
taken, for there can be no doubt that he would
have evolved an infinitely more interesting
and a more vivid narrative than the dry-as-dust
productions which, in the shape of ¢ Records ”
of many regiments in the army, emanated some
years later, wholesale, from the Horse Guards.

There seems no object in following the regi-
ment from quarter to quarter—from Dublin to
Ballinrobe, from Ballinrobe to Newbridge, back
again to Dublin, thence to Kingston-on-Thames,
and afterwards to Canterbury, and Hampton
Court, and Brighton. At the last-named place
Colonel Thackwell was greatly distressed ' at
finding it necessary to destroy an old charger
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which had been given to him in 1807 as a four-
year-old. He took the horse to Corunna in 1808
and rode him through Galicia, and at Corunna
a round shot grazed his shoulder, but without
doing him any injury.

“He was my favourite charger,” writes his
sorrowing master, “in embarking at Portsmouth
in 1812; I rode him at the passage of the Esla,
and in the battle of Vittoria, where he upset
several horses which came in contact with him.
I rode him also at the Pyrenees, at Orthes,
Grenade, Toulouse, and in many skirmishes. At
the latter battle a_cannon ball ‘passed under his
belly. At Waterloo I rode him until he was
wounded by a musket ball on the knee, from
which he did not recover for a long time.”

In April 1830 the Fifteenth moved to
Nottingham and Sheffield, remaining in those
districts for the greater part of two years; and it
was while stationed in the vicinity of Nottingham
that serious riots broke out, and Colonel Thackwell
had again an opportunity of proving his ability to
deal with a difficult situation.

On the 81st October 1831 the Duke of
Newcastle wrote as follows to Colonel Thack-
well :

“Since my return home I have had so many
things to think of that I have omitted a very
hecessary part of my duty, namely, writing to
inform you of my return, and to try to put myself
in communication with you. ... Pray let me
hear from you on every occasion, either of what
has occurred or respecting any measure of precau-
tion that you may think necessary. You may
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rely upon my ready and cordial co-operation on all
oceasions.

“I. should do more harm than good by appear-
ing at Nottingham; I must therefore content
myself with acting from home. I shall at all
times be happy to see you here, or to meet you at
any place where my presence will not raise a mob.

“I should be very glad to receive from you an
impartial account of all that occurred on Sunday,
Monday, and Tuesday at Nottingham and neigh-
bourhood.

“Your communications, if requred, shall be
strictly confidential.”

“I remain; Sir,
“ Your very obd. Ser.
“ NEWCASTLE.”

In reply, the following statement of all that
took place during the rots in Nottingham and
neighbourhood on the 9th, 10th, and 11th October
1831 was sent by lLieutenant-Colonel Thackwell
to the Duke of Newcastle at Clumber:

“On Sunday the 9th about 12 o'clock a re-
quisition was received from the County Magistrates
and Mayor of Derby requesting that a troo
might be attached to that place in aid of the Civil
Power. The requisition was for a squadron,
(which of course I could not think of), the ground
being that the town was in the hands of a mob
who were breaking windows and destroying the
%roperty of people who were obnoxious. Major

uckley, two subalterns, and 41 men and horses
were instantly sent, communication having been
previously held with the town magistrate, who
did not apprehend any tumult, and thought the
party might be spared.”
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“On the evening of tks same day a great
number of Eeople assembled in the market-place
at Nottingham, and proceeded to break the
windows of obnoxious individuals. The Mayor,
in endeavouring to quell this disturbance, was
wounded on the head by a stone, thrown down
and trampled on by the mob, his leg being much
bruised ; and, the number of the rioters increasing,
the Military was called out, and succeeded In
disgersing the crowds in various parts of the town
and in the market-place. Small knots of the
lowest rabble, however, still continued to glide
through dark alleys and passages, and frequently
succeeded in breaking windows before they could
be interrupted. Mr. Wilkins, the Reformer,
addressed the multitude late at night, entreating
them to disperse, and about 2 o’clock two of the
rioters were apprehended by the Civil Power.
Soon after this, the streets being now nearly
empty, the troops were withdrawn to the barracks,
an officer’s picquet of 20 men being left in the
town. On Monday morning early the picquet
was withdrawn; but after the meeting held at
11 o’clock to petition the King not to dismiss his
ministers, a considerable excitement became appar-
ent, although a communication from the ’Fown
Clerk led to the belief that everything would
pass off peacefully. I had armed the recruiting
Earties stationed in the town with carbines, and

ad made disposable a few dismounted men who
could be spared from the defence of the barracks ;
the whole of the troops were in readiness to
turn out during the meeting, and a troop of
Yeomanry was assembled near Wollaton. At
half-past two everything was peaceable; the town
clerk at this time sent a note to say most of the
eople had gone home, and the troops need no
Ponger be in readiness; but between 3 and 4 a
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picquet was sent into the town, at the request
of the Mayor, of the same strength as before,
and soon after the whole disposable mounted
force followed-—the magistrates requesting that
the mounted men might be brought into the
town. The Riot Act was read in many places,
and mobs which were parading the streets with
flags and doing much mjury to private property
were frequently dispersed ; it was, %owe‘ver, totally
impossible to prevent their reassembling, as the
whole force under my command consisted of only
about 75 men and horses—many of the former
recruits. Seeing that this force was inadequate
to protect the town and county, I made application
by express to the General K commanding the
District for a reinforcement, and having met with
two county magistrates requested they would
call out the Yeomanry.

“ Soon after six o’clock intelligence was brought
that a large mob was proceeding towards Colwick,
but the magistrates of the town did not think
themselves justified in allowing any part of the
military to leave the town, nor, considering the
weakness of my force, and the alarming appearance
of the multitude which filled the street, did 1
consider myself at liberty to weaken my party
by sending detachments away at this time. About
half-past 7 o’clock, attacks were made almost
simultaneously on the House of Correction and
Nottingham (gastle. I was out in the lower part
of the town with a considerable part of my force at
the time, and fortunately came upon the great
concourse of people at the House of Correction,
where part of them were forcing in the prison doors.
These were driven into the surrounding streets and
alleys, but as it was necessary to secure this place
against further attacks, I sent for the whole of the
disposable dismounted party from the barracks,

7
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and they were ultimately distributed for the
protection of this place, the town and the county
gaol, and the gasworks. In consequence of these
occurrences at the House of Correction, the troops
with me did not return to the market-place for
some time, and when they did the castle was in
flames. A party of mounted and dismounted men,
with two county magistrates and myself, after-
wards proceeded to the castle and dispersed the
immense crowd in front ; but it was judged quite
"useless to clear the castle yard, as there was but
little chance of discovering the authors of the
mischief among the great concourse of spectators.
Colonel Wildman afterwards took a body of
special constables and a party of Hussars to the
castle, but I am not aware that any prisoners
were made. The troops patrolled the side of the
town next to the river until the mob had dis-
persed, but I believe it was owing to the extreme
wetness of the night that more mischief was not
attempted. It is worthy of remark, that whenever
the military came in contact with the populace, the
latter in being dispersed did not offer the slightest
resistance by throwing stones or otherwise.

“This evening a great number of special con-
stables were sworn in for the town, and the Mayor
and magistrates exerted themselves to preserve the
peace of the town, and afford assistance as far as
their means would permit. Detachments were
sent to Sharp Mill, the racecourse, and other places,
but the aspect of things was too alarming to allow
the ‘chance of these small parties being over-
powered, and they were recalled. An officer’s
picquet was left in the town, and the troops were
recalled to the barracks at 2 o'clock in the
morning.

“Early on Tuesday morning, a great crowd
being assembled at the castle, Mr. Norton, a
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magistrate, requested an officer’s party to assist the
special constables in clearing the castle yard. An
officer and 18 ‘men were sent on this duty, but
no magistrate being present when they first arrived,
it was some little time before the mob were
dispossessed of it. The magistrate shortly after
left, and stones were for the first time soon after
thrown at the military from the outside of the
castle. About 10 o'clock I received a requisition
from the town magistrates to take the troops
into the town, and also to reinforce those at the
castle. Proceeding with a party of twenty men, I
met a very large mob on the Derby road opposite
the park, and these men being in the act of pulling
down some iron rails, I rode among them and
dispersed them, but not so effectually as I should
have done had there been any magistrate present.
The troops marched into the town, but the
chief part were afterwards sent to the barracks.
Before 1 p.m. all were again ordered into the town,
and various detachments were employed the whole
afternoon in dispersing the mob in the market-
place and other quarters. REarly in the afternoon
I received a requisition from a county magistrate
for some men to assist a troop of yeomanry in
attacking the mob which had gone to Beeston—that
which had reunited after being dispersed in the
morning ; and as I could now calculate on the
Yeomanry being assembled, I considered myself
enabled to detach. 1 therefore obtained the consent
of the town and county magistrates to proceed
with one of the latter and 80 men for that purpose.
Near Lenton, however, I met Major Rolleston,
who stated that the mob, after having burnt Mr.
Lowe’s Mill at Beeston, had been rash enough
to break into Wollaton Park, and had been there
met and dispersed by a troop of Yeomanry, and 15
prisoners taken. e met the crowd near Lenton
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directing its course towards Nottingham, and
the magistrate read the Riot Act; but as they did
not remain’ together, the military were not then
required to act. On returning towards the town
I found one of the Holme Pierpoint troops of
Yeomanry near the ¢Admiral Warren, who,
having had some stones thrown at them by the
mob from behind a wall and hedges, were firing
their pistols to intimidate them. The mob also
threw stones at the party of the Fifteenth which
eame up, but they were quickly chased away and a
prisoner taken in the act of throwing was lodged
n the county gaol. Soon after this the five troops
of Yeomanry were placed under my command, and
I was then enabled to dispose of them and the
regulars, so as to protect both the town and the
country. The prisoners taken in Wollaton Park
had been lodged in the barracks, and towards
evening I sent an officer’s detachment of the
Hussars to escort them to the county gaol. On the
wag the party was frequently pelted with stones,
and in turning into Bridesmith Gate several stones
were thrown which struck some of the escort.
A pistol shot was then fired which wounded
two people, and this at once stopped the hostile
proceedings of the mob, and from that moment
they melted away, nor did they ever again make.
head in any part of the town. I beg to state
that on Tuesday the shot was fired by a soldier
(not an officer), and the man wounded was not
a speeial constable as reported, but a person who
could be proved, were it necessary, to have thrown
stones at the time. In the evening of this day
I bad recommended to the town and county
magistrates to call out the out-pensioners to act as
special constables; and this recommendation being
attended to, an efficient civil force was now
embodied.
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“It was for a long time a matter of conjecture
to what place the mob had retired. However, it was
found at length that a strong party of it had
retired to the meadows below the town to consult,
and strong officers’ patrols were at various times
sent outside the ‘town. The last appearance of
an assemblage of people was at about 12 o’clock at
night near the river, and those were dispersed
by an officer’s party with a town magistrate at
its head. A picquet of an officer and 20 men
was left in the town, and the out-picquets
stationed near it and the inlying picquet at the
barracks patrolled the country in various diree-
tions. The same precautions of strong picquets
were taken by the troops, and various patrols were
made from them into the country, during the
nights of the 12th and 18th, after which the
services of the troops of the Yeomanry were
dispensed with. The picquet of an officer and
20 men of the Fifteenth was continued in
the town until the 20th inst,, and a strong inl{in
picquet was mounted at the barracks, from whic
the country had been ]patrolled by an officer’s
or smaller patrols in all directions, during the
chief part of the night. The Wollaton and
another troop of Yeomanry in part remained
on duty for the nights of the 14th and 15th to
patrol the villages of Bullwell, Busford, Wollaton
and neighbourhood ; but with the exception of an
outrage or two in the direction of Plumtree on the
12th, everything has remained quiet in the town
and neighbourhood up to the present period.”

General Sir Henry Bouverie, commanding the
district, left everything to Colonel Thackwell, as
the General was unable himself to leave Man-
chester, and the riots, which at one time had
presented a very ugly appearance, were completely
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crushed by the measures adopted. In writing to
Colonel Thackwell on the 14th October, Major-
General Bouverie says, ** You appear to have
managed everything in the most satisfactory
manner,” and again :

“1 have not failed to call the attention of the
Commander-in-Chief to the very judicious manner
in which the duties which have devolved upon
you and Major Buckley and the regiment under
your command have been performed.”

On the 19th October the General wrote to
Colonel Thackwell as follows :

“ DEAR SIR,

“1 have great pleasure in obeying the com-
mand of Lord Hill to signify to you the satisfaction
which the conduct of the 15th Hussars under your
command at Nottingham and under Major Buck-
ley’s at Derby have afforded him under such very
trying and arduous services.

“I beg that you will make known his Lord-
ship’s approbation to your regiment in whatever
way you may deem most desirable.”

' The letter from the Horse Guards speaks of
Lord Hill’s “sense of the steadiness, forbearance
and superior discipline of the distinguished regi-
ment.” The eivil authorities, too, were not behind-
hand in placing on record their appreciation of the
services of the military : the magistrates of the
County of Nottingham, assembled at Quarter
Sessions, passed on the 17th October a resolution
that—
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“the most cordial and grateful thanks of this
meeting are especially due and are hereby tendered
to Colonel Thackwell for the admirable and judi-
cious arrangements and disposition of the different
military corps after the whole were placed ‘under
his sole command; ,by which the late most formidable
tumults were effectually suppressed and the public
peace preserved without the loss of a single life
and almost without bloodshed.”

The inhabitants of Nottingham raised a sub-
scription, and at a meeting held on the 21st
unanimously resolved that—

“a silver soup-tureen be presented to Colonel
Thackwell and the officers of the regiment (with
an appropriate inscription) for their prompt and
efficient exertions in restoring tranquillity amongst
us, where destruction to life as well as property
must have been the inevitable consequence of a
less determined spirit.

“ That part ofP the subscription be employed in
purchasing books with a view to establishing a
permanent library for the use of the men, under the
sanction of Colonel Thackwell.”

-Matters, however, were by no means quiet, and
throughout that winter there were constant rumours
that the more desperate characters of the mob were
arming ; that men were being sent into Nottingham
from Manchester and Birmingham ; that the troops
would be attacked on their way to church; that
rioters who had been arrested and were under trial
would be rescued and their judges-assaulted. A
troop of Horse Artillery and 150 men of the
Royal Irish Regiment were brought into Notting-
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ham and placed under the orders of Colonel Thack-
well, who ~was in constant corréspondence with
Sir Henry Bouverie at Manchester and with the
Duke of Newcastleé at the Home Office, It was
a troublous year: ILord John Russell had but
recently introduced his first Reform Bill, and the
opposition with which this measure was met had
everywhere aroused the passions of the populace ;
upon tumult followed disease, and there was a very
serious outbreak of cholera in Sunderland in the
spring of 1831. ‘
Already for some time past it would seem that
Colonel Thackwell had had an idea of leaving the
regiment and going upon half pay, and there is
some mention of such an intention in his diary as
early as March 1829. The idea took shape, and in
November 1881 he arranged an exchange to half
pay with Lord Brudenell, formerly of the 8th
Hussars—an exchange which was finally announced
in the Gazette of the 16th March 1832, though
Colonel Thackwell did not finally sever his connec-
tion with the 15th Hussars until the 80th May
of that year. The news of his exchange seems to
have aroused among his brother officers a general
chorus of regret : one of them writes : '

“] am sure I need not express to you the very deep
and sincere regret I feel at your intention of leaving
the regiment, of which you seem to be so essential
a part that one can hardly imagine its existing
without you. . . i:I firmly believe that no officer
ever retired from the command of a regiment with
such a reputation as you have, or so justly re-

gretted.”
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Another says:

“Not only to myself is your retiringicause of the

sincerest sorrow, but to every officer in the
corps. There is not one in the Fifteenth (for
however short time he may have served under you)
that does not deplore the loss of so distinguished
and impartial a commandant,

“The officers, my dear Colonel, cannot let you
depart from among them without presenting some
‘token, some testimonial of the admiration and
esteem they entertain for you as a soldier and a
man, and through me they beg to communicate to
you their having ordered a piece of plate, your
acceptance of which will be a Eeartfelt gratification
to them. In their name and for myself, my dear
Colonel, allow me to wish to yourself and family
health and happiness wherever you may go, what-
ever realms to see.

“ With thanks for your many acts of kindness to
me, and assurance of a sincere regard and attach-
ment to you, believe me, in grief at the step you
have felt called upon to take,

“Yours most truly,

“ FREDERICK BUCKLEY,
«“ Major, 15t}z King’s Hussars.”

In reply Colonel Thackwell wrote :

“Believe me I can scarcely find words to
express to you how much I am obliged for the
kind sentiments conveyed in your letter, and it is a
matter of the deepest sorrow that anticipations of
the uncertainty of the future have induced me to
remove from the command of the regiment where
I have spent so many happy days. If the King’s
Hussars have been so fortunate as to obtain the
approbation of the Commander of the Forces dur-
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ing the time I have had the honour to command
the regiment, it has been owing to the zealous,
cordial, and unremitted attention to their duty of
the officers it has been my good fortune to be
associated with.”

On the exchange being finally carried out,
Thackwell congratulates Lord Brudenell “most
sincerely on succeeding to the command of one of
the best regiments in His Majesty’s service.”

That Colonel Thackwell felt very deeply leaving
the regiment in which he had served so long, and
with which he had taken part in so many stirring
scenes, there can be no question. It is significant
that his diary, in which it was his custom to
enter with minute exactness every event and action
of his daily life, contains no mention whatever of
the severance of his long and honourable connection
with the Fifteenth.

Those who have stood, like him, at the « parting
of the ways” will understand and respect the

silence in which he passes out of a happy regi-
mental life.
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CoroNEL THACKWELL would seem to have settled
down, at least for a time, to the ordinary life
of a country gentleman. He had inherited a small
property called Normansland, near Dymock, in
Gloucestershire, and shortly after leaving the
15th Hussars he purchased an adjoining small
property called Woodend Farm, and later on
another at Ragland in Monmouthshire. —He-
found plenty of occupation in the improvement
of these properties, and in shooting and fishing,
of which all his life he had been passionately fond ;
and his diaries at this period contain many
references to the long journeys he made, and to
the great distances he was accustomed to walk and
ride when engaged in these pursuits.

His family, too, was increasing, and the following
are the names of the children who survived infancy,
the eldest being born in 1827 and the youngest in
1842 : Edward Joseph, Elizabeth Cranbourne, Anne
Maria Esther, William de Wilton Roche, Osbert
d’Abitdt, Maria Roche, Francis John Roche.

If, however, Colonel Thackwell had ever any idea
of finally severing his connection with the service,

he seems to have speedily renounced it, for we
107
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find him a constant attendant at Lord Hill’s levées,
and there are not a few references in his diaries
to a wish for re-employment; he was frequently
engaged in the ‘inspection of the Worcester,
Gloucester,and Monmouthshire Yeomanry Cavalry ;
he rarely missed an attendance at dinner at Apsley
House on the recurring anniversaries of the Battle
of Waterloo ; and just after leaving the Fifteenth
he was gratified by being gazetted to the Third
Class of the Hanoverian Guelphic Order, or K.H.,
dated the 17th January 1834. Already towards the
end of 1836 there is frequent mention in his diary
of the opening and prosecution of negotiations
for a restoration to full pay, while the idea of
service in India appears to have begun to exercise
a novel and increasing faseination upon him ; on
the 10th February 1837 we find that he “ offered
£4,000 for an exchange, taking no responsibility,
and provided the regiment goes out in June.”
Succeeding entries reveal the fact that he was in
treaty for an exchange with Lieutenant-Colonel
Charles Stisted, commanding the 8rd Light
Dragoons, that regiment being then under orders
to proceed shortly to India; and on Friday,
10th May, Colonel Thackwell records: “ Saw my
appointment to the 8rd Light Dragoons, and to
@ coloneley in the army in the Gazette.” The
very next day he proceeded to Canterbury, where
the Third was then stationed, and made the
acquaintance of his future brother officers; but he
does not appear to have actually taken over
command of the regiment until the 24th June, just
prior to embarkation.
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Of the children, the four eldest were left in
England, Osbert only, who was then the youngest,
accompanying his parents. Miss Emma Webb,
a niece of Colonel Thackwell’s, also embarked with
them for India. The 8rd Light Dragoons sailed
in four East-Indiamen: the Mountstuart Elphin-
stone, the London, the Thomas Grenville, and the
Lord Moira, the headquarters embarking on
the first-named, and the little fleet dropped down
the river on the 18th July. Travellers to India
often complain in these days of the accommodation
afforded them, but Colonel Thackwell remarks
that he had to purchase the whole of the cabin
furniture necessary for the voyage, the passage
money giving him nothing but the bare walls of
the cabins he had engaged.

Just before leaving England Colonel Thackwell
attended the dinner at the Duke of Wellington’s
commemorating the twenty-second anniversary
of the Battle of Waterloo, and notes that “in con-
sequence of the dangerous illness of our beloved
sovereign the party broke up early, and the usual
toasts were not given”; and three days later he
records the death of King William IV., and the
accession to the throne of “ Princess Alexandrina
Victoria, the only child of his late Royal Highness
Edward, Duke of Kent.” :

The Mountstuart Elphinstone does not appear
from Colonel Thackwell’s diary to have touched
anywhere until she reached Calcutta, where she
arrived—in company with the London—on the
18th November, when the regiment received the
unpleasing intelligence that they were to proceed
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thence on foot the whole way to Cawnpore, instead
of—as was the more usual procedure-—being
conveyed a great part of the distance in boats.
The Thomas Grenville and the Moira arrived
nearly five weeks after the first party, and the
troops on board having been disembarked on the
21st and 28rd December, the whole regiment was
assembled in camp, where, on the afternoon of
New Year’s Day, it was inspected by Major-
General Sir Willoughby Cotton, K.C.B., command-
ing the Presidency Division.

On the 4th January the 8rd Light Dragoons
commenced their march for Cawnpore; Benares
was reached on the 17th February, Allahabad on
the 27th, and Cawnpore on the 10th March, where
the Third took over 608 horses formerly belonging
to the 11th Light Dragoons—which corps had left
Cawnpore for England in December—also 199
non-commissioned officers and men who had
volunteered from that regiment to the 8rd Light
Dragoons.

At this time Cawnpore was one of the largest
garrisons in Upper India, where the main strength
was kept on the lines of the Ganges and Jumna;
the troops held Cawnpore, Meerut, and Kurnaul
in considerable force, while smaller garrisons
occupied Allahabad, Agra, and Delhi, the latter
place being the most advanced magazine of the
army. ‘

On the 19th May a General Order announced
Colonel Thackwell’s appointment to the rank of
Major-General in India, dated the 10th January
1887, and on the 20th July Lord Hill wrote to
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informrthim that he had been gazetted a Companion
of the Order of the Bath. In October he assumed
the command of the station and garrison of Cawn-
pore on the departure of Major-General Oglander.

The following extract from a letter received at
this time from Major Charles Slade, 8rd Light
Dragoons, then on the staff of Sir Henry Fane,
shows that General Thackwell had already become
as popular in his new regiment as he had ever
been in his former one: '

“Though now a Major-General, I shall always
consider you our Colonel. I do not like the new
title; it appears that you are separated from us,
which I should be sorry to think.”

For some time past affairs in Afghanistan had
been arousing great anxiety both in England and
in India. There had been something like a break-
up of the Kmpire of Afghanistan: Shah Shuja had
gone into exile ; Dost Muhamed had made himself
master of Kabul and Kandahar; while Herat,
which had continued under the Durani dominion,
had in 1887 been besieged by the Persians, who
were believed to be acting in the interests of
Russia. The danger was deemed pressing, for
the capture of Herat would introduce the Russians
to a vulnerable portion of Afghanistan. The
Persians and the Russians entered into negotiations
with Dost Muhamed at Kandahar, who in his turn
attempted to obtain support from Lord Auckland,
the Governor-General. Lord Auckland, however,
showed himself cold and unfriendly to the Dost,
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who then turned to the Russian Envoy. Lord
Auckland now determined upon the deposition
of Dost Muhamed and the restoration of Shah
Shuja, and wrote that “ we owe it to our safety to
assist the lawful sovereign of Afghanistan to the
recovery of his throne.” It was apparently at
first merely contemplated that Shah Shuja was to
attack the Dost, assisted by the forces of the
Punjab—Peshawar and Kashmir being ceded to
Ranjit Singh in return for his help. The scheme,
‘however, was enlarged so as to admit the pres-
ence of a few British corps to give stability to
the movement. But here the military authorities:
were necessarily taken into council, and the Com-
mander-in-Chief, ' Sir Henry Fane, without ex-
pressing political opinions, at once declared that
if British troops were to be sent, they must be in
sufficient numbers to take care of themselves: ;
and the Governor-General, unwilling to recede
from his plans, and still under the fear of Russian
aggression, was led -to make more extensive com-
binations. A column was ordered from Bombay
to move upon Scinde, while a Bengal force,
collected at Ferozepore, was to march down the
leff bank of the Sutlej, and thence through the
territory of Bahawalpore to meet the southern
forece. Sir Willoughby Cotton, whom we have
already seen at Calcutta, was appointed to the
eommand of the Bengal portion of the force, and
passed through Cawnpore in September, en route to
join his troops ; and on the 24th November Major-
General Thackwell was gratified by the receipt
of the following letter from Sir Henry Fane:
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“ LoTuLLa, 16th Nopember, 1838,
¢ My DEAR THACKWELL,

1 have at length persuaded the Govern-
ment that the Cavalry of the Army of.the Indus
should have a chief ; and I have therefore named
you, and an order goes to you to-day to join as
SOOR as you can. '

“My opinion is that you would do wisely to
come up with your traps, and not think about
horses ; for as a part of the army does not proceed
farther than Ferqzepore,- or even lower down the
river, you will' not find difficulty in mounting
yourself.

“ Captain Willin has overtaken me already, so
your task will not be very difficult; and I don't
think that the troops omn be off from Ferozepore
before the end of the first week in. December;

“1 am, yaurs truly, .
“ H. FaNE.

“1 think that you may bring up an aide-de-camp,’

-if desirable.”

Major-General Thackwell lost no time over- his
preparations, ‘and onithe night of the 15th he
started by palki-dak for Ferozepore, accompanied
by Cornet Edmund Roche—a brother of Mrs,
Thackwell’s, who had. been posted to the 8rd
Light Dragoons shortly before they left. England,
and whom General ' Thackwell had appointed to
be his aide-de-camp. Meerut was reached on the
4th December, and here the. travellers put up for
the night with Brigadier-General McCaskill. They
were at UUmballa on the 6th, Ludhiana on the
following day, and finally arrived at Ferozepore—
547 miles from Cawnpore—early on the-afternoon
of the 9th. “Found the whole army present,”

8
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writes the Commander-elect of the Cavalry, “ and
togk up my quarters at Colonel Beresford’s tent.
Called on Sir Henry Fane, Generals Torrens and
Churchill, and also Sir Willoughby Cotton.” On
the next day he “ called on Colonel Skinner, who
is a fine old fellow”—the individual meant being
evidently Colonel James Skinner, C.B., the Father
of the Indian Cavalry, who had served under de
Boigne, and Perron, and Scindhia, and L.ord Lake,
who had chased Holkar from' Delhi to Fatehgurh,
and Amir Khan, the Pathan adventurer, from
Bhurtpore to the Himalayas. At the date when
General Thackwell met Skinner, the latter was
commanding a body of horse in the Army of the
Indus, and must have been a man of sixty years
of age. ‘

General Thackwell had pushed on so fast to
join the army that he had greatly outmarched his
baggage, which had not come up, but none the
less he left Ferozepore on the 12th December,
in company with Roche, and hurried on 87 miles
to overtake at Baggeeke the cavalry brigade,
under Colonel Arnold of the 16th Lancers, forming
part of the Cavalry Division which Major-General
Thackwell had been selected to command.

“ To perform this march,” says he, “ T had Beres-
ford’s horses for 7 miles, his gig with two horses as
relays for about 12 miles, two of his ponies for
12 miles more, and two horses from Major
Cureton” (the Assistant Adjutant-General of the
Cavalry Division) *for the last march, a horse I

urchased from Sir Henry Fane, and a pony of
%r. Wood’s.”
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The Bengal force, as originally warned for field
service, had consisted of a brigade of artillery, a
brigade of cavalry, and five brigades of infantry,
the latter told off into two divisions under Sir
Willoughby Cotton and Major-General Duncan.
The cavalry brigade consisted of the 16th Lancers
and the 2nd and 8rd Light Cavalry, while there
were also with the army two risalas of irregular
horse. The force which had at the same time been
collected at Bombay was composed of a cavalry
and an infantry brigade, the former consisting of
part of the 4th Light Dragoons and the 1st Light
Cavalry with the Poona Local Horse. At the
same time another body of troops was raised for
service across the Indus—

“the force that was to be led by Shah Shuja into
Afghanistan ; that was to be known distinctively
as his force, but to be raised in the Company’s
territories, to be commanded by the Company’s
officers, and to be paid by the Company’s coin.” *

For this purpose there were raised two batteries of
artillery, two regiments of cavalry, and five regiments
of infantry, the total strength of these being some
6,000 men; the Bengal Army numbered 14,000, and
the Bombay force 5,000. Durand points out that—

“the British Army, consisting altogether of
25,000 men, was thus in two hodies, separated from
each other by the whole length of the course of the
Sutlej and Indus, that is, by a distance of 780
miles ; the main body at Ferozepore movable, but
that on the sea-board of Scinde, paralysed for a
time by the want of camels or other beasts of
burden, immovable.”
! Kaye.
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When the plan of campaign had been formed
the principal object was the relief of Herat, and
for this reason an advance south-west from
Ferozepore—by Shikarpore on Kandahar—was the
line selected. While, however, the Army of the
Indus was yet completing its concentration at
Ferozepore, news was received that the Persians
had retired from before Herat, and it was then
decided that the force to take the field should be
reduced in strength, while at the same time the
line of advance originally chosen was still held to,
although the main reason for its selection had dis-
appeared. Instead of two divisions, the Bengal
Army was now to consist of one division of three
brigades under Sir Willoughby Cotton, while
General Duncan, with two brigades, was to stand
fast at Ferozepore and Ludhiana. By this measure
the strength of the Bengal force was reduced to
9,500 men ; while in addition to the danger of the
long line of communications to which the Army
of the Indus was committed by the route selected
for the advance into Afghanistan, there was the
further danger of the distance by which it was to
be separated from any reserve, and finally the
hostility of the Ameers of Scinde, who strongly
objected to the military occupation of their country,
and who had, moreover, from their position the
power to cut off or withhold all supplies.

“ Scinde was at that time under a confederation,
much like Afghanistan, only that all the Ameers
were of one clan; the northern part of the pro-
vince was under Rustam Khan, of Khyrpoor, the
southern, or lower part, being ruled by some of
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his kinsfolk, of whom Nur Muhamed of Haidara-
bad was chief. By direction of the Government,
Burnes, who now held the substantive post of
agent with the Khan of Khelat (the leading chief
of Baluchistan), negotiated with the Khyrpoor
Ameer, while the dealings with the Ameers at
Haidarabad were in the hands of Colonel Pottinger,
the accredited Resident in Scinde.”?

- On the reduction of the force, Sir Henry Fane
decided to relinquish the commend of the ex-
pedition into the hands of Sir John Keane, who
was then at Kurrachee at the head of the Bombay
Division ; but as Sir Henry was to proceed by
boat down the Indus, en 7oute for the port of
embarkation for England, his advice and assistance
were still, as Commander-in-Chief, at the service
of Sir Willoughby Cotton, to whom now fell the
command of the Bengal contingent of the Army
of the Indus.

The position at this moment of Sir John Keane,
the new Commander of the army, was by no
means pleasant ; he was unable to move from the
sea-coast without transport and supplies, for both
of which he was mainly dependent upon the
goodwill of the Ameers of Scinde, whose attitude,
if not actively hostile, was anything but friendly,
and whose strength interposed between him and
the major portion of the army he was to command,
and which was nearly 800 miles distant from him.

When General Thackwell joined his command
at Baggeeke the army- had already commenced
its march, the 9,500 fighting men of whom it was

! Keene,
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composed being actompanied by the enormous
number of 88,000 followers, while their supplies
were carried by 80,000 camels. The baggage of
the army wag indeed enormous; no stringent
orders on the subject appear to have been issued
either by Sir Henry Fane or by his successor,
and the former had contented himself with merely
cautioning all concerned against the provision of
large tents or establishments. This caution does
not, however, appear to have been regarded : Sir
Henry Havelock, who was serving with the force
as A.D.C. to Sir Willoughby Cotton, admits to
having himself had eighteen servants, while it is
said that one officer had so many as forty.!

The Engineer officers, with the Sappers and
Miners, preceded the leading column by two
marches, improving the road as they moved
on; then followed the cavalry brigade with a troop
of Horse Artillery, accompanied by Sir Willoughby
Cotton and the Headquarters, and one after the -
other on successive days marched the 1st, 2nd, and
4th Infantry Brigades, the siege train, and the park
—a risala of irregular horse being attached to each
of the three last columns. The distance from
Ferozepore to Bahawalpore is 280 miles, and
it was divided into 18 marches ; the line of march
never deviated more than twenty miles from, and
was generally quite close to, the Sutlej, down whose
stream the sick, the hospital stores, and com-
missariat supplies were conveyed in boats.

The following extracts from General Thackwell’s

! The 18th Lancers took a pack of hounds with them on this
campaign.
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diary give some idea of the country traversed, and
of the difficulties of supply by which the column
in general, and the mounted portion of it in par-
ticular, were beginning already to be assailed.

“18th December.—Marched to Bahuk, the road a
track, but passable for all descriptions of force : the
same flat country, but little vegetation and quanti-
ties of low jungle, showing that we are entering the
desert.”

“ 14th.—But forty maunds of grain had been
collected instead of nine hundred.”

“ 15th.—All through the desert, the same kind of
road and soil—no vegetation except the prickly
thorn and tufts of long grass scantily diffused, with
a little dwarf shrub and a few patches of cultivation
surrounding a few of the small villages. The
horses had to-day half-rations of grain and jowa.
Roche overtook me last evening by dinner-time
with two of my camels, and the remainder came
up to-night.”

“24th.—Our march all last week was through
or on the borders of the Great Desert.”

% 26th.—Marched to ' Khyrpoor ; road as before,
but the desert more marked with deep sand in
very high sand hills, with patches of cultivation
around several villages.. But a thin scattering
of jungle and some small groups of trees.”

% 27th.— At sunrise and until 8 a.m. cloudy and
very cold with a few drops of rain; the natives
say it has not rained for three years on our line of
march from Ferozepore. Partly through a broad
plain between the Sutlej and the edge of the
desert close on our left. The view to the left as
far as the eye can reach is over a wide waste
of desert with only a few shrubs and thorns
growing on it.”

*20th.—Marched to Bahawalpore and on to
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gtlxﬁ' encampment, SW., and distant from it two
es.!’

“ 80th.—Sir Henry Fane held a durbar in his
tent to receive the Rajah or Nawab of this place.”

“1st January.—Marched to Khyrpoor. Des-
patches received that the fort of Bukker”
(commanding the spot where the army was to
cross to the right bank of the Indus) ¢ has
submitted. The despatches state that Sir John
Keane with the Bombay division has landed in the
bay of Kurrachee distant from Haidarabad about
120 miles, passing through Tatta, and that the
Chief of Scinde intends to give him battle. Oppo-
site Haidarabad, for about 40 miles, there is no
road on the right bank of the Indus; then for
about 40 miles thence none to within about 40
miles of Shikarpore.”

“ 5th, Chanikhan.—Two days ago we fancied
we saw, or really did see, the snow-clad moun-
tains of Afghanistan opposite Multan. To-day
the lower range of brown hills of that country
show themselves, distant about 30 miles.”

On the 14th January the force entered Scinde
and left the vicinity of the desert, the country
becoming richer and more cultivated ; already,
however, desertions were taking place among the
followers, and on the 18th January General
Thackwell records that “the 8rd Light Cavalry
lost 85 camels with their drivers”; and it became
apparent that the army might before long suffer
from a scarcity of carriage and supplies. Shah
Shuja had ere this gone on in advance of the
British force, and having crossed the Indus, by
ferry, seven miles above Roree, had moved on
to Shikarpore, which had been fixed upon as



ACTION OF THE AMEERS 121

the place of rendezvous. On the 25th January
the Headquarters of the Bengal force arrived
at Roree, and on the 29th the fort on the
island of Bukker was taken over by a British
garrison, and the crossing-place for the army
was secured.

The news, however, from Lower Scinde was
disquieting : Sir John Keane had advanced on the
28rd January from Tatta up the right bank of the
Indus, and on the 25th reached Jurrukh, two
marches from Haidarabad, where he learnt that
the Ameers were moving forward a large army for
the defence of the capital, and that another force
lay between Haidarabad and the troops under
Sir John Keane himself. A collision seemed un-
avoidable, and Sir Johu asked Sir Henry Fane,
who had not yet left Roree, to permit a portion of
the Bengal force to move down the Indus to
co-operate in any movement on Haidarabad, and so
facilitate the junction of the Bengal and Bombay
armies. Fane had, however, already anticipated this
request, and orders for the march of some 5,000
men southwards had been given very shortly after
arrival at Roree—the Cavalry Brigade, the Horse
Artillery, and the 1st and 2nd Infantry Brigades
being detailed to march under Sir Willoughby
Cotton. About the same time the Shah’s con-
tingent occupied Larkhana, almost due south of
Shikarpore, and the force under Cotton, moving
on the 80th January, had reached Khandeeree,
seven miles from Roree, when a despatch was
received from Sir John Keane, stating that the
Ameers had agreed to all the terms proposed bv
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Government, and countermanding the movement
southward. ,

On the 9th General Thackwell's diary records
that— '

“news arrived that Sir John Keane was en-
camped opposite Haidarabad on the right bank of
the Indus on the 5th, and that the Wellesley, with
the 40th Regiment, had knocked the fort of Kurra-
chee about the ears of the Beloochees for having
presumed to fire a shot at her.”

This last was the “ Scinde Reserve Force,” under
Brigadier Valiant, comprising the 40th Foot and
the 22nd and 26th Bombay Native Infantry.

Sir Willoughby Cotton now retraced his steps
to Roree, which was reached on the 15th, and, the
bridge over the Indus having by now been com-
pleted, the cavalry crossed on the 17th, and by the
following day the whole of the Bengal force was
on the right bank of the river ready, under its
new commander, for the trying work which lay
before it.



CHAPTER VIII

THE Bengal column marched to, and was con-
centrated in, Shikarpore by the 20th February 1889,
and here, too, was found the Shah’s contingent
under the command of Major-General Simpson.
Shikarpore was the first town of any importance
between Roree and Dadur—ten marches distant
and situated at the entrance of the Bolan Pass ;
Quetta was eight marches on from Dadur, and
Kandahar was another fourteen from Quetta.
Macnaghten, the political officer with the force,
had been informed that the Bolan Pass was
occupied by the enemy, and it was resolved to
push on as soon as possible to secure its possession ;
this determination, the wisdom of which is incon-
testable, greatly increased the difficulties of supply,
already sufficiently heavy. In the early days of
the assembly of the force, Sir Henry Fane, the
Commander-in-Chief, had warned the Commissariat
Department that “failure on the part of the
political officers would not be held a valid excuse
in the event of a deficiency of supplies for the
army being felt in the course of military opera-
tions.”  Supplies, however, of all kinds, and

1 Keene.
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especially of forage, were scarce, and came in but
slowly ; between the river and Shikarpore, the
camels, it is said, had dropped down dead by
scores ; and the Bengal Commissariat had now
been directed to supply the Bombay column also
with food and transport. The Chief Commissariat
Officer was most anxious to remain at Shikarpore
for at least three weeks, so as to collect the greatest
possible quantity of supplies for the troops; and
as he calculated that he should require at least 40
to 50 days’ supply to take the troops up to
Kandahar, and as the force had moved from
Ferozepore with but 80 days’ supply and the
equivalent transport, it was clear that not only
was there far more food and forage to be carried
than before, but a greatly increased number of
animals would be necessary for its carriage,

At the time when Cotton reached Shikarpore,
the Bombay column was some fifteen marches in
rear. It was still accompanied by Keane, who for
some reason did not push on and join the major
portion of his command ; and Cotton’s decision to
move forward and secure the passage of the Bolan
Pass appears to have been made without reference
to Keane, who followed slowly in rear by way of
Larkhana and Gundava, and did not himself over-
take the Bengal portion of his command until early
in April.

Orders for the commencement of the march to
Dadur were issued by General Cotton on the 21st,
and on the 28rd the Headquarters left Shikarpore
with the cavalry brigade, and a wing of native
infantry. Almost at once it was discovered that



TRIALS OF THE MARCH 125

there would be great difficulty about water and

forage for the cavalry and the transport animals.

On the 26th General Thackwell notes in his
diary :

“ There is no grass, and the food for the camels
is bad. There are fifty cutcha wells of about 2} ft.
diameter at the bottom, only forty-seven of which
had water, and none had more than 1 ft. 10 in.
in depth, giving about 50 cubic feet of water on

al.

our arriv. I have had the wells deepened, but
the supply, though improving, is still inadequate.”

The heat in the daytime was increasing, and the
marches were now generally made at night. The
Beloochee robbers were busy, and on the 8rd
March, near Bagh, camels were driven off, the post
was plundered, while grass and camel fodder were
again running short. = Sir Willoughby Cotton
writes to the Commander of the Cavalry Division :

“ At any time when you cannot get grass or
kurbee for the horses, I authorise you to purchase
a field or fields of the standing corn and serve it
out to the corps.”

But there was little cultivation, and green crops
issued as forage were not suitable for horses in hard
work.

The road, too, was very bad, with steep ascents
and descents, and with deep and narrow nullahs
constantly crossing the line of march.

The cavalry reached Dadur on the 10th March,
and a detachment of all arms was sent on to secure
the pass; the leading column moved on on the
16th, and by the 28rd had emerged from the
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defiles of the Bolan into the camp of Sir-i-Ab.
The difficulties of the ascent of the pass had been
very great: the road a mere track strewn with
flinty stones; the wind, howling through the pass,
was so violent, that men could hardly keep their
saddles ; the tribesmen swooped down upon the
stragglers ; there was no lack of water, but the
streams were tainted with the dead bodies of
camels ; supplies, too, were running short, for every-
thing had to be brought up with, or in the rear of
the army, not one single day’s supplies being
obtainable between Shikarpore and Kandahar from
the country traversed !

“ How the army is to subsist,” writes General
Thackwell in his diary, under the date of the
28rd March, «“ Heaven only knows, All the horse-
corn carried by the Commissariat Department will
be expended by to-morrow, and we have about
twenty days’ supply of affa.. It has completely
ruined this fine cavalry, and will reduce us to a
state of starvation.”

The followers had been on half-rations since
leaving Dadur, the cavalry horses had latterly
been getting only six pounds of corn daily and no
grass, and the guns of the Horse Artillery were
only dragged through the last few miles of the
Bolan Pass by harnessing eight horses to each
gun, and calling on the assistance of the infantry ;
even then they were five hours marching nine and
a half miles.

* % 26th.—Marched to Quetta—distance from Shi-
karpore, 226} miles.”
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“ 27th.—Only four maunds of grain in store after
this day’s issue of one seer ” (21b.) “ for each cavalry
horse, and only ten days’ consumption of afta and
wheat. In consequence the troops are to be put
upon half-rations of flour and the followers upon a
quarter seer. We expect, however, to receive from
Dadur 600 camel-loads of grain, and from Sukker
about the 7th or 8th prox. 1,700 camel-loads ; but
if the same destruction of camels takes place
amongst them as since the 1st inst.-——namely, the
death of one-third—we cannot expect more than
700 will arrive, which, however, it is hoped, will
produce 8,500 maunds.”

On arrival at Quetta General Cotton had sent
back Major Craigie, his D.A. General, to represent
to Sir John Keane the state of the advanced
portion of his force as regards rations for the troops
and forage for the horses. He was instructed to
point out that Quetta ahd the neighbourhood
could furnish but the scantiest supplies, and’that
many days must elapse before the arrival of a large
convoy from the rear.  The Bengal force had just
sufficient stores to take it to Kandahar ; and while
asking instructions of Sir John Keane regarding
the course to be pursued, Craigie was to point out
that by delaying at Quetta, supplies, which it
would be difficult to make good, would be
consumed, while time would be given to the
adherents of Dost Muhamed to devastate the
country and occupy positions between Quetta and
Kandahar.

Major Craigie reached Dadur on the 27th March
and here found Sir John Keane, and on the 8rd
April he was back at Quetta conveying to General
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Cotton peremptory orders to halt until joined by
the Commander of the Force.

Keane had reached Gundava on the 21st March,
and had intended to march thence on Quetta by
Khelat ; but after delaying ten days in a recon-
naissance of the road, he decided to follow in the
tracks of the leading column, thereby giving
up the advantage of a line of advance which,
though perhaps more difficult, would have
been but little if anything longer, and which
would have had the advantage of being one
on which the forage and local supplies had not
been consumed. By retaining Cotton at Quetta
until his own arrival—

“for eleven days he kept a body of fighting
men on half-rations, and a mass of camp fol-
lowers on quarter-rations, uselessly consuming
their scanty supply, which, even with such
severe husbandry, was barely enough to enable
them to reach Kandahar; and when about
to enter a hostile country, having the character
of fumishing formidable horsemen, he gave the
finishing blow to the greater part of his own
cavalry by thus confining them to a spot which
was soon bald of forage.”?

To return, however, to General Thackwell’s diary.

“ Saturday 6th April—His Majesty Shah'Shuja
and Sir John Keane arrived here to-day. The
former has 8,000 infantry, 800 cavalry, and a troop
of horse artillery ; the latter has a wing of the Ist
Bombay Cavalry only. Some Beloochees from
a mud fort fired upon a party of the 16th Lancers,
who dismounted a few men, attacked them, seizedi

! Durand.
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four matchlocks through the loopholes and killed
five men, wounding and bringing away the sixth
a prisoner, who was hanged. Seven men made
their escape when they saw the Lancers rushing to
the attack.”

The column moved out on the following day,
marching by the north-westerly route towards
Kandahar.

“9th April—Marched into the valley of Pisheen.
Our short rations of one seer, and sometimes not
any corn, are fast destroying the cavalry. Fifty
horses of the three regiments were cast and shot at
QQuetta, and seventeen horses have died to-day
of sheer weakness.”

“11th.——Seventy horses died yesterday from
want of food or mere exhaustion—10 of the
Lancers, 58 of the 2nd Native Cavalry, and 2 of
the 8rd. The Sappers and Miners marched to the
Kojeh Amran Pass this morning; about thirty
of the Kandahar Horse were there, who fired two
shots and then retired.”

On the 14th the passage of the Khojak com-
menced.

“The Camel Battery began to drag their
guns up at about half-past 7 a.m,, and their
last carriage was not down before 9 at night.
From 40 to 50 men were put to each, and they
had to drag the guns up or ease down the ascent
and descent for at least a mile, ~Severe work for
all. The chief part of the baggage remained on
the mountain or in the entrance of the pass all
night, and some things were plundered by the
robbefs, who were so audacious as to exchange
shots. I was most fortunate with my baggage, as

9
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we got it over-the mountain and in camp by
4 pm.”

(General Thackwell mentions here a second
aide-de-camp, Lieutenant Crispin of the 2nd Light
Cavalry, but there is no record of when this officer
took up his appointment.)

* 15th—No corn could be got for the cavalry,
and but few could get water.”

“19th.—1t is reported that 2,500 of the enemy’s
cavalry are encamped 14 miles in our front; we
have therefore increased our picquets, as, if the
account be true, we shall probably be attacked
to-night.”

¢ 20th.—All the troop horses have been without
corn since the 15th.”

“21st.—No water to be got the chief part of
yesterday, and very little to-dai.l”

“ 22720?.,—--Marched to Mehel Mandah, but owing,
as was imagined, to there not being sufficient
water for the whole body of troops, the cavalry
continued its march through the pass of the
Ghautee Hills, and diverged from the Upper
Kandahar road to the lett, and encamped on
the Lower Kandahar road on the right bank of the
Doree River—where there was plenty of gaod
water and wheat and barley. Total, 28 miles.
This long march in a meridian sun has caused
the death of several followers, and of . near ‘60
horses. The folly of it was very great, The
brigade had been ordered to halt at Killa Futtoola,
but Brigadier Arnold went to Sir John Keane and
prevailed on him to suffer the cavalry to march,
and ‘when he got to Mehel Mandah he thought
that there would not be water enough, and again
prevailed on Sir John Keane to let him move
on, and 1 could not find the latter soon enough
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to prevent it. In consequence we didn’t get into
camF until half-past 11, and not under canvas
until near the evening, during which time the
sun was at times absolutely roasting us.”

“ 24th.—The Shah left our ground this morning
and marched towards Kanda%rar, on hearing the
people had deserted the chiefs and were ready
to receive him ; and in the afternoon'some of his
troops were admitted into the town.”

“27th.—Marched at 8 p.m. to a camp within
a mile and a half of Kandahar. The Cavalry
Divisional Staff Camp is pitched on a verdant turf
within little better than half a mile of the eastern
angle of the town wall. ~ This piece of turf delights
the eye much more than anything I have . seen
since I entered the Ganges River.” '

The Bengal column on reaching Kandahar had
marched 1,005 miles from Ferozepore.  The
cavalry and horse artillery were put on half-
rations on the 24th March, so that they had been
on a reduced scale, with scanty forage, for 82 days.
But from the 80th March they had had no grain
whatever, so that for the 26 days prior to their
arrival in Kandahar the horses had been fed
entirely on green forage, supplemented by very
poor grass. It is evident that from the casualties
among the horses, and the weakness of the sur-
vivors, the efficiency of General Thackwell’s fine
command had by this time been seriously im-
paired.

“4th May.—1 inspected the 4th Local Horse
and part of the risale of the 1st or Skinner’s
Horse. Many are in wretched condition owing
to the severe work they have had ; many, however,
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are fit for good service. The Bombay column
marched into camp this mogning; it consisted
of two troops of European artillery, one company
of foot ditto, about 280 of the 4th Light Dragoons,
190 of the 1st Light Cavalry, the 2nd and 17th
Queen’s Regiments, a wing of the 19th Native
Infantry, and about 300 Local Horse.”

“ 8th.—Shah Shuja-ul-Mulk was formally en-
throned to-day, on which occasion most of the
regular army was paraded at daylight to the north
of the town on the fine sloping plain in review
order. Four salutes of 21 guns each were fired
from different stations, until His Majesty took his
seat upon the throne, when 101 guns were fired,
and the troops marched past in slow time and filed
to their encampments.”

“9th.—Brigadier Sale called at my tent. 1
regret I have not the command he is nominated to,
viz. 100 European Light Infantry, the 16th Native
Regiment made up to 1,000 men by the Shah’s
infantry, 120 of the 2nd and 8rd Bengal Cavalry,
800 of the Shah’s horse, 2 nine-pounders, one
24-pounder howitzer, two 5-inch mortars with a
proper number of European artillery with Sappers
and Miners—upwards of 1,600 men. They march
on the 11th, towards Girishk on the Helmand River,
to drive the Sirdars into Persia, unless they come
in on the terms offered. There is a report brought
by a hurkara that Timur Shah, the son of the Shah
Shuja, has defeated and dangerously wounded the
son of Dost Muhamed at this end of the Khyber
Pass.”

Already the weather was getting very hot, and
on the 16th May General Thackwell records :

“] and Edmund Roche dined with Sir John
Keane, but he was too unwell to be at the table,
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suffering greatly from the heat, which in the
hospital tent of the 19th Bombay Infantry has
been as high as 114°.”

“18th.—1I rode to look at the Bengal Cavalry
in their lines, and they seem to be picking up. . . .
Various rumours afloat—one, that the Sirdars had
left Girishk and with 100 men had gone to’
Meshed ; another, that they still occupy a fort
25 miles beyond the Helmand River. A rumour
that Dost Muhamed had advanced 60 miles on
this side of Kabul with 100,000 men to give us
battle ; another, that his bodyguard intend to come
over to the Shah as soon as he came near ; another,
that he was prepared for a start into the Hindoo
Koosh as soon as we drew near; another, that
Ranjit Singh had not fulfilled his engagement
to the Governor-General of sending 5,000 men
with the Political Agent Wade, in support of
Timur Shah’s advance to the Khyber Pass; and
another, that Ranjit Singh intended to join Dost
Muhamed in an attack upon us. It is said for
certain that the Governor-General has refused to
ratify the treaty entered into with the Ameers of
Scinde and that Brigadier Douglas, Commandant
of Bukker, had written for reinforcements.”

Towards the end of the month General Thack-
well was engaged in the inspection of the regiments
of the Cavalry Division, and found the horses much
improved in condition, anft’ the remounts very
promising.

“ 14th June.—The advance of the army upon
Kabul, which was to have begun to-morrow, is
postponed to await the arrival of a large convoy
of camels (4,000) with grain.”

«“22nd.—The convoy of 4,000 camels came in
to-day without any loss.”
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“ 27th.—The army began its march for Kabul at
4 pm. ... Cavalry Division and the 4th Local
Horse, 18 guns, Sappers and Miners, and 1st
Brigade of Infantry of Bengal.”

But as the men who had come in with the
hired camels of the convoy refused to proceed
further, 20,000 maunds of supplies had to be left
at Kandshar in charge of the garrison which re-
mained there. The troops and followers were
consequently again obliged to march on half-
rations, but it was hoped that matters would
.improve on nearing Kabul, where, the season
being later than at Kandahar, the crops would
" yet be uncut,

- Kelat-i-Ghilzai was reached unopposed on the
4th July, but there had of late been constant
“reports of intended attacks by the enemy. “ We
were to have met 10,000 Ghilzais in position
here,” writes General Thackwell on this date,
“but not a hundred have shown themselves,
and they immediately retired.

“18th July.—Marched at 4.80 a.m. to Mooshakee.
. . . The Ghilzai Chief with his 500 horse is not
far from us, and the low range of hills on our left
may give him a field to amuse our baggage to-
morrow. Dost Muhamed’s son said to be in
position at Ghuznee. . . . For the last three
marches we have been among the Hazarahs (a
tribe), who are civil, and hail the crowning of the
Shah apparently with joy. Their features are
much broader than the Ghilzais, and give one a
strong idea of the Chinese countenance.”

“19th.—The enemy had a picquet of about 40
men on the hills to-day, but they retired before
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our advanced guard. At Ghuznee or before we
are led to expect a fight, as it is supposed Dost
Muhamed with the c%nief part of his army has
arrived there. For some time the advanced guard
has consisted of a regiment of native cavalry, four
companies of native infantry, the Sappers and,
Miners, and two field guns, The Shah'’s column,
with the 4th Brigade of Infantry, has closed up
to-day, and Willshire’s column will be within a
march ; this looks like business.” Y

¢ 20th.—From a hill two miles on the left of the
cavalry camp I had a most delightful view of-the
plain between it and the high range. I had also
a good view of Ghuznee, and a picquet of about
60 of the enemy’s cavalry midway between it and-
our camp. A nephew of Dost Muhamed, with
some followers, joined the Shah to-day. ... A
report that our camp is to be attacked to-night
by Dost Muhamed’s sons, and the troops will lie
on their arms.”

“ 21st.~-The army lay down in position, but there
was no attack or any alarm, although a stupid
bugler of the Bombay Infantry sounded the
‘assembly.” A report came in last night that
the chiefs had evacuated Ghuznee, and a man
came in this morning to say he saw them go away
at six yesterday evening. Marched at 4.830 a.m.
to a position three-quarters of a mile to the SSW,
of Ghuznee, and at 4 p.m. to a position SE. and
NE. of the town opposite to it and on the Kabul
road and about one mile from the former.

“The army marched in four columns; the in-
fantry, left in front, under and along the hills, the
artillery on the main road, the cavalry in two
columns of troops right in front at deploying dis-
tance, and the Shah’s force in the rear, as well as
Willshire'’s Bombay Infantry. The advance was
beautiful, until within two short miles of Ghuznee,
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when a message from Sir John Keane, to the
purport that 2,500 cavalry had passed through the
mountains on our left to attack the baggage,
caused the Bombay brigade of cavalry to be
sent to the rear to meet any attack which
might be made. This caused an opening in the
line which the difficult nature of the ground,
over which the right column passed, took some
time to fill up. Strong patrols had been sent out
to examine the numerous villages to the right and
right front. Roche brought word from the several
villages he reconnoitred that the chiefs were still
at Ghuznee ; but before he could be sent to com-
municate with Sir John Keane, hostilities had begun
by a firing of matchlocks from the numerous
villages and gardens, and shortly after the first
cannon shot was fired from the town. The enemy
were soon driven in within or around the town,
and the two troops of Horse Artillery took up a
position at about 450 yards from the walls, and
opened a heavy fire which was soon followed by
the camel battery. These knocked down some
of the parapets and the upper part of the town at
the southern angle and silenced most of the guns,
which were but few; but, as it was found that
the walls and profile of the town were too high
to admit of a practicable breach, the artillery were
withdrawn from their exposed situation after about
half or three-quarters of an hour’s fire, and the
infantry followed, except a party with a squadron
of the 2nd Light Cavalry, that went to the right
of the town with the Chief Engineer to reconnoitre
its weak points.

“Some casualties have occurred. Two officers
wounded, and a man or two, and some horses have
been killed, and several of both have been wounded.
The Commander of the Forces was nearly killed
by a cannon ball, and I had several narrow escapes
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——one round shot at about 500 yards passed close
over my head and dropped about twenty yards
behind me. Roche and Crispin were also a good
deal exposed. I had halted the cavalry within
about 1,100 yards of the town, reinforcing the
advanced guard with another troop, in order to
repel any sortie by the enemy’s cavalry, which was
at one time expected. These withdrew when the
artillery did, and on my return I found the
cavalry in a sad jumble, intermixed with hundreds
of camels loaded with baggage, Colonel Persse
having withdrawn the Lancers and the 8rd Light
Cavalry to the rear, leaving only the 2nd Light
Cavalry in position, and the Bombay Brigade,
which had by this time returned, was in a still
more encumbered spot. A shot from the citadel,
while 1 was having breakfast, carrying off the leg of
a horse of the 2nd Cavalry, soon made the camel
people glad to go to the rear. . .. At 4 p.m,
we marched to the position before mentioned out
of cannon shot. 'This afternoon’s work has invested
the town, but it would have been much better if
the wild work of the morning had been avoided.
A fatiguing day’s work for men and horses—
some poor fellows, I daresay, had nothing all day
to eat.” '

- Monday, 22nd.—A quiet night. Having
arrived so late in camp, the Engineers could not
begin operations during the night, and therefore Sir
J oﬁn Keane will not realise what he told me yester-
day—that he would be in possession of Ghuznee
to-day cofite que codte. . . . About 11 o'clock a
multitude of men, infantry and cavalry, were seen
to descend from the mountains four miles in rear
of the Shah’s and our camp, and it was supposed
that a part of the Dost’s army were the peopEe. I
rode to Sir John Keane, who ordered out the whole
cavalry and six guns. On my arriving a little way
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to the rear I however found the enemy not nearly
so strong as reported, and 1 therefore left the 2nd
Light Cavalry to check any advance from the town,
and sent word for the guns and Bombay Cavalry
to remain on their ground. I took in support of
the Shah’s troops the 16th Lancers and 8rd Light
Cavalry, and finding the Shah’s infantry and part
of his cavalry were attacking the enemy on their
left, who were retiring up the hill, I sent a squadron
of the 8rd and Christie’s Cavalry to the right of
the hill and two squadrons of the 16th Lancers to
the left to cut off the enemy’s retreat, and these
flanking parties were afterwards reinforced by a
second squadron of the 8rd and a third of the
Lancers, when it was seen that the enemy’s cavalry
had all gone. The irregulars drove the enemy from
the top of the mountain after a good deal of
labour, but they retired to another pinnacle, and the
Shah’s troops were too exhausted to follow them
up. Had they done so the Sixteenth would have
cut them to pieces, and had their right been
attacked instead of the left not a man would have
escaped ; as it was a good many had been killed
and taken, and such a lesson had been taught them
that they did not presume to follow the retreat.”

“ 28rd.—The dispositions for the assault of
Ghuznee were made last night, and at 8 am. the
troops on the south side of the town began a fire
of musketry on the parapet, which was soon followed
by a fire on the other fronts, and of the artillery in
position on the north side of the town, under cover
of which the gate, the only one not walled up, was
burst open by two successive petards and the troops
rushed in to the assault. There were four light
companies, under Colonel Dennie, of the four
European Regiments, the 2nd Queen’s, the
European Regmment, and the remainder of the
18th Light Infantry were to follow supported by
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the 17th Regiment (the whole under Brigadier
Sale). The attack succeeded at all points, and by
sunrise the town, the Citadel, and Dost Muhamed’s
third son, Hyder Khan, were in our possession,
although hundreds of the enemy still occupied
houses and isolated points until the afternoon, when
all surrendered to save their lives. The attack was
well planned, parties of infantry being disposed on
the other faces of the town to distract by their fire
the attention of the garrison from the main attack.
But ver{)efew of the defenders escaped, owing to the
cavalry being judiciously stationed round the town
very early in the morning. They had about 600
killed and 1,700 taken prisoners, most of whose
lives were spared. . . . I entered the fort with Sir
John Keane and the Shah over the dead bodies of
the slain in the gateway, where all were obliged to
dismount, and found that the citadel or palace had
not been well defended. The zenana was there,
and the poor women in sad distress, but they were

rotected. Many bodies had been sadly mutilated
gy shot and shell, hundreds of horses were galloping
loose in the fort, fighting and desperately wounding
each other.

« It was reported the Khan had escaped to a fort
to the NE. and was surrounded by the 8rd Light
Cavalry. 'T'wo guns and the European Regiment
were therefore ordered to capturc him, and I
offered to go in command when breakfasting with
Sir John Keane, and he was well pleased. How-
ever it turned out a false report, and I met the
young Dost being brought a prisoner from the
town. Went to Macnaghten’s tent with Sir John
Keane and the Khan, and there T saw a large body
of cavalry to the south and got permission to
march against them ; but as I was doing this with
& few cavalry, I met one of their chiefs, and they
proved to be the followers of Hadjee Khan, who
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had unaccountably rémained in the rear—no doubt
to have plundered us had we met with a reverse,
The bullets yesterday kept a respectful distance,
but to-day some muatchlock balls were very
near.”

In Sir John Keane’s orders issued on the capture
of Ghuznee he writes in regard to the action of the

cavalry :

“In sieges and storming it does not fall to the
lot of cavalry to bear the same conspicuous part as
the two other arms of the profession. On this
occasion Sir J. Keane is_happy to have an oppor-
tunity of thanking Major-General Thackwell and
the officers and men of the Cavalry Division under
his orders for having successfully executed the
directions given, to sweep the plain and to intercept
fugitives of the enemy attempting to escape from
the fort in any direction around it; and had an
enemy appeared for the relief of the place during
the storming, ILE.'is 'fully satisfied that the
different regiments of this fine arm would have
distinguished themselves, and that the opportunity
alone was wanting.”



CHAPTER IX

Masor-GENERAL THACkWELL gives the follow-
ing description of the fort and town of Ghuznee:

“The town of Ghuznee stands on a hill
gradually rising towards the north-west until it
meets the precipitous hill on which the Citadel
stands. 'The height of this natural hill above the
country is about 20 feet on the eastern front,
which front is about 480 yards long, but irregular
in shape. The gate is within an angle, well covered
by recent works of masonry, but the doors are
very old and would not for an instant withstand
the petard, as it was not, as supposed, walled
up, nor was there any wall within it. The ram-
parts are about 25 to 80 feet high, but their profile
in places is not 12 feet, and the road round them
is continually obstructed by houses. There is a
ditch of 15 yards wide, with gradual scarped
counterscarp some 20 feet deep with probably
5 or 6 feet water, but a good roadway is left
at all the gates. There is moreover a new fausse
braie well loop-holed, constructed on a broad berm
so that the débris of the rampart could not fall
into the ditch. The south front is about 420
yards, the rise of the natural hill is about 80 feet,
and the height of the rampart is about 80 feet
above ; it has no angle, but demi-lune projections
at short distances, the same as on the east front.

141
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It has the same kind of fausse braie and wet ditch
as before described, and a large round tower, lower
than the adjoining parapets, is at the SE. angle.
It has strong brickwork with loop-holed parapet
to protect it. There are two doors to the
entrance about 12 feet from each other, but no
wall across the inside. They would have easily
been blown open, but neither of the doors could
be seen from the outside. The river flows close
to the gateway, a nice troutlike-looking stream,
and on the right bank in front of the gate is
a semicircular work covered by a wet ditch with
a curtain about 40 yards long, and inside a raised
work of some 15 feet high, with a diameter of
some 15 feet. These works have a parapet, and
are well loop-holed.

“The western face is not quite a straight line;
it is in length, to the hill ang rock on which the
Citadel stands, about 330 yards, and thence to
the NW. angle is 235 yards more., The natural
hill rises from the .commencement of this part
to nearly 100 feet to the base of the hill on
which stands the Citadel, and the height of the
latter is at least 120 feet more. The rampart of
the town is here much higher than before described,
and it is here covered and flanked in like manner
with wet ditch, fawsse braie, and small semicircular
flaftkks. There are two separate walls rising high
in air covering the Citadel on this side with _fausse
braie and wet ditch for a short distance; a natural -
perpendicular rock rises at the angle, and the
ground rises from the counterscarp into a broken
ridgy hill running NNE. The north front is
from the NW. to the Kabul Gate 180, and thence
to the north-east angle 800 yards long—total
480 yards. The Kabul Gate has a very efficient
covering of masonry. Its natural ground is about 40
feet high, with a rampart. It has a fausse braie, and
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a deep ditch, in part wet and in part dry. A road
leads to the doors at the gate, which was visible
from the country. This is by far the weakest
front, although the Citadel has it under protection,
‘as the ground is more hilly and broken to its left
front than it is on either of the other sides,
although it is broken on the east as well as rising
‘and broken on the south.

“The ramparts of the enceinte are in some
places about 10 feet broad, with a parapet six or
eight feet high ; in others the houses are built
close to them, and the flat roof is the rampart
and parapet. There are very large houses of this
sort on the right of the Kabul (zate, which quite
overtop the walls, and to the left there are also
houses connected with the rampart. In other
parts the natural rise of the hill forms a solid
rampart, and again in other places is so thin as
to be easily breached. On the north-west portion
of wall from the Gate a new work has been
raised about 50 yards within the old wall, and
overtopping it—the better to command the hill.
On this platform was a 12-pounder, and a
6-pounder was nearer the gates; two 4-pounders
were at the SE. angle, and one other on the south
front; below the Citadel was the large gun and
a 6-pounder, and there was also an iron 1-pounder,
and these were all the guns I have seen. There
were also a good many gingalls.

“The town cuts a most wretched appearance ;
miserable streets of houses, and all filthy in the
extreme. The streets are nothing but narrow,
filthy lanes, and the stench and dirt are overpower-
ing. The Citadel is 185 yards from the NW. angle
of the walls on the west side, and on this raised
space is a small, handsome building with a good
deal of carved work about it. The continuation of
the outer wall at the back of the Citadel is 60
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yards; it then descends the steep obliquely for
about 50 yards, and joins the town wall. Above
this the Citadel is elevated at least 60 feet, and
is irregular in form, the eastern front being about
170 yards, the SE. nearly 40, the western still
more irregular, being about 200 yards, and the
NW. about 40. The gate is on the east side,
and ramps from the N. and S. lead to it. The
wall around is very high and loop-holed, the
entrance by two very thick folding doors—at least
6 inches—covered with very thick sheet-iron,
highly embossed, and covered with tin or some
fused white metal. There are many wells of water
in the town, and the Dost calculated it would
hold out until the winter began to set in, when
we should be obliged to retire upon Kandahar.
There were great stores of grain, bhoosa, and
lucerne laid in for the cattle, and a great quantity
of ammunition. X

“Irode to Old Ghuznee and saw the tomb of
Mahmood, surrounded with houses and gardens.
It is & small mean building approached by passages
resembling cloisters ; the room containing the tomb
1s small and without ornament, a canopy of silk
floats over the tomb, which is of fine white marhle,
sculptured all round in Arabic or Persian, with in-
scriptions that none of the interpreters can make out.
The tomb is plain and nothing elaborate about it,
except fine sculpture resembling a coat of arms,
which does great credit to the remote age wherein
it was done. The mace of this great warrior-king
was not at the tomb; it was, it is said, sent into
the camp a few days ago. The carving of the
doors of sandal-wood is eﬁzborate and rich, showing
there were very good. artists in India in that re-
mote age. They were brought by the victorious
Meahmood from the temple of Somnaut in Gujerat,
which he plundered of immense riches.”
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On the 80th July the force marched from
Ghuznee for Kabul in two columns, leaving behind
a detachment of artillery, the 16th Native
Infantry, some of thé 4th Local Horse, 200
of the Shah’s mounted ‘men, and such sick and
wounded as could not be removed without risk,
With the first column were the Headquarters,
the whole of the cavalry, and the Bengal portion
of the army, while with the second-—which moved
on the 81st-—were the Bombay troops under
Major-General Willshire.

On the 38rd August,-at Shekhabad, General
Thackwell writes :

“] rode on the hills to the left, as we halted
to-day to enable the Shah’s column to join us.
The view was a very pretty one over the Logur
valley., When I got to the left front of the hlls
about two and a half miles from camp, I saw thick
columns of dust rising dn the Kabul road, and
when I got back to the main picquet to give
advice of it, I found that the report from the front
was that Dost Muhamed’s army had broken up,
that he had left his artillery behind, and had gone
to Bameecan with 300 followers only, that 100 of
his troops had just gone into camp to the Shah,

whose column was marching in, and it therefore .

seems that the dust noticed proceeds from others
of these miscreants, who have not the courage to
defend their king and country. . . . Thus 1 fear
the game is over, and the poor Dost is running for
Balkh, unless he gets checkmated by the party of
the 2nd Cavalry and 4th- Poona Local Horse of
100 men with a corps of Afghans, which the Shah
is sending to try and intercept his retreat to
Bameean. This I don't think, they will do, unless

10
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the Dost’s: usual good sense, as well as good
fortyne, has left him. Major Cureton also
marched at 12 o’clock with 200 cavalry to Maydan
to take possession of the Dost’s artillery, and to
move on Kabul if safe. The Dost’s army was
afraid to come to blows with us. He committed
a great mistake in not having come to Kandahar
with 6,000 or 8,000 men to have joined the Sirdars;
had he done so, we should have had 15,000
men opposed to us there, which would have
occasioned us loss, and retarded our operations.
When he did not do this, he ought to have fought
a battle in front of Ghuznee before his troops had
been dispirited. If he had been defeated he would
have retired under the protection of that fortress
upon Kabul, and the attack on the place must have
been made with diminished means. He would
then have probably had more than 20,000 men
in the field.” :

“ Sunday, 4th.—Our camp—that is, the Indus
Army and the Shah’s—is along the Kabul road
for two miles or mere; the mountains on either
hand are thrown about in wild confusion, and
some with snow on their crests are 8,000 or 4,000
feet above our camp, which is not far short of
8,000 feet above sea-level. The appearance of
these mountains is sublime—rocky, serrated peak
ul;))on peak, with an outline broken and tossed
about in every variety of shape. The river is
a fine rapid stream of transparént water, covering
the valley in heavy rains and at the melting
of the snows ; a witness of this is in the remains of
a dry arch with abutments on each side of the river,
indicating that the centre had beeh swept away
in ancient days. The road to and beyond the
river rocky, and in places bad, several small
streams having to be passed over rugged bottoms.
The Bengal cavalry camp is in the gorge of
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the range of hills on the right—the main picquet
to its right. The artillery and Bombay brigade in
the preceding gorge, and the infantry in rear. A
great number of the Dost’s disbanded troops were
on the road waiting to make their salaam to the
Shah, and a multitude of the inhabitants were
‘waiting with presents of fruit to hail the return
of their legitimate sovereign, after an absence
of 82 years.”

“ 5th.—At Urghundee we passed the forsaken
artillery of the Dost in position-—though appar-
ently an odd one. It consisted of between 20 and
80 pieces ; some good guns were there—a very long
12-pounder, a 24-1b. howitzer, and nearly a 50-1b.
gun were the heaviest, all the others seemed sixes
and fours; but the carriages of all were wretched,
clumsy affairs that would not have stood much
marching. The guns were all in one position
at about 850 yards behind a small deep nullah
with perpendicular banks, where at two places only
could horses pass in single file,but to the left this
nullah coukf) have been turned. An express
arrived to the king this morning saying the Dost
had halted a few marches off, to attend on his sick
son Akbar Khan, and in consequence a subaltern’s
party of cavalry of the Indus was joined to a large
party of Afghans and sent in pursuit at 12 o’clock
to-day.”

“ Tuesday, 6th.—Marched at 8 am. by the
northern road to a camp within three miles of
Kabul and on its west. Views most beautiful and
changing at every step.”

“7th.—The Shah was to have gone into the
town this morning at 6 a.m. We all paraded, but
by some mistake the king was not ready, and the
disgla was deferred until 8 o’clock, when he
shi eg his quarters to the town, attended by the
Commander-in-Chief, theé generals of division and
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their staffs, six guns, gnd two squadrons of British
cavalry, He entered af{abul amid the acclamations
of the people, and took up his quarters in the
fortress of Bala Hissar, where there are two
palaces, amid royal salutes and every demonstration
of joy. News from Captain Outram that the Dost
was ahead of him, that he oceupied some forts with
200 riflemen, and that he could do no good against
him with the troops he had, as his corps of 1,500
Afghans had dwindled to 700, and those could not
be depended on. (Query.—Why did not a
battalion of infantry march with this corps and
another with two guns follow on the practicable
road ?)” '

“ 80th.—It was fortunate that Ghuznee fell
on the morning of the 28rd July, or we should
have had to sustain a formidable night attack on
our- camp that very night, for it has been dis-
covered by intercepted letters that the Dost’s
eldest son was to have attacked us with his 2,500
or 8,000 cavalry in conjunction with ‘the three
or four thousand fanatics whom we encountered on
the mountains on the 22nd, and assisted by at
least 4,000 horse and foot, then encamped as
friends with the Shah under the leading of Hadjee
Dost Muhamed. These would probably have
been assisted by a sortie from the town, and our
friend Hadjee Khan would not have been far away
to lend a helping hand. Our picquets and patrols
would, however, have given timely intimation
of the movement of these people, and we should
have been soon on the alarm post, and doubtless
have repelled all these hostile attacks, yet they
must have cost us a good deal of trouble and
loss.”

8rd September.—The Shahzada Timur, with
Major Wade, some Sikh Lancers and Light
Dragoons, and some infantry arrived—the latter tall
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straight fellows, armed with English muskets and
bayonets, and clothed in white linen dresses and
trousers, with a red shawl wrapped round their
heads. The cavalry have a similar headdress, and
brown clothing, but their horses are miserable. There
was a small party of the 20th and 21st Bengal
regiments, some infantry of the Shah’s, some
irregulars got together by Wade, two of the
Bengal 24-pounder howitzers, and two 4-pounder
brass guns of the Shah’s—in all, from twelve to
fifteen hundred men.”

“ 5th.—Sir John Keane said yesterday when he
saw the 16th Lancers that the f%;st charge he ever
saw made was by Sir Colquhoun Grant at Vittoria,
and he pointed out that it was at the left angle of
the town. He gave great eulogy to the 15th
Hussars, and 1 rejoiced because it was my squadron,
led by myself—no Sir Colquhoun Grant or Major
Griffiths being near—that charged and defeated
the heavy dragoon regiment that came to attack
us, drove them through a column of 800 infantry
which we passed through by sabring and caused to
lay down their arms-—but I have told this story in
another place.”

About this time there were many robberies by
the Afghans, and also attacks upon officers and
men who were at any distance from camp, isolated
or unarmed. Colonel Herring, commanding the
57th Native Infantry, was cut down and
killed, several soldiers were attacked and wounded,
and not a few followers were murdered, proving
that if the Afghans were prepared to acquiesce
in the re-establishment of their former sovereign,
they did not approve of the continued presence
in their country of the foreigners by whose
assistance he had been reinstated.
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On the 17th September there was a Durbar at the
Palace in the Bala Hissar at which several officers,
military and civil, were invested with the new Order
of the Durani Dimpire just instituted by the Shah;
the Ggvernor-General, SirJohn Keane, Sir Willough-
by Cotton, Mr. Macnaghten, Sir Alexander Burnes,
and Major Wade received the 1st Class of the Order;
while several of the senior officers were invested with
the Star of the 2nd Class: Major-General Thack-
well received the decoration on the 10th October.

Preparations were now being made for the break-
ing up of the army of the Indus: on the 18th the
Bombay portion of the force left Kabul en route for
Quetta, and on the 2nd October orders were issued
that the whole of the Bengal infantry division, the
2nd Light Cavalry, a light field battery, and a detach-
ment of Sappers would remain in Afghanistan under
the command of Sir Willoughby Cotton, the rest of
the troops to return to India vid the Khyber Pass.

- That pottion of the Bengal force returning to
India_ marched on the 14th and 16th October.
'Fhe Commander-in-Chief, Sir John Keane, moved
with the Ist column, the 16th Lancers, a com-
pany of the 21st Native Infantry, and a risala of the
4th Local Horse; while Major-General Thackwell
marched in command of the 2nd column, composed
of the 8rd Light Cavalry, a troop of Horse
Artillery, and four detachments of native infantry,
numbering about 500 men: with him marched
8§ & prisoner Muhamed Hyder Khan, late Governor
of Kabul, and second son of Dost Muhamed.

The difficulties of the march India-wards began

at-once.
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“17th October.—A severe frost in the morning ;
marched to Koord Kabul, ten miles. The road
an ascent for the first three and a half miles, with
small rocks and leose stones, to the, Koord Kabul
River, which runs down a pass and narrow defile,
for about four and a half miles between very high
mountains. This stream is crossed twenty-six
times and the road is rocky and indifferent. If
well defended it would be next to impossible to force
this defile, as the sides are very precipitous, and in one
place approach within forty yards. This is called
the Koord Kabul Pass, and the mountain to the -
left is at least 5,000 feet high—nothing but a wall
without a blade of vegetation, and this may be
said of all the mountains around us.

“The cold in the pass was very severe, icicles
hanging from the shaggy mane of a Turkestan
pony, and from my stirrup irons, and, in fact, evéry-
thing that got wet was frozen; one unfortunate
follower died of cold in the pass.”

“21st.——A fine day, but the water frozen in the
rivulet—marched to Jugduluk, the road stony and
uneven to the Jugduluk River, and then a gradual
ascent along the stony bed through a close defile
of three miles. This pass offers the finest scener
I have seen in this country. It is bounded by
perpendicular rocks on either side from 100 to.
600 feet high, and in one place so narrow that
it barely took the breadth of the guns with about
two feet to spare. In its windipgs. it offers
many fine views, and it is the closests pass for
this long distance I have ever seen. A fine view
of the Sufed Koh mountains with snow on their
summits about 20 miles off to the SE.” '

“28rd.—A Jemadar, a Havildar, and one Sepoy
were killed on the 22nd between Jugduluk and
Surkhad, and one Sepoy was wounded ; the robbers
also fired upon a party of the 18th Light Infantxy.”
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Jellalabad was reached on 27th October, Dhaka
on the 2nd November, and Landikhana on the
following day. The second column under General
Thackwell arrived at Ali Musjid on the 5th: here
an attack from the tribesmen was expected, but the
General’s diary records that—

“the night was passed in quietness, though the
Khyberees are reported to be in force to the
SW. of our camp. They had some days ago
made an attack on Captain Ferris’ detachment
and were repulsed. They had also attacked some
Punjabee troops on a hill chokee in our front
near a round tower, for the recovery of ten or
twelve thousand rupees they had left there when
Colonel Wade asvended the pass. The Sikhs
repulsed all the attacks, but at night they be-
came panic-stricken, and retired from the fort,
leaving 170 of their sick and wounded, all of whom
were butchered.” ,

“ 6th.-~—Marched to Kuddam; a close defile for
the chief part of the way, and where it in the
least opened, it was still commanded by high and
broken and rocky mountains., The column, how-
ever, and baggage marched in close order, and
all. got in by 2 o'clock without any loss whatever,
although a great number of the Khyberees lined
the hills to the south; they, however, meditated
an attack about 5 miles on the road from our
last camp; but their ambuscade being dis-
covered, a few of the European regiment drove
them from the hill like chaff before the wind,
killing two, and suffering no loss themselves. A
large body of the Sikh troops lined the pass for
the last four miles.”

- Peshawar was reached on the 8th November,
and here the second column went into camp to
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the E. of the city, near the force which Sir John
Keane had accompanied.

“ The Governor of Peshawar, General Avitabili,
gave a most sumptuous dinner to the officers of
the first column yesterday, and to those of mine
to-day. About fifty officers sat down to an ex-
cellent dinner, camp fashion, dressed and served
in the best style. He must have a very good
French cook, for the dinner was in every respect
most excellent, and abundance of beer, sherry,
port, and champagne cheered our hungry appetites
and palates, which had not met with such things
for so long. His house, built under his own
superintendence, is more like a palace, and is
tastefully arranged and ornamented. The gate-
wagr leading to it is also a handsome building,
and there are several small temples tastefully
ornamented within the enclosure: all were bril-
liantly illuminated on the occasion of the dinner,
with glass oil-lamps as in England. Very good
fireworks were let off before dinner, and afterwards
there was an exhibition of nautch girls for some
hour or more.” ; ‘ ,

“10th.—1I called on General Avitabili and saw
some of his sword and target players exhibit.
They were very expert and would be ugly
customers if their hearts be in the right place. They
are also expert in the use of the two-headed mace,
which is a stave of four or five feet in length with
a krtob or ball at each end, which they hold in the
middle and whirl in all directions, first with one
hand and then the other in a most extraordinary
manner. . . . They say Avitabili has am-sed
lakhs of rupees since he entered Ranjit’s service
about 1821, and talks of shortly going to Italy to
enjoy the goods of his adventurous life in his own
beloved clime.”
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“12th.—The Governor most kindly took me in
his carriage, drawn by four mules, to see the fort
and gardens. His style of travelling is princely:
a guard of ten or twelve horse soldiers, six or
seven outriders, and ten or twelve chuprassies on
foot, and his beautiful mules constantly at full
gallop. His two pages, interesting youths of
eight or ten, are also in constant attendance on his
person. We passed a gibbet having three bodies,
and a string about 80 yards in length tied to the
feet, which is attached to the post of the sentry
on the town wall. By the motion of the string
the sentinel would discover whether anybody was
attempting to steal the bodies, when the shot from
his fusee would probably send the intruder away.”

“18th.—News has arrived from Mr. Macnaghten
stating that Russian troops had arrived at Khiva,
and t%xat their agents have demanded Colonel
Stoddert of the Chief of Bukhara, in consequence
of which he had ordered the halt of the Bombay
Army until the decision of Lord Auckland is given.
An order is just arrived for the march back to Ali
Musjid of the European and native drafts, a
company of the Sappers and Miners, and two
companies of the 20th and of the 21st Native
Infantry to hold the fort until the arrival of the
87th and 48th Regiments of Native Infantry.”

“14th.—The party marched this morning, but
the ammunition was not ready to send after them.
Pretty work this! The two guns and risalu of
Local Horse march to Jamrood at 12 to-night with
some ammunition.”

“15th.—The remainder of the ammunition to
complete the infantry to 200 rounds per man was
sent off to Jamrood at 2 o’clock to-day.”

“16th.—All is reported to be quiet at Ali Musjid,
and the party who marched from this under
Captain Prole is stated to be still at Jamrood.
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It is unlucky that the unhappy affair of the
12th should have occurred, as 1t {as caused this
irksome delay. On the 10th Captain Farmer, with
two companies of the Sappers and Miners, two of
the Twenty-first and one of the Twentieth, with
& squadron of the 8rd Cavalry and two guns, and
camels in sufficient numbers to carry grain for a
month’s consumption, marched for Ali Musjid. The
artillery and cavalry halted at Jamrood on the 11th,
and the infantry and convoy went on by the short
road to Ali Musjid; they had some skirmishing
and safely lodged their grain in the fort on the
forenoon of the 12th. Farmer wanted to remain
all night, but the pelitical agent, Mackeson, over-
ruled his wish by saying the Sikhs would not
remain, They consequently commenced the
march back between two and three in the after-
noon by the same route, and were attacked by the
Khyberees; the Sikhs ran away, some of the
natives behaved well, others did not, and the
whole came out of the defile sauve qui peut in
the greatest confusion, losing killed, wounded
and missing, as well as 486 camels. A disgraceful
affair, wherever the fault lies.” i
“19th.—The loss of camels, fattoos, and horses
during this campaign has been very great, and
the column under my command lost in the march
from Kabul to Jellalabad 1,600 camels by death
and 200 more on the march to this place, and
Captain Reddie states that between four and five
hundred were taken by the Khyberees; but I
think all these statements of loss are exaggerated
by the surwans, who take every l(ipportuni’cy to
cheat in every way they can. o doubt the
camels were half starved at Kabul ; and as a proof
of their wretched plight, even in the middle of
September nearly forty died in one night, which had
come up from graze for the use of the Bombay
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troops—and these were selected as the best.
Another cause of the mortglity was the extreme
¢oldness of the weather for four or five months,
and the poisonous plants or shrubs they picked up
at some of the encampments. The other column
did not lose quite so many. If to these be added
the loss of at least a hundred of the second
column’s private camels, we shall have a serious
total.! . . . Everything quiet at Ali Musjid, but
some firing is said to have been heard in the
direction of Lieutenant-Colonel Wheeler’s march.”?

“22nd,—Yesterday an action took place in the
pass with the detachments returning from Ali Mus-
Jid, accompanied by ILieutenant-Colonel Wheeler
and the 37th and 48th Regiments. Two Europeans
and a few Sepoys were killed, and from fifteen to
twenty of the latter were wounded. The Khyberees
are said to have had more than fifty killed and
wounded : eleven dead bodies were seen by Colonel
Wheeler together. The two European dead and
one Sepoy were left behind, several camels were
taken, and some officers lost all their baggage.”

“ 28rd,—Called on General Avitabili and Sir
Willoughby Cotton to take leave. They say
Avitabili is a tiger in this government; he has
been known to flay criminals alive and to break
the bones of poor wretches on the wheel previous
to hanging them in chains, and at our conference
to-day very gravely wondered we did not put
poison in sugar to send in traffic among the
Khyberees! They say he has two wives, who
reside in the top part of the house—beautiful
Cashmerians. '

“The Khyberees’ rifle is a heavy affair, from 15
to 20 poynds in weight. It is longer than our

! The actual loss in animals in the whole army was 32,483,
? This officer was marching down from Jellalabad with the 37th
and 48th Native Infantry. ’
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musket, with a much smaller bore. It has a raised
breech, with a lole through to take aim, and at an
elevation is said to carry true to 450 yards. Two
prongs work on a hinge near the muzzle, upon
which it rests when the man kneels to take
aim.”

On the 23rd November the whole force marched
out of Peshawar en route for Ferozepore, where the
army of the Indus was to be finally broken up.
The road traversed would seem to have been little
more than a track, cut up by ditches, nullahs, and
ravines. The Indus was crossed at Attock by a
bridge of boats, but on arriving at Jhelum it was
found that there had been a terrible mishap to the
16th Lancers, marching with the first column, in
fording the Jhelum River. The ford would appear
to have been almost V-shape——the apex pointing
down stream; two squadrons of the Sixteenth
crossed in safety :— '

“The last squadron  got too far down and
became crowded, and some men got on a soft
bottom, and then into deep water. The con-
sequence was poor Captain Hilton, a corporal, and
nine fine young men were drowned ; several followers
were also drowned. Iieutenant-Colonel Cureton
had to swim, being dismounted, and several officers
and men had narrow escapes. Six horses also were
drowned.”

Ferozepore was reached on the 1st January 1840,
when Lieutenant-General Sir John Keane issued
a General Order breaking up the Army of the
Indus, and left for Bombay, the corps then
marching off to their respective destinations.
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The following order was published by Major-
General Thackwell on relinquishing his command :

““Canp Nrar Ferozeeors, lst January 1840,

“In announcing the order for breaking up of
the remainder of the Cavalry Division of the Army
of the Indus, Major-Genera{Thackwell, on taking
leave, begs Brigadier Persse, commanding the
Bengal Brigade, Lieutenant-Colonel Cureton, com-
manding the 16th Lancers, Lieutenant-Colonel
Smyth, commanding the 8rd Light Cavalry, and
Captain Alexander, commanding the 4th Local
Horse, will accept his thanks for the efficient
manner in which they have conducted their several
commands during the march from, to their return
to, Ferozepore, and he begs they will convey the
same to the officers, European and native, non-
commissioned officers, and privates of the regiments
under their respective orders for their good conduct
and steadiness on all occasions.

“ He is happy to bear testimony to the discipline
and cheerful su{mission to privations of no ordinary
nature of these fine regiments; and if it had been
their good fortune to have been opposed to an
enemy in the battlefield, the Major-General feels
assured that their gallant deeds in arms would have
secured for them imperishable renown.

“ He begs also that Lieutenant-Colonel Cureton
and Captain Bere, Assistant Adjutants-General,
and Major Hay, Assistant Quartermaster-General,
will accept his thanks for the zealous manner in
which they performed their various duties, and he
requests to offer the same to the Divisional Staff
Medical Officer, Dr. Chapman, and to his aide-de-
camp, Cornet Roche, for their ready assistance
on all occasions.

“He has also a pleasing duty to perform in
acknowledging the good conduct of the remainder
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of the officers, non-commissioned officers, and
soldiers of the Second Column of the Army of the
Indus on the march from Kabul to this place, which
has been marked by steadiness and correct dis-
cipline.”

On the 22nd January Major-General Thackwell
arrived at Meerut, where he found Mrs, Thackwell
awaiting him ; and going on by easy stages wvid
Delhi and Agra, Cawnpore was reached on the
13th March, by which time General Thackwell had
travelled 8,028 miles since leaving that station
fourteen months previously.



CHAPTER X

ON arrival at Cawnpore Major-General Thackwell
appears to have assumed charge of the station
under Sir Edmund Williams, commanding the
District. The troops in Cawnporc at this time
were the 8rd Light Dragoons, some batteries of
artillery, both horse and foot, the 81st Regiment,
the 8rd and 8th Light Cavalry, and the 7th, 49th,
and 66th Regiments of Native Infantry—a force of
considerably more than 6,000 men.

For some eighteen meonths now General Thack-
well followed the ordinary routine of garrison life
in India—inspections of regiments and the super-
vision of the cantonment—and continued as of old
to keep himself fit' and well for any further active
service to which he might be called. <1 follow,” he
writes in his diary under date of the 4th October
1840, “the old Afghanistan practice of getting
up before daybreak and riding out for about two
hours, returning home before the sun becomes
powerful.”

As the senior officer of cavalry holding a com-
mand in the Bengal Presidency, General Thack-
well’s opinion was naturally often sought on matters

connected with his arm of the service ; the follow-
160
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ing extracts from a letter written in August 1840
to the Adjutant-General, reporting on the arms
and equipment of the Bengal Light Cavalry, seem
to show that, in regard to the views expressed in
the first of these extracts, General Thackwell was
far in advance of his age, while it may be remarked
that the suggestion made in thé second has only
within the last few months been carried out in
its entirety in the British and native armies :

“ With regard to the mode in which the Light
Cavalry are armed, it occurs to me that instead of
fifteen carbines per troop only and a pair of pistols
for each man, it would be more advantageous if the
regiments were equipped in this particular the same
as the Light Dragoons in Her Majesty’s Service in
this country—every Sepoy (the Sergeants, Band,
Trumpeters, and Farriers excepted) being provided
with a good carbine and one pistol. . . . In opera-
ting upon the open plains of India the necessity for
cavalry being thus armed is not so apparent,but when
their operations are carried on amongst the jungles,
mountain defiles, ravines, broken ground, and in
situations where the sword cannot be used, fifteen
carbines per troop would be found insufficient to
keep in check the matchlocks of the enemy, even
if all could be available; but distributed as they
might be for the protection of the baggage and
in various other ways, but few might be at hand
when they were required ; and it is manifest there
is but little chance of the Sepoys in general be-
coming good shots. with the carbine where the
practice must be so limited, and where they are not
taught to consider it but as an offensive weapon
belonging to a few. At the same time that T urge
these considerations, 1 beg I may not be understood
as advocating the fire of cavalry mounted. The

11
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sword is their proper weapon, and the' other should
only be used when that arm cannot or ought not
to reach an enemy.”

Further on, writing of the large amount of baggage
which the native soldiers were permitted to accumu-
late and carry with them on the march, especially
in the way of numerous articles of uniform, General
Thackwell writes: “ Each of these articles would
last longer than the regulated period if' a com-
pensation were given when thearticle was not required,
and the evil would be greatly diminished.”

News from Afghanistan of a disquieting nature
was now beginning to filter through, and under
date of the 4th October he records that—

“ Dost Muhamed by all aceounts is now before
Bameean with 10,000 men, the garrison 2,000 with
only ten days’ provisions. Commotions likely to
take place among the Afghans and Ghilzais. I\'f;jor
Clibbon’s Bombay detachment of 600 infantry, 250
of the Poona Horse, and 4 guns defeated near
Kahun by a handful "of Beloochees. . . . Two
hundred men killed on each side, also four of our
officers; all the cattle and guns taken, the latter
being spiked. A most mismanaged affair, and the
sacrifice will be poor Captain Brown and the un-
relieved garrison of Kahun. The chance of a
‘Nepaulese and Sikh war and an actual conflict with
China will afford us plenty to do this approaching
cold season and next summer,”

(Major-General Thackwell’s services with the
Army of the Indus had been recognised by his
nomination and appointment to be a Knight
Commander of the Order of the Bath in the
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Gazette dated the 20th December 1839, and én
the 21st of the following October he enters in his
diary : “ Received by the mail to-day the Cross
and Ribbon of 2 Knight Commander of the Bath,
but the Star and Badge are not come.”)

“ 24th November.—On the 5th inst. Kurrak Singh
died, and as Nihal Singh was moving with the
procession for the funeral obsequies through a gate
of the palace, the heavy tread of the elephants
caused & beam to fall from the roof which struck
him on his skull and caused his death in five hours
after. A son of Gulab Singh was killed and others
were wounded. If the suspicion that he poisoned his
father be well founded, this would seem a judgment
of Providence. To-day intelligence has” been re-
ceived that Dost Muhamed has surrendered himself
to Shah Shuja after losing a battle in which
Dr. Lord, Lieutenants Bradford and Crispin were
killed and Fraser and Ponsonby wounded. . . .
The account of the action of the 2nd November,
in which poor Bradford and Crispin had their heads
cut off, states the right troop of the 2nd Cavalry
first wavered and that then the two squadrons went
about and left their officers to be cut to pieces.
They excuse themselves on account of not being able
to use their swords. Fraser lost his right arm, it
being nearly cut off, and has a wound in the back.
Ponsonby has his nose and face cut through and is
wounded in two-places.”

(These ofticers had of course all been well known
to Sir Joseph while under his command in Afghan-
istan, where Crispin had been his extra aide-de-
camp.)

On the 4th January 1841 Sir Edmund Williams
was nominated to the officiating command of the
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Meerut Division, Major-General Sir Joseph Thack-
well succeeding him in the command of the
Cawnpore Division—a post which he held until
the middle of the following October,

“18th April—The ex-Shah of Afghanistan,
Dost Muhamed, arrived here by water on Sunday
evening. He remained on the river yesterday,
and started at daybreak this morning for Calcutta.
He had seven or eight boats, and I saw him when
he passed the bridge of boats, as all were upon
the roofs of the boats, and I was within forty yards
of him—a stout man with a swarthy countenance
and bushy beard,”

“29th November.—Some days ago a rumour
arrived that Kabul was in a state of insurreetion ;
that the guns from the Bala Hissar were firing on
the town ; that Burnes had been murdered ; that
great fears. were entertained for the safety of the
87th and 54th Regiments of Native Infantry, who
were left bétween the Khoord Kabul and Jugduluk
Passes; and that Sale’s brigade was marching to
Jellalabad surrounded by thousands. That Ali
Musjid was invested by the Khyberees, and that
the position occupied by Captain Ferris was about
to be attacked.”

* 80th.—Letters from Kabul of the 9th November
state that the Kohistanis have joined the Kassilbash-
is,and that the whole country has risen en masse ;
that part of the Forty-fourth and two Sepo
regiments have occupied the Bala Hissar wit
Shelton ; that the guns have caused great destruc-
tion in the town; that an attack on the Bala
Hissar has been repulsed with great slaughter, and
also that a party of the Shah’s cavalry has cut to
pieces some Afghan horse. That Sir Alexander
Burnes and his brother, Captains Swayne and
Robinson and Lieutenant ban of the 44th
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Queen’s, Captain Maule of the Artillery, Lieutenant
and Adjutant Wheeler, Ensigns Gordon and.
Robinson, 37th N.I.; Broadfoot, European regi-
ment and Second in Command of the Shah’s 4th
Light Infantry; Ensign E. W. Salusbury of the
same ; and, report says, Lieutenant Rattray, Mrs.
Trevor, and her six children have been murdered.
That the envoy and family with other strangers had
taken refuge in an entrenched camp. The people
had placed the son of Zemaun Shah on the throne,
and that several of Shah Shuja's family had joined
the insurgents.”

“2nd December.—Report says that Captain
Woodburn, of the Shah’s 8rd Infantry, when on
the march from Ghuznee to Kabul with 150 men
was attacked by a large body of Ghilzais, and that
of the whole detachment only one man escaped
to tell the sad tale of the slaughter of the rest.”

“8rd.— A letter from Sir Robert Arbuthnot
tells me that he had heard from Clarke, who had
received advices from Kabul, that on the 11th an
action was fought with the insurgents in which
we were completely victorious, recovering the two
guns we had lost in the city, and that Sale had
defeated the rebels at Jellalabad, but that he
expected to be attacked again on the 20th, He
felt secure, having placed Jellalabad in a state of
defence.”

“7th~—News to-day that the troops at Kabul-
were shut up in the Bala Hissar and cantonments
with only ten days’ provisions. That Macnaghten
had written to Sale to move to his relief, whose
reply is that he has only twenty days’ provisions,
and has no money or carriage, and that he cannot
move.”

“8rd January 1842 —A report that the
Commander-in-Chief has had advice that a battle
took place at Kabul on the 7th December, and
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that it was a very bloody one, the Afghans having
fallen in heaps. Letter from Jellalabad mentions
that the cannonading was heard there on the 7th
in the line of Kabul from 9 o'clock a.m., until the
evening, a distance between the two places of
102} miles.”

“8th.—I had a letter from Cureton in which he
says, ‘ Macnaghten writes from Kabul on the 8th
“December to his brother-in-law at Simla saying
their resources were all exhausted and that they
must make the best terms they can.” A letter from
Jellalabad of the 22nd December says most
disastrqus news from Kabul, but they have no
enemy near them and are not badly off for pro-
visions. "The Khyber Pass was closed, but the
sent their ddk by another but not very secure road.
The letters from Ludhiana and Ferozepore say that
poor Elphinstone is dead.”
~ “12th.—Reports for the last two days that on
the 18th December the troops at Kabul gained a
complete ¥ictory, that the insurgents dispersed in
all £rections, and that the Chiefs flew to their
mountain valleys. = A letter from Ferozepore,
received to-day by Sir Edmund Williams, says that
Macnaghten had written to request that all the
troops might be withdrawn from Afghanistan and
Dost Muhamed sent up to assume the government.
A very different story to that of yesterday, which
-added that his son Akbar Khan had surrendered to
the Envoy ! ”

When the news of the disaster at Kabul reached
India, the first impulse of Liord Auckland’s Govern-
ment was to proclaim-—on the 31st January—a
determination to expedite ¢ powerful . reinforce-
ments to the Afghan frontier, for the maintenance
of the honour and interests of the British Govern-
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ment,” and it was stated that “the ample military
means at disposal will be strenuously applied to
these objects.” To this end it would appear that
Sir Jasper Nicolls, the Commanderin-Chief, had
been required to prepare a very much larger force
foy service in Afghanistan—particularly in cavalry
—than was eventually sent or than indeed the
military resources of the country could at that
moment well afford. In the expectation that it
might become necessary to send forward a whole
cavalry division, the services of Sir Joseph Thackwell
were once more called for, and on the 17th January
he received orders to proceed at once by ddk to
Kurnaul and there join Army Headquarters, He
bought his camels and started off them and his
horses, while he himself set off on the morning of the
28rd for Kurnaul. On the road he passed his late
regiment, the 8rd Light Dragoons, also on their
way to the front to join the force under General
Pollock, and, not finding the Headquarters at
Kurnaul, Sir Joseph pushed on and got into Sir
Jasper Nicolls’ camp, about 21 miles beyond
Umballa, at midday on the 29th.

On the 81st the; Commander-in-Chief moved off
on his way to Ferozepore, being received en route
by the Rajah of Pattiala and his troops, who lined
the road for more than a mile and a half. General
Thackwell describes the Rajah as being “a man of
gigantic stature, 6 ft. 4 in. in height with form and
features in proportion, and having the reputation of
being greatly attached to the English. His health
is fast declining, although he is not much more than
forty years of age.” On the march *there was an
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official report of the retreat of the two battalions
from Ali Musjid, with the loss of 400 men, owing to
the want of provisions. Brigadier Wild wounded.”

On arrival at Ludhiana Sir Jasper Nicolls held
a durbar whereat a number of native officers were
presented, and Sir Joseph Thackwell—who did n¥t
shate the low opinion then far too-often held and
expressed by officers in the British Service as to
the value of native irregular troops—writes: “1I
had the pleasure of renewing my acquaintance
with the native officers of the 4th Irregular Horse
—a noble set of fellows!”

Already, no doubt, Sir Joseph must have had
misgivings as to whether after all he was likely to
be employed, either in “the Avenging Army”
moving on Afghanistan, or in an army of obser-
vation which ‘there was some idea of forming on
the Sutlej-to watch the movements of the Sikhs.
On the 11th February he brought matters to a

head_‘in an interview he had with the Commander-
in-Chief—

“and besought him to give me active employ-
ment, either the command of the brigade in which
the 8rd Light Dragoons will be Placed, or of the
cavalry, as I was willing to waive my rank and
serve under Major-General Pollock. He was
hghly pleased with my offer, and gave me hopes
oi8 being employed.”

On the 14th, however, he writes :

« The Commander-in-Chief told me to-day that
I might return to Cawnpore, as no cavalry to form
a division would be required, no army of observa-
tion to be fermed, the Sikhs having given proofs
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of good faith, and although I had volunteered to
serve under Pollock in command of the cavalry, it
could not be granted.”

“ 16th.—Sir Jasper and myself had a good deal of
conversation before dinner yesterday and at break-
fast this morning, respecting the assembly of troops
on the Sutlej; he says that the Council have
decided what measures shall be adopted against
the Afghans by this time, and that he will be
made acquainted with them to-day or to-morrow.
He is glad T have not laid my ddk, and I hope
there is some chance of my being employed.”

On the 18th, however, all hope of active em-
ployment seeming to be at an end, Sir Joseph
took leave of the Commander-in-Chief, who pro-
ceeded on his way to Ferozepore, while General
Thackwell marched towards Simla for a tour in
the hills.

He had intended to have travelled thence over
the hills to Dehra, up to Landour, and vid Meerut
to Cawnpore, but he found he had not the necessary
time, so marched down to Umballs, after spending
only a day or two in Simla, and finally rejoined
Lady Thackwell at Cawnpore on the 16th March
—just in time for the Proclamation Parade,
announcing that Lord Ellenborough had assumed
the reins of government. o

This was an anxious and a sickly season. Pollock’s
force was fighting its way up the Khyber, and
many were the fears that his force was insufficient
or that the troops might arrive too late to save the
garrison still holding out; news came back but,
fitfully, delays were exaggerated, and petty reverses
magnified. The rainy season, too, set in very late—
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no regular min falling much before the end of
August, and tholera of a malignant type broke
out at Cawnpore. In April Sir Edmund Williams
seems to bave been transferred to the command of
the Meerut Division, and during the hot weather
at least Sir Joseph Thackwell reigned in his stead.
On the 20th June the diary contains the entry :

“ Got the General Order for the formation of an
Army of Reserve under the Commander-in-Chief.
Generals of Division : myself (cavalry), Dennis and
Ballin (infantry). Brigadier Graham to command
the artillery ; Major Smith, Chief Engineer.
Brigadiers Orchard, Paul, Moore, and Young. To
have an Assistant Adjutant-General and Quarter-
master-General to the cavalry, and the same to
the infantry divisions,”

“28th July-—Advices from Captain Somerset,
Military Secretary to the Governor-General, that
the order had gone up to the Commander-in-Chief
on the 25th for the assembly of the Army of
Reserve at Ferozepore on the 15th November.
Also that the Governor-General and all the suite
~would  leave Allahabad by water on the 20th
August for Gurmuktesur Ghat to there meet their
tents and land carriage, and march thence by
Meerut to Ferozepore.”

Handing over the command of the district to
General Grey, who had arrived a few days
previously, Sir Joseph Thackwell left Cawnpore
on thé 19th October to join his division in the
Army. of Reserve, and marching leisurely reached
Ferozepore on the 14th November. Here, as
senior officer then present, he assumed command
of the Army of Reserve or of as much of it as was
already assembled. |



THE ILLUSTRIOUS GARRISON 171

The " Commander-in-Chief, Sir Jasper Nicolls,
arrived in camp on the 20th November, and Lord
Ellenborough on the 9th December, and Sir
Joseph had a fine force of cavalry under his
command—the 16th Lancers, the 8rd and 7th
Light Cavalry, and the 4th and 6th Irregular
Horse, with four troops of horse artillery. - The
camp was laid out within a mile and a half or two
miles of two bridges of boats which had been
thrown across the Sutlej, and on the 16th—

“the troops were drawn out in one line on the
right of the road leading to the two bridges of
boats to go through the form of saluting °the
Illustrious Garrison of Jellalabad * which marched
into camp this morning—sleek, plump, and healthy,
about 2,000 strong. Twenty-four piéces of horse
artillery on the right, eighteen squadrons of
cavalry next, then eighteen pieces of artillery,
9-pounders, and on the left twelve battalions of
infantry, including four Queen’s Regimentg. The
Jellalabad garrison consisted of the 18th' Light
Infantry, 720 strong; the 85th, upwards of 800, .
the Sappers and Miners; No. 6 Field Battery
(9-pounders and 24-pound howitzers), about 120 ;
the Mountain Train (2-pounders), about 100; a
squadron of the 5th Cavalry, about 100;.and a
msala of Anderson’s Horse, about 100 men.”

On the following day Pollock’s troops marched
in, and on the 28rd— : . .

“the Governor-Geéneral and the Commander-
in-Chief went down to the bridge of boats, at a
quarter before 7 a.m., to ‘see  General Nott's
army and the gates of Sommaut. I accompanied
them. The troops looked healthy, in. good order,
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and the horses in pretty good condition. A small
advanced guard of cavalry and infantry preceded
the column. Then came the 3rd Bombay Cavalry,
the 1st Irregular Cavalry, and Christie’s Horse-—~
about 1,000 men. The Bombay troop (European)
of Horse Artillery, then Anderson’s troop of
Native. Then a field battery of Europeans, 18
guns ; afterwards the infantry—the 40th and 41st
Queen’s, the 2nd, 16th, 38th, 42nd and 48rd, and
the Khelat-i-Ghilzai regiment of Native Infantry—
about 6,000. 'Total between 7,000 and 8,000.
Altogether the force cut a very fine appearance.”

_ “24th.—About 7 o’clock on the evening of the
28rd, after all the troops and baggage had crossed
the river, the great rise of water in it carried away
the two bridges of hoats ; some of these have been
carried twenty-five miles down its current, but
none have been sunk.” .

The whole army united under the Commander-
in-Chief numbered about 27,000 men, and was
composed of 78 guns, 45 squadrons of cavalry, and
28 battalions of infantry.

On the 8rd January the camp began to break
"up; the Governgr-General left for Delhi, and the
different corps moved off to their various stations.

General Thackwell obtained leave to wvisit
Mussoorie, and, travelling by easy stages, did not
reach Cawnpore again until the 17th February.

During this year a new Commander-in-Chief—
and one, too, under whom Sir Joseph Thackwell
was to see much service—arrived in India, and on
the 24th August the notification of the appoint-
ment of Sir Hugh Gough was read to the troops
on parade in the different garrisons of the

Dependency.
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Sir Hugh Gough at once found that both in the
north and in the south there were signs that the
services of the Indian army might again ere long
be required. In September of this year Sher
Singh, the Maharaja of Lahore, was assassinated,
and the condition of the army of the Sikhs—brave,
well trained, and turbulent—gave at once real
cause for alarm.

“In the midst of this anxiety a source of
trouble, similar if not so formidable, arose in
the State of Gwalior. The army of that State
was less numerous than that of the Punjab
and not ?uite so highly trained, but the spirit
o}f]' political dictation was hardly less strong among
them,”

In November 1817 the Marquis of Hastings
had concluded a treaty with Daulat Rao Sindia,
under which the latter agreed to abandon the
Peshwa, to join the British against the Pindaris,
and to surrender for a time two of his fortresses.
Ten years later—during the reign of Lord Amherst
—Daulat Rao was in 'declining health, and the
affairs of his kingdom were largely in the hands of
his favourite wife, Baiza Bai, and her brother
Hindu Rao—whose house on the Ridge at Delhi
was to become a famous post in the siege. Daulat
Rao Sindia himself was childless, and was for
some reason unwilling to follow the usual Indian
custom and adopt an heir, but wished that this
power should rest, after his decease, with Baiza Bai.
Before his death, however, in March 1827, he left
the decision as to succession absolutely in the
hands of the British Resident, and Baiza Bai was

! Keene.
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permitted to adopt a young and distant relation,
who was thereupon placed upon the throne, Baiza
Bai retaining the office of Regent. Dynastic
disputes, however, at once broke out in the State
of Gwahor, and six years after the death of
Daulat Rao his widow was compelled to give up
the Regency and retire to her private estates in the
Deccan, the boy whom she had adopted being
recognised by the Government. This youth, how-
ever, died some years later, also without issue, but
leaving an adopted son who was a minor. It was
therefore necessary to appoint a regent or council
of regency, and the Gwalior troops refusing to
recognise the nominee of the British Government,
the Resident, in view of the inimical attitude
of the troops of the State, judged it prudent to
remove himself in the winter of 1843 to Dholpore,
nearer the frontier. The Governor-General now
required of the Gwalior authorities the restoration
of the Regent and the reduction of the army,
“whose strength was wholly out of proportion to the
requirements of a protected State, and in the’
meantime Sir Hugh Gough, the Commander-in-
Chief, had prepared for all possible eventualities
and was ready to take the field with a force of
some 12,000 men.

On the 21st October he visited Cawnpore,
putting up with General Grey. “1I called on him
at 11 a.m.,” writes Sir Joseph in his diary of this
date, “and he was very civil. Told me I was
to command all the cavalry for Gwalior.”

Later on he duly received his orders and left
Cawnpore on the 28rd November for Agra, where
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he arrived on the 26th and where Army Head-
quarters was established. Sir Joseph, however,
went into camp some 82 miles to the north of the
city, where he found already assembled a sub-
stantial portion of the division which he was
to command in the forthcoming campaign.



CHAPTER XI

THE fort and town of Gwalior were situated about
65 miles almost due south of Agra, being in
the most northerly portion of the dominions of
Sindia.

“The British districts of Agra and Etawah
bounded the Gwalior State on the north-east ; the
protected States of Dholpore and Rajputana were
co-terminous with it on the north-west. Along the
whole of these frontiers the boundary line was the
River Chumbul ; the north-eastern corner of Gwalior
extends almost to the point where the united waters
of the Chumbul and the Jumna are joined- by a
smaller tributary known as the Sind, which separa-
ted Gwalior from the British districts and protected
States of Bundelcund.”:

In the event of hostilities becoming necessary,
Sir Hugh Gough had decided to operate with an
army divided into two wings, the right wing to
be assembled under his immediate command at
Agra—the left, under Major-General Sir John
Grey, K.C.B., to concentrate at Jhansi and Koonch
in Bundelecund. The Cavalry Division,. to be com-
manded by Sir Joseph Thackwell, comprised four

fine brigades containing 82 squadrons, but was
! Rait.
176
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equally divided between the two forces—ap-
-parently at General Thackwell’s own suggestion,
for when Sir Hugh visited Cawnpore in November
Sir Joseph records in his diary :

“ Transacted business with the Chief and fixed
on the Assistant Adjutant-General of the Cavalry,
Pratt, and Quartermaster-General, Clayton, and he
said he had adopted the arrangements I had

suggested, and two brigades of cavalry were for
Bundelcund.”

It is possible that this arrangement was proposed
in order to make up in some mnieasure for
General Grey’s weakness in infantry, he having only
one division, while two were with the right wing.
With Sir Hugh also was a battering train of 50
pieces, but of these only six 18-pounders and four

8-inch howitzers crossed the Chumbul and arrived
at Gwalior.

Sir *Hugh Gough has been blamed for this
division of the farce, the two wings of which were
placed on either side of the Gwalior army, which
consisted, moreover, of not less than 22,000 veteran
troops, trained under European officers and provided
with a powerful artillery. There seems no doubt
that the Commander-in-Chief, but newly arrived in
the country and knowing little or nothing of the
armies of native states, had underestimated the
fighting powers and resources of his enemy ; but he
considered that either wing'of his army was strong
enough to defeat the Gwalior force singly, while
the position in which he hoped to force ‘the enemy
‘to accept battle would enable him not only to utterly

- 12
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crush them, but effectually to prevent the dispersion
of their force into predatory bodies of armed men.

The cavalry of the right wing of the so-called
“ Army of Exercise” left its camping-ground on
the 16th December for Dholpore, where the
Chumbul was to be crossed. Marching by Muttra,
Bhurtpore was reached on the 7th, and of the
fortress Sir Joseph writes :

“Its celebrated walls are about six miles round,
the ramparts of mud, with a deep, dry ditch. . . .
The siege by Lord Combermere was on its ESE.,
face; the two breaches made by the mines are
still as they were when the assault took place,
except as to remains of mortality. It strikes me
the batteries were too distant, as they appear to
have produced no great effect, but the breaches
_were very easy. The town wall opposite to the
one to the south ought to have been defended,
.as it was in a salient round bastion connected
with the town by a narrow rampart only. On
the south and west sides there is much cultivation,
and a lake lies to the west, and at about six
miles distant a range of low hills, On this side
Lord Lake made ‘his unsuccessful attack in 1805,
but for my own part 1 think it was scarcely to
be taken, except by mining, unless the battering
train had been very numerous indeed.”

Agra was reached on the 9th, a;ld "here the
whole camp was formed. o

“Found in camp,” writes General Thackwell,
“about 15,000 men, of whom I had the command.
The cavalry formed the front of the square
together with three troops of Horse Artillery:
the infantry, with Nos. 10 and 17 Field Batteries,
formed the two flanks.” ’
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On the 11th the Governor-General arrived in
camp, and next day the 8rd Infantry Brigade, with
a field battery and two regiments of native cavalry,
-were sent towards Dholpore with orders to halt
at the second march for further orders. On the
15th and 16th the rest of the cavalry division of
the right wing left camp, and was concentrated on
the 18th at Dholpore, where the rest of the farce
soon closed up.

¢« 21st,—Marched at half-past 6 o'clock with
the 8rd Brigade of Cavalry and the three troops
of artillery to Keutri Ghat on the Chumbul River,
nearly eight miles—encamped within half a mile of
the river.”

« 22nd.—Marched at half-past 7 o’clock to the
Keutri ford, about 260 or perhaps 800 yards broad
and now but little more than three feet deep,
with a hard, firm, sandy bottom. The troops—
viz. three troops of artillery, No. 17 Field Battery,
the 8rd Brigade of Cavalry, and the 8rd Brigade
.of Infantry—passed it without accident, and took
;up & position behind the ravines of the Koharf{
River, the right resting on Sehoree, and the le
towards Hingonah on the same river. Covered
‘the right and left with picquets during the night
on a wide, well-cultivated plain. After crossing
the ford, the ground for a mile and a half is broken
into ravines like the broken billows of a troubled
sea ; afterwards the country is quite. level, and the
‘two roads branching off to Gwalior and Bombay
are excellent, though not metalled.”

“28rd.—The 4th Brigade of Cavalry and the
-5th of Infantry, the Governor-General, and the
Comménder-in-Chief marched into camp to-day.
I waited on His Excellency, and saw Smith [Sir
- Harry], Gough and Grant ” [afterwards Sir Patrick],
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“ Rode in the evening with His Excellency alon
the right front of the encampment, and he decideg
on having a wing of the 14th Native Infantry at
the village of Sehoree.”

“24th.—Rode with the Commander-in-Chief
along the left front to the village of Chota
Hingonah, distant from Sehoree on the Bombay
road about five miles. The roads from Keutri
ford and Dholpore ferry join before entering the
former village and continue on to Gwalior, This
road and the one to Bombay are the only

racticable routes for carriages, and I believe for
Borses, across the deep ravines in front of our line,
which extends about four miles. " My right flank
at Sehoree is now well covered, but the left is
still exposed. Only by the Gwalior road can the
he?hts beyond the Kohary River be ascended,
and they therefore form a very strong position..
We got upon them, and in our ascent met with
about thirty impudent Mahratta soldiers bélonging
to Colonel Jacob, and at one time we thought we
should have come to blows with them, but a
picquet of the 10th Cavalry coming up by accident
—as they had been ordered to be discontinued the
day before—caused them to change their tone’
and they were very submissive. It certainly was
very fortunate these twenty men came up or I
verily believe a collision would have taken place,
as the Chief was very irate. . . . Reconnoitred
the line of river in front in the afternoon.”

“ 25th.—1I visited the right picquets and rode to
the front beyond the ravines on the Siprée road—a
fine plain to the south and east for several miles
covered with cultivation,”

“ 27th.—1 crossed the river at. Jetowa and rode
beyond the ravines; came home by the Bombay
road. Picquets all well posted except the rear one,
which is not far enough to the right rear.”
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“28th.—Rode with the Commander-in-Chief
this morning across the raviness A troop of the
4th Cavalry with Lieutenant-Colonel Garden went
on the Gwalior road towards Chonda and there met
with the advance of the Mahratta army—about
5,000 men. They fired about twelve guns at his
party, but no loss occurred—a dog only having been
slightly wounded. All commanders of divisions
and brigades waited on the Commander-in-Chief
at noon to receive instructions about the intended
attack to-morrow.”

«29th.-—The army crossed the Kohary Nuddi
and advanced through its defiles at 6 o’clock this
morning. The right column—consisting of the two
troops of the 2nd Brigade of Artillery, the 16th
Lancers, the Bodyguard, the 1st Light Cavalry,
and two risalas of the 4th Irregular Horse (the
rear guard to which was one squadron of the 1st
Light Cavalry and a risala of the 4th Irregulars)
—covered the right flank; the centre column
consisted of the 8rd Brigade of Infantry under
Major-General Valiant and crossed the Kohary at
Jetowa and marched by Kaladreh to the left of
Mungowleh ; and the left column by Chota
Hingonah along the main Gwalior road towards
Jowra. It consisted of the 4th and 5th Brigades
of Infantry, Nos. 10 and 17 Field Batteries, the 4th
Native Cavalry and 10th Light Cavalry with the
2nd troop of 8rd Brigade of Artillery. In all’
about 8,500 men. My column marched along
the main Bombay réad and turned to the left
a little short of Omedghur, leaving the village
of Sainte on the left, and arrived on the:right
of Mungowleh as ordered. It had been delayed
a quarter of an hour owing to the horses of a
gun falling in the quagmire of the descent to the
ford of the Kohary, and on arrival near Mun-
gowleh received an order to proceed towards
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Maharajpore and form on the right of the 8rd
Brigade of Infantry.

“The Maharaja’s army was posted in front of
Chonda with a strong body of infantry in advance
on the Chota Hingonah road, and another large
body of infantry with fourteen guns or more
occupied the village of Maharajpore about a mile
from the former, and each nearly a mile and a half
from Chonda—Maharajpore being on their extreme
left o the road to Mungowleh. The Commander-
in-Chief sent for me as the troops were coming up,
at which time the enemy had opened their fire from
both advances, and No. 10 Field Battery and the 2nd
troop of artillery were answering them on the left.
Colonel Wright’s brigade (the 5th) was advancing
to attack Ma%]arajpore on its left."” After receiving
the .Commander-in-Chief’s orders—who seemed
very cool under a sharp cannonade—to turn the
village of Maharajpore and attack any troops
retiring from it, I made my dispositions—two
squadrons of the 16th Lancers on the right and the
1st Light Cavalry forming the first line, and the
‘Bodyguard and two squadrons of the Lancers
forming a second line; the guns as they came up
were on the left of the first line, supported by the
remainder of the 4th Irregulars—not 50 men.
The cavalry made a rapid advance and graduall
brought its right shoulgers forward, during whic
time the infantry was warmly engaged in carrying
the village.

“ On arriving on the road leading from Maharaj-
pore to Dampoora, the retreat of the enemy by the
road was cut off, and some baggage was taken,
and some men were cut down. Near this point
Major-General Churchill and Captain Somerset
were wounded, and Lieutenant-Colonel Saunders,
Under Military Secretary to the Governor-General,

! The eﬁemy'a left of Maharajpo‘re would seem to be meant.



WORK OF THE CAVALRY 183

was killed by a musket ball. The cavalry advanced
beyond this point, but nene of the enemy’s infantry
were seen retreating; and as a four- or six-gun
battery in position among the ravines on the right
front of Dampoora opened at about 400 yards on
our right flank, and a considerable body of infantry
supported the fire of musketry kept up from the
ravines before mentioned, and it being also pre-
sumed that his flank was protected by a large
body of cavalry, I did not think it advisable to
continue my advance in the direction of Chonda,
but threw my right back and remained fronting
Dampoora. During this time the artillery had
come up and made good practice against the
batteries in the direction of Chonda and Grant’s
troop against the one near Dampoora, but the
enemy had contrived to blow up two of their
ammunition wagons by round shot passing through
them. Brigadier Scott’s two regiments had also
been warmly engaged, had taken six guns and had
cut down a number of cavalry who had advanced
to attack them. This brigade and its troop of
horse artillery came unaccountably to the right,
round the village of Maharajpore, whereas it ought
to have remained on the left flank towards that
point, but as Sir Hugh Gough was there I
presume they acted by his orders. The 4th Irre-
gular Cavalry were ordered-by His Excellency to
charge a two-gun battery, which they carried but
could not keep, owing to being unsupported when
warmly opposed. 1 had ordered the 1st Light
Cavalry to the left to support the two troops of
artillery and the attack of Major-General Littler’s
brigade on Chonda on the left of the ravines, but
it does not appear they bhad an opportunity of
doing anythipg. Major-General Dennis with
Brigadier Stacy’s brigade—the 4th—came to the
rear of the cavalry when Littler advanced, but
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had ordemss to halt, otherwise the ravines in front
would soon have béen cleared, the battery they
protected would have been carried, and the cavalry
would have passed the ford of the Ahsin and cut
up many of the enemy—as it was they left a great
deal of baggage behind. Major-General Smith
was on their flank, and highly disapproved of
the position ppor -Churchill wanted to place the
8rd Brigade in. He would not allow the cavalry
to turn the ravines, or cross the ford to fall on the
enemy’s rear, therefore as my superior officer I was
bound to obey. 'The position between Jowra,
Maharsjpore, and Chonda was a fine triangular
plain ‘on which cavalry c¢ould act in the finest
manner.”

Elsewhere General Thackwell records ;

“The cavalry could not arrive in time for the
advance of the infantry, and it was much hurried
to get into the second position; it had then to
meke a rapid movement to get round the 8rd
Brigade of Infantry, and advanced to its third
and - fourth positions 'under a heavy fire of
artillery. The two troops of artillery attached
to the 38rd Brigade of Cavalry did not fire a
shot at the village of Maharajpore, and did not
open fire, until it got near the ravines in front of

ampoora.”

Of the rest of the force the infantry with
Major-General Littler—the 5th Brigade under
Colonel Wright—was heavily engaged. Attacking
the village of Maharajpore in front while Valiant
assailed it, as already described, on the west,
they met with a very determined resistance, the
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Mahratta army fighting sword in hand, and rally-
ing repeatedly before the village was cleared.
Wright then passed on, covered by the artillery,
to attack the main position at Chonda, where
the enemy made a last very- desperate stand,
and where the greater number of their guns were
captured.

“ The battle was over hy 12 o’clock ; but had the
4th Brigade of Infantry, instead of attacking
Chonda, been permitted to cross the river with the
cavalry, half the Mahratta army would have been
destroyed—or if even a battalion of Stacy’s brigade
had passed over with the cavalry instead of remain-
ing halted for three-quarters of an hour, a great
part of their rear would have been cut off. Thus
ended the battle, in which the enemy’s guns were
well served and they fought with great determina-
tion. . . . Encamped on the field of battle, and
poor Churchill, whose leg had been amputated, died
during the night.

¢ The Mahratta army was to the amount of about
12,000 men—cavalry probably 8,500 and about' 60
guns. Their loss, 56 guns and about 2,000 men.
Our togal loss was 780 officers and men, of which
number the cavalry had 11 men killed and 48
wounded, 78 horses killed and 48 wounded, 4 men
and 10 horses missing; 1 officer killed and 5
wounded, of which 1 native officer killed and 4
wounded, of this number three had legs ampu-
tated. The 16th Lancers had 2 men and 22
horses killed, 1 sergeant, 5 privates, and 4 horses
wounded.” : :

In his despatch on'the action Sir Hugh Gough
mentions that the cavalry *“manceuvred most
judiciously on the right and would have got in
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rear of the position and cut off the retreat of the
whole, had they not been prevented by an impass-
able ravine.” He adds:

“To Major-General Sir Joseph Thackwell, K.C.B.,
to Major-Generals Dennis and Littler, and to
Brigadier Gowan, commanding the divisions, m
best thanks are due for the manner in whic
they conducted and led their respective divisions.”

General Thackwell mentions in his report Captain
Pratt, A.A.G., Captain Clayton, A.Q.M.G., Lieu-
tenant Pattinson, Brigade-Major, Lieutenant Cowell,
A.D.C,, Captain  Harris, Lord Ellenborough'’s
A.D.C., who acted as galloper to Sir Joseph, and
Lieutenant Renney of the Engineers, attached to
the cavalry division.

% 80th.—Marched at 11 o’clock to an encampment
on the right bank of the Sankh River, eight miles,
being about three and a half miles to the southward
of Dadnoila.” _

“ 81st.—The Queen-Regent came to the durbar of
the Governor-General about half-past one, and had
a long conference of at least an hour and a half.
She was saluted with 21 guns on arriving and the
same on going away. The I16th Lancers formed
her guard of honour.”

“1st January 1844.-—The Commander-in-Chief
assembled the generals of divisions, brigadiers, and
commanding officers of regiments at' his Durbar
tent this morning and publicly declared he was
satisfied with the conduct of everybody, as all had
nobly done their duty. He was in high spirits and
most cordially shook hands. I afterwards called on
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Lady Gough, Mrs. Smith, and Mrs, Curtis, and
found them not recovered from the shock they
received from being present on the . fisld of
battle. Poor Major Crommeline of the 1st Cavalry
died to-day of the severe wound he received on the
29th ult.” ‘ -

“8rd.—The army, or at least the first column,
marched this morning at half-past 6 o’clock to an
encampment in front and to the right of the
Gwalior Residency, about three miles from the old
town ; no enemy to be seen. Three squadrons of
the 16th Lancers formed the advanced guard,
followed by two troops of artillery, the fourth
squadron of Lancers, the 1st Light Cavalry, the
Bodyguard, the 4th Irregular. Cavalry, the 8rd
Brigade of Infantry with No. 17 Light Field
Battery, the 5th Brigade of Infantry with No. 10
Field Battery, the Khelat-i-Ghilzai regiment and the
81st Native Infantry, the Governor-General and
the Commander-in-Chief, two companies of Sappers’
and Miners ; the 4th Native Lancers and two guns
formed the rear guard.”

Major-General Grey’s force, fresh from its victory
at Punniar, joined the Commander-in-Chief on the
4th, and on the 22nd—the Gwalior army having
in the meantime been disarmed and steps taken for
the reduction of its numbers from 80,000 to 9,000—
“the army assembled in review order at 9 a.m. for
the inspection of the Governor-General and the
little Maharaja ”—a boy about eight years of age—
when Sir Joseph led past his fine command of
four cavalry brigades and five troops of horse
artillery. On the 28rd the Governor-General
marched for Allahabad and the force broke, sup,
Major-General Littler remaining at Gwalior with
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three batteries of artillery, two regiments of native
cavalry, and six infantry battalions. Sir Joseph
Thackwell himself left the neighbourhood of Gwalior
on, the 25th on his return to Cawnpore, where he
arrived on the 2nd February and resumed command
of the station.

On the 14th March the Calcutta Government
Glazette notified the transfer of Major-General Grey
to Meerut and the appointment of Major-General
Pollock to command the Cawnpore Division, which
necessitated the transfer of Major-General Thack-
well, who was senior -in rank to Pollock; and
consequently a few days later Sir Joseph received
a letter from Headquarters notifying his removal to
Meerut. He left Cawnpore on the 5th May and
arrived at his new station on the 21st, assuming
and retaining command of the lelSlOIl until the
October following.

Sir Joseph Thackwell had for some time past
been anxious to go home to England. The Gwalior
campaign and the state of affairs beyond the
Sutlej had all combined to keep him in India;
but he had now been over seven years away from
England, his elder children were growing up, and
he had made up his mind to return home. Lady
Thackwell and he therefore left Meerut early in the
cold weather of 1844, and marching by easy stages
the whole way down to Bombay, they arrived there
early in February. The journey home was now
amuch more expeditious business than formerly.
When Sir Joseph came out with the 8rd Light
Dragoons, the voyage had occupied four months;
but now, embarking on the 2nd March, he landed



SHORT LEAVE 189

in Southampton on the 11th April—“a raw cold
day with some rain.” How many returning
Anglo-Indians have been welcomed by the same
weather on landing once more in their native
country ! ‘

Sir Joseph had made up his mind to return
to India in August, so that his time was greatly
occupied—travelling about, visiting relations, and
seeing old friends, and the children too from whom
he had so long been separated.

“On the 30th anniversary of the Battle of
Waterloo dined with the Duke of Wellington,
who did me the honour to introduce me to Prince
Albert. Met a great number of my acquaintances,
who seemed glad to see me, and heard from Lord
Fitz-Roy Somerset of poor Valiant’s death from
cholera at Calcutta, The Duke appeared in good
health and spirits, and his voice was firm and
strong. About seventy were at dinner.”

He attended also a big dinner at the London
Tavern, given by the East India Court of Directors,
sat for his portrait, and was painted also by Von
Orlich, the Prussian officer who had been in India
in 1842, in 2 group of the chiefs of the army
assembled at Ferozepore. The latter part of his
short stay at home was passed in Ireland, at the
home of Lady Thackwell’s mother, and it was
there that he left his wife and children when on
the 5th August he returned to London to prepare
for embarkation. He had written late in July to
Sir Harry Smith, Adjutant-General of Queen’s
troops in India, but the reply—dated 24th
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September—probably only reached him on arrival
in Calcutta. Sir Harry writes:

“I think you may fairly calculate on being
appointed to Cawnpore, your old station, but no
official notice can be taken of you until the re-
port of your arrival be received. As to the Punjab,
affairs are just as they were when you left; but
as a thundering army is so cantoned as to admit
of a speedy concentration on our north-west
frontier, and as you know the Sikhs are a con-
ceited set of rascals, we soldiers must hope for
the best. Peace is desired, but circumstances, as
at Gwalior, may arise when our interference creates
.expediency, over which human foresight can have
no control; but when you reach Cawnpore you
will be so appuyé to the course of events, you
will be able to take advantage of them and guide
yourself accordingly—unless a path be chalked out
for you, which 1 regard as very probable.

“You did not say whether Lady Thackwell is
coming ; this however we suppose, and Lady S.
unites with me in affectionate regards to you both.
You know, I hope, old comrade, how ready I am
to be of any use in my power.”

On the 18th a party of twelve brother officers of
the 8rd Light Dragoons entertained Sir Joseph at
dinner at the Clarendon Hotel—* a hearty welcome
and a pleasant evening,”—and he finally embarked at
Southampton on the Oriental. He was not alone,
for Lady Thackwell’s brother, Edmund Roche, his
former aide-de-camp, was also on board, with his
wife. The Oriental was bound for Calcutta, and
at Madras Sir Joseph was glad to meet again his
old friend and former commander, Sir Edmund
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Williams, then commanding the Presidency
Division.  Calcutta was reached on the 4th
October, and on the 18th Sir Joseph set off by
dik for Cawnpore, where he arrived on the 80th
and assumed charge of the station under Major-
General Sir Robert Dick, then in command of the
Cawnpore Division.



CHAPTER XI1

THERE is perhaps no more stirring and romantic
story in the history of the nations, than that of the
evolution of a small religious sect into one of
the most magnificent military types that the
world has seen. It is barely four hundred years
ago that Nanak, the wandering devotee, com-
menced his teachings; at the beginning of the
seventeenth - century 'Har Govind caused his
followers to lay aside their rosaries and draw the
sword in defence of their faith; and it was his
grandson, Govind Singh, the tenth, the greatest
and the last of the Gurus, who founded the Khalsa,
the Sikh Commonwealth, converted “a horde of
undisciplined peasants into enthusiastic soldiers
animated with religious fervour, and laid the
corner-stone of that nation, which Ranjit Singh,
a hundred years later, raised in the Punjab on the
ruins of the Mogul Empire.”' The story of the
Sikhs is full of fascination—their persecuted life,
the years of warfare, their ultimate triumph, the
days under Hari Singh—
PR who died before Jumrood,

When the dry and thirsty nullahs ran red with Moslem blood,
When thro’ the Khyber passes the foe rode fast and far,

And loudly wailed to dark-eyed maids in grovelled Kandahar.”

} Gordon.
192
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Ranjit Singh had made the stolid yeomen
of the Punjab into a standing army, voluntarily
enlisted, highly paid, and trained under the eyes of
French and Italian officers—Avitabili, Allard,
Ventura, Court, and others—who had learnt their
trade under Napoleon and had drifted out to India
on his fall-—“military waifs from war-exhausted
Europe.” The Punjab had become a powerful
State comprising all that country watered by the
five rivers, and stretching from Multan to Kashmir
and from the northern bank of the . Sutlej to the
borders of Afghanistan. - In 1809—consule Minto
—a treaty had been negotiated by Charles Metcalfe
with Ranjit Singh, under which the Sikhs en-
gaged to restrict their pretensions and operations
to the right bank of the Sutlej, and throughout his
long reign the Lion of the Punjab loyally adhered
to his promises, and cultivated amicable relations
with the Government of India. On his death in
1889 “ the Punjab provinces, so long kept together
by the pressure of his hand, broke, before long, into
a tangle of anarchy.” !

In September 1848 Ranjit’s successor, the
Maharajah Sher Singh, and his minister had been
murdered on the same day, and the condition of
the Sikh army became at once a source of alarm
both to the Punjab chiefs and to their neighbours,
since, as has been said, “the Khalsa, like the
Pretorians of Imperial Rome, sold the supreme
power, which rested entirely in their hands, to the
highest bidder,” * and there was no knowing when
these troops might mot be let loose across the

! Keene. ! Hardinge.
13
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frontier of British India. At the time of the
Gwalior campaign the unrest beyond the Sutlej
had given an additional anxiety to the Governor-
General and the Commander-in-Chief, then pre-
paring for operations on the Chumbul ; a prolonged
or indecisive campaign in this quarter might have
brought down the Sikhs to co-operate with the
Mahrattas, and Sir Hugh Gough had arranged for
the formation of a force under Sir Robert Dick,
to watch the line of the Sutlej, while he also
strengthened our outposts at Ferozepore and
Ludhiana. The Gwalior campaign terminated so
quickly that the Sikhs had no time to act, and war,
then so imminent, was postponed for two years.

In the meantime the infant Dhuleep Singh had
been placed upon the throne, with his mother—the
Jezebel of the Punjab—as Queen-Regent, but the
State was divided into three factions; that of the
Rajput Chief of Jammu, whose nephew Hira Singh
was the minister ; that of the Sikh nobles; and
finally that of the army punchayats or committees.
The nominal rulers of the Punjab had no feeling
of hostility towards the British, but the Queen-
Regent was disinclined for peace, the treasury was
empty, the rulers had little authority, and it was
only too apparent that matters were drifting
rapidly towards war. Sir Henry Hardinge, who
had in July 1844 succeeded Lord Ellenborough as
Governor-General, had early concerted measures of
precaution with Sir Hugh Gough; and as a result
of these measures the British force at and above
Umballa was augmented' by December 1844 to
82,500 men and 68 guns, while 18,000 more men
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with 80 additional guns stood between Umballa
and Meerut, and the train of boats, already pro-
vided in anticipation of requirements by Lord
Ellenborough before quitting India, was brought
up from the Indus to Ferozepore.

At this time the army of the Khalsa was re-
turned at about 87,000 men, with nearly 500 guns;
the Sikh troops were politically insubordinate,
“but their military discipline was high and their
spirit that of a dominant class.”

The hot weather of 1845—the summer which
Sir Joseph Thackwell spent in England—passed
quietly, but the Governor-General had been warned
by the Jummu Raja, Gulab Singh, that there would
be war after the fast of the Dasahra—the day on
which Rama set forth on his great campaign.

On the 22nd November there is an entry
in Sir Joseph’s diary—“a rumour came from
Ferozepore that the Sikhs were preparing to cross
the Sutlej in force”; and on the following day—
“Dr. Graham writes to Nuttall from Ferozepore
that the Sikhs are assembling 60,000 men opposite
the ghauts to cross the Sutlej, that they have
20,000 men at Kussoor and 20,000 more within
20 miles of that place.” By this time Sir Joseph
had probably had a hint that it might be as well
to be ready, for on the 26th we find that he “went
camel-hunting,” and on the 16th December there
is an entry—“got a letter last night from -
Colonel Gough informing me that T had a chance
of being posted to the command of the cavalry.”

In the meantime rumour had as usual been busy.

! Keene,
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“ Got letters,” he writes, from Colonels Scott
and Cureton, and Major Balders; the two first
certain that we must have war, and the last that
the Governor-General will not cross the Sutlej if
he can possibly help it. The Governor-General
left for Patiala, as said by the latter, on the 6th,
and the Commander-in-Chief was.to follow in a
day or two.”

Intelligence came that the army had made a
forward movement from Umballa towards Sirhind,
and that the troops were closing up from and upon
Meerut ; and finally on the 17th we read: * Re-
ceived the order to join the Headquarters as
soon as possible.”

On the 20th December he wrote to Lady
Thackwell from Cawnpore :

“Plots have ripened since I last wrote, and
the dénouement you will possibly get by the next
mail, if they should not break forth by this. The
reports on the morning of the 18th were that
the Sikh army had crossed the Sutlej and meant to
attack Ferozepore, into the miserable fort of which
g}ace all the ladies had taken refuge. Sir Henry

ardinge had been unwilling to believe that the
Sikhs were in earnest, and has in consequence
delayed to form and brigade the army until the
enelgy were over the river, and he has incurred
every chance of defeat in detail, and will probably
not be able to bring 10,000 men into the field
against very likely six times that number. On the
17th I was dihing with Dick, when at nearly
‘11 at night we both got an order to join
Headquerters as expeditiously as possible, and I
laid my ddk that night for 10 o’clock this morning
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and shall hope to reach Umballa by the morning
of the 25th—400 miles—and must no doubt
afterwards ride to reach Headquarters, if 1 am
able to do so without an escort. Sir Henry
has issued a manifesto declaring all the Sikh States
on this side of the Sutlej to have lapsed to the
Company, and we have a report that the Ferozepore
troops have driven the Sikﬁs over the Sutlej; but
this wants better authority.”

General Thackwell set out by ddk on the 20th,
and while on his journey, on the 29th at Busseean, .
he—

“heard to-day positively 'that the Sikh army
had been defeated on the 21st, 22nd, and 28rd of
December with great loss, and had recrossed the
Sutlej, leaving behind them 180 guns. Our troops
are said to have suffered severely in men and
horses.”

(This was of course the battle of Ferozeshah.)

Writing home on the 80th December from
Wudnee, where he had overtaken a column under
Colonel Campbell of the 9th Lancers marching
to join the army, Sir Joseph says :

“I arrived at this place this morning, about fifty
miles from Ferozepore, which place 1 hope to
reach in two marches, or to reach Headquarters if
it be towards the Hurriki Ghat on the Sutlej:
With all our haste from Cawnpore, Roche and I
have been most unlucky, for a fight took place on
the 21st, 22nd, and 28rd of December, and the
Sikh army has recrossed the Sutlej with great loss,
leaving behind them 130 pieces of artillery or
more. As I told you in my letter from Cawnpore,
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the Sikh army of more than 60,000 men would
have to be fought by ours not numbering more
than ten or twelve thousand, and our loss in con-
sequence has been severe. It is said the Sikhs
have made overtures for peace, but nothing will
now satisfy the Governor-General but the sur-
render of Lahore and the disbanding of the Sikh
army, 1 imagine; and therefore we shall have
another fight on more equal terms, as nearl
10,000 men are now closing up, and I shall have
a fine body of -cavalry. e have had no
_despatches from Headquarters until this morning,
“as everything was stopped by the Sikh garrison in
the fort here, which surrendered at discretion two
hours ago.”

“1st January 1846.—Marched at half-past 9,
and in two miles’ distance came upon the ground
on which the battle with the enemy’s advance
guard took place on the 18th December, in which
they were driven back, and 15 of their guns
taken—mostly field-guns. In about two miles
more came to the village of Lohana, where there
had been some fighting—and in three miles more
came to the village of Ferozeshah, where the main
battle with the Sikhs took place on the 21st and
22nd. The Sikh army was formed in an oblong
round the village, and consisted, it is said, of about
60,000 men, and they had more than 120 pieces
of cannon, nearly the whole of which was of large
calibre—12 and 18-pounders with a few 24-
pounders. Continued my march on to Sultankhan-
wala from Moodkee—12} miles—and on to the
Headquarters camp near Malawala, 18 miles from
Ferozepore up the left bank of the Sutlej, and
about 16 miles from the last-named stage—total
this day, 22} miles. Waited upon Sir Hugh Gough,
the Commander-in-Chief, who seemed delighted to
see me and said the 8rd Light Dragoons had
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behaved nobly, that he had never seen such gallant
fellows.”

He wrote home on arrival at Headquarters
Camp, 18 miles from Ferozepore up the Sutlej :

“2nd January 1846.—I reached this place
yesterday, and surprised everybody with the
rapidity of my journey from Cawng)re through
latterly a disaffected country. Sir Hugh Gough
received me in the most gracious manner,
and was much pleased at my joining so soon.
He told me the noble bravery of the Third,:
surpassed everything he had witnessed, in charging’
heavy batteries and cavalry, and everybody says
they gained the battle by their noble daring ; but
their loss has been severe. We have large rein-
forcements coming up. 1 hope everything will go
on well if there is any more fighting; but most
people think the Sikhs have had enough of it, and
will not attempt to come over the river again, and
I fear we have not the means of attacking Lahore
this season.”

On the 6th January the 9th Lancers, 8rd Light
Cavalry, and 4th Irregular Cavalry, with three
troops of horse artillery, marched into camp,
when the mounted force under command of Sir
Joseph Thackwell was thus composed :

1st Brigade. 2nd Brigade.
Brigadier T. Scott, C.B. Brigadier A. M. Camp-
8rd Light Dragoons. . bell, CB.K.H. .-

4th Light Cavalry. 9th Lancers. '

5th Light Cavalry. 11th Light Cavalry.

9th Irregular Cavalry.  2nd Irregular Cavalry.
8th Irregular Cavalry.
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- 8rd Brigade. 4th Brigade.
Brigadier C. R. Cureton, Brigadier D. Harriott.!
C.B. 1st Light Cavalry,
16th Lancers. 8th Light Cavalry.

Gov.-Gen.’s Bodyguard. 8rd Irregular Cavalry.
8rd Light Cavalry.
4th Irregular Cavalry.

There were also eleven troops of Horse Artillery.

Lieutenant Edmund Roche (8rd Light Dragoons)
had again joined the staff’ of the commander of
the Cavalry Division as aide-de-camp, but had
almost at once been appointed to officiate as
D.A.Q.M.-General vice Captain C. ¥. Havelock,
(9th Foot), wounded at Ferozeshah, Lieutenant
Roche’s place as A..C. being taken by Lieutenant
T. J. Francis (9th Lancers). The D.A.A.-General,
Cavalry Division, was Captain J. Tritton (8rd Light
Dragoons), who had' already had a horse killed
under him at Ferozeshah.

To the north-east of Ferozepore the Sutlej makes
a turn to the west, and in this bend there were
five places where the river might be crossed: (1)
at Ferozepore itself, where the main road passing
the stream leads on to Kussoor and Lahore; (2) a
ford at Nuggar; (3) another at Tilleewala; (4)
opposite Sobraon, where the Sikhs had thrown
across a bridge of boats covered by a téte-de-pont ;
and (5) a ford at Hurriki in the angle where the

! This arrangement of the brigades appears under date of the
1st January in General Thackwell'’s diary, but ‘Brigadier Harriott
had been wounded at Ferozeshah, and the 4th Brigade seems to have
ceased to exist ag a unit, though its components still formed part of
the army.
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Sutlej, having again turned southward, is joined
by the waters of the Beas.

On the 12th January the whole force shifted its
ground to the right in order more closely to ob-
serve the movements of the Sikh force posted on
the right bank in the vicinity of Sobraon. The
Headquarters camp shifted to Bootewala, the
headquarters of the Cavalry Division with Brigadier
Scott’s brigade moving to Malawala in rear; Sir
Harry Smith’s Division, with Cureton’s cavalry
brigade, was placed on the extreme right opposite
Hurriki ; Major-General Gilbert was in the centre
with Sir Robert Dick’s division and Campbell’s
cavalry on his immediate left-—the whole opposite
the bridge of boats at Sobraon ; Sir John Grey,
posted at Attaree, watched the Nuggar ford ; and
Sir John Littler’s troops occupicd the cantonment
and entrenchment at Ferozepore.

“ Wednesday, 14th.—The Sikhs came over in
force, having established a kind of téte-de-pont
for the protection of their bridge, defende by
their heavy guns on the other side of the river.
The Commander-in-Chief had two divisions of
infantry and some cavalry out ; they fired a good
deal at us with light guns, but all their shots fell
short, and we only replied with two 8-inch howitzers,
but intended to reply with a 24-pounder, which
however burst, but without injury to any save one
man. But little if any loss was sustained on either
side, and soon after 4 p.m. the Sikhs withdrew
their guns to the other side of the river.”

On the 15th January Sir Joseph wrote to Lady
Thackwell :
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“ The Sikh army is on the other side of the
Sutlej, and we are watching the fords on it and
their bridge, which is about four miles in our front.
They defend it with such heavy batteries on the
other side of the river, that it is rather more difficult
for us to get to them than for their army to attack
us. If they should do so they will suffer for it,
but I do not think they will venture on such a
step. We are glad to gain time for our heavy
cannon, reinforcements, and commissariat supplies
and carriages to come up, and I believe we shall
get troops from Bombay and Madras to supply the
stations where they have been withdrawn, and of
course fresh regiments will be sent out from
England to supply their placcs. Our Court of
Directors’ eyes will be now opened to a just
estimate of the formidable power of the Sikhs, and
to the necessity of at least 10,000 Europeans in
addition to our present numbers, for the safety of
this Empire depends on the dispersion of the Sikh
army, whether it can be done this season or the
next. If our means are adequate we have a hot
summer campaign before us, but perhaps not hotter
than that Edmund and myself weathered in
Afghanistan.”

In the meantime it had been reported that a
force of Sikhs of all arms had crossed the upper
waters of the Sutlej at Phillour, with the intention
not only of threatening Ludhiana—then held by
three battalions of native infantry under Brigadier
Godby—hut of striking at the British line of com-
munications near Busseean. Sir Harry Smith’s
division, with Cureton’s cavalry brigade, was
detached from the main army on the 18th to sub-
due a small fort held by Sikh mercenaries at
Dhurmkote, which was halfway between Ferozepore
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and Ludhiana, and he was now directed to march
on the latter place——-a movement which led to the
victorious action of Aliwal oh the 28th, where the
cavalry,! and in particular the Sixteenth Lancers,
greatly distinguished themselves.

On the 81st January Cureton wrote to Sir
Joseph :

“I wrote an ‘official * to Tucker to let you know
that we had an action on the 20th, and I then fully
intended to have written a private letter to you,
but every moment of my time has been occupied
with public duty. Pattinson, who knew my
anxiety, promised he would write you all Ipa.rticu-
lars, and [ hope he has done so. It will, I know,
be most gratifying to you to know that the
cavalry behaved extremely well, the 16th Lancers
and 8rd Light Cavalry suffered severely, but
fully effected their object ; but the despatch which
has, I hear, been furnished to Headquarters will, 1
have no doubt, give full particulars. I do not
think the Sikhs will be much inclined to face the
British in the open again—whenever they do the
result will be the same. ' Smyth of the Sixteenth is
shot through the thigh, but doing well; Fyler has
a similar wound but more serious; Orme is-
wounded in two or three places and considered in
danger ; Bere, Pattle, and Morris were all wounded
in the face, but not seriously. The 50th Foot
have suffered a good deal, and had eight officers
killed and wounded ; the loss, however, on the whole
is not heavy, considering the force engaged. The
river at this place is shallow, and easily crossed by
the villages, but the fords appear very intricate,
and I have no doubt great numbers of the enemy

! Careton had under him at Aliwal the lst and the 5th Light
Cavalry and the 8th Irregular Cavalry, besides his own—the 3rd

Brigade.
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were drowned in crossing, as they had to rush
headlong in without reference to.a ford. We have
taken a beautiful park of artillery from them,
mostly heavy metaf but you will probably have
seen the return of captured ordnance before you
get this. I suppose the guns will be sent to
Ludhiana; I fancy old Ranjit's guns will soon
be exhausted if we take fifty or sixty in every
battle. Poor Swettenham’s loss is much felt in
the regiment ; he was a universal favourite. I do
not think you had ever seen Williams, another officer
who fell ; the latter came out with me in July.”

The immediate result of this successful action
was the evacuation by the Sikhs of all the forts
they had hitherto held on the left bank of the
Sutlej, with the exception of the entrenchment at
Sobraon ; and Sir Hugh Gough now only waited to
attack the enemy in this position until the troops
under Sir Harry Smith should have rcjoined the
main army, and the siege train and ammunition
should have arrived from Delhi,

“28rd.—A good deal of firing at the outposts
to-day—the enemy showing a good many sowars
—and my red jacket seemed very attractive to
them, as I could not show myself without having
lots of bullets whizzing near me. Had some talk
with Prince Waldemar of Prussia.” .

“ 24th.—The 5th Cavalry marched to Dhurmkote,
and Brigadicr Scott was directed to bring his head-
quarters to this camp. The Sikh sowars made a
forward rush upon the picquets at Sobraon, and it
was imagined from the reports of the orderlies that
it was an advance by the Sikh army—however, it
turned out to be only a few sowars, who were driven
back by the picquets of the 2nd Irregular Cavalry.”
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“ 27th.—The Sikhs occupied the watch tower at
Sobraon last night, and the cavalry picquets of
course fell back.  There has been a good deal of
skirmishing to-day, but no results of consequence.
Yesterday a sowar of the 9th Irregulars was killed
and another was wounded. Waited on the Com-
mander-in-Chief and got his orders for the attack
to-morrow morning, but it was countermanded at
10 o'clock p.m.”

“28th.—Soon after 10 am. I heard a heavy
cannonade near Ludhiana, supposed to be a fight
between Sir Harry Smith and Ranjur Singh,
and soon after 8 the picquet at Aleewala was
driven in by the Sikh cavalry and infantry, on
hearing which I sent a squadron of the 8rd Light
Dragoons to its support and soon after marched
with the remainder of the Third, followed by a
troop of Horse Artillery and two battalions of
infantry ; but at Asyah heard that Captain Beecher
had recovered the post, killing some sixteen or
twenty of the enemy, being supported by the
squadron of the Third. 1 halted all my troops
where the order found them.

“ Examined al! the ground to the river, and saw
about a thousand Sikh sowars, and perhaps many
more and infantry were concealed in the jungle.
When most of these had retired within their lines,
I'sent the troops to camp except the squadron of
the 8rd Light Dragoons at Aleewala—three-
quarters of a mile in front of which were still about
400 sowars with some camel swivels, but when
these retired the squadron was ordered back to
camp.”

“29th.—At 7 a.m. I walked to the Sobraon
picquets, and when I returned found the line
turned out to fire a salute of 21 guns, with three
cheers by the men, for Sir Harry Smith’s victo
yesterday near Ludhiana. 'The substance of whic
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was that Runjur Singh and the Sikh army had
advanced to attack him, when, after an action of
one hour and twenty-five minutes, the Sikh army
was totally defeated with the loss of all their
artillery (50 guns) and baggage, and had been
driven across the Sutlej. Soon aen horseback, and
went down the line with the Governor-General
and the Commander-in-Chief.”

“B80th.—Visited the front picquets soon after
7 am., and from the clouds of dust, noise of
carriage wheels, and swivel detonations, and the
opinions "of the outposts came to the conclusion
that the main body of the Sikh army was retiring,
but I am not certain that this conjecture is correct.
The Commander-in-Chief imagined we should be
attacked to-day, but I never thought so.”

“81st.—The Sikhs quiet all day. The sowars
of the Sobraon picquet and the Sikh sowars in
friendly conversation at the posts of the vedettes.”

“6th February.—Major-General Smith’s force
came into camp on the right, where the 8rd Brigade
of Cavahg, with the exception of the 4th Irregulars,
is posted. The 4th and 5th Light Cavalry
Joined, and Lieutenant-Colonel Lane’s troop of
Horse Artillery joined Scott’s brigade, and the
2nd Brigade of Cavalry with Major Campbell’s
troop of artillery are posted to the left front of
Scott’s brigade. The 8th and 9th Irregulars are
near Kameelwala as before, and the 11th Light
Cavalry have not yet joined this brigade. The
Commander-in-Chief and many of the Head-
quarter camp went out to meet the Aliwal
Division.”

On the afternoon of the 9th February all
Generals of Division, Brigadiers, and Heads of

Departments were summoned to the tent of the
Commander-in-Chief to hear the proposed arrange-
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ments for the next day’s battle. Sir Hugh Gough
explained that the strongly fortified position of
the Sikhs was to be attacked at daylight, and gave
the following detailed orders: the main attack was
to be madé on the left, by the Third Division
under Sir Robert Dick, supported by the fire of
thirteen heavy guns ; this division was to be drawn
up in two lines with a reserve, and, having three
brigades, it was stronger than the First and Second
Divisions, which contained only two brigades each,
while the 7th Brigade, which was to head the
attack, was to be strengthened by the attachment
of the 58rd Féot from General Grey’s division.
In rear of Dick’s division was the 1st Cavalry
Brigade (with which was the Cavalry Divisional
Headquarters) with three regiments of native
infantry—one of these also detached from Grey.
'The Second Division under Major-General Gilbert
was to be in the centre, “deployed for support or
attack,” with a battery of heavy guns on either
flank. Sir Harry Smith with the First Division—
much weakened by its losses at Aliwal—was to
attack on the right, supported by the 2nd Brigade
of Cavalry. The 8rd Cavalry Brigade under
Brigadier Cureton was directed to move towards the
ford at Hurriki, and, by feigned attempts to cross,
to divert the enemy’s attention, and occupy the
Sikh cavalry posted opposite Hurriki on the right
bank. Major-General Sir John Grey, with the
8th Light Cavalry and three regiments of native
infantry, watched the Nuggar ford opposite At-
taree.

Sir Joseph Thackwell’s diary gives the following
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account of the action of the cavalry under his
immediate command :

“ Thursday, 19th February.—A lovely day at
half-past 4. The troops turned out and got into
positien at daylight, the heavy guns began to
vomit fire and continued to do so until after 10 a.m.,
when the infantry, light guns, and cavalry moved
to attack the strong position of the Sikh army at
Sobraon ; and in less than an hour after this th
entire camp was in our possession and the remair£
of the Sikh army were all on the right bank of the
river, leaving in their entrenched camp all their
guns and nearly 10,000 men killed, wounded, and

rowned. The cavalry were under a heavy fire
in supporting the infantry, and I led two squadrons
of the 8rd Light Dragoons, the 4th and 5th Light
Cavalry into the enemy’s eamp in single file, and
several charges on the enemy were led by me.
Many of the Sikhs are very brave and defended
themselves manfully. At the time that Scott’s
brigade took ground to the right to support the
Second Division I was in front and about to move
part of the cavalry to support the Third Division,
which had carried the entrenchments on our left ;
I therefore left the 9th Irregular Cavalry—the 8th
being already on the left—for that object. On
passing at a trot beyond the watch-tower I met the
Governor-General, who said, * When vou get into
the entrenchment don't spare them.’ "I"he Sirmoor
battalion on the left of the Second Division was
retiring, buf when they saw the Third ride to the
trenches they rallied and passed between the horses
into the entrenchments. When the Third got
about 120 yards from the Sikh right, I rode forward
and discovered a place where we could get into the
entrenchments in single file—about sixty yards
from the Sikh right and 150 from the flanking
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battery-—and as I brought the Third up, the enemy
began gradually to give way on their right. 1 was
the first cavalryman who entered over the ditch
and up the paraEet in rear of the right regiment ;
and as soon as the first squadron was formed, I led
the charge over very broken ground to near the
ford. It was obliged to give way before the mass
of retreating Sikhs, but it rallied, and when the
second squadron was formed, another charge was
made, but the same reasons obliged the squadrons
to give way. At this time the 4th and 5th Cavalry,
and, I believe, the other two squadrons of the 8rd
Light Dragoons—under Brigadier Scott, who had
entered the entrenchments further to the Sikh right
—came up and several charges took place, and the
ford was filled with the Sikhs, many of whom were
drowned or slaughtered by our artillery and
musketry fire. Owing to these cavalry attacks the
First and Second Divisions were enabled to enter
the lines with but little loss. The first squadron
of the Third suffered from our own artillery fire
until Smith discovered we were not Sikhs. The
9th and 8th Irregulars were left in support, the
latter regiment being in support of the f)eft from
the beginning of the action. The two left
squadrons of the Third were to support the
regiment ordered into the entrenchments.”

In a private letter home describing the battle
Sir Joseph writes :

“1t is due to the Sikhs to say that they fought
bravely, for though defeated and broken, they
never ran, but fought with their tulwars to the last,
and I witnessed several acts of great bravery in
some of their Sirdars and men. It was a most
beautiful sight to see the advance of the Third
Division ef Infantry, or rather of two of its brigades

14
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(six regiments), after the heavy guns had been
at work for two hours, supported by the fire of
18 field guns and the 1st Brigade of Cavalry.
Everybody moved as at a field day, though numbers
were falling from the enemy’s round shot, grape,
camel swivels, and musketry ;: no dust obscured
the view over the plain, and the wounded men were
seen dotting it in great numbers as they went to
the rear.- The left brigade carried the entrench-
ments first, then the second brigade, and these made
but. slow progress, when the Second Division was
ordered to attack, but was repulsed. At this time
the regiment on our right, clearing the ramparts,
was brought to a stand by the determined bravery
of the Sikhs, when I led two squadrons of the
8rd Light Dragoons down to the ditch of the
rampart and along the glacis under a heavy fire
of grape from 8 guns in a flanking battery at 150
yards—most of the shot going over us—to within
about 60 yards of the Sikh right, which began
to give way and enabled the battalion near us
in the entrenchments to make progress. 1 then
found a bund in the ditch, over wEich I led the
first squadron in single file and over the parapet into
the entrenchment and camp.  When the squadron
was formed, it made a gallant charge nearly to
the ford, but was obliged to give way by the
pressure of the mass of the retreating Sikhs, and
to ascend the high bank it had before with some
difficulty descended. T.uckily for me my horse
was not hit, or T should not have lived to have
told the tale. By this time the second squadron
had come up, and, both advancing, made a
successful charge down to the ford, the whole
breadth of which—and T may say the river half
a mile over—was filled with the discomfited enemy.
The heavy masses of the retreating Sikh left
obliged the two squadrons to retire, but our
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diversion enabled the First Division to carry the
left entrenchments, and the light cavalry having
at length come up, charged the retreating masses,
and the last of the Sikh army was driven into the
river and cannonaded by our light guns.”

In the records of the 8rd Light Dragoons we
read that—

“in the heat of the infantry attack on the enemy’s
right, and at a moment when a partial check
had taken place at this point, Major-General Sir
Joseph  Thackwell, commanding the Cavalry
Division, advanced the 38rd Light Dragoons to
the foot of the defences in support of the infantry.
The ‘ King’s Own * were here halted under a heavy
fire of round shot and grape, whilst an opening
was being made by our Sappers, through “which
the Dragoons passed in single file, and on the
enemy’s side of these works the squadrons were
re-formed. The infantry bugles now sounded the
‘cease firing,’ and the 3rd Light Dragoons, led b
their veteran commanders Sir Joseph Thackweﬁ
and Lieutenant-Colonel  Michael White, dashed
headlong into the thickest of the enemy’s masses,
and were for a time in the very centre of upwards
of 80,000 resolute warriors who were determined
to die rather than yield.”

In the account of the battle by the son of the
Governor-General, the second Viscount Hardinge
writes :

“ At this crisis "—the temporary check on both
flanks of the infantry divisions assaulting the
entrenchments— the cavalry were ordered up
under Sir Joseph Thackwell, who rode with his
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squadrons in single file- through an opening in
the entrenchment. It seemed as if they were
doomed to destruction. Many fell in the ranks
when within the camp. But the 8rd Light -
Dragoons, showing the same invincible bravery as
on the night of the 21st of December, quickly
re-formed and charged the serried ranks of the
Sikh infantry.”

In Sir Hugh Gough’s despatch he says:

“The Sikhs, even when at particular points
their entrenchments were mastered with the
bayonet, strove to regain them by the fiercest
conflict-—sword in hand. Nor was it until the
cavalry of the left, under Major-General Sir
Joseph Thackwell, had moved forward and ridden
through the openings in the entrenchments made
by our Sappers, in single file, and re-formed as
they passed them ; and the 3rd Dragoons, whom
no obstacle usually held formidab%e by horse
appears to check, had on this day, as at
Ferozeshah, galloped over and cut down the
obstinate defenders of batteries and field works,
and until the full weight of three divisions of
infantry, with every field artillery gun which could
be sent to their aid, had been cast into the scale,
that victory finally declared for the British. Major-
General Sir Joseph Thackwell has established a
claim on this day to the rare commendation
of having achieved much with a cavalry force,
where the duty to be done consisted of an attack
on field works, usually supposed to be the particular
province of infantry and artillery. His vigilance
and activity throughout our operations, and the
superior manner in which our outpost duties have
been carried on under his superintendence, demand
my warmest acknowledgments.”
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Writing home on the' 26th March, by which
date Sir Hugh Gough’s despatch on the battle
of Sobraon had been published, Sir Joseph
says :

“ On the 15th inst. Sir John Grey left Lahore
for his command at Meerut. He is disappointed
at the Governor-General not having mentioned
his name as commanding the troops which first
crossed the Sutlej, and I feel nearly as much, as
he has not particularised me, who did more than
Smith or Gilbert, for it was my attack which
enabled those two divisions to get into the Sikh
entrenchments from which Gilbert’s division, as
well as Smith's, had been driven back twice with
great loss; and lest there should be a garbled
account in the papers as emanating from the
Commander-in-Chief, T will transcribe what he has
announced to the Governor-General, and published
to the army respecting myself. But it seems he
was not aware that T was the person, under a
heavy fire within 60 yards of the Sikh right, and
a flanking battery at 150 yards firing grape shot,
who found a dam across the ditch which enabled
me first, and two squadrons of the 8rd Light
Dragoons in single ﬁ(ie afterwards, to enter the
camp and make several successful charges. When
I led the cavalry down to the trenches, the left
battalion of Gilbert’s was retiring, and the right
regiment of ours within the trenches was brought
to a standstill; but as I rode along the outside
of the ditch the Sikh right began to give way,
and that battalion was enabled to make progress,
and the Sirmoor battalion of Gilbert’s was able
to enter the camp under our protection. It was
a miracle we were not properly riddled, but from
the constant fire the trails of the guns had so
sunk in the sand that the gunners could not depress
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the muzzles sufficiently, and therefore most of the
grape went over our heads.”” (Then follows an
extract from Sir Hugh’s despatch.) “The
Commander-in-Chief in taking leave of the 8rd
Light Dragoons paid me some high eulogiums.
There were no Sappers whatever employed to
make a way, but the Sikhs had left dams at
intervals across the ditch for their own convenience,”

And finally, here is an extract from a letter
written some few years later to Sir Joseph by
Sir Harry Smith, then commanding at the Cape :

“I think I see you at this moment, with your
one arm, riding into the trenches at Sobraon”; and
again, “shoving in your unwinged shoulder into
the gap at Sobraon—the most gallant ‘go’ of
You and the 8rd Dragoons I ever witnessed.”

,“There can be no doubt that Major-General
. 'Sir Joseph Thackwell greatly felt—not so much
for himself personally, but as commander of the
Cavalry Division which under him had done so
much to secure and complete the victory of
Sobraon—the total omission of all thanks to him-
self in Lord Hardinge’s General Order of the
14th February., KEach one of the three general
officers commanding infantry divisions were
specially named therein, and their services, and those
of their commands, particularly eulogised; but
there was no special recognition of the importance
of the action of the cavalry, or of the unusual
circumstances of its most opportune employment
under the personal leadership of its commander.
Sir Joseph addressed Lord Gough on the
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19th March, asking that the omission might be
made good. On this letter being forwarded to
the Governor-General, Lord Hardinge replied as
follows in a memorandum dated 28rd April, from
which it is very evident that His Excellency
had missed the whole point of Sir Joseph
Thackwell’s appeal—which was not for a recogni-
tion of his own personal acts, greatly as they
had contributed to the successful issue of the
battle, but that the Cavalry Division, through its
commander, should receive, equally with the
Major-Generals commanding divisions of the other
arms, the recognition and approbation of the first
authority in India.

“1 have received Major-General Sir Joseph-
Thackwell’s letter of the 18th March, addressed
to the Adjutant-General of the Army, which I
only saw a few days ago, representing that in the'
Governor-General’s order of the 14th February no
mention is made of the charges of Cavalry in the
Sikh entrenchment camp, exceﬂt the praise be-
stowed on Her Majesty’s 8rd Light Dragoons.

“The Governor-General does not see the Divi-
sional reports made by the General Officers to the
Commander-in-Chief.

“ On referring to the Commander-in-Chief’s des-
patch, it is stated that the Cavalry of the left,
under Major-General Sir J. Thackwell, moved
forward and rode through the olpenings in the
entrenchments and that the 8rd I.ight Dragoons
had on that day, as at Ferozeshah, galloped over
and cut down the obstinate defenders of Batteries
and Field Works,

“I saw the bodies of the soldiers of the 8rd
Light Dragoons who had been killed within the
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Enemy’s camp. I saw no other cavalry soldier
killed ; and in reference to the lists of the killed and
wounded it appears that no other cavalry soldier
under the immediate command of the Major-
General was killed.

“ Her Majesty’s 8rd Light Dragoons lost 5 men
killed, 4 officers wounded and 22 men wounded.

“In the whole of the other regiments on our
left, not a single officer or man was killed, 15 men
were wounded.

“ In the Commander-in-Chief’s despatch the only
regiment of cavalry named was the 8rd Light
Dragoons.

«1 think His Excellency was quite right. I
only mentioned the 3rd Light, Dragoons, as His
Excellency had done.

“ 1t nowhere appears in the Commander-in-
Chief’s despatch that the two squadrons of that
noble regiment, the 8rd Light Dragoons, were led
to the charge by the Major-General Commanding
the whole of the Cavalry of the Army.

“1 have no doubt of the fact, since I have
perused the Major-General’s letter, but how was
I tobeé aware of it ? _

«] knew the Commanding Officer of that Regi-
ment was in the Field and commanding: his .own
Regiment, and I naturally inferred that ke and
not the Mgjor-General didy lead the two squadrons,
and T conceived, when a Regiment is named by
the Commander-in-Chief as having distinguished
itself, that the merit is due to the Commanding
Officer, when no other Officer is named by the
Commander-in-Chief. S

“ Unless any disorder should arise, or reluctance
be shown, requiring a General Officer’s interference,
surely it is fair to give to the Commanding
Officer the .credit of having commanded his own
regiment.
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“1I praised the only Regiment of Cavalry named
by the Commander-in-Chief; and according to the
custom of the Service, I mentioned the Lieutenant-
Colonel in command of the Regiment, and not the
Major-General. In the previous General Order by
the Governor-General of the 2nd February, after
the battle of Aliwal, I specially thanked the Cavalry
who, from the nature of the ground, took a larger
share in that battle, and I stated that the ¢ Native
Cavalry had on every occasion proved its superior
gowers, whether in the General Actions which have

een fought, or in the various skirmishes at the
Outposts, such as that in which Captain Beecher
was gallantly engaged with a small party of the
Irregular Cavalry at Aleewala, on the morning of
the 27th January.’

“ As regards the Cavalry generally, I am not
aware of any omission which requires me to issue,
towards the end of April, a supplementary order
to inform the Army why I had praised the 8rd
Light Dragoons and neglected to praise the Regi-
ments or individuals of that arm.

“ My own opinion is, that the practice of loading
the General Orders with praises of every Depart-
ment and everybody is an erroneous system. The
thanks of the high authorities empowered by the
Sovereign and the East India Company to convey
these thanks to the Army, by publishing them for
general information, must lose their value if they
are %iven with profusion, or without discrimination,

“It is still more undesirable that Military Men
should constitute themselves to be Judges df the -
degree in which they may be entitled to be praised.

“An officer possessing a reputation so well
earned as Major-General Sir J. Thackwell’s would
be the last person to encourage an inconvenient'
system ; and as he must know the éstimation in
which he is so deservedly held, I am confident on
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reflection he will come to the conclusion that no
supplementary order is required from me, and at
any rate that it is not my intention to issue one.”

It is open to question, however, whether history
has ever done sufficient justice to Sir Joseph
Thackwell’s timely intervention in the fight. Our
artillery, having expended all their ammunition, had
ceased firing ; our infantry had already twice been
repulsed on either flank ; when the quick eye and
ready hand of the cavalry commander enabled
him at the right moment to throw a new weapon
into the scale and restore the balance of the hard-
fought battle.



CHAPTER XIII

AT 8 o'clock on the morning after the battle, Sir
Joseph Thackwell, with the 1st and part of the 2nd
Cavalry Brigade, moved down to Attaree, where a
bridge of boats was to be thrown over the Sutlej,
preparatory to the army crossing the rivér, and on
the 12th Sir Joseph wrote home :

“We cross the Sutlej either to-night or to-
morrow morning, and in three or four days’ time we
hope to be at Lahore. The natives say that every-
thing is over, as many of the Khalsa troops have

one to their homes. My poor old friend Sir Robert
ick got his death-wound in storming the right
batteries, and died in the evening.”

It was not, however, until the morning of the
18th that the cavalry division was able to cross over
to the right bank and move on to Kussoor, where a
position was taken up on the Lahore side of the
town.

“ We arrived here,” writes Sir Joseph to Lady
Thackwell on the 26th from Lahore, “ without any
opposition, on the 20th inst. The Sikh army had
suffered so much in the battle of the 19th that they
became quite dispirited, and it was pretty clear that

219
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no more fighting would take place. They said
if they could not defend themselves in~ their
entrenched camp, it would be in vain to try again
when nearly all their guns had been taken, and they
had lost many of their Sirdars and considerably
more than 10,000 of their men in the last encounter.
Gulab Singh had sent valkeels to sue for peace before
that event, but said he was not strong enough to
contend with the Khalsa army and that no treaty
could be effected as long as their supremacy lasted.
That was decided on the 10th in the battlefield,
and it was clear the disbanding of the Sikh army
would be the consequence. On th& 18th two
brigades of cavalry, Feadquarters, and the First
Division of Infantry reached Kussoor, the fort there
having previously surrendered ; and on the morrow,
or rather the day after, Gulab Singh came into
camp and the terms of peace offered by the
Governor-General were gladly accepted by him,
who had expected nothing less than the appropri-
ation of the Punjab to ourselves. On the 17th he
again came to Kussoor, and the army marched to
Lullianee on the 18th, at which place Dhuleep
Singh, the Maharaja, came to the Governor-
General’'s durbar and remained in his camp until the
20th—until we had taken up our position before
Lahore ; and at 4 p.m. a troop of artillery and four
regiments of cavalry escorted him to his palace in
the fort. . , . We expect, if nothing unforeseen
should occur, to break-up about the 10th March, and
I shall hope to be at Umballa before the end of the
month and at Cawnpore by the 10th April, which is,
I believe, to be.my divisional command. If there
sheuld be a brevet, taking Grey in, I shall probably
obtain a permanent command —if the brevet does
not include him, Smith will most likely get Dick’s,
and I may be sent to another Presidency if I am to
be .employed.. But if there is to be no brevet this
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year and a Major-General is sent out to replace
Dick, I shall procure leave of absence and start
for Bombay in November or the beginning of
December next.”

The remains of the Sikh army were still, how-
ever, in the field and a source of some anxiety, for
on the 28th February there is an entry in Sir
Joseph’s diary :

“ Major Lawrence was alarmed last night by the
approach of the Sikh army with their two-and-
twenty guns to within four coss of Lahore, and in
consequence the picquets were placed on the alert,
and a squadron per regiment was ordered to saddle
in addition to the inlying picquets.”

But it was not long before the Sikh battalions
were marched one by one into Lahore and there
disbanded, no men enlisted since the time of
Kurruk Singh being permitted to enter the new
army, which moreover had to serve at the same
rate of pay as in the days of Ranjit Singh, instead
of the double rates which had lately been demanded
from and paid by the l.ahore Government.

On the 4th March Sir Charles: Napier, who had
been moving up with a force from  Scinde to
co-operate with the army undér the Commander-in-
Chief, arrived in camp ; on the next day there was
a grand review of the army; and on the 9th a
great durbar was held in the state tent of (the
Governor-General, for the ratification and pro-
mulgation of the treaty which had been signed on
the previous day. On the 10th there was another
review, when Sir Joseph Thackwell was in command
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of nearly 8,500 horsemen, and at which he records
that “Raja Lal Singh was in a complete suit of
plate armour.” After the review was over he
attended the Governor-General at 8 p.m., and
with the Commander-in-chief, Prince Waldemar
of Prussia, Sir Charles Napier, and many others
went to the durbar of the Maharaja held in the
palace in the citadel.

... The Koh-i-nor diamond was shown—said to
be the largest known in the world ; many longing
eyes resteg upon it and I fear coveted the bauble.

he' Sikh soldiers looked well, both horse and foot,
and perhaps about 1,500 might have been drawn up.
They presented arms very well and their bands
played ‘ God save the Queen’ in good style. The
artillery fired the salute very regularly.”

Writing home under date of the 18th General
Thackwell says :

“ We have had lots of durbars and dinners and
the usual complimentary toasts and speeches, but,
thank God, they are now over and the Governor-
General left yesterday for Umritsar with the troops
ﬁoing to remain in the Doab. . . . As you might

ave expected, I am appointed to the Cawnpore

Division in the place of poor Dick, and }?ave
pocketed twelve months’ batta to the tune of
£4,752—not quite as good as the Koh-i-nor which
we saw at the durbar, but I fancy as good as the
sacking of Govindghur would have been, as 1
suspect there is but little treasure there.”

On the 22nd the camp broke up, the greater
part of the army returning to garrisons further
south, while Major-General Sir John Littler
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remained until the end of the year in Lahore with
a force amounting to some 9,000 men. By a special
clause of the treaty these troops were to remain in
Lahore “for the protection of the Maharaja and
his Government,” while the reduction of the Sikh
army—now restricted to 12,000 cavalry and twenty-
five battalions of infantry—was being carried out.
British brigades, organised as movable columns
ready to take the field, were also placed at
Jullundur and Ferozepore, while altogether some
50,000 men with 60 guns were cantoned at or above
Meerut, so that a large foree might be immediately
available in the event of further trouble in the
north-west.  Sir Joseph Thackwell himself left the
neighbourhood of Lahore on the 28rd with the
bulk of the army, and, marching by Umbslla and
Meerut, reached Cawnpore on the 21st April and
assumed command of the division.

He relates that on the 27th March on his way
towards l.udhiana he——

“went over our old camping-ground, and T paid
a visit to the field of Sobraon and witnessed a horrid
sight. The river line of the Sikh camp is about
2,750 yards, and the line of the entrenchments is
about 8,655 or perhaps more, and along its extent
were some Kuropeans still unburied, and between
2,000 and 8,000 Sikhs in a state of fearful decom-
position. . . . A poor Sikh horse with a broken leg
was still alive, a skeleton, but 1 caused the coup-de-
&grdce to be given him from a pistol.”

In the meantime people at home had not been
unmindful of the great services rendered by the
army in India. On the evening of the 2nd April
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the thanks of both Houses of Parliament were
offered to, among other officers—

« Major-General Sir Joseph Thackwell, Knight
Commander of the most Honourable Order of the
Bath, for the distinguished services rendered in the
emmently successful operations at the Battle of
Sobraon.”

On the same day a special General Court of the
Proprietors of Stock was held at the East India
House, where a votc of thanks was proposed and
unanimously adopted to the troops engaged in the
war of the Sutlej. At a Special Court of the
Court of Common Couneil of the City of London,
the thanks of the Court were awarded to the
officers, European and native—‘for the intrepidity,
perseverance, and discipline evinced by them.”
And finally the Mayor and Council of the
Borough of Liverpool passed a vote of thanks
expressing their sense of the services rendered by
the army of the Sutlej during the late operations,
and recording the name of Major-General Sir Joseph
Thackwell amongst those of other General Officers,
for that— :

“in the opinion of the Council the annals of
British valour, glorious as they are, have rarely
furnished more signal instances of true personal
bravery and devoted heroism than were so
genera{ly manifested both by officers and men on
these memorable occasions.’

In forwarding this last under cover of a letter
from himself the Governor-General wrote:
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“ It gives me the greatest satisfaction to convey
to you the approbation which is.felt by our fellow-
subjects in lgngland for your eminent services and
personal conduct during the late short but decisive

campaign.”

Sir Joseph Thackwell, who still, it will be re-
membered, was borne on the strength of the 8rd
Light Dragoons, was naturally very proud of their
gallant behaviour in the Sutlej campaign ; he had
written to Lord Charles Manners, the Colonel of
the regiment, giving him an account of the opera-
tions in which the 8rd had taken so conspicuious
a part, and in his reply Lord Charles says :

“ Your communication has filled me with pride
and exultation, but at the same time, I must assure
you, with sorfow and regret. 1t is indeed a proud
circumstanee to be connected with a regiment
composed of guch sterling stuff as the 8rd Dragoons,
but most deeply do I mourn and bewail the loss
of so many fine fellows.”

Major-General Thackwell’s hopes of obtaining a
divisional command were for the time to be dis-
appointed, for Sir Harry Smith was almost at
once given the charge of the Cawnpore Division
in place of Sir Robert Dick killed in action, and
Sir Joseph therefore reverted again to the coem-
mand only of the statlon. He had, however, great
hopes of soon obtaining promotion, his claims
having been urged at the Horse Guards by Lord
Hardinge, but he was anxious to get home for
a few months. Sir Harry Smith too was in bad
health and was torn between a desire to go home to

16
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England and .a wish, for ﬁnancial reasons, to re-
tain a lien on his command. ~ Some correspondence
passed between him and Sir Joseph Thackwell,
and it seems to have been ultimately arranged
by Sir Harry Smith with the authorities, that
Sir Joseph should officiate for him in command
of the Cawnpore Division during his absence in
Exgland, vacating it in favour of Sir Harry should
Sir ‘Joseph not in the meantime have been pro-
moted a substantive Major-General on the Indian
“establishment. Sir Joseph Thackwell, however,
started on his way to Bombay in January 1847,
having been fortunate in first seeing something
of his eldest son Edward, who had come out to
join the 8rd Light Dragoons, and travelling by
easy stages he arrived in due course at Bombay.
Here, however, he would appear to have received
advices that his promotion was imminent, while
Sir Harry Smith had also in the interim started
for England. Sir Joseph then cancelled his pass-
age home and went round by steamer to Calcutta,
where he arrived on the 6th May. Leaving that
city on the 2nd June for Allahabad on a flat
towed by a steamer, he found himself back
again in Cawnpore on the 27th of the same
month.

By a letter from Lord Fitzpoy Somerset, dated
the 28rd July 1847, Sir Joseph Thackwell was
“placed upon the staff' of the army serving in the
- East Indies during the absence on sick leave”
of Sir Harry Smith from the 1st’ May, and later—
on the 28rd September—the appointment was
confirmed, Sir Harry Smith having in the mean-
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time been appointed Governor and Coinmander-in-
Chief at the Cape.

For some time past there had been intolerable
maladministration in the Kingdom of Oudh, and
Lord Hardinge had arranged to proceed to Luck-
now in the autumn of this year to administer a
personal rebuke to the King, and to inform him
that, if oppression and misrule should continue to
prevail, the kingdom would be brought under
British rule—a threat already made in 1881 by
Lord William Bentinck and which was finally
carried out by Lord Hardinge’s immediate suc-
cessor. The Governor-General arrived at Cawn-
pore on the 6th November, and on the 10th the
King of Oudh, gorgeously apparelled—(* the value
of the King’s dress,” writes Sir Joseph in his diary,
“ was stated to be nine lakhs of rupees”)—arrived
to pay his respects. On the 12th the King re-
turned to Lucknow, and on the following day the
Governor-General marched thither accompanied
by Sir Joseph Thackwell, who had been invited
to attend. The vicinity of Lucknow was reached
on the 17th and the camp of the Governor-General
was pitched in the Dilkusha Bagh—the site of the
present cantonment—

“and all the Governor-General’s guests in full
dress mounted on elephants at 6.80 a.m. to visit
and breakfast with the King of Oudh. His
Majesty met the Governor-General at the bridge
over the Goomtee, or a branch of that river,’ a
mile and a half from the camp, and we continued
—a corfége of fifty or sixty elephants—along the

! Probably the Nasir-u-Din Haidar Canal.
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suburbs of the city, which are mean and wretched,
and, making a detour, entered the town and arrived
at the Motee Mahal soon after 9 a.m.—about 74 miles
from the camp—and immediately went to breakfast,

“ After this the King presented each lady and
gentleman with the usual tinsel neck ornament,
and we took our departure to a second breakfast
at the Resident’s—a fine large building with a
detached large Banqueting House, having a fine
saloon and a dining-room more than a hundred feet
long. The Governor-General and many of the
guests occupied the house; I and most of the
single men occupied tents in the compound, which
together with grounds and gardens are very pretty.”

“18th.—I went to the cantonments, about
2% miles from the iron bridge over the Goomtes,
which is deep and about 70 yards wide, * It
lies to the north-east of this bridge and is well
placed on a dry, sandy soil, but the exercise
ground is too limited. At 9 a,m. the King returned
the Governor-General’s visit, and the breakfast
was éxcellent—all the officers and ladies in the
statfon assisted at it, and about thirty of the Oudh
~Court, most of whom ate voraciously. A rich
" necklace and a gold and diamond ring were given
to the King, and the usual present of a silver
tinsel necklace was placed round his neck and
those of the young Princes and all his Sirdars.
When this ceremony was over th€ King took his
departure under the usual salute of 21 guns, but
his Minister was left behind with Mr. Elliot and
Colonel Richmond to arrange, I fancy, something
respecting the treaty which had been decided upon.
Went to the Dilkusha Bagh, a pretty palace of
the King’s near Constantia t%)e celebrated, built by
General Claude Martin, a Frenchman in the service
of the Nawab of Oudh.”

“19th.—At half-past 8, went with the Governor-
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General and a crowd in the King’s carriages
to see the aviary and menagerie. The tigers
were tremendous beasts ; many. fine sheep, ante-
lopes, hog-deer, birds of all sorts, and monkeys
were exhibited. Some fights of sheep, antelopes,
hog-deer, and a pair of partridges were amusing.
After this drove round the cantonment, which is
for three sepoy regiments and a company of
Gholandaze. Dined in the Banqueting House,
and about 140 guests sat down to dinner.”

“20th.—At 8 a.m. attended the Governor-General,
in all the pomp of elephants, guards, and guns,
to the Motee Mahal, the palace before mentioned,
where the display of wil(fbeast fights took place.
They were tame and uninteresting ; the rams did
not butt; the elephants did not push except in
pley ; the hog-deer and antelopes fought well
The display of horsemanship, and the art of defence
with sword, sword in two hands, with club and
mace was dexterous and amusing.”

Sir Joseph Thackwell left Lucknow on the same
day, and was back in Cawnpore by the 22nd,
preparatory to a move to Meerut, whither he had
been transferred, and where he arrived on the 29th
December, having halted en route at Agra and
Alighur to carry out inspections at these stations.
At this time the Meerut Division was one of the
most important in Upper India, and the station
itself contained a very large garrison: there were
three troops of horse artillery ; two field batteries ;
two companies of foot artillery; the 9th Lancers;
the 5th and 10th Light Cavalry; the 32nd and
98th Foot, and several regiments of native infantry,
of which the Ludhiana Regiment of Sikhs seems
greatly to have impressed Sir Joseph Thackwell.
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« Their manceuvring,” he says, * was admirable.
In the Grenadier Company was no man under
§ ft. 11 in., and the right-hand man (6 ft. 6 in.) was
a giant. One of the finest companies I ever saw.
A sergeant of the Bundelcund Legion was also a
noble-looking fellow of nearly equal height.”

Those who have seen the 15th Sikhs will admit
that the regiment is now much the same in
physique and appearance as when inspected in
January 1848 by Major-General Sir Joseph Thack-
well

Captain Campbell, who had been aide-de-camp to
Sir Joseph in Cawnpore, had now left, his place
being taken by Lieutenant Edward Thackwell,
8rd Light Dragoons, the General’s eldest son:
and on the 21st February Lady Thackwell
arrived from England, accompanied by her eldest
daughter Elizabeth.

Ere this Lord Hardinge had left India for
England, and had been succeeded as Governor-
~ General by Lord Dalhousie, but, prior to the

departure of the former, his conviction that the
late campaign had resulted in a permanent peace
led him to take the hazardous step of effecting
large reductions in the strength of the army in
India; and there seems some reason to helieve
that his desire for economy in the military expendi-
" ture—then urgently needed—may have coloured
. his sanguine forecast as to the maintenance of
peace. Since the year 1887—the last year of peace
-~the strength of the army in India had been
gradually increased by 120,000 men, and with the
close of the campaign on the Sutlej Lord Hardinge
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made up his mind to effect large reductions:in
the native army, while at the same time redis-
tributing the entire force so that the North-west
Frontier and the Punjab might, as far as possible,
be secured against any possible contingency. He
decided to reduce the rank and file of the native
army by 50,000 men by offering a bonus to every
man willing to take his discharge, and by antici-
pating the invalid retirements by twelve monthg;
and he was thus enabled rapidly to bring down
the establishments of all regiments of native
cavalry to 420 sabres, and those of native infantry
regiments to 800 bayonets. In the artillery the
‘number of horses per battery was reduced from
180 to 90. 'The actusl number of regiments of
native cavalry was at the same time increased
by eight. In acknowledging the receipt of the
memorandum embodying these proposals, the
Commander-in-Chief wrote :

“1 deeply regret the financial difficulties, and
the consequent reductions rendered indispensable
thereby, particularly until time shall have tested
the feelings which the late arrangements with the
Lahore Durbar may produce.”

He pointed out at the same time that the pro-
posed reduction in the establishment of native.
infantry regiments was really larger than was
apparent, since the mbjority of the corps on the-
frontier were considerably over strength; he
begged for a small increase in the establishments
of British Cavalry, nd asked that the Company’s
European infantry might be made up to 950—the
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seme as those of the Queen’s Regiments; but
while the Governor-General acceded to some of
the minor suggestions made by the Commander-
in-Chief, he declined to make any modification
in the actual reductions proposed, and which were
therefore carried into effect.

In defence of these measures it has been claimed
that, since the actual number of officers in the
reduced regiments remained the same, the ranks
could rapidly be expanded on the approach of war,
and that efficiency was not reduced in the same
ratio as the expense ; that the total financial relief
to the strain on the Indian Exchequer amounted
to close upon two million pounds; and that a
better strategical distribution of troops would more
than counterbalance any actual reduction in mere
numbers, and would ensure that no part of our
most vulnerable frontier was left unguarded, or at
least unwatched.

It may be that Lord Hardinge’s measures might

-+have answered his purpose had trouble arisen where
alone it seems to have been considered possible, and
in anticipation of which the great schéme of defence
and reinforcement had been devised ; but—

*contrary to all expectations, it was not in the
Sikh army or the Iélkh commumty, or even on
account of Sikh interests, that the disturbance arose
which led to the final Sikh war; but from a com-
aratively insignificant trouble on an outlying
KIahomedan frontier.”? _

! Gough aud Innes,



CHAPTER XIV

ArtHouGH it is a fortress which has enjoyed
from time immemorial the reputation of great
strength, Multan has on several occasions been
successfully besieged. 1t was taken by the
Mahomedans under Mahomed Ben Kasim at the
close of the eighth century ; Mahmood of Ghuznee
captured it at the commencement of the eleventh ;
while Tamerlane took it at the close of the four-
teenth. After several fruitless attempts, extending
over several years, the fortress was in 1818 cap-
tured by Ranjit Singh, but not until 19,000
of his followers had been slain during the siege
operations, and this Afghan outpost was then
added to the Punjsb.

When the close of the first Sikh war seemed
to promise a protracted period of tranquillity,
many of the districts of the Punjab—besides
those in the Jullundur Doab which had been
annexed to the British dominions in India under
the terms of the treaty of Lahore—had been
placed under the charge of British officers. The
district of Multan was, however, still under native
administration, the fortress and the province being

held by the Dewan Mulraj, the infamous son of
233
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one of Ranjit Singh’s best and most trusted
officials. Mulraj was not contented under the new
conditions of government, and towards the end
of 1847 he intimated his wish to resign his office,
but was asked to reconsider his application. Early
in the new year he repeated his request to be
relieved, and Sirdar Khan Singh was accordingly
detailed to take his place, and proceeded to Multan
at the end of March, accompanied by Mr. Agnew
of the Civil Service and Lieutenant Anderson of
the Bombay Army. There can be no doubt that
in all that followed, Mulraj was in league with
the Rani, and that the attention of the British
was designedly diverted to Multan, while in the
north the train was laid for a general revolt of
the Sikhs.

Mulraj countenanced the murder of the two
Englishmen, to avenge whom Herbert Edwardes
hurried down from Dera Futteh Khan with his
levies, calling for help from Van Cortlandt at
. Dera Ismail Khan and from the chief of Bahawal-
* pore, of whose friendship we have before heard
in the passage through his dominions of the Army
of the Indus.

There is no intention of here describing the
course of the Multan campaign, except in so far
as it affected the operations in the Punjab to
which it was the prelude. It will probably be
enough to say that on hearing of what had trans-
pired at Multan, Sir Frederick Currie—who early
in the year had succceded Henry Lawrence as
Resident at Lahore—though aware that few, if
any, of the Sikh troops could safely be employed
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~ against Mulraj for the reduction of the fortress,
determined to use the most trustworthy of them
for the purpose of taking possession of the dis-
tricts attached to the Multan Government. He
therefore arranged for the employment of five
columns-—one under Edwardes and Van Cort-
landt, another under the Khan of Bahawalpore,
and the remaining three composed of Sikhs
under Sikh Sirdars of whom the chief was Sher
Singh.

Later Currie sent a British force from Lahore
and Ferozepore to move on Multan, and to this
Lord Gough—who throughout had been opposed
to undertaking operations at this season of the
year and until all arrangements for the assembly
of an adequate force were fully completed—at
once added another infantry brigade, two troops
of horse artillery and a siege train, not caring
that an isolated British brigade should be sent
into the field with allies ill-trained or notori-
ously disaffected. These reinforcements, under
General Whish, reached the neighbourhood of
Multan in the third week in August, and in
the middle of the following month the Sikh
commander and his following deserted to Mulraj.
The siege of Multan, which was by then in pro-
gress, had to be raised, and the small British
force was itself in turn invested in its camp -on
the Lower Chenab. On October 9th Sher Singh
marched northwards again from Multan, calling to
arms, as he went, the disbanded warriors of the
Khalsa and raising the standard of revolt through-
out the Sikh districts.
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By the beginning of November Multan was
still holding out in the south, while in the western
Punjab proper the old Khalsa soldiers were flock-
ing to Sher Singh, whose father, Chutter Singh,
had enlisted Mahomedan support by offering to
hand over Peshawar to Dost Muhamed, the Ameer
of Kabul.

Thus the action of the Sikh Sirdars had rendered
imperative the conquest and annexation of their
country.

Lord Gough had early foreseen the possibility
of the whole of the Punjab flaming into re-
bellion; he was ever strongly opposed to the
employment of small isolated forces; while he was
fully cognisant of the climatic risks attendant upon
a summer campaign. He was, therefore, altogether
in favour of delaying operations until the advent
of the cold weather; but none the less he
persistently advocated the concerting of measures
for the gradual assembly and equipment of a force
with which the invasion and conquest of the
Punjab might successfully be undertaken. For
such a purpose he estimated that an army of 24,000
men with 78 guns would be necessary, and he
especially urged that all the regiments of native
infantry and cavalry might at once be recruited
up to the higher establishments at which they
had stood at the close of the first Sikh war—
pointing out that a very large number of our
disbanded sepoys were immediately available for
re-enlistment in the native army, and that if we
failed to obtain their services “those opposed to
us will assyredly exert every nerve to get them.”
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Lord Dalhousie did not accept all the propositions
of the Commander-in-Chief : he declined to reverse
the policy of his predecessor by sanctioning the
increased establishments of native regiments ; the
request for immediate preparations was refused;
and even in the estimate of the strength of the
force required for hostilities in the Punjab, the
Governor-General differed from the expert opinion
of the Commander-in-Chief. It was not, therefore,
until the 24th August that sanction was definitely
accorded to Lord Gough to take the necessary
steps for meeting any outbreak on the frontier,
and, accordingly, in the beginning of September
the force at Ferozepore was doubled in strength
by moving up the troops detailed for the ordinary
relief of the force at Lahore ; but it was not before
the last day of September that Lord Dalhousie
finally directed that I.ord Gough should carry
into effect the proposals made by the Cotnmander-
in-Chief in the previous May. It was, however,
by this time impossible that the Army of the
Punjab could be assembled and ready to take
the field before the middle of November.

When it seemed certain that a second Sikh war
must be entered upon, Lord Gough had forces
immediately available —though not sufficiently
numerous for the work in hand—at Lahore,
Jullundur, and Ferozepore. Late in October he
directed General Wheeler, at Jullundur, to move
forward his brigade across the Beas, and he shortly
afterwards increased the force on the further bank
of the Ravi by a cavalry brigade under Cureton,
and a brigade of infantry under Godby, followed
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by a second under Brigadier Eckford. These two
latter had moved forward about the 8rd November,
and by the 16th the Commander-in-Chief had
ordered on from Ferozepore six regiments of
infantry, a light field battery, and six siege
guns, with a reserve company of artillery and a
pontoon train. In advance he already had
(exclusive of Wheeler’s brigade in the Bari Doab)
8 regiments of cavalry (of which 8 were British),
5 troops of horse artillery, 2 light field batteries,
and 6 battalions of infantry. Following in rear
were an infantry brigade, 2 regiments of irregular
cavalry, and a siege train; whilst on the frontier—
not counting the troops. holding Ferozepore,
Ludhiana, and Umballa-—there were another
brigade of infantry, and one of irregular cavalry.

By great exertions, and in a comparatively brief
space of time, Lord Gough had been enabled to
collect under his own immediate command, an
army of 20,000 men with nearly 100 guns, while
the arrival of the contingent of Bombay troops
before Multan, had increased the strength of the
forces there under General Whish to 17,000 men
with 64 heavy guns. Without perhaps unduly
anticipating events, it may here conveniently be
mentioned, that the surrender of the fortress of
Multan on the 22nd January 1849 permitted the
troops which had been investing that stronghold
to march north to join Lord Gough. The Bengal
portion of the Multan force set out on the
27th January, and the Bombay column on the
81st, reaching Headquarters in time to take a
share in the crowning victory of Gujerat.



PROCEEDS ON ACTIVE SERVICE 289

There is but little, if anything, in General
Thackwell’s diary of the earlier half of the year
1848 regarding the progress of the events above
briefly described; but in September he chronicles
the continual movements of troops towards the
frontier, and was himself no doubt anxiously
looking forward for orders to take the field.

“ Tuesday, 19th September.—The 5th Cavalry
marched from this on the 14th, and the 69th Native
Infantry on the 16th for Ferozepore, and the native
troop of artillery on the 18th for Muttra to relieve
the native troop which has marched to the former
placee. No. 5 Light Field  Battery and the
4th Native Infantry have also marched in the
direction of the Sutlej.”

¢ 29th.—Early this morning marched to Feroze-
pore H.M.’s 9th Lancers, 1st and 2nd Troops of
Artillery, and No. 6 Light Field Battery towards
Umballa.”

“ 80th.—A letter from the Commander-in-Chief
warning me to be ready for service.”

Shortly after this Sir Joseph must have received
definite orders, for on the night of the 7th October
he sent off his baggage, and following himself
on the 24th, he reached Ferozepore on the
5th November, the Commander-in-Chief arriving
in camp the next day. In a letter to Lady
‘Thackwell dated the 6th, Sir Joseph says:

“ The Commander-in-Chief received me very
kindly, and said he had intended to have given
me a separate command, but circumstances had at
present changed, but hoped an opportunity would
occur, as he had considered me unlucky in not
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having got honours”—(in allusion, no doubt, to
the fact that Sir Joseph Thackwell had received
no recognition of his services in the Gwalior and
Sutlej campaigns)—* implying that his recom-
mendations had not been attended to—however,
n'importe.”

The Army of the Punjab was constituted as
follows: There was a cavalry division of two
brigades—in all, seven regiments—under Brigadier
Cureton. This officer was considered too junior
for the command of an infantry brigade without
displacing other officers—such as Colin Campbell
—whom it was intended to employ. Cureton had
been holding the appointment on the staff of the
army of Adjutant-General of Queen’s Troops; he
was an experienced officer, and it was natural that
the Commander-in-Chief should wish to avail him-
self of his services, but his employment in com-
mand of the cavalry division rendered it impossible
to appoint at least two cavalry brigadiers of equal
experience and senior in service to Cureton.

There were three infantry divisions, of which the
First-was before Multan; the Second, comprising
two brigades, was commanded by Major-General
Sir Walter Gilbert; while the Third, under Sir
Joseph Thackwell, was thus constituted :

1st Brigade. 2nd Brigade.
Brigadier Pennycuick. Brigadier Hoggan.
H.M.’s 24th Foot. H.M.’s 61st Foot.

2 th Native Infantry. 86th Native Infantry.
45th. Native Infantry. 46th Native Infantry.
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8rd Brigade.
Brigadier Penny.
15th Native Infantry.
20th Native Infantry.
69th Native Infantry.

There were six troops of horse artillery, three
light field batteries, and two heavy batteries.
Hoggan’s brigade was at this time at Saharun, on
the Chenab, with Cureton and Colin Campbell.

On the 8th November Major-General Thack-
well left Ferozepore with his first brigade and
Captain Kinleside’s' light field' battery (No. 5),
forming the advance of the Commander-in-Chief’s
column,

After four marches Noewala was reached, where
he halted, and the force with I.ord Gough closed -

up.

“ 22nd.-—Marched to Ramnuggar, eleven miles.
We marched in battle array, Gilbert’s Divisioh on
the right, the Third Division on the road, and
Pope’s brigade of cavalry and the Reserve Artillery
in column on the left. ~ Brigadier-Generals Camp-
bell and Cureton had marched with the Com-
mander-in-Chief at 8 a.m., to try and surprise the
Sikhs said to be encamped near Ramnuggar. They
found them near the river, under cover of their
whole army on the other side. Some injudicious
charges were made, which resulted in the death
of poor Cureton and, it is supposed, of Lieutenant-
Colonel Havelock of the 14th Light Dragoons..
We lost one gun, stuck in the sand, and altogether
what was expected was not done. The heavy
batteries on the Sikh side of the river caused the

16
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greater part of the loss. Poor Cureton was shot
through the heart by a matchlock ball.”!

Sir Joseph had been instructed to follow the
Commander-in-Chief at 7 a.m.; the march was
hastened on hearing the guns, but the action was
over before Thackwell’s force could come up, and
the army encamped in front of Ramnuggar, and
within a mile of the left bank of the Chenab.

On the 24th Lord Gough appears to have sent
for Sir Joseph Thackwell, and directed him to take
over command of the Cavalry Division, explaining
to him at the same time the reasons which had
influenced him in giving the command to Cureton
in the first instance.  He also published a general
order appointing Sir Joseph Thackwell second in
command of the army, and specifying the par-
ticular duties which that officer would be required
to perform, which included the provision and
superintendence of all measures for the security
and sanitary control of the camp. The command
of the Third Division was bestowed upon Brigadier
Colin Campbell. .

+ It seemed to l.ord Gough that it was a matter
of urgency that the Sikhs should be driven from
their position on the right bank of the Chenab
opposite Ramnuggar. Their remaining there, so
close to the capital of the Punjab, not only

! Cureton’s career had been a remarkable one. He enlisted as
Charles Roberts in the 14th Light Dragoons, and served with them all
through the Peninsula War. He obtained a commission, commanded
the 16th Lancers in the latter part of the first Afghan war, and a
cavalry brigade in the Sutlej campaign; was Adjutant-General of

Queen’s troops in Indie, and when commanding a Cavalry Division at
Ramnuggar fell with his old corps, the 14th Light Dragoous.
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eonstituted something of a menace, but encouraged
those—and they were not few—who were dis-
affected, and who were in the rear of the British
force ; while the longer the Sikhs were permitted
to retain their position, the more time was allowed
for the arrival of the reinforcements which would
be set free by the daily expected fall of Attock.
It seemed impracticable to force a passage at
Ramnuggar, where the river is very broad and
where the enemy was strongly entrenched, and
Lord Gough accordingly decided to remain there
himself, holding the Sikh army in front of his
position, while he threw a strong force across the
Chenab by one of the fords higher up the stream.
It was known that at Wazirabad there was a good
and practicable ford, and that there was moreover
a ferry, but between Ramnuggar and Wazirabad
there were three other fords, and it was hoped that
by one of these the detached force might be able
to cross to the right bank. Of these three fords,
that at Ghurri-ki-Patten, seven miles from Lord
Gough’s camp, was known to be practicable, but
was believed to be too closely guarded for a cross-
ing to be there safely attempted; at Ranni-ki-
Patten, twelve or thirteen miles from Ramnuggar,
there was another ford which was known to be
difficult; and finally, about a mile nearer to
W azirabad, there was the ford of Ali-Sher-ke-Chuk
—a practicable but rather dangerous crossing.
The depth of water at any of these fords was
known to be not less than four feet.
Major-General Sir Joseph Thackwell was selected
for the command of this detached force, which
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consisted of White’s Cavalry Brigade, the 8rd
Irregular Cavalry, three troops of horse artillery,
two light field batteries, and the Third Infantry
Division (three brigades).! The pontoon train and
two days’ supplies also accompanied this force.
Brigadier Colin Campbell, who commanded the
infantry, has stated that—

“ the movement was, in my view, and in that of
the General, a hazardous one—the placing a force
under 7,000 in a position in which they could not

be supported, and where they might be opposed by
80,000.”

But I have been unable to find in Sir Joseph’s
diary or correspondence anything to show that
he entertained thc forebodings thus attributed
to him.

It had been intended that this detached force
should rendezvous on the right of the camp of
the 8rd Light Dragoons on the Wazirabad road,
at 1 a.m. on the st 1ecember: but the night
was very dark, and only the cavalry and artillery
reached the place of assembly at the hour
appointed, and Sir Joseph moved on with these
two arms, leaving the infantry to follow. The
General’'s diary for this date reads as follows:
“ Marched at 1 a.m. up the left bank of the Chenab
to the ford of AL-Sher-ke-Chuk, a lttle above
Ranni-khan-ki- Patten.”

Sir Colin states in his diary that the division
under his command marched at 2.80 a.m., but
gives no particular reason for his troops failing

! The 12th Irregular Cavalry were also temporarily attached.
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to be up to time, beyond that “ we had great
difficulty in finding the place of rendezvous.
Two brigades of infantry went astray.” But
as the Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General
of the Third Division was a very young and
inexperienced officer, it is perhaps not unfair
to assume that faulty staff work was largely
responsible for the very late start of the infantry
portion of Sir Joseph Thackwell’s command.
Prior to leaving the camp at Ramnuggar, Sir
Joseph received the following note from Lieutenant-
Colonel Grant, Adjutant-General of the Army :

. €8 p.m., 30th November 1848,
*“ My dear Sir Joseph.

“The Commander-in-Chief hopes you under-
stand distinctly that unless you get across the
river in time to rest and brea{fast your troops, so
as to admit of your marching them to the left
of the enemy’s position by 1 p.m. to-morrow,
it is his wish that you should make a second day
of it.

* The distance to the ford is now reckoned to
be thirteen miles, and to cross the river, even
with a good ford, with the force you will have,
must be a work of time. . . . Night work is to be
avoided at all times; if,. therefore, you cannot
bring all your troops fresh and with ample day-
light before them, it is much better, aﬁ)ow me
to suggest to you, that the attack should be
deferred one day. God bless you.

“Yours very sincerely,
“Pat. GRANT.”

The force seems to have arrived in the vicinity
of the fords at Ranni-ki-Patten and Ali-Sher-ke-
Chuk about 11 am., after a somewhat harassing
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march, delayed moreover by the difficulty in
dragging the heavy pontoons over the sandy track
followed by the troops. Arrived here, Sir Joseph
caused both the fords to be carefully examined.
Of the first at Ranni-ki-Patten it has been re-
corded that—

“the Chenab here consisted of four branches or
channels, one beyond the other. The sandbanks
bordering and dividing these streams are insecure ;
moreover, the river here is notorious for its
numerous quicksands, the danger of which is
groverbial. A large party of the enemy were now

escried posted for the protection of the ford. ...
Our artillery would not have been able to cover
the passage of the British infantry, for the bank
on the other side of the river was out of range of
sight and shot.”? '

Lieutenant Paton, Deputy Assistant Quarter-
master-General of the Army, who had been
detailed by Headquarters to accompany the force,
and who, it is fair to assume, was one of the
officers of the Quartermaster-General’s Department
who are stated in Professor Rait’s « Life of Lord
Gough” to have made recent inspections of the
neighbouring fords of the Chenab, spent some three
hours in endeavouring to test the capabilities of
the upper of the two fords—that at Ali-Sher-ke-
Chuk. Sir Colin Campbell’s diary of this date
contains the following statement :

“ After a march of fourteen or fifteen miles, we
arrived at a part of the river which was guarded
on the opposite bank by the enemy. It was the

! Thackwell.



THE REAL FORD 247

ford of Ranni-ki-Patten ; and above this, about a
mile higher up, was the ford at which it was
sntended the force should pass. Lieutenant Paton,
Assistant Quartermaster-General, was sent to
examine it and the approachestoit. Hisreport was
that it was of this shape

and breast-high in some J
places; that the sand

through which the guns must pass was very deep
and heavy, and that the bullocks with the pontoon
train would certainly not be able to drag the
pontoons through it. . . . The enemy, moreover,
were on the opposite side, ready to ose our

passage, and in such cover as to make it difficult
Jor our guns to drive them from it.”

In the two books® recently published on the Sikh
wars, the writers seem to have fallen into an error
as to the ford by which Sir Joseph Thackwell was
directed to cross, and also as to the reasons
which decided him to use his discretion about
moving on to, and crossing the river at, Wazirabad.
It appears to be quite clear, both from Sir Joseph’s
own diary, and from that of Colin Campbell, his
next in command, that the force started from
Ramnuggar under orders to cross, if practicable,
at the upper of the three fords between Ramnuggar
and Wazirabad. Some anonymous contemporary
writers have stated that the force was intended, and
ought, to have crossed at Ghurri-ki-Patten, but this
contention is untenable, and ‘the writer of ¢ The
Life and Campaigns of Lord Gough ” has definitely
séttled this point by admitting that Ghurri-ki-
Patten * was known to be too well guarded.”

! “¢ Life of Lord Gough,” ‘ The Sikhs and the Sikh Wars,”
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'The authors, however, of this book and of “ The
Sikhs and the Sikh Wars,” have all spoken of
“the ford at Ranniki” as the one by which Sir
Joseph should have effected his passage of the
Chenab; and this error is to some extent
excused by the slipshod method employed by
contemporary writers in speaking—as does also
the author of “ The Narrative of the Second Seikh
War "—of the “ford” or “fords” of Ranni-ki-
Patten. As a matter of fact there were fwo
fords at or in the immediate vicinity of this spot
—that at Ranni-ki-Patten itself, and the one at
Ali-Sher-ke-Chuk, only a mile at most further
up the river. Both presented considerable natural
difficulties ; the further bank at both places was
~held by the enemy; while at neither could -the
passage be covered by the fire of the British
guns.

Sir Joseph had been detached to the right to
effect, if he could, an unopposed crossing, because
“it was impossible to force a passage at Ram-
nuggar.” Would he have been justified in
attempting to force one where the natural
difficulties were even greater, with an unsupported
and infinitely smaller body of troops, and in the
face of an opposition which he knew to exist, but
the strength of which he had no means of gauging ?
The author of “The Life of Lord Gough” has
formed the conclusion, from the wording of a
portion of “The Narrative of the Second Seikh
War,” that Sir Joseph decided against the practit-
ability of a crossing near Ranni-ki-Patten— not
in thé view of the presence of bodies of the
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enemy on the other side, but because of the nature
of the ford.”

The author of “ The Life of Lord Gough” is not
only in error as to the ford by which General
Thackwell was ordered to pass the Chenab, but, in
proof that the crossing at Ranni-ki-Patten was
practicable, he states that on the following day
Brigadier Hearsey passed over it some irregular
cavalry, and that later on Brigadier Markham
crossed with the whole of his brigade. Apart
from the fact that in neither of these subsequent
operations was there any likelihood whatever of
the crossing being opposed, it may, with regard
to Hearsey, be pointed out that the passage of a
river by a few mounted men is a very different:
operation from putting across, in the face of an
enemy, a force composed of the three arms ; while of
Markham and his brigade, Lord Gough states that
they crossed at Kanokee * with the kelp of no less than
Jorty-seven boats, from which one may reasonably
surmise that this body was not under the necessity
of trying whether the ford was practicable or not.

It is true that Sir Joseph in his despatch does
not actually state in so many words that the
farther bank at Ali-Sher-ke-Chuk was held by the
enemy, but he gives as a reason for not there
attempting the passage, that he could not so place
his guns as to cover the crossmg while the presence
of the enemy at both fords is mentioned by Si»
Colin Campbell in his diary, and by Sir Joseph

! 1 caunot find Kanokee on any contemporary or modern map, but
Durand (Calcutta Review) says that Markham crossed at Ghurri-ki-
Patten.
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himself in a letter dated 19th May 1849. It seems
therefore quite clear that Sir Joseph Thackwell
reconnoitred both fords in the neighbourhood of
Ranni-ki-Patten, that he perceived at both he
would have to force a passage under natural
difficulties and military disadvantages, and that
it was the presence at both places of strong hostile
bodies, and not the nature of the fords only, which
induced Sir Joseph Thackwell to move on to
Wazirabad—an alternative permitted him by the
terms of his instructions.

The length of the march and the difficulty of
supply induced Sir Colin to suggest that the
failure to cross by the fords near Ranni-ki-Patten
necessitated a return to camp at Ramnuggar, but
Sir Joseph resolved to push on, and sent forward
Lieutenant John Nicholson, assistant to the
Resident at Lahore, and who was acting as chief
civil authority with Thackwell’'s force, and this
officer managed, not only to collect fifteen large
boats, but to stake out two of the fords over the
three branches into which the Chenab is there
divided, before the troops arrived at the ford and
ferry, greatly fatigued, about 5.80 or 6 p.m.
Here there was no appearance of an enemy, and
the 24th Foot, with two native regiments and two
guns, under Brigadier Pennycuick, were at once
ferried across to secure the passage. The 8rd
Irregular Cavalry crossed by the ford, and another
infantry brigade, endeavouring to wade across,
was overtaken by the darkness and halted and
bivouacked on a sandbank between the second and
third branches of the stream. The night was
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bitterly cold, no supplies could be passed over to
the advanced troops, and once at least during the
night an alarm was raised on the right bank; but
the night passed quietly, and as soon as it was
light the passage of the rest of the force was
energetically proceeded with, and by noon the
whole of the troops were across the river. The
pontoon train, two light field guns, and two 18-
pounders were sent back to Ramnuggar, escorted
by the 12th Irregular Cavalry and two companies
of native infantry, and with them went one
of the Commander-in-Chief’s aides-de-camp—who
had thus far accompanied Sir Joseph-—bearing to
Lord Gough the news that the detached force had
successfully negotiated the passage of the Chenab.

This chapter may perhaps fittingly be closed
with some extracts from a report dated 7th
December, on the crossing of the Chenab, from
Lieutenant Baird Smith' of the Royal Engineers,
who was Senior Assistant Field Engineer with the
right column. After detailing the composition
of the force, and the hour at which the march
commenced, he goes on to say :

“The movement of the column was directed in
the first instance on Ali-ke-Chuk, at which place a
ford practicable for artillery and infantry was re-
Ported to exist. On arriving, however, at the point
1t was found that the information was incorrect,
and that the access to the ford was so difficult that
to move the artillery upon it was impracticable.
The river being divided into three streams would
have caused indefinite delay, had the passage been
attempted by means of the pontoon train.

' Afterwards Chief Engineer at the siege of Delhi.
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“Under the circumstances the selection of
another point at which to effect the lFassa.ge of the
river was inevitable, and for the following reasons
the Major-General Commanding resolved to move
at once upon Wazirabad.

“(1) The distance from Ali-ke-Chuk to Wazir-
abad did not exceed six miles, and the troops were
quite equal to the additional march.

“(2) At Wazirabad a ford practicable for infantry
and cavalry was known to exist.

“(8) For the transport of the artillery fifteen
boats, of which twelve were first-class river craft,
and three of a smaller kind, were in possession of
a party of Afghan Horse attached to Captain
Nicholson, Assistant to the Resident at Lahore,
and were available for immediate use.

“(4) There were the best grounds for believing
that the enemy was not in force on the opposite
or right bank of the river at Wazirabad, and that
consequently the passage would be undisputed.

“ My professional opinion having been required,
%}&ave it decidedly in favour of the movement on

azirabad : and requesting permission to precede
the column with the view of making such arrange-
ments as time would permit, I proceeded with
Lieutenant H. Yule of the Engineers and
Captain Nicholson, and reached the ford to the
north-west and about two miles distant from the
town about 8.30 p.m.

“ At the ford the river was found to be divided
into three streams—and in no part of the ford
itself did the water exceed 8 ft. 10 in. in depth.
Two of the streams only were staked out on the
night of the 1st, the third was unmarked until
daybreak on the 2nd, in consequence of the pressure
of work and want of materials. The ferry was
about three-quarters of a mile above the ford.

“ The passage of the troops and guns at the ferry
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continued throughout the night in a regular and
systematic manner, without confusion or accident
of any kind. By about sunrise on the 2nd, 6
regiments of infantry with 18 guns, under command
of Brigadier-General Campbell, were in possession
of the right bank of the river, occupying a strong
position on the high ground bounding the valley
of the Chenab. . . . The passage . . . was completed
exactly at noon on the 2nd. Considering the
operations to have commenced at 6 p.m. on the
1st, and to have been completed at 12 noon on
the 2nd December, the passage of the force, con-
sisting of 28 guns, 4 regiments of cavalry, 7
regiments and 2 companies of infantry, with
the baggage and commissariat, the transit occu-
pied 18 hours, and this will not, I trust, be
considered Jong, when it is remembered that
two-thirds of the work was done during the night,
and with only a few hours’ previous preparation.”



CHAPTER XV

A1 the suggestion of Colin Campbell, the march
down the right bank of the Chenab was not
commenced until two hours after the transfer
across the stream of the troops and impedimenta
was effected, in order that the native soldiers,
composing the major portion of the column, might
have their usual one meal before fresh exertions
were demanded of them, and a start was conse-
quently not made until 2 p.m:

The force marched in order of battle: three
brigades in brigade column of companies, at half
distance—left in front, at deploying intervals ; the
brigade of cavalry under Brigadier White, with
strong flanking parties and rear-guard, covered the
right —the more  exposed flank; while the
8rd Irregular Cavalry marched on the left of the
mf'antry with orders to patrol right down to
the river and clear the right bank aided by infantry,
if necessary. Each infantry corps was covered
by its own skirmishers. After a march of some
ten miles the village of Dowrawala was reached
about dusk—the movement had been entirely un-
opposed, no sign of the enemy having been met

with. Some time during the evening (* before
254
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evening,” says the author of the * Narrative of the
Second Seikh War ”—¢ during the night,” says
Lawrence Archer) a shuter-sowar, or camel
despatch rider, arrived in camp, bearing the follow-
ing letter from the Commander-in-Chief :

Canp, 2nd December.
“My DEAR THACKWELL,

“ I congratulate you at having crossed. I
shall make as great a fomasha as 1 can here
to-day, in order to keep them here—or rather, to
keep their guns here; and if the bridge of boats
reach me in time I shall throw a body across,
so as to join your advance; therefore do not think
a dust approaching you from the river is the enemy.
They are entrenching themselves to protect this
ford, but 1 hope to get across by the bridge of
boats, or by some other manceuvre. '

“ They are in a great fright, and well they may,
for they cannot take off their guns without fearful
loss. Two of their regiments have promised to
join me. God bless you.

“ GOuGH.
“ Do not hurry ; bring your force well up in hand.
6 G-”

At 6 am. the next morning, Sunday,
8rd December, Sir Joseph marched off again,
hoping to be able to attack the left and rear
of the Sikh position in front of Ramnuggar at
11 o'clock. The force moved on, clearing away
the enemy from the river bank, and had already
gone about two miles south of the ford at Ghurri-
ki-Patten when another communication was
received from Lord Gough:
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Camp, 2nd December,
“MyY DEAR THACKWELL,

“I congratulate you at having crossed.
1 shall make as great a fuss as possible here to-
morrow by cannonade, to keep their guns here,
and if the boats reach me in time I hope to throw
8 body to co-operate with your let. Do not hurry
your men: bring them and your guns well up
mm hand, and we are sure of success. I have two
regiments in the enemy’s camp ready to come
over to me. 1 shall push across whenever I can,
when you come into action. Keep me acquainted
with your movements. I take it tgey will fall back
from the fords when the river is your advance.
They are in & great fright. With God’s blessing,
before to-morrow night we, united, will give them
reason to be so. '

“ Yours very sincerely,
“ GougH.”

At the same time that this letter was handed
to Sir Joseph Thackwell, or very shortly afterwards,
_ two others were received--the one from Lord
Gough, and the other, of very much later date,
from one of the Headquarters Staff:

Camp, 2nd December.

“My DEAR THACKWELL,

“This is the third note I have written you

this day. 1 find they are retiring from my im-
mediate front, merely keeping the fords well
grotected. I am, therefore, going to open two
atteries upon them this day. Do not hurry on;

keep your men fresh and well in hand. I hope
to reinforce you to-morrow morning ; don’t think
every dust an enemy. With God’s blessing, by
to-morrow night, we shall have all their guns. Two
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of their regiments are ready ta come over to me.
God bless you all.
“ GOUGH.

“ This man will bring an answer.”

(What had happened was that the Sikhs had
divined the object for which Thackwell had
been detached, and, leaving a body to hold the
Commander-in-Chief in front of Ramnuggar, had
marched up the right bank in force to oppose his
second in command.) "

“To Sir JosrrH THACKWELL.

~ “When General Thackwell has taken
possession of Ghurri-ki-Pattén, Lord Gough desires
that he will not move his force on to the attack
till reinforced from Ramnuggar by a brigade of
infantry and cavalry, which are prepared to move at
a moment’s notice. :

* By Order,

«“J, B. TREMENHERE.
““ 3rd December, 8% am.”

It was probably at this time: that the force was
halted for breakfast and to replenish the pouch
ammunition up to sixty rounds per man. It was
11 a.m. when the column & ain moved on to some
villages, nearly three miles to_the right front of
the Ghurri-ki-Patten ford, where the troops were
halted, and whence Sir Joseph sent a wing of the
56th Native Infantry and patt of the 8rd Irregular
Cavalry to hold the ford, to which 600 of the
enemy’s cavalry had beeén seen approaching. Colin
‘Campbell mentions in his diary that on halting
near these villages « Sir Joseph Thackwell received

17
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a letter. from the Commander-in-Chief to inform
him that he had sent a reinforcement of the
9th Lancers and 14th Light Dragoens to join by
the ford of Ghurri-ki-Patten”; the letter to which
allusion is thus made is no doubt the following :

Heaoquarter Caxp,
8rd December, 10 o'clock a.m.

“My DEAR SIR JOSEPH,

“We have heard this morning of your

approach to the Ghurri-ki-Patten Ghaut, and I am

esired to acquaint you that the Commander-in-

-Chief is despatching the 14th Light Dragoons, a

. detachment of the 9th Irregulars, and a Brigade of

Infantry (the 2nd European Regiment, Dett. 45th,
and the 70th N.I.), to join you at the Ghaut.

“ Our heavy guns are all in position on the river,
close to the ford near the (Hurnp of trees, and
ready to aid you as well they can (sic) in your
attack on the enemy’s position.

“ Bagot takes this to you.
“Yours very sincerely,
“PAT. GRANT.”

The troops having halted, Nicholson’s Pathan
Horse were sent out to the front, and three of
the four villages of Langwala, Tarwala, Rutta,
and Kamookhan were each occupied by a company
of infantry, the column itself remaining some little
distance in rear, in front of the village of Sadula-
pore. General Thackwell rode off to the left to
see that the troops guarding the ford had been
placed in the right position, and then returning
to his troops proceeded to ride along the line of
. villages. Nicholson’s troopers had early reported
that some 200 Sikh horsemen had been noticed,
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and from some correspondence later between
Campbell and Thackwell, it would appear that,
during the absence of the latter, reports had
reached Campbell that the Sikhs in front were
becoming more numerous; but this information
was apparently not conveyed to Sir Joseph, whose
first intimation of the enemy being in force was
from a patrol of the 5th Light Cavalry, in front
of the right, being cannonaded, at the moment
when Sir Joseph was passing the village of Rutta.
There not appearing to be time—owing to the
- rapid advance of the Sikhs—to move the British
line up to the villages, which were moreover
surrounded by fields of tall and thick sugar-cane,
Sir Joseph Thackwell directed Brigadier-General
Campbell to retire some 200 yards and deploy
immediately in front of the village of Sadulapore—
the companies falling back from the advanced
villages, which were at once occupied by the
Sikhs, who showed in great strength.

The short retrograde movement was interpreted
as a retreat and the Sikh attack rapidly developed.
Sher Singh was himself here in command ; he
brought some twenty guns into action, massed a
numerous cavalry with horse artillery on the left,
while the fields of sugar-cane seemed alive with
matchlockmen.

The Sikhs clung to their cover and opened a
heavy fire from their guns, threatening both flanks
at the same time with their cavalry with a view
of getting to the rear and cutting off the baggage.
The fire was so heavy that Sir Joseph ordered
the infantry to lie down, while the 8rd Dragoons,
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8t Light Cavalry, and Major Christie’s troop of
horse artillery checked the advance of the enemy
on the right flank, and Captain Warner’s troop
was moved to the left of the infantry, and, sup-
ported by the 5th Light Cavalry and the re-
mainder of the 8rd Irregulars, drove back the
Sikhs. Sir Colin Campbell’'s diary states that he
twice asked Thackwell’s leave to advance the
infantry to the attack, and in the “Life of Sir
Charles Napier” a letter is quoted wherein that
officer declares that Campbell three times begged
for leave to advance and take the guns. Sir
Joseph, however, always denied that such applica-
tion was made, and his contradiction appears in
the second edition of the * Life.” In a letter also
to Dr. Macgregor, written on the 19th May 1849,
Sir Joseph says:

“ Anonymous writers have presumed to say that
some persons urged me to attack: the enemy’s
gosition. This assertion is unfounded. I have no
oubt that all were ready to obey orders, but
not one suggested that the enemy should be
attacked.”

While in a letter written to Sir Colin Campbell
on the 8th August of the same year, in reference
to the question of attack, Sir Joseph Thackwell
. reminds Campbell that “ you were most cautious
in not giving an opinion,” and in a further com-
munication, written to Sir Colin on the 24th May
1850, he recalls to his recollection that “1 gave
you for perusal Lord Gough’s note prohibiting
any further advance.”
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For some two hours the cannonade continued
and, the fire of the enemy then slackening, the
cavalry on the right were directed to charge and
capture the Sikh guns if possible, Sir Joseph in-
tending to support them by moving the brigades
in echelon from the right ; no opportunity offering,
however, for the action of the cavalry, General
Thackwell deemed it advisable to remain in his
position and not to attempt to drive back an
enemy so strongly posted on the right and centre,
with the probability of having afterwards to attack
them in the entrenched position to which they
would inevitably fall back.

As soon as Lord Gopgh had heard of the success-
ful crossing of the Chenab on the morning of the
2nd December, he had directed a heavy cannon-
ade to commence upon the Sikh batteries and en-
campment at Ramnuggar, and this was maintained
during the 8rd so ds to hold the main body of
the Sikh army to this point and thus to delude
the enemy into the belief that it was intended
there to force the passage of the river. Although,
however, the heavy firing at Sadulapore on the
afternoon of the 38rd must have been plainly
audible at Ramnuggar, and it should have been
thereby apparent that a large portion of the Sikh
force which had been in Lord Gough’s front had
gone off to oppose Sir Joseph Thackwell, the .
Commander-in-Chief seems to have made no real
effort to “ push across ” as promised in his second
letter of the 2nd December, but remained inactive,
save for a distant and imeffective bombardment
of the half-empty trenches on the further bank.
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The Sikhs replied to this bombardment with only
six guns, but they were so cleverly concealed
that the British guns were unable to silence them
and leaving these six guns to reply to Mowatt’s
and Shakespear’s batteries, the enemy gradually
withdrew the remainder and finally fell back on
the night of the 8rd, leaving only empty em-
placements on the river bank.

Sir Joseph invited the opinions of the next
senior officers as to the expediency of an advance,
but, with the exception of Brigadier Pennycuick,
all were agreed that it would be best—the afternoon
being now well advanced—to remain where they
were: the enemy were still in strength in front;
the line of villages formed a strong position; a
" deep nullah ran salong the left front; and it was
reported that the ground about the villages, and
in rear of them up to Sher Singh’s position at
Ramnuggar, was thick with fields of sugar-cane.

- As the Sikh fire began to diminish in intensity,
amother letter was received from Lord Gough by
* the hand of Lieutenant Tytler, 9th Irregular
Cavalry, and in this communication Sir Joseph
. was at last.left free to act as he considered best,
"whether the promised reinforcements had reached
him or not. C

The time of receipt of this letter is noted by
Sir Joseph.Thackwell as 8.80 p.m.

The casualties: in the action of Sadulapore
amounted to 78, of whom 83 were killed.

v At about midnight on the same date the force
in front of Thackwell also began quickly to fall
back from the position it had taken up, and the



THACKWELL REINFORCED 268

whole Sikh army then, forsaking the richly culti-
vated lands on the banks of the Chenab, proceeded
to take up and entrench a fresh position in the
thick jungle bordering the Jhelum River.

At dawn on the 4th Lord Gough, finding the
position on the river bank evacuated, sent the
9th Lancers and 14th Light Dragoons in pursuit,
and at the same hour Godby’s ‘brigade—the
promised reinforcements—was still effecting its
passage of the ford of Ghurri-ki-Patten. The
crossing had been found to be exceedingly difficult ;
it was too deep to.admit of the troops wading
through it; the pontoons were of no service—
probably owing to the number and breadth of the
several channels; and finally boats—which Sir
Joseph had been directed to bring down from
Wazirabad—had to be made use of. It was. not
until 5 p.m. on the 8rd that, just as the action
at Sadulapore was closing, the work of embarkation
commenced, and by 8 p.m. only one complete
regiment, the 2nd Europeans, had been disem-
barked on the further bank. At 7 o'clock on the
morning of the 4th, Brigadier Godby joined- Sir
Joseph, bringing with him the 2nd Eurppeans and
the 70th Native Infantry, and it was 9 a.m. before’
the remainder of Godby’s troops left the western
bank and marched to join Thackwell-~close upon
24 hours since these reinforcements had left
Ramnuggar,” which was only some 10 mjles
distant. - :

In Lord Gough’s despatch dealing with the
operations connected with the passage of the
Chenab, and which is dated the 5th December—
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before he had received Sir Joseph’s report written ..
on the 6th—but which Lord Gough himself states
he did not receive until the night of the 9th, there
are several points which, in justice to Sir Joseph
Thackwell, seem to call for comment.

In paragraph 4 the following sentence occurs :

“This officer” (i.e. Sir Joseph) “moved upon
a ford which ] had every reason to consider very
practicable (and which I have since ascertained
was so), but which the Major-General deemed
so difficult and dangerous, that he proceeded (as
he was instructed should such turn out to be the
case) to Wazirabad.”

It appears that about the middle of November
Lord Gough had directed reports to be prepared
on the fords of the Chenab, that William Hodson
had . been employed on this duty, and that the
records of some of these inquiries have been pre-
served. While encamped at Ramnuggar the
Commander-in-Chief'  had instructed the Field
Ef)gineer, Major Tremenhere, to ascertain the
practicability of the fords on both flanks, in co-
operation with the officers of the Quartermaster-
General’s department, and in “The Life of Lord
" Gough ” the nature of the four fords upstream from
Ramnuggar has been thus epitomised :

“ Ghurri-ki- Patten.—Practicable, but too well
guarded.

“ Ranni-ki-Patten.—Practicable, but objection-

~ able on account of the steep bank, the
strength of the stream, and the passage
not being straight.
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“ Ali-Sher-ke-Chuk.—[Where, according to the
journals of both Sir Joseph and Sir Colin,
the force was intended to cross,] is described
as ‘ dangerous.’

“Wauzirabad.—The bed of the stream hard and
level, the current slack, and the passage
of sufficient breadth for crossing without
risk of any sort.”

From the above it may reasonably be inferred
that of the four crossings the last, where the
passage was actually effected, was the casiest, and
that Ghurri-ki-Patten came  next in order of
practicability—that its only objectionable feature
was the fact that it was guarded; we have seen,
however, what difficalties were experienced by
Godby’s single brigade in crossing, unopposed, at
this place. The practicability of any ford from
a military point of view cannot, however, be con-
sidered apart from the matter of the presence or
absence of the enemy on the further bank. Lord
Gough’s despatch on the 5th December describes
the fords of the Chenab as being “ most strictly
watched by a numerous and vigilant enemy &and
presenting more difficulties than most rivers.” The
evidence of Thackwell and Campbell is unanimous,
that at both Ranni-ki-Patten and Ali-Sher-ke-
Chuk the further bank was held by the enemy;
and under the circumstances it seems that Sir
Joseph was justified in availing himself of the dis-
cretionary power allowed him and in moving on to
Woazirabad, instead of endeavouring to force a
passage at one of these fords, known to the
Quartermaster-General’s department of the army
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as “objectionable ” or “dangerous,” and where a
crossing would be strongly opposed.

At the end of paragraph 5 of the same despatch
there occurs the following sentence :

“I was enabled to detach another brigade of
infantry, under Brigadier Godby, at daylight on
the 8rd, which effected the passage, with the aid of
pontoon train, six miles up the river, and got into
communication with Major-General Sir Joseph
Thackwell.”

That the passage of Godby's brigade was effected
quite independently of thc pontoons and with
boats brought thither by Sir Joseph, is a small
error due to the preparation of the despatch on
insufficient data, but what is more important is
that the wording of the latter part of the sentence
leaves it to be inferred that Godby was in com-
munication with Sir Joseph prior to the action of
Sadulapore, or indeed that he had actually joined
forces and so strengthened Thackwell sufficiently
to attack the Sikh army-—which, as has been shown,
was not the case.

At the beginning of paragraph 6 of the same
despatch we read:

“ Having communicated to Sir Joseph my views
and intentions, and although giving discretionary
powers to attack any portion of the Sikh force sent
to oppose him, I expressed a wish that, when he
covered the crossing of Brigadier Godby’s brigade,
he should await their junction, except the enemy
attempted to retreat; this induced him to halt
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within about three or four miles of the left of their
position.”

The instructions, conveyed to Sir Joseph before
leaving Ramnuggar by the Adjutant-General of
the army in the letter already quoted, are very
distinet : unless he can be in position ready to
attack the left of the Sikh entrenchment not later
than 1 o'clock in the day, the attack is to be
deferred ; “night work is to be avoided at all
times ;” provision is to be made for “ample day-
light” before an attack 'is initiated. (The im-
portance of not commencing operations late in the
day has, it may be remarked, been proved over and
over again in Indian frontier warfare, and disregard
of this rule has repeatedly led to disaster.) The
letter from Major Tremenhere positively directs
General Thackwell not to attack until reinforced
by a brigade of infantry and cavalry, which how-
ever had not started at 8.15 on the morning of the
8rd. Neither here nor elsewhere is there any
reservation about the enemy’s retreating, while’ it
was surely natural that the receipt of such explicit
orders should have induced Thackwell to halt—
sanction to advance, with or without reinforce-
ments, not being received until the action had
been already some considerable time in progress.

When Lord Gough sent away the force under
Sir Joseph Thackwell, the Commander-in-Chief did
not apparently count upon securing more than the
mere crossing of the Chenab; he hoped, indeed, that
the Sikhs would remain quietly in their trenches
opposite Ramnuggar until attacked in flank by
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Thackwell, and in front by the force under his
immediate command, but the possibility of the Sikh
commander holding Aim in front while an over-
whelming force was directed against Thackwell’s
advance, does not appear to have entered into
the Commander-in-Chief’s calculations. A letter
quoted in the * Life of Lord Gough,” written to his
son, and dated the day Thackwell’s force left
Ramnuggar, seems not only to show that the
Commander-in-Chief was not very sanguine as to
the prospect of success in what Colin Campbell
calls “a hazardous movement,” but that on that
date at least he was certainly doubtful as to
whether the river could be crossed where Thackwell
had been ordered to make the attempt.

“J attack to- morrow, ' he wrote ; “if my flank
will be successful, that is, if it can get across, every-
thing will go well if, on the contrary, they find
the ford imprac ticable, they will have to go on to
Wazirabad and force a passage. If my friends
opposite me move in any numbers, one way or the
other, I shall punish them ; but with a treacherous
river in my front, I cannot prevent their running
away. They have all the boats, and, by keeping
eight or ten guns at the only ford here, and send-
ing off the rest a couple of days’ march ahead, they
may say, ¢ Catch me who can.””

Sir Joseph Thackwell had carried out a difficult
operation, had executed to the letter the somewhat
contradictory orders received, and only the flight
of the Sikhs prevented the combined attack by him -
and Lord Gough upon the entrenched position at
Ramnuggar. But the menace of Thackwell’s
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advance was mainly responsible for the hurried
retirement of the enemy to the barren country of
the Jhelum, the abandonment of six guns, and the
destruction of a large quantity of gunpowder.
For the discrepancies, to which allusion has been
made, between some of the statements in Lord
Gough’s despatch of the 5th December and the
documentary evidence now here published, there
appears to be a very simple explanation, which is,
that no copies were kept by the Headquarter
Staff of the instructions sent to Major-General Sir
Joseph Thackwell, so that in the preparation of his
despatch the Commander-in-Chief had to rely, for
any record of his orders to his Second-in-Command,
upon the memory of his chief staff officer. On
the 6th December at Helah, some thirteen miles as
the crow flies to the west of Ramnuggar, Sir Joseph
received a letter from the Adjutant-General, which is
dated ‘ Ramnuggar, 5th December 1848, 73 a.m.,”
and of which the concluding sentence runs as follows:

“ Will you do me the favour to let me have copies
of the several notes, this onc included, I have
addressed to you by the Commander-in-Chief’s
direction since you left this ground—there was no
time to copy them before they were sent off.”

It is to be regretted that, even if the Commander-
in-Chief could not have withheld his despatch
to the (Governor-General until receipt of Sir Joseph
Thackwell’s report on his operations, Lord Gough
did not wait for the arrival of the copies of the
above-mentioned * notes ” to verify the correctness
of his recollection of his own instructions.
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ON the morning of the 4th December Major-
General Thackwell--leaving Brigadier Campbell
to follow with the infantry portion of the
force—pushed on with the cavalry in pursuit of
the Sikhs, with the intention of harassing their
retreat by the Dinghi, Jullalpore, and Pind
Dadun Khan roads. He was not, however,
able to overtake any of their guns, nor indeed
was anything seen of the enemy, in spite of
the fact that he pursued them direct and does
not appear to have rececived — until too late
to comply—orders for him to move first towards
the vacated entrenchment opposite Ramnuggar.
Sir Joseph took up a position for the night
with his whole force on the Jullalpore road,
about two and a half miles from the village of
Helah, and twelve in front of Ramnuggar, and
here the 14th Light Dragoons joined the column
in the evening.

The following letters were received from Head-
quarters during the day. The first is from Lord
Gough, evidently written before he knew of the

general retirement of the enemy.
270
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RamNUGoaR, 2 a.m
4th December.

“ My DEAR THACKWELL,

“ Not having heard from you, I hardly know
what to say. I hope Brigadier Godby has joined
you with reinforcements both with cavalry and
guns, but this fearful river and want of boats
embarrasses us much. Pray communicate with
me by an officer, who can cross at our pontoon
bridge, which I will ride over to this morning if I
can be spared here. I should like to see Nicholson
at it, at this side, with some intelligent officer from
you—say at 7 o’clock—that is, if the enemy have
not retired during the night.

“ Sincerely yours,
“ GOUGH.
1 hope you have got your ammunition. What
is the enemy’s position—how far from you ?”

The next letter is from Colonel Grant, dated the
same day as the last, but at 8.15 a.m.

“My DEAR Sirk JOSEPH,

“The enemy has blown up his magazines
and abandoned his position directly in front of the
clump of trees. The Commander-in-Chief requests
you will feel your way up in this direction, and he
will send the 9th Lancers across the now open ford
here to reinforce you and enahle you to pursue with
fresh cavalry the enemy supposed to be retreating,
and perhaps admit of your cutting off a portion of
his guns before he gets away to any great distance.

“ Provisions for your men and horses will be
crossed here and be in readiness for you by the
time you reach the enemy’s abandoned position.

“ We have not had a line from you subsequent
to your note of yesterday intimating that you had
got possession of the Ghurri-ki-Patten ford—not a
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word about your action jn the afternoon has
reached us, and the Chief is intensely anxious for
intelligence of your proceedings.
“Yours sincerely,
“ PaT. GRANT.”

The date of the following is indecipherable, the
paper being much worn and rubbed, but from the
contents it would appear to have been written
shortly after the foregoing letter from Grant:

“MyY DEAR THACKWELL,

“ Four Jhansie guns have left the ford at
4 o’clock this morning drawn by bullocks. The
9th Lancers are just going to cross to reinforce you.
Feel to your left with infantry to this ford and to
your front with cavalry.
“ I leave everything to you, but don’t endanger
your men ; capture the guns if you can.
“ Yours very sincerely,
“ GouGH.”

On Tuesday the 5th Sir Joseph’s diary records:

“ Marched at 7 am. to Helah. The Third
Division encamped in rear of Helah. The 14th
Dragoons and 8th Light Cavalry pushed on to
Dinghi to return to-night. The 9th Lancers (which
had joined during the night) and 5th Light Cavalry,
‘with Huish’s troop of artillery, moved on eight
miles in front ” (on the Jullalpore road) “to return
to-night. 1 have the 8rd Light Dragoons, two
troops of artillery and the 8rd Irregular Cavalry.
The troops detailed returned in the night. A
Sikh rear-guard is at Pind Dadun Khan within two
coss of Jullalpore.”

None of the enemy’s troops or guns were, how-
ever, avertaken.
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In a note from the Commander-in-Chief dated
6 a.m. the 5th December, Lord Gough apparently
contemplated his advance troops moving on to
Dinghi, for he impresses on General Thackwell the
importance of all pursuing troops returning to camp
at Dinghi for the night.

“ White’s brigade,” he continues, “had better
halt to-day with the Horse Artillery and get all
their tents and baggage up with their provisions.
I shall cross over and encamp with the Cavalry
Brigade under White or the infantry under
Campbell, if not too far in advance. Let me
know by an officer where each will be this evening
encamped and the distance. Concentrate as much
as you can, but do not fatigue and overwork your
men.”

Later, however, a note, written an hour and a
half after that above quoted from Lord Gough,
was received from Colonel Grant saying that as
the Commander-in-Chief had since learnt that the
enemy had gone off by three routes towards the
Jhelum, Thackwell was now to collect his entire
force and form a camp at Helah, which was to
be his ¢ fixed point,” although he was at liberty to
send his cavalry out in any direction he might think
desirable, but it was again impressed upon him that
they -were invariably to be recalled by dusk.

On the 6th Lord Gough paid a flying visit to
Helah, returning to Ramnuggar on the following
day. ‘ He inspected the cavalry,” writes Sir Joseph,
“and was much pleased with their appearance and
the position I had taken up. He also seemed
pleased at the operations which brought me here.”

18
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On this day Sir Joseph Thackwell wrote his
report. on the operations covered by the period
since he left Ramnuggar on the night of the 80th
November, but there is no explanation forthcoming
as to why it was not seen by the Commander-in-
Chief until the evening of the 9th December. But
the, probable reason is that while Sir Joseph’s
despatch was written in the rough on the 5th, the
belated arrival of the baggage from the rear had
prevented its being before reduced to the proper
official form. On the 9th Lord Gough, in the post-
script to a note, says, “For God’s sake send me in
your report ; the press will be open-mouthed at its
long delay.” The despatch was then no doubt on
its way to Ramnuggar and cannot have been long
retained by the Commander-in-Chief before trans-
mission to the Governor-General, then at Umballa,
since Lord Gough’s covering letter is dater the 10th.
It seems that it was Lord Dalhousie who was
responsible for the delay in publication, since he
took exception to the insertion in the report of
the name of a particular individual, and appears to
have returned the document to the Commander-in-
Chief in order that the name might be expunged.

Sir Joseph had attached to his staff a young
fellow in whom he took a kindly interest, of the
name of Angelo. This young gentleman was seek-
ing to establish a claim to a cadetship in, the
Company’s Service—which he was subsequently
granted—and having volunteered for service in the
campaign, was, with the sanction of the Head-
quarter Staff, allowed to join Sir Joseph in the
capacity of extra aide-de-camp. That the appoint-
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ment had official sanction there can be no doubt,
for in General Thackwell’s diary, under the date of
the 7th November, appears the entry: « I called on
Grant and settled about young Angelo,” and in
the Sadulapore despatch Sir Joseph had mentioned
Angelo’s services, alluding to him as “extra aide-
de-camp.” There was excellent ¥“ecedent for such
a procedure, for in Lord Gough’s despatch dated
19th December 1845, on the battle of Moodkee, he
includes among the casualties in the *Cavalry
Division Staff” the name of *“ Volunteer Mr. A.
Alexander, A.D.C.to Brigadier Gough,” as severely
wounded.

To Lord Dalhousie it did not, however, seem
fitting that such a title should be accorded to one
who held no military rank, and the despatch was
returned to the Commander-in-Chief by the
Governor-General with the suggestion that the
paragraph to which exception had been taken
should be expunged. Writing to Sir Joseph on
the 24th December, Lord Gough says that he had
received the enclosure ** last night from the G.G.”
and that “he would strongly advise” General
Thackwell “to do as the Governor-General
suggests.” On the same day Sir Joseph replied
that, « agreeable to the suggestion of the Governor-
General, and to your Lordship’s advice, 1 beg that
the name of Mr. Volunteer Angelo may be erased
from my despatch.”

The report was again returned to the Governor-
General, and was finally published on the 81st
January at Ferozepore—more than a month later.
Contemporary writers have generally attributed to
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the Commander-in-Chief the blame for the belated
publication of the Sadulapore despatch, but it
seems clear that it was Lord Dalhousie’s somewhat
uhmnecessary insistence upon a matter of trivial
punctilio, which was responsible for the narrative of
the crossing of the Chenab being given to the
world, when at least local interest had greatly
subsided, and when the minds of men in India and
at home were occupied with later events, and
oppressed with the desperate fighting at Chillian-
wala.

In his covering letter to Sir Joseph Thackwell’s
report, Lord Gough expresses * warm approval of
the conduct of the Major-General,” and although
he thereby does a tardy and none too ample justice
to his second in command, the Commander-in-
Chief still says nothing to correct any false im-
pression which might have been conveyed by the
terms of his despatch of the 5th December,
describing the operations of the force detached
from Ramnuggar—a despatch, moreover, which
was written before the whole facts were before
him. The evidence which has been given in
Chapter XIV makes it clear that the ford at
Ali-Sher-ke-Chuk was the one by which Sir Joseph
was to endeavour to cross ; and a perusal of General
Thackwell's despatch shows that very particular
attention was given to its examination, and that
the decision to proceed to Wazirabad was not
come to until the possibility of crossing either at
Ranni-ki-Patten or at Ali-Sher-ke-Chuk had been
considered from every point of view. It would be
interesting to know the grounds upon which the
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statement is made on page 196 of « The Life of
Lord Gough,” that « Thackwell never found the
real ford.”

General Thackwell’s loyal determination to leave
no stone unturned to carry out his orders, is shown
by the resolve—contrary to the advice of Sir Colin
Campbell—to try the distant, but—as reported—
easy ford of Wazirabad. Sir Joseph’s despatch
proves that even here the difficulties of the cross-
ing had been much underestimated ; although .
Nicholson had staked out two-thirds of the ford,
three sowars of the 8rd Irregular Cavalry were
drowned while attempting the passage after dark-
ness had begun to fall, while it was necessary to
pass almost the whole of the infantry over in
boats.

It will be seen from Thackwell’s report that on
the morning of the 8rd December he was actually
on the march to attack the left of the Sikh
position, and had arrived within four miles of it,
when he received orders to wait for reinforcements
crossing at Ghurri-ki-Patten. At that time—it
would have been about 9.80 a.m., since he hoped
to attack at 11—he had already marched several
miles beyond the ford, and had now to halt, send
to secure the passage, and await the promised
reinforcements ; but Sir Joseph must have already
plainly realised that there would be no time to
march on the Sikh position and attack by daylight,
if he was to wait until Godby joined him.

At 2 p.m. he was himself attacked ; and after the
action had been some time in progress,—at 8.80 p.m.,
as recorded by General Thackwell,~—the prohibition
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against attacking single-handed was removed, but
it was 4 p.m. before the British guns had obtained
any real superiority over the Sikh artillery, or
sufficient to warrant an advance against an enemy
in the strong position from which it would have
been necessary to dislodge them, before moving on
to a fresh attack upon the flank of the entrench-
ment opposite Ramnuggar.

To the relief which the Commander-in-Chief
must have felt at the successful accomplishment of
the passage of the Chenab and the consequent
retirement of the Sikhs, there succeeded, as was
perhaps natural, a feeling that more might have
been done, since these results had been attained so
expeditiously and with such'little loss of life;
and that perhaps an opportunity had been missed
of punishing the enemy during their retreat to the
Jhelum. A perusal of the Governor-General’s
order shows that Lord Dalhousie, with a finer sense
of proportion, better appreciated the advantage
gained and the nature of the difficult and hazardous
operations by which success had been assured.

Other and less charitable reasons for the delay
in the publication of Sir Joseph’s report have been
put forward by some writers—notably by Thorburn
and Malleson. The former says that after Lord
Gough’s “ grandiloquent despatch” of the 5th
December, the immediate publication of ¢ Thack-
well’s plain unvarnished tale ” would have tended
to diminish the value of the remarks by the
Commander-in-Chief, who had hastened to an-
nounce to the Governor-General results which
dctual events hardly bore out.
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To return to Sir Joseph’s diary.

“7th December.—All quiet, but it seems certain
that the Sikhs are entrenching themselves at
Moong, having been encouraged by the arrival of
4 battalions and 12 guns from Peshawar, with a
regiment of sowars. Four battalions and 12 guns
more are expected in a few days.”

“ 8th.—Brigadier Campbell and the infantry
moved into line to-day and occupied the centre of
my position.”

“ 9th.—Brigadier Brooke came in last evening
with 8 troops of Reserve (Horse) Artillery.”

“10th.—Went out with a squadron of the
cavalry, and I made a' reconnaissance towards
Moong, the position of the Sikh army, to near the
village of Chuk; found the road practicable, but
from the continued jungle for nearly six miles, it is
by no means desirable to advance by such a route
with the chance of opposition, if another can be
found less difficult.”

Lord Gough had ere this received very explicit
instructions from the Governor-General, not to
move forward until the fall of Multan should set
free the column under General Whish.

“12th.—Lord Gough made a reconnaissance to
Phallia, and I accompanied him. He had a guard of
two squadrons of the 8rd Light Dragoons, one of
the 8th and one of the 5th Light Cavalry.
Phallia is on the road from Ramnuggar to Pind
Dadun Khan.”

Lord Gough now resolved to concentrate his
force at Wazirabad, holding Gujerat as an ad-
vanced post, and on the 14th he wrote to Thack-
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well saying he could make no movement -until the
26th, when he expected the arrival of “ an immense
convoy ” with the 20th Native Infantry, and would
then send a2 brigade to Wazirabad and commence
his own move thither. Writing again on Saturday
the 16th the Commander-in-Chief says :

“I have this day sent Pope’s brigade to
Wazirabad, and we shall all probably make a
movement on Monday. The position I propose to
take up is with my right (or rather your right)
rather in rear of or resting on Bagran with the left
thrown back in the direction of Kienwallee. This
covers both Gujerat and Ramnuggar, and brings
me so near to Dinghi that if the Sikhs occupy it 1
may be enabled, if' I can get leave, to attack them.
At present I am under the ban of the G.G. I
shalF with Headquarters ecross the river on
Monday, please God, and will join your camp with
the Headquarters either on that or the following
day. Keep all this, however, to yourself, but be
prepared to move at a moment’s notice. You will
take care not to let the Sikhs occupy Gujerat ; you
must be before them.”

The various reconnaissances which had been
made of the approaches to the enemy’s position
at Moong, and a report transmitted by Thackwell
late on the 16th that it was rumoured that Sher
Singh was likely to occupy Dinghi with: the
Peshawar troops, induced Lord Gough to change
his intention of proceeding to Wazirabad ; and Sir
Joseph was directed to stand fast at Helah, since
it seemed to the Commander-in-Chief that, with
‘Sher Singh at Dinghi, the Sikhs might cross the
‘Chenab below Ramnuggar and strike at the
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British communications. Headquarters crossed
the river on the 18th, but remained on the right
bank.

“19th.—At nearly 8 p.m. the enemy fired a
salute of between 60 and 70 guns—I counted 61—
but the reason is only conjectured. Some say it
is on account of the treaty between Chutter Singh
and Dost Mohamed; others that four regiments
from Multan and a large body of Gulab Singh’s
troops were then within fifteen miles of their camp
and about to join them.”

On the 29th December the Headquarters closed
up to Janukee.

“2nd January 1849.—1It is said the Sikhs are
throwing a bridge over the Jhelum at Tupai about
a mile below Lassoorie and that Sher Singh is
three miles from Moong.”

“8th.—At 1 pm. I made a reconnaissance to a
hill about seven miles from camp and three from
the Sikh post at Tronwala. Had a beautiful view
over the country and the Sikh camp at Russool,
all quite clear, and distant from Tronwala about

6 miles.”

On the 9th I.ord Gough moved to Loah Tibba,
three miles nearer Dinghi, from which the Sikhs had
now retired—the prohibition against an advance
having apparently been definitely removed on the
7th—and on the following day he reached Lus-
soorie, where he was joined by the force under
Sir Joseph Thackwell and by Brigadier Penny’s
brigade, which latter had up to this remained
at Ramnuggar. On the 12th the whole army
marched.to Dinghi and encamped nearly a mile to
the westward of the town.
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When Alexander the Great had eonquered
Persia he passed on to India, ever the goal of every
conqueror, who had pointed out to those whom he
led that its wealth would repay them for all their
toils and ' sufferings. He passed through the
Khyber, crossed over the Indus at Attock in April
827 B.c., and—

“found the Punjab divided into a number of
Hindu states, jealous of each other to a degree,
which kept them from uniting to oppose his
rogress. On the banks of the Jhelum or
Elydaspes, he was encountered by a considerable
native army under a local raja, whom the Greeks
knew by the name of Porus. But the tactics of
the Macedonian were too much for the multi-
tudinous army of the unpractised Asiatic. Leaving
his camp in its original position, Alexander
moved a strong division, unperceived, a few miles
up the river, to a ford. Here he crossed early in
the morning and fell upon the Indian host while
they were engaged in opposing the portion of the
Macedonian force that had been left in their front.”?

It was within a stone’s throw of this historic
battlefield that Sher Singh, with the Sikh Sirdars,
had taken up his ground to oppose the advance of
the British.

The army under Sher Singh, estimated by Lord
Gough at 80,000 to 40,000 men, with 62 guns,
was daily expecting to be reinforced by the troops
under Chutter Singh set free by the fall of Attock.
‘To oppose the enemy already present in his front,
the British Commander-in-Chief could dispose of
from 11,000 to 12,000 men, with 60 guns. These

! Keene.
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are Lord Gough's own figures as given to the
Governor-General in a letter dated 11th January;
but in an account of the ‘ Battles of Chillianwala
and Gujerat,” contributed to the Journal of the
Royal United Service Institution in March 1895
by General Sir Charles Gough, V.C,, K.C.B,, it is
stated that “the force at Lord Gough's disposal
amounted to about 24,000 men all told and 66 guns.”
These are approximately the numbers given in
Appendix B of Lawrence Archer’s “ Commentaries
on the Punjab Campaign,” and which are taken
from the returns dated 1st January 1849 ; but it
would seem that these figures cannot altogether
be relied upon, for in many cases the strengths of
the corps are shown as hardly differing from those
given on the 1st of the October previous, while
in one or two instances regiments are taken as
being even stronger at Chillianwala than at the
commencement of the campaign.

It is possible that this might be accounted for
in the case of native cavalry and infantry corps by
the return of the men from furlough, but it may
probably be taken for granted that KEuropean
regiments at any rate took the field at their full
available strength, and that their numbers are far
more likely to have been reduced than augmented
during the progress of the campaign. The authors,
moreover, of “ The Sikhs and the Sikh Wars” put
the whole British force at about 14,000 men, with
66 guns, placing the effectives of the units of
cavalry and infantry at not less than 200 per corps
fewer than are shown in the returns quoted by
Lawrence Archer. If, then, from this total are



284 THE SIKH POSITION

subtracted the mecessary baggage guard—which
on the occasion of Chillianwala consisted of three
guns of a field battery, two regiments of Irregular
Horse, and a battalion of Native Infantry—it would
seem that IL.ord Gough was not far wrong in his
estimate of the numbers of men and guns which
he expected to be able to bring into action, as
stated in his letter to Lord Dalhousie written two
days prior to the battle.

Once again, as at Sobraon, had the Sikhs taken
up a position with their backs to a wide river.
Their left rested on the heights of Russool—a
rugged range of low hills sloping gently towards
the plain—while on the side towards the Jhelum,
from which it is separated by a sandy plain, there
were innumerable ravines and precipitous cliffs.
The village of Russool itself was perched upon a
high bluff surrounded by deep ravines, and was
only approachable by a narrow causeway some eight
feet in width. Sir Joseph, who, some days after the
battle, went over the position, says that «the Sikhs
had three lines of batteries to the east of it.”

From Russool the line, passing by Lullianee,
Kot Baloch, Fatehshah-ke-Chuk, and Moong, ended
on the right at Luckneewala. Sher Singh himself,
with the chief portion of his immediate followers,
was about Moong and Kot Baloch, the Bunnu
troops were on the right at ILuckneewala, the
Peshawar force was at Fatehshah-ke-Chuk, while
the line of the Jhelum and the strongly entrenched
and defended position about Russool—in rear
of which latter boats had been collected, and
preparations made for the construction of a bridge
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—were held by large numbers of Sikh irregular
troops. The whole country along the front of the
position taken up by the Sikhs, for several miles
to the south and east of the village of Chillianwala,
was covered by dense thorny jungle, attaining in
some places to the height of seven or eight feet;
it was, however, rather less thick about Dinghi,
whence, too, a frequented road led towards Russool.
Near Moojeawala, and thence to Chillianwala,
and for about half a mile beyond this village, the
ground was fairly open. '

On the evening of the 12th January Lord
Gough called together his generals and brigadiers
to receive his instructions for the morrow.

These officers were furnished with a rough plan
of the enemy’s position, put together from the
various reports of the reconnaissances carried out
by the cavalry while at Helsh, and also with a
statement of the strength of the Sikh forces. This
latter peper, which appears to be in Colonel Grant’s
handwriting, contains the following information ;

~

“ Memo. of the enemy’s strength, 12th January.

“ At Luckneewala (the right of their position) :
the Bunnu troops under Ram Singh, one
regiment of cavalry, four of infantry, and
eleven guns.

“ Fatehshah-ke-Chuk: Sirdar Atar Singh and
Lal Singh, with two regiments of cavalry,
six old and four new corps of infantry, and
seventeen guns.

“ At Lulliawala: Sher Singh, with one regiment
of cavalry, five old and four new regiments
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of infantry, and twenty gums, with main
body of Ghoorchurrahs, about 4,000,

“ At Russool (the extreme left) are two new -

infantry corps, and seven guns.

“ At Moong: Soorut Singh, with three guns in”

(ill'egib%e).

At 7am. on the 8Ist the army advanced
towards Chillianwala, whence the Commander-in-
Chief proposed to effect a reconnaissance, and
elaborate his plans for attacking the Sikh centre,

breaking through their entrenched line and separa-
ting the regular from the irregular troops.

“The army,” says Sir Joseph, *advanced in
brigade column of cavalry, artillery, and infantry
towards the Sikh position. FEach column formed
its own advanced guard, and the heads of
columns were to be 100 yards from each other.
The right wing moved in column, left in front,
and the left wing right in front, directed by the
heavy battery, in front of which was the Com-
mander-in-Chief.”

A considerable detour was made to the right,
partly in order to deceive the enemy, and partly
to avoid the jungle; and on approaching the village
of Chillianwala it was found that a low hill on the
right of and overlooking the village was occupied
by a Sikh outpost, composed of both cavalry and
infantry, which was quickly dislodged.

The whole army advanced up to Chillianwala,
and from the top of a house in the village, Lord
Gough was enabled to obtain a fair view of the
jungle-covered ground for some three miles to his
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front. It is true that he was prevented from
discovering precisely the strength and limits of the
enemy’s position, or of accurately locating their
guns; but he could see that Sher Singh had
moved to the front out of his entrenchments. It
was by now, however, close upon 2 o’clock, the
jungle was very thick, and Lord Gaugh had
resolved to postpone the attack until the next day,
encamping for the night in the vicinity of Chillian-
wala, where there was abundant water. Preparations
for laying out the camp were already in progress,
when the Sikhs advanced some horse artillery
guns, and opened fire upon the British outposts.
To silence these, the heavy guns under Major
Horsford were immediately sent forward to the
front of the village of Chillianwala, whereupon the
Sikh commander replied at once with nearly
the whole of his artillery, thus exposing the extent
and situation of his position, which hitherto the
jungle had partially concealed. For half an hour
a comparatively ineffectual fire was maintained by
either side. It was by now 8 p.m. ; to encamp was
impossible, retreat was out of the question, and
Lord Gough resolved upon an immediate attack.



CHAPTER XVII

IN order properly to follow the course of a battle
fought in thick jungle and of which_the incidents
are necessarily somewhat confused, it is as well
that the arrangement of the divisions and brigades,
and the position at the outset of the several arms
should be clearly understood.

On the right of the British line, which was
about & mile and a half in length, was the Second
Cavalry Brigade under Brigadier Pope, C.B., of
the 5th Light Cavalry—the 9th Lancers, the 14th
Light Dragoons, the st and 6th Light Cavalry.
With this brigade were the three troops,of Horse
Artillery commanded by Lane, Christie, and
Huish—the whole under Colonel Grant.

On the left of the Second Cavalry Brigade
was Gilbert’s (the Second)  Infantry Division,
with Godby’s brigade on the right and that of
Mountain on the lett, while between the two
brigades was No. 17 Field Battery, under Dawes.

In the centre of the line and between the two
infantry divisions were Horsford’s two heavy

" batteries, each composed of feur 18-pounders and
two 8-inch howitzers.

Then came Colin Campbell’s division, Penny-
288
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cuick’s brigade being on the right next to the
heavy guns, while Hoggan was on the left. No. 5
Field Battery, under Mowatt, and half of No. 10
Field Battery, under Robertson, were attached to
the Third ‘Division, and Campbell accordingly
placed Mowatt’s guns between his brigades, and
those of Robertson on the left of Hoggan.

On the left of the army were three troops of
Horse <Artillery, commanded respectively by
Warner, Duncan, and Fordyce—the whole under
Colonel Brind '—flanked by the First Cavalry
Brigade, commanded by Brigadier White of the
8rd Light Dragoons, with whom was Sir Joseph -
Thackwell. The brigade was composed of the 8rd
Light Dragoons and the 5th and Oth Light Cavalry.

The Reserve was formed of two native mfantry
regiments of Brigadier Penny’s brigade, his
remaining battalion, with two regiments of
Irregular Horse and the remaining three guns
of Robertson’s battery, being, as has already been
stated,- placed in charge of the baggage, under
Brigadier Hearsey.

The troops, having deployed, were ordered to
lie down, whilst the heavy guns, supported by the
field batteries with the infantry divisions, opened
fire upon the Sikh centre, where the bulk of the
cnemy’s artillery appeared to be posted, and after
about an hour’s cannonading—* about 2 o’clock,”’
states €olin Campbell, while Sir Charles Gough
says ¢ 8 p.m. or a little later "—the Third Division
was directed to advance, and very shortly after-
wards the same orders were conveyed to Sir

! Afterwards General Sir James Brind, G.C.I3.
19
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Walter Gilbert, the cavalry under Pope being
posted to protect the right flank and support the
movement,

The author of “ The Narrative of the Second
Seikh War” states that the Staff Officer who
brought to Campbell the order to advance,
directed him to “carry the guns in his front
without delay at the point of the bayonet.”
Campbell himself makes no mention of this in
his journal, but the officer who succeeded to the
commang of the Twenty-fourth, on the colonel
‘being killed, has left it on record that Campbell
particularly enjoined the regiment to  advance
without firing ; while Lawrence-Archer, who was
attached to the 24th Regiment, states that the
Brigadier-General, addressing the men, said,
“there must be no firing, the bayonet must do
the work ”— before riding off to the left to
accompany the advance of Hoggan's brigade. In
his report on the action, too, Campbell states that
“ the batteries were carried without a shot being fired
by the regiment or a musquet taken from the
shoulder,” which Lord Gough describes as * an act
of madness.” Before the advance commenced,
Campbell had made up his mind that the nature
of the ground made it impossible that he could
personally direct the attack of both the. brigades
of his division, and he accordingly decided to
remain with his left brigade as being the one
more liable to be outflanked. If this abrogation
of his proper duties of a divisional commander
ean be justified—which may well be questioned
from the fact that Gilbert, advancing through
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even thicker country, retained throughout his
hold on both his brigades—it seems unfortunate
that of the two, Campbell did not elect to move
with Pennycuick’s brigade, in front of which
the ground seems to have been even more wooded
than it was on the left; while the right brigade
contained, moreover, a regiment which, although
far stronger® than any other corps on the ground,
was full of -young, ardent soldiers just out from
home, led by officers and commanded by a colonel
to whom very many of them were complete
strangers.

The three troops of horse artillery on the left
moved forward under Colonel Brind and engaged
the Sikh batteries directly in front. At the
commencement of the advance White’s cavalry
brigade was much thrown back-—this flank being
thus refused—-so that the further the forward move-
ment of the general line was continued, the greater
must the interval become between White’s cavalry
and the left of the Third Division. Sir Joseph
Thackwell was fully alive to this danger, and
had early despatched Lieutenant Tucker, his
D.A.Q.M.G., to see that the distance was not
permitted to become excessive. Brind’s guns were
firing on the Sikh batteries for some three-quarters
of an hour, and had twice silenced them, the enemy
returning to their guns directly the British fire
showed any sign of slackening. On the extreme
south of the enemy’s position the Sikhs had
assembled a large body of cavalry, and these horse-

! The Twenty-fourth —pace Macpherson—went into action exactly
1,100 strong, including officers.
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men became more daring, and manceuvred with the
intention of turning the British left ; < but the eagle
eye of Sir Joseph Thackwell,” to quote the records
of the 8rd- Dragoons, “instantly detected their
object,” and he ordered & squadron of the 8rd Light
Dragoons” and the §th Light Cavalry to charge,
drive back the Sikh horsemen, and then endeavour
to take thé guns in flank, whilst a part of the
remaining cavalry of the First Brigade attacked
in front. The 5th Light Cavalry came upon
& large mass of Sikhs, and were received with
a heavy musketry fire, and, being much broken up
by the thick jungle through which they had passed,
were repulsed, but were quickly rallied on the
8th Light Cavalry.

The 4th (the grey) squadron of the 8rd Light
Dragoons, under Captain Walter Unett, coming
possibly on a somewhat smaller body of the enemy,
broke through them. The following is Unett’s
account of this dashing charge :

“On returning from reporting myself to the
officer commanding the 5th Light Cavalry, I
saw the enemy’s line, who just commenced to open
fire at a distance of about seventy or eighty yards,
at the edge of a low, thorny jungle. We were
on low ground, but open to the enemy, had just
passed through jungle with stunted trees, in line
with the 5th Light Cavalry, the same as one
regiment. Their bugle sounded the ¢ charge,” and
we instantly started and drove through the centre
of the enemy’s gole at the utmost speed as the
formation of the enemy and nature of the ground
where they stood would admit of, They closed
in on our flank, and it was pell-mell.  In one minute
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I had received three blows from different men on
my left when engaged on my right front, viz.
a sword-cut from the right side of the neck to
the left shoulder, a spear-wound on the right side,
and a blow with a matchlock agross the loins. We
then got pretty clear of the enemy, and 1 killed
a Goorchurrah at least 900 yards (upwards of half
a mile) in rear of their gol);. I then found, my-
self entirely alone, and the first man I saw was
Private Galloway. We rallied a .few more, as
we were dreadfully broken up, and instantly
charged back through the enemy to our old ground.
They did not offer so much opposition, but opened
out, and abused us as we passed. I mention this
little circumstance to show that we were (or many
of us) considerably in rear of the enemy’s gole—-
I have always thought a mile. We could not,
from the casualties, confusion, and juhgle, /il meet
and come back at the same time, but we were
pretty near the three officers with parties. 1T
think this caused greater panic and dismay to the
enemy, for they could not tell at what point we
were coming through them, and on our re-forming
they retired off the field. ~As to the 5th Light
Cavalry, we never saw anything of them, and
by Captain Wheatley’s official report they were
‘repulsed and driven back.” Our loss in kill%d and
wounded will pretty well show where we charged : -
out of my squadron of 106 men, including 8 officers,
we had 23 killed and 17 wounded—total 40,' with
18 horses killed and 8 wounded (including one
officer’s horse)—-total 26, and on re-forming we had
only 48 men in their saddles.”

! Captain Unett does not mention that of the three officers present
two were wounded. The other subaltern was Lieutenant Stisted, son
of the Colonel Stisted with whom Sir Joseph had exchanged to the
3rd Light Dragoons in 1837,
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The account of Lieutenant MacQueen, who
commanded the right troop of the squadron in
the charge; differs slightly in some particulars.
He says:

“Soon after the enemy’s guns had opened on our
brigade, Colonel Yerbury received an order to send
as ua.dron to join the 5th Light Cavalry to assist

% back a body of the enem f{s horse who
were "at hat time threatening our flank.
this time I could only see the tops of the spears
which some of the Goorchurrahs garried; but
after crossing the low ground and ascendmg the
short slope on the opposite side, we came in full
view of the' enemy at about 850 yards to our
front. They‘ appeared to be about 800 strong, and
they stood in line, but were formed into two
bodies by a small interval which separated them.
As soon as we came in full view of them the
trumpet sounded the ‘ gallop,’ and we went on as
steadily as the jungle through which we were
passing would admit’ of, until we came to within
60 or 70 yards of them, when they opened a
heavy fire of musketry on us. At this moment
the order to charge was given, and as the left body
of the Goorchurrahs stood exactly perpendicular
to our front, the charge of our squadron was made
right through the centre of that body.

“The squadron was rallied again at about 800
yards to the rear of where the enemy stood, and
then, but not till then, 1 perceived that the Fifth—
had not charged with us, and that we were alone.
At the same time I also observed that the
Goorchurrahs had re-formed their line on nearly
the same ground on which we had just charged
through tﬁr They seecmed merely to have
countermarched and were apparently again waiting
toreceive our attack. We tEerefore again advanced
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towards them, but this time, instead of receiving
our charge as before, after firing a few shots they
opened out and got behind the trees and bushgs
in the jungle, and as we passed through them the
wheeled their horses round, and came on pell-mell
with us, nearly to the ground where we first joined
the 5th Cavaf;y and commenced our first advance.
Here we again rallied the squadron,” whem the
Goorchurrahs who had followed us turned antl fled.
The squadron went to join the regiment, which had
gone off nearly a mile to the right.”

It is now time to see what had necessitated the
movement to the right by the Cavalry Brigade
 immediately under the orders of -Sir Joseph
"Thackwell.

Colin Campbell states in his journal that the
Staff Officer who dirccted him to advance, told him
he would be supported by Brind’s guns on the left,
but Colonel Brind does not appear to have con-
sidered that he was in any way at Campbell’s
disposal, for in a letter to Sir Joscph he mentions
having afterwards heard that some assertion of this
nature had been made, and pertinently asks, « If my
guns were under his orders, why did he not exercise
some control ¢”

Campbell’s two brigades appecar to have
advanced simultaneously, but became almost at
once separated, and never saw one another after
the order to advance was given. Mowatt,
with the battery between the two brigades, was
to cover the advance of Pennycuick, and moved
forward in line with the skirmishers of that brigade;
but the advance was pushed so fast by Pennycuick
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that the front of Mowatt’s guns would appear to
have been quickly masked. Lawrence-Archer,
who was with the 24th Regiment in the centre
of this brigade, says that ground was more than
once taken to the right, a procedure which, in such
thick jungle as covered the front, naturally tended
to remove the brigade farther from the infantry on
the left, and from the supporting guns.

“ So close was the undergrowth, so numerous
the thorny trees and bushes, that not only was-
touch lost between brigades, but even between
the regiments of each brigade: the maintenance
of connection was hardly possible. By degrees
the line of infantry, exeept on -our left, where
obstacles were fewer, resolved themselves into
companies and groups of scrambling soldiers,
none able to see clearly twenty yards in any
direction, all pressing forward as fast as their
weary frames and nervous tension permitted,
toward the Sikh batteries in their front.” Trees
and scrub were full of the enemy’s sharpshooters.” !

And throughout this rapid movement the men under
Pennycuick, and especially the 24th Regiment, were
pounded by the heavy guns of the enemy; but,
rushing on without firing, the Twenty-fourth.
arrived breathless at the guns, in confused bodies,
and captured them at the point of the bayonet.
Their loss, however, had been heavy. Three field
officers .and five company commanders, besidés
other officers, had been killed or wounded, and
the casuglties among the other ranks were many ;
so that ‘when, unsupported, exhausted by their

! Thorburn.
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exertions and the rapid advance, they were received
by an overwhelming fire from the Sikh infantry
in rear of the guns, the remnant of the Twenty-
fourth fell back upon the village whence it had
advanced, the native infantry on either flank giving
way at the same time, and the whole being followed
up by the Sikh cavalry, until the advance -of the
brigades on the left and right caused the exultant
horsemen to withdraw.

In the mearitime, Hoggan's brigade, admirably
led by Campbell in person, was greatly assisted in
its advance by Mowatt’s guns—when no longer
able to cover Pennycuick’s movements—by the
Horse Artillery, under Brind, and by Robertson’s
three guns, which engaged and silenced the heavy
battery of the Sikhs, which otherwise would have
enfiladed the left brigade during its advance.
Neither in his journal nor in his report of the
action does Sir Colin give any especial credit to
the artillery on. his either flank for the success
which his advance achieved and merited, and which
he thus describes : '

¢ Although the jungle through which the 7th
Brigade passed was close and thick, causing frequent
breaks to be made in the line, yet by regulating
the pace so as to make allowance for these obstruc-
tions, the left brigade, after an advance of half a
mile, rcached a comparatively open tract of country
in a tolerably connected line. On this open tract
we found formed in our front a large body of
cavalry, and regular Sikh infantry which had played
upon us during our advance.
- “H.M.s 61st Regiment charged this cavalry,
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and put it to an immediate and disorderly flight,
while the "86th Native Infantry on the right made
an attack upon theif infantry, which, however, was
nbt successgxl, and in consequence they came down,
accompanied by two guns, upon the 86th Regiment,
obliging it to retreat in rear of H.M.’s Sixty-first.

“The two right companies of the Sixty-first
were instantly made to change front to the right,
and while the remainder of the regiment was
ordered to form rapidly in the same direction, the
two right companies chafged the two guns, and
captured them. 'The fire of these two companies
upon the enemy who were in pursuit of the Thirty-
sixth compelled them to desist and retreat.

«“ While the remainder of H.M.’s Sixty-first was
forming on those two companies, the enemy brought
forward two more guns and fresh infantry, upon
which those who had desisted from pursuit of the
Thirty-sixth again formed, and the whole opened a
heavy fire; this force was likewise charged by H.M.’s
61st Regiment, Eut to the rout, and the guns
captured. At the same time the 45th Native
Infantry, in its movement to form on the left of
H.M.’s Sixty-first, was attacked by a large body of
the enemy’s cavalry, which it gallantly repulsed.

“ The formation of the brigade on the flank of
the enemy’s line now being completed, it moved
forward, driving everything before it, capturing in
all thirteen guns, until it met with Brigadier
Mountain’s brigade advancing from the opposite
direction. The enemy retreated upon their guns,
which were in position along their line in twos and
threes, which they defended to the last moment in
succession, and were only obtained possessipn of by
us after a sharp contest, such as I have described
in the capture of the first two guns, and they were
all charged and taken by.H.M.’s 61st Regiment.
During these operations we were on two or three
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occasions threatened by the enemy’s cavalry on our
flank and rear, and were obligéd to face about and
drive them off. The guns were all spiked, but
having no means with the force to remove them,
and it being too small to admit of any portion
being withdrawn for their protection, they were,
with the exception of the last three taken, un-
avoidably left upon the field.”

In a letter written by General Mountain some
years aftérwards e Sir Joseph Thackwell, speaking
of this*period of the battle, Mountain says:

“We cleared the jungle, took all the guns in
our front, and silenced all opposition, and, having
done this, were then sent to our left and rear to
the assistance of Sir Colin Campbell, who was
threatened by the enemy, and had asked for a
reinforcement,”

On finding how sensibly the interval was
increasing between:himself and the Third Division,
owing to Campbell’s movement to the right, Sir
Joseph Thackwell had sent Warner's troop of
horse artillery, escorted by a squadron of the
8th Light Cavalry, to join and support Hoggan’s
brigade, and the rest of the cavalry brigade was
finally moved bodily to the right, and formed up
near Campbell and Mountain, opposite the centre
of the Sikh position. _ '

Gilbert’s division, its front covered by skirmishers,
had advanced steadily through the jungle in the
order already previously described, But its forward
movement was checked and endangered by the
-action of Pope’s.cavilry. The Commander of the
Second Cavalry Brigade, seeing a large body of
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the enemy’s horsemen on .the slopes of the hills
near Russool, detached, to protect his right flank, a
force under Colonel Lane pf the Horse Artillery,
consisting of a wing each of the 9th Lancers, the
1st and 6th Light Cavalry, Lane’s own guns and
two of Christie’s. There is but little to chronicle
in regard to Lane’s further share in the events of
the day, for he appears to have become completely
sepayated from the remainder of the cavalry; he
was given no further orders by Pope throughout
the action, he was unable to afford any assistance
to his Brigadier, and, although his guns did open
fire and check some of the enemy threatening his
own flank, he practically took but little further
part in the battle, and appears to have remained in
comparative ignorance of all that transpired on his
immediate left.

In regard to what occurred under Pope, it has
in many accounts been stated. that the Brigadier,
seeing a body of Sikh Horse in front of his line,
ordered the charge, but the evidence of the
9th Lancers and the 14th Light Dragoons—of
Hope Grant, Thompson, and Chetwynd—-does not
agree with this. A few of the enemy’s cavalry had
certainly been noticed in front, and the guns were
pushed forward—Pope, while the artillery were
coming into action, bringing on his brigade in one
long line at a trot. There were no scoyts or
skirmishers in front, and no support of any sort or
kind was fornied in rear. The line advanced in
the following order: the two squadrons of the
9th Lanoérd were on the exfreme right, on their
left were three troops of the 1st Light Cavalry,
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then three troops of the 6th Light Cavalry, while
on the left of the line were the four squadrons of
the 14th Light Dragoons; beyond these again’
were the guns. The Brigadier led the line in front
of the native cavalry, by the centre of which the
four regiments were dressing and regulating their
pace. The cavalry had already passed beyond the
line of the guns, and had to some extent covered
their front, thus masking their fire, when—accord-
ing to the Commander of the second squadron of
the 14th—the pace dropped to a walk, and then
the whole line came to a hait at the same moment
that some Sikh horsemen became visible in the
Jjungle immediately in front.

Hope Grant, who commanded the two squadrons
of the 9th Lancers, stated in his report that
his men—

* were proceeding on, steadily and changing their
direction a little to their left, when the native
cavalry began to chéer and charge. I,confess at
the time 1 could see no enemy except a party of
about fifty horsemen a good deal to pur right
flank, which . . . I took to be some of our own
Irregular Horse.”

Several explanations have. been put forward to
account for the rearward movement. Durand, in
the Calcutta Review, mentions that some = of
the sowars of the native cavalry afterwards told
Brigadier Godby, that their British officers were
fifty or sixty yards in' front of the line when the
enemy’s horse were sighted, and were theg ordered
back to their squadrons. That they came gallop-
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ing back at the moment when the cry of “ Threes
About” was raised, and so unwittingly helped to
strengthen the impression that the order was given
by authority. But it seems probable that what
then really occurred was that the Brigadier (of
whom it is asserted that he was not wounded in
the advance, as several writers have stated, but
during the retirement), recognising that his forward
movement had masked the fire of his own guns
and wishing to repair the error, gave, or intended
to give, the command * Threes Right,” so as to
clear the front ; but at this moment a close body
of some forty or fifty Sikh horsemen charged hotly
into the halted squadrons of native cavalry, when
the repeated word of command, as then passed on,
became ¢ Threes 4bout.” "That considerable con-
fusion and a certain amount of individual panic
ensued is admittcd by Hope Grant and other
leaders ; some of the guns which had been left in
rear of the cavalry were ridden over, and the
Sikh sowars, following wup, cut down several of
the gunners and capturcd four guns, two waggons,
and many Horses. It has in some quarters been
represented that the whole cavalry brigade fell
victims to an unreasoning panic and that there
was a general reckless stampede to the rear, but
it would seem that this was very far from being
the case. The testimony of some of the artillery
officers—the corps which suffered most—describes
the retreat as more of the nature of the ordinary
temporary retirement of a parade movement, that
it was ‘deliberate,” that “the men rode slowly
ta the rear”; while at any rate some of the
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squadrons retired in good order and at no faster
pace than a slow trot. The fatal mistake was
that there was no support in rearof the line—
nothing upon which the cavalry could re-form :
there was no common halting-point.

The story of this unhappy occurrence has been
handed down to posterity as one in which British
and native cavalry, actually committed to a
charge, suddenly went about &nd fled panic-stricken
from the field. It seems clear, however, that no
charge was either ordered or made, neither the
“Gallop” nor the “Charge” was sounded, nor
was there any present neced for either; but the
going about at an unfortunate moment in obedience
to an imaginary order, induced among individuals
of the four regiments a panic, easily communicable
in retirement, and to which the broken, wooded
nature of the ground—causing separation rather
than assisting re-formation—easily lent itself. -

Sir Joseph Thackwell greatly regrétted that he
had placed himself on the left; he had, as men-
tioned in his report on the action, iftended to
Join the right column of cavalry, but it being
stated that the enemy seemed' to be making a
movement to the left rear of the British, the
Commander of the cavalry division concluded
that at least an equally large body of the enemy’s
horse would be on the left as was present on the
right. Sir Joseph was President of a Court of
Inquiry convened to inquire into the conduct of
the cavalry of the Second Brigade, and the verdict
of the veteran cavalry commandgr, who had pro-
bably at that time seen more service with the
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mounted arm than any dragoon then serving in
any army, may well'be accepted as final.

“1 feel assured,” he said, “from what I hdve
heard of Brigadier Pope and the conduct of the
cavalry. of the right, that their retrograde move-
ment originated more from mistake, than a fear
of encountering an insignificant enemy.”

The untoward incident above described occurred
just as Gilbert was legding his division to the
attack, and he, ﬁnding his right uncovered by the
retirement of the cavalry, was obliged to refuse
his right brigade (Godby’s), to some extent, so
as to protect his flank, while he advanced on
the village between Kot Baloch and Tupai. Dur-
ing the whole of this advance Dawes’ field battery
was of the very greatest service. Covered by the
fire of these guns, the brigade under Mountain
advanced with great stcadiness upon a strong
battery of the enemy, charged and captured the
guns, while Godby’s brigade also carried the Sikh
guns in their fropt. The flank of this brigade
was now turned by the enemy and it was attacked
on three sides, but the onslaught was splendidly
met, and Dawes, moving to the right, poured in
a heavy fire and assisted to disperse the enemy.
The Reserve, under Penny, had been ordered up
by Lord Gough and, coming into action, was at
once hotly engaged on Godby’s right; and Camp-
bell's advance*bemmg now visible on the left,
Hoggan’s and Mountain’s brigades wheeled inwards
and the position was at last tdken, and the Sikhs
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driven from the field. They fled towards Russool
and across Lane’s front, and he, now opening a
heavy fire of grape, completely dispersed them.

As darkness fell upon the field the British were
in possession of the whole of the Sikh line and
the enemy had been driven back upon the Jhelum;
taking with them the four guns captured on the
right, but leaving thirteen of their own in our
hands and several more spikéd and useless on the
ground.

It was eight o’clock before the majority of the
wounded had been brought in, and then, there
being no water on the field, the British withdrew
to the village of Chillianwala for the night—an
unfortunate necessity, since, under cover of the
darkness, parties of Sikhs returned to the deserted
battlefield and carried off nearly all the guns
which had not been brought into camp that
evening. ;

The total loss .of the British force was 22
officers, 16 native officers and 659 men killed or
missing, while the wounded included 67 British
officers, 27 native officers and 1,547 rank and file,
or.a total killed and wounded of 2,838-—roughly,
17 ‘per cent. of the whole force engaged. The
loss of the enemy was never accurately esti-
mated, but there is no doubt that they too suffered
very severely.

Durand wrote in the Calcutta Review of General
Thackwell at Chillianwala that— -

“he did very great service on that memorable da
by maintaining an imposing front, working Brind’s
20
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ﬁms to advantage, and showing, by the gallant
nett's daring charge, that Atar Singh’s advance
from his ground without the support of his batteries
of position would meet with no respect from those
ready horsemen, and that, once in motion, the
Sikh chief might look for rough handling from
the 38rd Dragoons and their native comrades.
Thackwell acted wisely, cautiously, and firmly.”



CHAPTER XVIII

As was perhaps only to be expected, the general-
ship of Lord Gough on the 13th and the published
details of this attack upon a difficult position over
broken ground, induced a storm of criticism in the
Press, not only in England but in India, and there
were few soldiers of any eminence, who had taken
part in the campaign, who did not find themselves
the mark of anonymous scribblers. It has well
been said that—

“in the days of the Lawrences, and even later,
Government servants who had the gift were openly
Press correspondents or leader-writers, and in their
literary efforts not only eriticised the proceedings
of individual officers, but even of departments and
the Government itself. In some cases they edited
newspapers, and owed their advancement in the
service to the freedom and ability with which they
used their pens.”!

Among those who were attacked was Colin
Campbell, and to him the criticism with which he
was assailed and the mistakes which were attributed
to him in the conduct of his division at Chillianwala,
seem to have given more annoyance than similar
irresponsible vapourings gave to his contemporaries,

} Thorburn.
3807
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or to Lord Gough himself. - The strategy of the
campaign and the tactics of Chillianwala were
discussed by nobody with greater freedom than by
the editor of the Mofussilite, a newspaper published
at Agra. This writer was John Lang, a barrister
and a journalistic freelance, better known perhaps
for his celebrated and successful defence of Jotee
Pershad, the notorious army contractor.

Most soldiers followed the example of ILord
Gough and took no notice of newspaper comment,
but Colin Campbell seems. to have been especially
susceptible to criticism of  this kind, and on the
subject of the inadequate use made of his guns and
the small artillery support given to his division at
Chillianwala—in regard to which he seems to have
been blamed in the columns of the Mofussilite—
he had some correspondence with Sir Joseph
Thackwell, from which extracts will now be given.

On the 26th July Campbell wrote to Sir Joseph :

“1 take the liberty of enclosing for your perusal
a letter I have received from Lieutenant Robertson
of the artillery, who was posted with one half—
three guns—of No. 10 Field Battery on the left of
the Third Division of infantry when formed in line
on the left of the village of Chillianwala on the
18th of January, on its being ordered by the Com-
mander-in-Chief to advance in that order to the
attack of the enemy in position on the other side of
the jungle immediately in its front. Lieutenant
Robertson states that he accompanied the Third
Division for a short distance, when he was ordered
by a staff officer, whom he cannot recollect, to
move with his three guns to his left to assist the
horse artillery, the three troops of which arm in
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that direction were attached to the cavalry on the
left of the line under your immediate personal
command on that day.

“ Will you do me the favour to inform me if the
order received by Lieutenant Robertson to move
to his left with his three guns to assist the horse
artillery was given by you? And if not, if you
are aware by whom the order was given to Lieu-
tenant Robertson ?

“ 1t could not have been given by an officer of
the Headquarter Staff, becausc ILiord Gough,
previous to the advance of the division, sent two
officers—Iieutenant Bagot, A.D.C.,, and Lieutenant
Johnstone, Deputy Judge Advocate—to inform me
that he had desired these officers to convey his
wishes to the horse artillery on the left to accom-
pany and assist my attack.”

In reply to the above Sir Joseph, writing on the
8th August, says :

“I have read the whole of Lieutenant Robertson’s
letter, and he has given me the first intimation I
ever received of his three guns having acted on the
flank of the enemy’s battery opposed to Lieutenant-
Colonel Brind’s guns. This half battery and No. 5
Field Battery were attached .to your lRgvision, and
Lieutenant Robertson should not have received any
orders except through you. Now, I have much
pleasure in answering your question whether the
order for Lieutenant Robertson to move to the
left to assist Colonel Brind was given by me; to
this I say no such order was given or even con-
templated by me. I had my own guns and you
had yours, nor did I ever hear of such an order
having been given by anybody. Nor, as I before
observed, was 1 aware that any guns fired upon the
enemy opposed to Lieutenant-Colonel Brind, except
his own, until the arrival of Lieutenant Robertson’s
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letter. In my advance the order to I.ieutenant-
Colonel Brind was to keep his battery within about
a hundred yards of your left. He, however, got to
a greater distance, owing to the jungle and the
enemy’s right opening their guns upon him; but
I do not think he was more than four hundred
yards from your left at that time, Of course the
gap became great when your left was obliged to
close to the right. Neither Lieutenant Bagot nor
Lieutenant Johnstone ever came to me to give any
orders from the Commander-in-Chief respecting
Brind’s guns; and if he had received such an order
from either of these officers, I think he would have
reported it ‘to me, as T was with the cavalry on
his left. When the 5th Brigade failed, Brigadier
Brooke ' came to say the left wing was to close to
the right, and this was the first intimation that
anything was wrong which came to my knowledge,
as I contemplated turning the enemy’s right flank.
Warner’s troop of horse artillery joined your left
and Moone’s squadron of the 8th Light Cavalry.
Whilst T was with this party, White took his
brigade towards the centre, by, I believe, the
Chief’s orders, and your flank was greatly exposed.”

It would seem that Sir Joseph must have written
a further letter to Sir Colin telling him that he was
» making inquiries among the different members of
his staff about the order given to Robertson, for,
writing again on the 15th November, Campbell says:

“ As you told me in your former letter that the
order referred to by lL.ieutenant Robertson did not
emanate from you, I am sorry you troubled your-
self with writing to your staff. Of the fact, how-
ever, that Lieutenant Robertson did get an order
to leave his place in his own division and proceed

! Commanding Horse Artillery.



CAMPBELL'S REJOINDER 811

to the assistance of Colonel Brind, who with his
eighteen horse artillery guns was opposed to some
eight or ten of the enemy, and gxat I was con-
sequently deprived of his aid when I most needed
him on my own flank, there is no doubt whatever.
There is no mystery on that head. Some irrespon-
sible person took it upon himself to order Lieu-
tenant Robertson to join Colonel Brind, on which
duty the former remained until the few guns
opposed to the latter were silenced; after this
Colonel Brind communicated with Lieutenant
Robertson through his Brigade Major, Captain
Tucker, Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General,
having been in the Lieutenant’s battery when he
was engaged in enfilading the enemy’s guns above
mentioned. Thus was my division robbed of its
light guns, which reinforced the main body of that
arm under Colonel Brind, without any information
being given to me at the time or afterwards, or
any report from the Commanding Officer of your
artillery or your Staff Officer being made to you,
to whose division they went. Both you and I
have to complain of these gentlemen on this account.
I will not permit myself to enlarge on the conduct
or motives of those, whosoever they may be, who
have concealed the part they took in giving this
order, and on the consequent injury they did to my
division and to me personally. Itis principally on
that account that T have been misrepresented, not
only in the public prints, but in the highest and
most influential quarters.

“You dwell on the fact that in your opinion,
and in that of your staff, the estimate of dis-
tance between your division and mine made by
Lieutenant Robertson is excessive. Allow me
to say, my dear General, that this has nothing to do
with the matter. There was a large interval between
us in a thick jungle-—and I was as much separated
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from you therefore, de facto, as if you had been in
Calcutta.  Your own appreciation of this, you
having been in the field with your own division,
shows how little is known accurately of the move-
ments of mine on the 18th January. Owing to
this ignorance on the part of the public, I have
had much to endure. With others whom I do
not know, and with anonymous writers, I have no
concern. But I cannot let this opportunity pass
without setting you right on the absolute state of
isolation in which I was left, till, after a long
action, and Iraving traversed a wide space, I finally
rolled up the enemy’s line from the point of attack
of my left brigade to that of my junction with
Mountain’s force belonging to the right wing of
the army, my own right brigade (or Pennycuick’s)
having met with a disaster of which I ‘was not
cognisant till near the end of the day, as you will
see by what follows.”

There is then giyen a long account of the
" movements of Hoggan’s brigade led by Campbell,
prefaced by the statement that when ordered to
advance he at the same time received two messages
from Lord Gough, to the effect that his left flank
would be supported by Brind’s guns; that his
Brigade Major, Keiller, was sent to find the horse
artillery, but failed to do so; and that Campbell
therefore had to advance at once, not knowing
where these supporting guns were. At the same
time, apparently, Robertson left him in obedience
to the orders of the mysterious staff officer, and
did not rejoin the Third Division until Campbell
had effected his junction with Gilbert’s left brigade.
Campbell concludes his letter to Sir Joseph by

saying :
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“ Such, my dear General, is the true relation of
the manner in which the left brigade of my
division was left to fight its way, without any
portion of the artillery support promised by Lord
Gough, being at the same time divested of its
own guns, as shown above. I think you will
now agree with me that the estimate of distance
between your right and my left, to a hundred yards
or so, is not of any consequence—the separation of
our two divisions was absolute ; combination and
its results were precluded.”

By this time General Thackwell had received
communications from ‘Brind, Tucker, and Lieu-
tenant Thackwell, to all of whom he had written.

Colonel Brind, who had evidently also heard
from Campbell—for he speaks of “letters from
Peshawar”—has a good deal to say on the subject.

“The infantry,” he wrjtes: “moved from
Chillianwala a little before us.” We were detained -
by a staff officer to wait orders, which came,
and we moved on a few hundred yards, perhaps
two hundred, after the infantry. We (s)id not
move very fur when the enemy saw us, bein
mounted, and fired. I continued advancing, ‘an
inclined a little to the left to get a good position,’

and then opened fire. Qur position was thus.”
Sikh Guns
deleldeJaplelalepobelodelelooge

Robertpon 379 Division

Brind's Guns At
Shbllplppp «
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“ At the time I came into action on the 18th
January, I do not think the left of the Third
Division was more than 800 or 400 yards from
me, and Robertson’s three guns were, so it appeared
to me, in line with their infantry, and came
into action about the same time that we did,
being about 250 yards to our right and in advance
of us. I soon after lost sight of the infantry,
‘who appeared, while we were engaging the enemy’s
batteries, to take ground towards their right flank,
leaving a considerable gap—how great I cannot
specify. A few hundred yards in a jungle seems
a great distance, and I should doubt that the Third
Division was at any time 1,200 yards from their
-guns, judging from the extent of the field and
our subsequent position at the centre of the line.
Robertson must have received orders, or he would
not, I am certain, have left the line he was attached
to. In my belief, he merely halted during the
advance, but did not take ground to the left: had
he done so he would have got in front of my
guns. I-am not aware who gave him the order said
to have been given him by some staff officer. He
was not very lonﬁ in action before he was called
away to rejoin his own infuntry. His guns did
good service where they were, as they brought
a cross fire on the enemy’s guns-—their strongest
battery, I believe—while we had a direct fire on
these guns. Robertson never joined me or was
under my orders. He appeared to be firing at
the same guns we were engaged with, and I
remember sending Bruce to point out that if he
fired more obliquely he would do more good, as
we could only bring a direct fire on these guns.
After Bruce came back I observed the disappear-
ance of the infantry.”

«“Jt struck me,” says Brind elsewhere, “that
Robertson, not getting any orders from Campbell,
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naturally fired at the guns which fired at him. I
fancy Campbell ran on without giving any orders
to his guns.”

In another communication to Sir Joseph Thack-
well, Colonel Brind wrote:

“On the 18th January he” (Campbell) “did
not exercise the command over more than his left
brigade ; he gave no instructions to the artillery
attached to his division. If my guns were of no
use to him, they were to the field, and, I think,
saved his left brigade from being cut to pieces. I had
just sent Bruce to Robertson to point out he had
better fire across our front, if he had no other
orders, for his direct fire. was lost, when the M.B.
(Keiller), Bruce says, came up and took the guns
away. Who ordered him to fire at all, I don’t
know—the mysterious staff officer! I think from
16 to 18 guns opened on us. I was not disre-
garding Campbell’s infantry, though not under his
orders, or in any way able to act otherwise than
I did.”

There is also extant a'letter from Tudor Tucker,

the Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General,
wherein he says:

“Quite at the commencement of the day, before
Brind’s horse artillery was in position, you
ordered me to see that we did not get too far from
the line of infantry, because being thrown back at
an angle, every forward movement, either of theirs
or ours, increased considerably the interval from
flank to flank. T galloped by the rear across the
angle to their left, and returned by Robertson’s
battery and Brind’s three troops of horse artillery,
to the front of the line of cavalry, where I found
you. Robertson’s battery was getting into action
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as I came up to it. He had two guns and a
howitzer. He had moved from the infantry towards
Brind’s guns, and was ncarer to the latter than
to the former when he opened fire, but not fronting
the same way. Brind fronted with the cavalry,
Robertson with the infantry. 1 spoke to Robert-
son and stayed with him while he fired several
rounds. His howitzer did great execution on the
Sikh horsemen—they were in masses when he
first opened, and he soon dispersed them. The
[our] infantry advanced while I was with Robert-
son. I did not ask Robertson why he was where
I found him, nor under whose orders he was; 1
knew he was attached to an infantry division, and
concluded he had received his orders from his
General. I beg you to believe that I gave kim no
orders of any sort. 'The distance between the
infantry and your division was widening very
much, owing to the advance of the infantry.”

Lieutenant Thackwell, A.ID.C., also denicd
having given any orders whatever to Lieutenant
Robertson.

Having received the above letters, Sir Joseph
replied to Colin Campbell’s letter of the 25th
November, thanking him for his—

““ long account of the battle of Chillianwala, though
I must differ with you in some of its conclusions.
I was fully aware of the gallantry with which
Hoggan’s brigade, under your able direction, rolled
up the enemy after breaking up their line, and that
it was left quite to its own exertions for some
time, and that its noble bearing repulsed all the
attacks of the enemy upon it ; but I cannot agree
with you that Brind’s guns and the first brigade
of cavalry were of no use to you, and might as
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well have been at Calcutta, for this force had the
whole of Atar Singh's troops, which had been
entrenched at Fatehshah-ke-Chuk, opposed to it,
composed of 16 or 18 guns and a large body of
cavalry and infantry. Lord Gough’s information,
given on the 12th January, stated their artillery
to be 17 guns—consequently, had all my troo%s
been away you would have had some” ( ? several)
“thousand men with the above-mentioned guns
on your flank and rear, and you might then have
wished Brind’s guns and White’s cavalry to have
been near you. Lieutenant-Colonel Brind and all
my staff, as [ have before stated, positively deny
having given any orders to Lieutenant Robertson.
For my part, I consider him not free from blame
in having left your division unsanctioned by you.
Lieutenant-Colonel Brind’s guns were attached to
the first brigade of cavalry and under my orders,
and were intended to act on your left flank, and
they did so most effectually, according to my.
opinion. But when you took ground to the right
in rolling up the enemy’s line, of course the ga
between us became greater every instant, unti{
when 1 joined you, it was very considerable.
When your movement was discovered, Brind’s
guns and White’s brigade took ground to the
right, but two troops of artillery and all the
cavalry, save one squadron, went to the other side
of Chillianwala, without my knowledge, by an
order brought by Brigadier Brooke, as was said,
from the Commander-m-Chief.”

“I do not believe,” says Sir Joseph in another
communication, “they were the Bunnu troops in
this position, but those of Atar Singh, who was
entrenched in front of Fatehshah-ke-Chuk, and his
works had 17 or 18 gun embrasures in them,
which I counted on the 15th January'® and traced

' I think the 18th is meant, from an entry in the diary.—~H, C, W,
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the wheels of the guns from the entrenchment to
where they formed the right Sikh battery opposed
to Brind.”

Robertson, in his much-referred-to letter, wrote
to Campbell :

“ I received the following order : ¢ Take your guns
more to the left and assist the horse artillery in
silencing those guns,’ from a staff’ officer who rode
up to me, when 1 had advanced with the line
about 200 yards, if so much. The order was
given to me in a very distinet tone, and although
Heath” (his brother subaltern) “and myself have
frequently since endeavoured to recall to our
recollection the appearance of the officer, we have
failed. It was conveyed with such an air of
authority, and its nature at such a time was such,
that it never entered my judgment to question its
authenticity, the more especially as, having called
in question the authenticity of an order received
that same morning, which deprived me of the use
of three of my guns, I found myself mistaken when
appearances justified my suspicions, I accordingly
trotted out to the left—probably 500 yards.
Tucker of the Quartermaster-General’s depart-
ment, must, I think, be accurately acquainted with
my position there as relates to your left, for he was
in the battery when I opened fire at this point;
certain 1 am that we could not have seen each
other. I dispersed a considerable body of horse-
men here, and after having fired about 20 rounds,
1 limbered up and proceeded in the direction in-
dicated by the mysterious staff officer as the
whereabouts of the horse artillery. A shot or’
two, evidently fired either at the infantry of your
left or your right brigade, informed me of the
position of the enemy at last, and as these shots
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hopped along my front, I brought up my right
shoulders and, unlimbering, found myself opposed
to a string of guns which were busily engaged
directly with the horse artillery, but occasionally
wheeled round a gun in acknowledgment of my
attacks on their left flank, which, being unpro-
tected, enabled me to enfilade the whole string of
them. I think we were engaged here half an hour,
and then the enemy’s fire sfackened and ceased.
Bruce, the adjutant of the artillery, rode up from
the horse artillery (which I never saw, though I
knew its position) and told me that my fire had
been of great service to them, that Brind was
about to advance and wished to know what 1
intended to do. Having done as I was ordered, I
said I would rejoin my own division. When we
limbered up we heard the rattle of the musketry
on the left, as we guessed, at 1,200 yards’ distance.”

At the time of the opening of this campaign
Campbell had had but little or no experience of
the command of a brigade in the field, and it was
only since Ramnuggar that he had held charge of a
division. At Chillianwala nothing could have
been more admirable than his leading of Hoggan’s
brigade ; but it is at least open to question whether,
by thus confining himself to the duties of a
brigadier, he can be absolved from some respon-
sibility for the disaster which overtook one half of
his division. His action prevented his devoting
his whole attention to the proper combination of
the component parts of his division ; the too rapid
advance of his right brigade precluded its due
support by the field battery specially told off to
accompany it ; while the withdrawal of the three field
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guns intended to accompany Hoggan, could hardly
have escaped the notice of a divisional leader duly
exercising the ordinary functions of his command.
Campbell was certainly deprived during a consider-
able part of the action of the immediate support of
the three guns told off to accompany Hoggan,
but he makes but slight mention of the very great
obligations due by this brigade to the six guns of
Mowatt, when the hurried advance of the right
brigade prevented Mowatt from giving Pennycuick
the intended support, and obliged that artillery
officer to turn his guns upon the enemy in Camp-
bell’s front.

That Hoggan’s brigade, led by Campbell, ex-
perienced great opposition there is no doubt ; but
that is no reason for minimising the assistance
indirectly given to the troops under Campbell’s
immediate command, through the pressure exer-
cised upon the remainder of the enemy’s line by
the units on the right and left of the brigade,
or for belittling the strength of the hostile forces
with which other commanders had to contend.

The British attacks upon the Sikh line were to all

intents and purposes simultaneous, and although
~ contact was not established at precisely the same
moment at every point, it is evident that the Sikhs
could nowhere and at no time concentrate over-
powering forces upon any one portion of the
British attack, even when certain units of the
advancing line had suffered repulse or even
disaster. The defeated units were still there ; they
had not been driven from the field ; they were still
to reckon with ; and consequently the force of the
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enemy immediately opposed to Campbell's left
brigade was never overpoweringly greater than
he could, from the outset, have anticipated. The
continued presence in the field of the defeated
British units must have exercised a certain
deterrent effect upon the Sikhs, in so far as
concerns the permanent reinforcement of any other
part of their extended line, already rather over-
strained for their numbers.

In the map accompanying Sir Colin Campbell’s
account of the battle, to be found in Shadwell’s
“ Life of Lord Clyde,” as, indeed, in almost every
known plan of the battle of Chillianwala, it
appears that while the British right was practically
opposite the left of the Sikh position at Russool,
the southernmost flank of the enemy very greatly
overlapped Lord Gough’s left, and consequently
the British cavalry and horse artillery on this
flank were not only opposed to the Sikhs im-
mediately in their front, but to those who were
able to menace their flank and even their rear.
Malleson says that the cavalry and horse artillery
on the left “had performed the great service of
keeping in check the centre right division of the
enemy.” Sir Charles Gough has described ‘haw
Brind's horse artillery came into action againg
“ a powerful battery of Sikh guns.” The evidence
of Brind himself, and of Sir Joseph, is in agreement
as to the number of guns composing this battery ;
and from Brind’s sketch, and from Robertson’s state-
ment that, even while heavily engaged with our
artillery, the Sikhs were able occasionally to.throw
a round shot at Campbell’s infantry, it is plain how

21’
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greatly Hoggan would have suffered during his
advance, had the horse artillery of the left not
taken some of the pressure off him on to their
own shoulders.

Sir Colin himself does not seem quite clear as to
what extent, if any, Brind’s horse artillery was at
his disposal, for he speaks indiscriminately of
having been informed that the horse artillery
“ was to accompany and assist ” his advance, of the
“artillery support promised by I.ord Gough,” and
of having been told that his “left flank would be
supported by Brind’s guns”; but from the general
tone of his complaint it appears that he expected
the horse artillery was intended to advance with
him, engaging any part of the enemy’s force to
which the Third Division—or that portion of it led
by Campbell himself-—was directly opposed. It
seems clear that this view of the proposed action of
the artillery cannot be justified ; and that if the
two young staff officers quoted gave Sir Colin that
impression, they were not correctly communicating
the intentions of the Commander-in-Chief, who, in
his dispatch of the 16th January, when describing
his_order of battle, merely says that ¢ Brigadier-
General Campbell’s division formed the left,
flanked by Brigadier White’s brigade of cavalry
and three troops of horse artillery under Lieutenant-
Colonel Brind.” No orders reached either Sir
Joseph or Colonel Brind from Lord Gough re-
specting any fresh disposition of the horse
artillery, nor did Campbell himself send any
orders or message to Brind which could lead that
officer to suppose that he was to accompany the
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advance of any other arm than that with which
horse artillery usually act.

Brind is quite correct when he says that he was
“not disregarding Campbell’s infantry,” and there
can be no doubt that he afforded very material
support to the Third Division, to which, moreover,
Sir Joseph at once dispatched a troop of horse
artillery when he found how wide the interval
had become, and how greatly Hoggan’s flank
was exposed by the continued movement of the
infantry to the right.

Splendidly as Sir Colin. Campbell led the left
brigade at Chillianwala, and greatly as his reputation
as a leader in action was thereby deservedly en-
hanced, it must be agreed that for the ¢ absolute
state of isolation ” in which his brigade found itself,
he himself must accept the sole responsibility,
which cannot in fairness be transferred to the
shoulders of any other individual



CHAPTER XIX

Tue Sikhs had withdrawn after the battle of
Chillianwala to Tupai, on the Jhelum, and it has
been generally admitted that had the British been
able to advance on the morning of the 14th the
enemy might well have been driven into the river.
That night, however, and the next day, and the day
after, the rain descended in torrents, and movement
was impossible, so that while the British remained
inactive in the camp which they entrenched at
Chillianwala, the Sikhs were able to draw off to
their left and occupy the very strong position on
the hills about Russool. The First Brigade of
cavalry, with one troop of horse artillery, was
employed during the whole of the 14th in scouring
the battlefield in the hope of discovering abandoned
guns, but none were found ; all not removed by
us had, as already stated, been carried off by
the Sikhs.

During the days of perpetual rain, reinforcements
continued to join the enemy, and consequently
Lord Gough made up his mind to wait until the
fall of Multan—now only a matter of days—should
permit of his force being swelled by the division

under Whish, and the Bombay brigade under
324
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Dundas; meanwhile “he would strengthen his
bridge-head opposite Ramnuggar, maintain his
present position, and, by starving out Sher Singh
and all his hosts, compel him to move towards
food supplies” and the open country, where the
Sikh leader and his following might more easily
be crushed.

A few days after the battle of Chillianwala,
Chutter Singh, accompanied by the Afghan levies,
arrived in the Sikh camp, and was received with
a royal salute. He had brought with him Major
Lawrence and others, who had been captured on
the fall of Attock and Peshawar, and on the 27th
Sir Joseph writes in his diary :

“Mr. Bowie, who was the Company’s artillery
officer who disciplined the Sikh artillery under
Major Lawrence at Peshawar, came into camp by
Sikh permission yesterday, and he is to return
at 4 p.m. to-day. He says the Sikh army is 60,000
men, with 70 guns.”

Lord Gough was now anxious about a convoy
coming from the direction of Gujerat.

“80th January—A wing of irregular cavalry
went to Dinghi; two squadrons of the 14th Light
Dragoons, two of light cavalry, and three guns
went to Noorjemal at half-past 8 for the pro-
tection of the Gujerat convoy.”

“1st February.—Four squadrons of dragoons,
the Ist Light Cavalry and four guns went from camp
to Dinghi to protect the convoy from Gujerat.”

“2nd.—The Commander-in-Chief very anxious
respecting the safety of the convoy coming from
Gujerat, having four squadrons of European
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cavalry, five squadrons of native cavalry, and four
guns to protect it, apprehending that gher Singh
had gone by Moong to turn our left flank, whilst
Chutter Singh was in great force at Pooran to
turn our right. My patrols found out that no
enemy ‘had passed through Moong, and that no
force was tlll)reatening our right, and at about
4 p.m. the convoy came into camp safely.”

“8rd.—An absurd report of the advance of the
enemy by the Dinghi road, and that they occupied
the mound at Magnawala. No truth in this, for
we had occupied the mound before sunrise, though
the enemy have 800 regular cav and a few
hundred irregulars at the foot of the hills, It
is said, but whether truly or not, God knows,
that Chutter Singh and his troops, including the
Afghans, are at Pooran . . . also Sher Singh and his
troops, Ram Singh, Lal Singh, Khan Singh, Dhokul
Singgx’s regiment, and  Bahadur Singh’s regiment.
At Russool are Atar Singh, and Soorut Singh, with
their troops.”

“ 4tlz.——% went to Noorjemal, and up on the mound
at Magnawala. Saw a good many §ikh Horse and
footmen, but they did not attempt to molest our
people on the mound.”

“ 5th.—The enemy emerged from the pass in large
force and got possession of the mound and of
Noorjemal. All the divisional generals and the
Commander-in-Chief’s staff and engineers waited
‘on the Commander-in-Chief to consult what is best
to be done. I rode out towards Noorjemal, and
reconnoitred the Sikh position at Khorre, Moong,
and Meanee Chuk, and I should think eight or
ten thousand men had encamped or bivouacked
near these villages, and the villagers of Noorjemal
said they had ten guns through the pass.”

“ 6th.—The Sik%:s this morning had occupied
Noorjemal, and had advanced large bodies towards
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Dinghi. I therefore marched at 12 with three
s%uadrons of Dragoons and Lancers, a regiment
of native cavalry, two risalas of irregulars and six
guns, towards Dinghi, the whole under command
of Brigadier Bradford, and on my left was
Lieutenant-Colonel King, with two squadrons of
Dragoons and Lancers, three of light cavalry, and
six guns. When arrived near Dinghi, 1 found about
500 regulars and 1,000 others had plundered the
town. A few stragglers were taken. The column
made a detour to the left to within a mile and
a half of the Sikh position, and returned to camp.”

“7th—Major Yerbury (8rd Light Dragoons)
and six squadrons of cavalry were at Bazarwala
to-day wis’?h six guns. ' The Sikh cavalry, about,
as sald, 4,000, drew out to oppose them, but did
not approach nearer than about a mile. They fired
a few shots at vedettes, and when they found out
that we had guns they retired to their camp.”

“11th.—The enemy in force on the ?eft, and
drove in our post at Bazarwala. I had out 12
guns and nearly two brigades of cavalry, and about
a mile from the camp the advance had & good deal
of skirmishing, but little execution was done.
The enemy began to retire about half-past 2, and
the supports came into camp.”

“12th.—The enemy seems to have commenced
a retreat from Russool during last night. No
tents are to be seen, but a good many men were
still visible, but they soon retired, and the
Commander-in-Chief went to Russool. . . . Our
sick and wounded went under escort to-day at
8 p.m. to Ramnuggar.”

(The Sikhs were moving towards Gujerat, where
they took up a position between the town and
a ford on the Chenab above Wazirabad.)

“18th.—Visited the Sikh position at Russool.
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It stands close to the Jhelum, from which it is
se;;:zrated by a narrow plain. Russool is upon
a high cliff, surrounded by deep ravines. The
passage to the village is by a narrow dam about
eight feet broad. The Sikhs had three lines of
batteries to the east of it, with a gentle slope
towards the south; at the south-west side it
rested on the Jhelum, with a salient battery of
five guns about 500 yards from the river. . . . The
Jhelum only one stream about 80 yards broad.”

“15th.—Marched to Lussoorie in consequence of
the threatened march of the Sikh army upon
Lahore ; the road lay through jungle, leaving Sura
to the left and Gunderwala to the right, and
then to Hussnawala.”

“16th.—Marched at half-past 6 in one column,
same as yesterday, by Panewala, to an encampment
half a mile in front of Sadulapore—encamped in
. one line. Scarcely a vestige of the late action
remaining.”

“17th.—Marched at half-past 8 in brigade
columns at deploying distance about three and a
half miles towards Kunjah, which I went to with
three squadrons of cavalry and two guns. The
enemy had retired. The country flat, with many.
babul trees near Kunjah. In most places fine for
cavalry, but in parts intersected with shallow
nullahs with water.”

“18th.—At a quarter-(i)ast 10 the army moved in
the same order as yesterday, in column of brigades,
about four miles. The right advanced towards
W azirabad, and within a short distance of the river,
the left resting on Kunjah. The Sikhs moved from
Gujerat to a nullah two miles in advance, towards
Kunjah. All quiet.”

“19th.—A report in the morning that the enemy
were advancing . . . The Chief ordered out two strong
reconnoitring parties of four guns each, to which
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I added four squadrons of cavalry to each. They
advanced—that is, Lieutenant-Colonels Fullerton
and Bradford—towards the Sikh position, but only
discovered their picquets, which seemed strong and
disposed to maintain their ground. In the after-
noon I visited the picquets on the right, and
advanced that of the 8rd Light Dragoons. Went
to the mound in front of Shadiwaf and ordered
it to be occupied to-morrow morning. . . .
Saw Lord Gough, and met Lieutenant-Colonel
Franks, Major Miller, and another officer of the
gallant Queen’s Tenth. The 10th Queen’s, and
8th and 52nd Native Infantry arrived yesterday,
and Brigadier-General Dundas with the European
Bombay Fusiliers, 60th Rifles, and two Bombay
regiments arrived in camp about 6 o’clock.”

¢ 20th.—The army marched in column of brigades
towards the enemy’s position—about two miles—
and encamped in front of the village of Shadiwal.
I took a reconnoitring party of four guns and six
sr}uadrons to Narawala, within less than three miles
of Gujerat. This caused their whole line to turn
out, and they displayed a good line of men. How-
ever, they did not dare to advance, and the whole
returned to camp unmolested.”

“Throughout the 20th the two armies lay
opposite to each other, the Sikhs round the town
of Gujerat, the British about three miles to the
south, their left resting on the small town of
Kunjah, their centre on the large village of Shadiwal,
and their right extending to the low salluvial lands
on the Gujerat side of the ford at Wazirabad. The
whole country was perfectly flat, open, and
cultivated, dotted by populous villages, and covered
with young spring crops, chiefly wheat and barley,
at that time of the year standing a few inches higz.
Had Lord Gough searched all India for a battle-
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field better adapted for the overthrow of the Sikhs,
he could have found none more suitable.” !

The town of Gujerat and the position to the
south of it taken up by the Sikh army, were flanked
by two nullahs running down towards the Chenab ;
the nullah to the east was wet, that to the west
was dry. The latter made a slightly easterly bend
below the town, and then ran almost due south
towards Shadiwal. The two wings of the Sikh
infantry found shelter in the two nullahs, while
the centre of the line occupied three entrenched
villages, known as Burra and Chota Kalra. On
each flank, outside either nullah, were strong bodies
of the Sikh and Afghan cavalry. The total Sikh
force was estimated at close upon 60,000 men,
with 59 guns, but of these latter very few were
of heavier metal than 9-pounders.

The reinforcements which had reached Lord
Gough had raised his army to 24,000, of whom
probably 20,000 could be placed in line of battle.
Although his numbers were thus less than half those
of the enemy, he was now very strong in artillery,
having, besides heavy guns, thirteen other batteries,
of which all but one—which remained with the
baggage escort in rear of the army—were brought
into action. The Commander-in-Chief could now
dispose of 18 heavy guns, viz. ten 18-pounders and
eight 8-inch howitzers, while he had a large number
¢f.9-pounders. Inall, and allowing for the guns lost
at Chillianwala, Lord Gough was able to bring 94
guns of varying calibre into action, including the
Bombay Light Field Battery with the baggage guard.

! Thorburn,
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There has been considerable difference of opinion
among various writers as to the number of British
guns actually present at the battle of Gujerat, the
total being given as 106, 96, and 88, while Sir
Joseph gives the number as 90, viz. 18 heavy
guns, 42 9-pounders, and 80 6-pounders. Taking
the reports of the officers commanding respectively
the Bengal and Bombay Artillery, there would
appear to have been in all 18 heavy guns,
9 troops of horse artillery, and 4 light field
batteries—making a total of 96 guns which should
have been present. ; Stubbs, however, in his
“ History of the Bengal Artillery,” writes of *the
fire of the 88 guns,” from which it is apparent that,
as the Bengal Artillery could only number at most
84 guns, he must be including the Bombay horse
battery which was engaged, and cacluding the
Bombay light field battery, which, being with the
baggage guard, did not fire, It is evident also
from Stubbs’s figures that two at least of the guns
lost at Chillianwala had not been replaced; but
as all accounts seem in agreement that Duncan
and Huish on the left had 12 guns between them,
it would appear that while Huish’s troop had
been again made up to six guns, that of Christie—
now Kinleside—had not. If these figures and
deductions are correct, there must have been
altogether 94 guns present in the field.

The 18 heavy guns seem to have been divided into
four batteries, or among four artillery companies,
viz. six in one, and four in each of the other three.

Some changes had naturally taken place in the
higher commands ; Godby had been transferred to
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the command at Lahore, and Penny, from Camp-
bell’s division, now commanded Godby's brigade
under Gilbert. Carnegie had taken Penny'’s place,
and McLeod had been appointed to the command
of Pennycuick’s brigade. The two brigades in the
First Division were commanded respectively by
Markham and Hervey, while the Bombay column,
containing four regiments, remained as an inde-
pendant unit under Dundas. The cavalry division
under Sir Joseph Thackwell now comprised some
fourteen regiments of cavalry, of a total strength
of close upon 7,000 sabres, and was organised as
follows :

1st Cavalry Brigude.  8rd Cavalry ‘Brigade.
Brigadier M. White, C.B. Brigadier Bradford.
8rd Light Dragoons. 11th Irregular Cavalry.
5th Light Cavalry. 14th Irregular Cavalry.
8th Light Cavalry.
Attached on the 21st,
Scinde Horse.

2nd Cavalry Brigade.  4th Cavalry Brigade.
Brigadier G. H. Lock- Brigadier J. B. Hearsey,

wood, C.B.! C.B.
9th Lancers. 11th Light Cavalry.
14th Light Dragoons.  8rd Irregular Cavalry.
1st Light Cavalry. 9th Irregular Cavalry.
6th Light Cavalry. 13th Irregular Cavalry.

There was also the 12th Irregular Cavalry, but
this regiment had been detached with other details

! This officer—of the 3rd Light Dragoons—only rejoined from
England on the 7th February,
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to Wazirabad, while the army still lay at Chillian-
wala, to resist any attempt of the Sikhs to cross
the Chenab.

For the battle on the 21st some modifications
were made in the above-mentioned composition of
brigades :-the Third Cavalry Brigade was broken
up, and of the two regiments which it contained,
the 11th Irregular Cavalry was sent to Hearsey’s
brigade, while the 14th was at first posted to the
First Brigade, but remained during the action on
the right at Hearsey's disposal. The 9th Lancers
and Scinde Horse—the latter about 250 strong—
were temporarily placed under Brigadier White,
and the 5th Light Cavalry of the First and the 6th
Light Cavalry of the Second Brigade formed part
of the baggage guard for the day.

From Sir Joseph Thackwell's despatch it will
be seen that he was not only in command of the
cavalry division on this day, but that the whole
of the troops on the left or west of the nullah
which bisected the British force were also placed
under his immediate supervision as second in
command under Lord Gough.

It was 7 o’clock on a cloudless morning when
the veteran Commander-in-Chief drew out his
army for his “last and his best battle "—one, more-
over, which was finally to crush the power of the
Khalsa, which was, in the words of the great Sikh
maharaja, to paint the map of India “all red,”
and which saved the old soldier who won it from
being sacrificed to the popular outcry raised by
the previous indecisive and bloody battles of the
campaign.
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“ There was no dust,” says Durand, who accom-
panied the Headquarters, “to cloud the purity
of the air and sky. The snowy ranges of the
Himalaya, forming a truly magnificent back-
ground to Gujerat and the village-dotted J)lain,
seemed on that beautiful morning to have drawn
nearer, as if, like a calm spectator, to gaze on the
military spectacle.”

And as Lord Gough rode down his line from
right to left, he was received with a tremendous
outburst of enthusiasm by the officers and
men of his army, filled with the confidence of
victory.

Soon after 7 am., Sir Joseph’s diary tells
us, that the troops moved in the order of
battle as set forth in the accompanying plan.

The two batteries of Kinleside and Lane were
sent to the right later on in the morning. The
11th and 14th Irregular Cavalry had only two
risalas each present, and the 18th Irregulars but
one squadron. '

The Commander-in-Chief had determined to
attack the Sikh centre and left, and drive them
back on their right, when the British left wing,
having advanced, would complete the work of
destruction. About 8.30 a.m. the Sikhs opened
fire, thereby disclosing the position of every one
of their guns, and the Commander-in-Chief send-
ing forward the whole of his powerful artillery,
covered by infantry skirmishers, the guns took
up a position in one long line, and for nearly
three hours poured a most destructive fire upon
the enemy.
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About midday Lord Gough ordered a general
advance-of the whole line, and General Gilbert,
thinking the village of Burra Kalra had been
evacuated, sent Penny’s brigade to occupy it.
The Sikhs, however, were still in possession, and
a tremendous musketry fire was opened® from the
loopholed walls of the village, which was eventually
carried by the 2nd Europeans, supported by the
81st and 70th Native Infantry, all these regiments
suffering severely. Chota Kalra was also found
to be held by the Sikhs, and the brigade under
Hervey—the only one of Whish’s division then
in the front line—diverging slightly to the right
in order to attack it, a gap was thus left between
the First and Second Divisions, of which the
enemy showed a disposition to take advantage,
until Markham, advancing, filled the vacant space
in the line. The enemy’s horsemen were in con-
siderable force opposite the cavalry brigades of
Lockwood and Hearsey, but they were kept at
a distance by the fire lof Warner's battery, by
the wet nullah on the right, and by the swampy
nature of the ground. A small body of the enemy,
however, made a wide sweep to the east, and,
bringing up their left shoulders, approached the
position occupied by Lord Gough and the Head-
quarter staff. Here they were at once attacked
and cut to pieces-by the escort of the 5th Light
Cavalry under Lieutenant Stannus.

As soon, however, as the infantry carried the
Sikh position, the whole of the cavalry and horse
artillery of the right were launched in pursuit
and pressed the retreat of the enemy until dark,
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compelling them to disperse, capturing many guns,
and inflicting immense laoss.

On the left of the dry pullah dividing the British
advance the infantry of the Third Division were
not called upon to fire a shot, but Campbell’s
artillery was of material assistance to the troops
under' Dundas, when threatemed by a determined
rush of the Sikh cavalry and infantry from the
shelter of the nullah immediately in front of
the enemy’s pasition. Of great importance was
the work of the cavalry on the extreme left, the
operations of which are thus noted in the diary of
their Commander :

“ Large bodies of Sikh cavalry showed them-
selves in front and on the rising ground on our
left flank, and this occasioned the cavalry to form
line, as the infantry had alrehdy deployed . . . this
induced the enemy to open fire from four guns,
‘which <bliged White to retire his left. I, however,
soon remedied the mischief by directing Duncan’s
troop to advance within four or five hundred yards
of the enemy's cavalry, and he opened a well-
directed fire upon them. Huish’s troop also
advanced and opened fire, and as the enemy’s
cavalry were advancing to outflank my left, the
Lancers, who had thrown back the left, were
formed to the front, and I ordered the Scinde
Horse and a squadron of Lancers, supported by
another squadron in échelon to the right, to charge
the enemy’s right, which they did in fine style,
and drove this Afghan body and Goorchurras
opposed to them back with considerable loss.” (In

is magnificent charge the opposing squadrons
were shattered and driven in beadldng flight, while
two standards were captured from the enemy.)

22
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“ During this time our line and guns were advanced,
and cannonaded the enemy with good effect, and
the Sikh cavalry were driven with loss beyond the
Bara Darri, losing a gun which had belonged to
Captain Huish’s troop. The infantry of the left
being well up, I continued my movement to the
left of the above place, where the tents of Sher
Singh and others, with their entire camp, were left
standing, and opened my twelve guns upon the
retreating enemy, and continued thus, inclining
well to the left, by which movement an immense
body was cut off from the road to Jhelum, and
eventpally from that to Bimber. They were
several times charged by the 9th Lancers and
8th' Light Cavalry, and a good deal cut up by
Duncan’s, Huish’s,'and latterly Blood’s battery,
until the horses had no longer & trot in them. A
great number of men were killed in the pursuit,
which lasted for nearly twelve miles from the-Bara
Darri, and ended at twenty minutes after 4 p.m.,
when no enemy was in sight, and the’ villagers
reported that they had taken away only three horse
-artillery guns.”

General Thackwell intended to bivouac for the
night and resume the pursuit next moring, having
now. been joined by Lockwood’s and Hearsey’s
brigades from the right, but-the cavalry was re-
called by Lord Gough and rejoined the army in
front of Gujerat between 10 and 11 o'clock
at night. The enémy never halted until they
reached the Jhelum, thirty miles distant, while
Akram Khan, brother of the Ameer Dost Mu-
hamed, who had commanded the Afghan Horse
at Gujerat, and who was wounded in the action,
‘never drew rein until he arrived near Rawul
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Pindi. The author of the * Narrative of the
Second Seikh War” writes of the putsuit, in
which, as aide-de-camp to Sir Joseph, he took
part :

“ The slaughter, perpetrated by the British
Dragoons in the pursuit, was fearful. No quarter

was given, and every Sikh, armed or unarmed, fell
under the sword or the pistol.”

Hope Grant, who was with the 9th Lancers,
says: -

“ It was horrible work slaughtering these wretched
fugitives, who had taken refuge in trees and in
the standing corn hoping to evade. discovery. . .,
Our men were enraged with the Sikhs, owing to
the brutal manner in which they.had slaughtered
our wounded at Chillianwala.”

Full justice was done in Liosd Gough’s despdtch
to the work of the Cavalry Division :

“] feel indebted,” he wrote, ““ to Major-General
Sir Joseph Thackwell for the able and judicious
manner he manceuvred the cavalry, with horse
artillery ‘attached, on the left, keeping in check the
immensely superior force of the enemy, whose imain
object was+o turn my flanks.” -

Sir Charles Gough, in his account of the « Batt]es
of Chillianwala and Gujerat,” says:

“ It was. a glorious sight to see-the Scinde Horse
and the 9th Lancers syeeping forward over the
open plain, and in a few minutes the whole force
of Afghan Cavalry turned and fled, and Thackwell
. . . found that his advance had completely turned
the right of the Sikh line.”
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In another place he writes :

“ Thackwell’s handling of the cavalry on the left
was perfect, and precisely at the right time and
in the right way he delivered his attack. Sup-
ported by the fire of two troops of horse artillery
and the advance of the remainder of the brigade,
the two flank regiments—the Scinde Horse in first
line and the 9th Lancers in second—charged the
Sikh and Afghan Horse, who were completely
defeated and fled from the field. This success
placed him on the right flank of the Sikh infantry
and in an awkward position for those attemptin
to resist the advance of our centre and precipitat
their retreat.” .Had the ground not been so broken
and intersected by nullahs, “which favoured the
retirement of their infantry and hindered the
cavalry in pursuit, they would scarcely have been
able to get away any body of men at all.”

The triumph of the British was complete and
their loss had been comparatively small. The total
casualties of the army under Lord Gough’s com-
mand were but 96 killed and less than 700
wounded. Fifty-three guns and several stand of
small arms were taken, while the actual losses
of the enemy in men were most severe—the line
of retreat for twelve miles being strewn with
killed* and. wounded, with guns, small arms, and

baggage.

“ 22nd.—Rode over the principal of the
Sikh fosition! a good many of the Sikhs lay dead,
but I think as many have been killed in the
ursuit. Sir Walter Gilbert, his division, the
omb? Division, the 14th ILight Dragoons,
the 8rd and 9th Irregular Cavalry, and the 11th



GILBERT PURSUES 841

and the Scinde Horse marched to-day towards
Jhelum, and Brigadier-General Campbell, with -his
division, the 9th Lancers and 8th Light Cavalry,
towards Bimber, a little in front of where I halted
last night or rather evening. 1 rode over the field
of battle of our right and centre. . . . This mom-
ing the Commander-in-Chief read me some letters
to the Governor-General and his replies ; foreseeing
that a strong force would have to cross the Jhelum,
he had, in one of these letters, named me and
Gilbert to command this force, and no one else.
He gave us both:streng recommendations, but left
it for the Governor-General to decide. He read
his reply, to the effect that ‘as but few of the
cavalry would be employed, he thought it but right
that Gilbert should have the command —which,
perhaps, I have no right to be dissatisfied with.”

(Elsewhere Sir Joseph gives the composition of
Gilbert’s force as follows: three troops of -harse
artillery, two field batteries, six 18-pounders, four
companies of sappers and miners, l4th Light
Dragoons, 1st Light Cavalry, 18th and 14th
Irregular Cavalry, 280 of the Scinde Horse (the
above cavalry under Brigadier Hearsey), First,
Second and Third Infantry Brigades, and the
Bombay- Brigade.) '

“24th.—Nine -guns taken from the Sikhs were
brought in to-day by Lieutenant-Colonel Bradford
and the 1st Light Cavalry.”

“ 25th.—Brigadier-General Campbell’s division,
the 9th Lancers and 8th Light Cavalry returned to
camp, bringing with them two more captured guns.”

Sir Walter Gilbert, moving by Dinghi and the
Khoree Pass, followed up the enemy with great
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rapldxty, on the 6th the Sikhs gave up their
prisoners; a few days later, at Rawul Pindi, the
Sirdars surrendered, and the disarmament of the
soldiers of the Khalsa was completed; 49 guns
with many thousand stand of arms had been
taken; and by the 2Ist of March—exactly a
month after the battle of Gujerat—Peshawar had
been reoccupied and Dost Muhamed had been
chased back to the Khyber; the Afghans *had
ridden down through the hills like lions and ran
back into them like dogs.”

On the 22nd the Sirdars, Sher Singh and Chutter
Singh, came into camp, and on the following day
part of the army which was to occupy Wazirabad
crossed the Chenab and went into camp near the
town—Sir Joseph, with his staff, taking up his
quarters in a house which had formerly belonged
to éeneral Avitabili—-and on the 28th the force
broke up, and all, except those units which were to
garrison Wazirabad, marched to their destinations.

Sir Joseph had hoped that on the army breaking
up he might be transferred from Meerut and
permitted to remain in command of the Punjab
division, and he had indeed applied in this sense
to Lord Gough but the “imperious little man,”
who then in India ruled all men and all things,
had decided that any arrangements made at the
present time must be altogether of a temporary
character and that “the commands should remain
as they are, until a more deliberate and careful
consideration can be given to the subject of
divisional commands in Upper India generally.”

- At the end of March, then, Sir Joseph left
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Woazirabad for a short tour in the Punjab, re-
visiting some of the battlefields, and then travelled
quietly down to Meerut, which was reached on
the 28rd of April, and where Lady Thackwell and
his daughter were anxiously awaiting him.

During the’ next few months rewards and con-
gratulations came in fast, and among the latter
few can have given Sir Joseph more real pleasure
than the letters he received from those comrades
and commanders with whom and under whom he
had seen his early service. There are letters from
old General Sir John Slaede, who had commanded
the brigade in which the 15th Hussars had served
in the Corunna campaign, and who writes :

“Trusting that my name may not be quite for-
gotten by you, whose early career I am so well
acquainted with personally, and whose recent
successes it has given me so much pleasure  to
trace—marking how the early promise has been
surpassed by the later stirring events of Indian
warfare.”

Lord Anglesey, too, wrote :

“1 have had my eye upon you all, and have
often been rejoiced by the brilliant success-that has
attended you and others of my good and gallant
old friends.”

His lordship asks Sir Joseph to help a grandson,
William Paget, in the 54th Native Infantry, to
see something of active service.

“He,” writes Lord Anglesey, “is anxidus for a
staff’ situation, but this (as 1 have told him) is by
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no means my wish, for, to say the truth, I have
little opinion of staff-hunters to form good
soldiers.’

Sir Joseph seems to have shared these senti-
ments, for in reply to the Marquis of Anglesey’s
letter he writes: ~

“The routine of duty in a regiment forms a youn,
soldier for any higher employment, and, for myself,
I have reason to rejoice that no staff avocations
took me away from the fine school of instruction,
both at home and abroad, the 15th Hussars, with
other regiments, were so fortunate as to have under
your lordship’s command and guidance,”

General Thackwell’s old Peninsular and Indian
comrade, Sir Harry Smith, wrote from the Cape :

“1 had been watching your operations with every
possible interest, and I congratulate you first upon
Kour whole skin, next upon the honours your sword

ad previously won and richly merited at Sobraon.
Your campaign at one time looked blue . . . you
began with too much. Multan ought to have been
reguced before you moved on the numerous Singhs.
In all campaigns, however, there are errors, but
none ever ended more gloriously than . yours.
When you were detache(f after poor Cureton’s
death, you were placed in a most peculiar position,
and you were the best and only judge of what
you ought and could do. Every ass in a difficult
shuts up, having no opinion, but so soon as a result
attaches, then they all know. . . . ‘If’ and
‘i’ You feel you did right, and the end of the
campaign shows it, for anything you might with
your force have effected would have been at the
best only a partial suceess and without any effect
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on the positive dissolution of the enemy in the
finale. . . . God bless you, my gallant dragoon.”

On the 17th May the Duke of Wellington wrote
to Sir Joseph Thackwell, acquainting him that—

“ the Secretary of State has, upon my recommend-
ation, submitted to the Queen your appointment
to be a Knight Grand Cross of the Most Honour-
able Military Order of the Bath, of which Her
Majesty has been graciously pleased to approve.”

In reply Sir Joseph said—

“To be promoted to the highest military honour
is most flattering to the pride of an old soldier, and
to have been recommended to Her Most Gracious
Majesty’s favour by your Grace, under whose
guiding wand I had served some campaigns, is a
matter of congratulation of which I may well
be proud.”

“ Allow me to congratulate you,” wrote Lord
Gough, “upon, I hope, but the first instalment
of our Gracious Sovereign’s estimate of your long
and brilliant services. l.ady Gough warmly unites
in the hope that you and Lady Thackwell may
long live to enjoy the present and, I trust, many
future marks of your Sovereign’s high estimation.”

The thanks of both Houses of Parliament were
unanimously accorded to all the Commanders and
subordinates of the army of the Punjab for the
indefatigable zeal and exertions exhibited by thém
throughout the recent campaign, and the thanks of
the Court of Directors were in like manner given
to all those who had taken part in the military
operations on the Chenab. Finally, towards the
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end of this year Sir Joseph was further gratified
by being appointed Colonel of the 16th Lancers—
a regiment which had served under his command in
the army of the Indus, at Maharajpore, and on the
Sutle). On hearing of this appointment Lord
Charles Manners, the Colonel of the 8rd Light
Dragoons, wrote to Sir Joseph begging that—

“ however distinguished is your regiment, I trust
you will not allow the 8rd Dragoons to be entirely
obliterated from your recollection, and that you
will not cast away all regard for your old love now
that you have formed connection with a new one.”

. Sir Joseph was now entitled to supporters to
his coat of arms, and, with the permission of the
Colonel of the 15th Hussars, he selected the figure
of a hussar for his dexter supporter, and having
obtained the approval of Lord Charles Manners,
he took a dragoon for the sinister supporter.



CHAPTER XX

THE command at Meerut was no sinecure ; the
district was a very large one, embracing the
stations of Agra, Delhi, Muttra, Alighur, Bareilly,
Shahjehanpore, and the posts about Almora; and
in the days when the second half of the last
century was only commencing, the travelling
necessitated by “ inspections” was continuous and
protracted, and Sir Joseph Thackwell was fre-
quently absent from Meerut inspecting regiments
and batteries in the outlying garrisons of his wide-
spread command. For the greater part of the
four years which General Thackwell still remained
in India, his aide-de-camp was L.ieutenant Gibney,
of the 50th Native Infantry, whose father was an
old 15th Hussars comrade of Sir Joseph; but
in the year preceding the expiration of the General’s
period of command, Lieutenant Gibney returned
to regimental duty, and his place was taken by
Sir Joseph’s nephew, Captain Thackwell of the
22nd Regiment.!

The summer of 1849 Lady Thackwell and her
daughter spent at Mussoorie; the following hot
weather, and that of 1851, they passed at Simla.
Sir Joseph was only able to visit these hill

U Afterwards General Thackwell, C.B.
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stations for very brief periods, and while in these
highlands nearly the whole of his short leave
was passed in travelling among the hills . . . among
mountein villages and along paths which, however
well-known now to the majority of Anglo-Indians,
might then almost be described as “the roads
that only Rumour knows.” In the summer of
1850 Sir Charles Napier was in Simla as Com-
mander-in-Chief, but even then he was probably
meditating, if he had not indeed already resolved
on, the resignation of his high post, for in
December of the same year we read in Sir Joseph’s
diary that on the 17th ‘“the troops paraded
to hear the General Order read, inducting Sir
William Gomm into the office of Commander-in-
Chief.”

Thus Sir Joseph Thackwell had already served
in India under no fewer than five commanders-
in-chief—Sir Henry Fane, Sir Jasper Nicholls,
Lord Gough, Sir Charles Napier, and now Sir
William Gomm.

It is only on the 8th February 1850 that Sir
Joseph acknowledges the receipt of the medal and
clasps for the Peninsula campaign !

Major-General Thackwell was now anxious to
return home, and he was looking forward to
leaving India in 1852, when he was greatly
disappointed to hear from Lord Fitzroy Somerset,
that the period of service of a major-general on

the staff in India was not five years as he had
" imagined, but six, and that he would consequently
not have completed his service in that country
until May 1853,
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He was kept busy, however, up to the last
with reports and committees—reports called for,
wherein his opinion was invited as to the best
type of horse for cavalry and light batteries, and
reports on the arming of native cavalry; while
he was appointed president of a committee
sanctioned - by the Government of India to go
exhaustively into, and report fully upon, the
whole system of military prisons in India—their
management and maintenance, their plan of
construction; and when the work was at last
finished and- his report was sent in, Colonel
Mountain, Adjutant-General of Queen’s troops
in India, wrote to him :

“I congratulate you on the conclusion of your

labours, which will, ¥ have no doubt, be ultimately

attended with the most beneficial results to Her
Majesty’s service in India. When the committee

was sanctioned by Government, with you for

Eresident, my mind was relieved of a care that
ad dwelt upon it for many years.”

Early in March 1858 Lady Thackwell and
her daughter proceeded to England, but it was
not until May that Sir Joseph Thackwell’s long,
eventful, and honourable period of Indian service
was to come to an end—when, leaving Meerut
on the 8rd, he arrived at Calcutta, accompanied
by his nephew, on the 18th May, embarking
for England four days later. He was not,
however, allowed to leave India without receiving
the following appreciative letter from the Com-
mander-in-Chief :



850 COMMANDER-IN-CHIEF'S LETTER

“ S1Mva, 27th April 1853,

“My DEAR SIR JOSEPH,—

“I cannot allow the time of your departure
from among us to draw near without writing you
a few lines expressive of my own regret at losing
your assistance in whatever may be in store for
us during the remainder of my service in this
country. And I feel very confident that those
among us who have partaken of your long course of
brilliant and valuable service in India, or any portion
of it, will regret equally with myself this privation.

“Your known desire to return home after so
long an absence, and private affairs requiring
your personal supervision, are the best arguments
with which we can furnish ourselves to reconcile us
in any way to the change.

“We have been comrades in fields of old, and
that is an additional reason with me for grudging
the losing sight of you for so long as I am in
this command. Moreover, you have been doing
right good service in another and not less valuable
way—and that under my own eye-—as president
of the Military Prison Committee—and we all
owe you much for the active and judicious
assistance you have invariably afforded for bringing
its labours to a satisfactory conclusion.

“On all these accounts, I beg, my dear Sir
Joseph, you will accept my very best thanks
and a brother soldier’s heartiest wishes for your
prosperous journey ‘and that of Lady Thackwell
and your daughter homeward—in all which Lady
Gomm most cordially joins with me, and also
that we may find all in good health on our return.

“ Believe me always, my dear Sir Joseph,
“ Yours most faithfully,
“Wwum. Gomm.”

It was not, however, only from those of his own
profession that expressions of sorrow were to be
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heard on Sir Joseph Thackwell’s severance of his
connection with ““the ILand of Regrets,” for an
Indian newspaper of the day records:

“ We have never heard Sir Joseph Thackwell’s
name mentioned except with reverence and respect,
no matter what the rank or grade of the person
who had occasion to speak of him. Independent
of his intimate knowledge of every branch of his

rofession and his wonderful activity, General

hackwell has an amount of good sense, good
feeling, good taste, and goo:f humour, which
peculiarly fit him for command.”

England was reached on the 5th July, and
Sir Joseph proceeded direct to Bristol, where he
found all his family assembled.

From all sides he received a cordial welcome
home; from Lord Hardinge, who now filled the
place of the Duke of Wellington ; from Lord
Ellenborough, who, as Governor-General, had been
present with Sir Joseph ‘at the battle of Maharaj-
pore ; from his old comrade Sir Harry Smith, who
wrote on the 20th July, saying :

“ As I think by this time the fiery edge of your
congratulations on reaching England are taken off,
I write to say none of your old friends are more
happy than ¥am to know you are once more
in old England after your unprecedented career
in India; and long may you live to enjoy your
repose.”

When he went over to Ireland his diary records
that—
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“ bonfires along the coast announced my arrival,
and Admiral Purvis sent his barge, with Lieutenant
Twyford and twelve men, who took me on board
his yacht and carried me to Whitegate, and the
barge took me ashore. I was cordially cheered by
those on board the steamer on my departure, and
by a brig full of people at Whitegate, and by all
the inhabitants of the village, who lighted bon-
fires, decorated their houses with green boughs,.
garlands, and arches, and illuminated them at
night . . . indicative of the good-will of the people.”

Early in September he visited Gloucester and
attended a public dinner given in his honour by
two hundred gentlemen of the courty, with Lord
Fitzhardinge in the chair.

It might have been expected that one who had
now for years been so continually in harness would
have welcomed some respite from military occupa-
tions, and would have been glad, at least for a time,
of perfect rest and change ; but Sir Joseph Thack-
well had only been in England a very few weeks
when he visited the camp at Chobham, where a
considerable force was undergoing its first ex-
perience of camp life in England, preparatory to
the more realistic work which the British Army
was to see in the following year.

“ Went by train to Chertsey in one hour,” writes
General Thackwell, “and walked thence to the
camp at Chobham, about four miles. Walked for
upwards of a mile about the camp.”

He then walked back to London, and by the end
of the day had got over “ between seventeen and
eighteen milés, and without fatigue.”
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In February 1854 the strained relations between
the Western Powers and Russia, and the prospect
of an expeditionary force proceeding to Turkey,
brought General Thackwell up to London to
inquire what chance there might be for him of
employment with the cavalry.

“ 9th February—Called at St. James’s on the
Duke of Cambridge, and sat with him for about
twenty minutes. He was very kind, and asked many
questions, spoke highly of the 16th Lancers and
8rd Light Dragoons, and seemed to entertain a good
ginion of Colonel White: = Called on the Duke of

ewcastle and on Lord Palmerston. Saw I.ord
Hardinge at the Horse Guards, and had a most
kind interview, but with but little chance of
employment in Turkey. A lieutenant-general is to
command, and an inferior rank as brigadier would
not suit me. He thinks it most likely the troops
will not go beyond Malta.”

Early in April, however, Sir Joseph was

appointed—

“to serve as Inspecting General of Cavalry in
Great Britain during the temporary absence of
Major-General His Royal Highness the Duke of
Cambridge, K.G.,” and he took over the duties
of the appointment on the 4th May.

_The Horse Guards had apparently mislaid Sir
Joseph's address, for the letter was sent, not to
his house, but to his club, where it seems to have
lain for some time, and the Duke of Cambridge
had to embark without handing over personally
to Sir Joseph, to whom, however, he wrote the
following characteristic letter:

23
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“8t, Jamms's Pavace,
“ April 10th 1864,

“My DEAR SiR JOSEPH,—

“T was in hopes to have seen you before my
departure, but I have not been able to ascertain
your whereabouts, and so I must write. 1 was
anxious to have said a few words to you on the
subject of the command you are about to assume,
and to wish you joy upon having been selected for
it. You will find Lieutenant-Colonel Cotton, the
Cavalry Brigade Major, a most attentive and zealous
officer. He is well aware of all my views and
feelings as regards the cavalry, and if you would-
like him to name these points to you, he would do
so with pleasure. My great anxiety has been to
keep the regiments as eficient as possible for their
reduced strength. The riding is a point to be
especially attended to. T have introduced a system
of jumping at Maidstone which answers to perfec-
tion, and I hepe you will carry it out fully through-
out the service. Pray try to get the depét
squadrons as efficient, both in men and horses, as
possible.

* Griffiths at Maidstone is an excellent fellow, and
so is my little friend Major Meyer, the army
riding-master. I will now not trouble you further,
and remain, my dear Sir Joseph,

“Yours very sincerely,
“ (EORGE.

“I expect the officers to attend to everything
themselves, and not to leave things to sergeants.”

Sir Joseph and Lady Thackwell took a house in
London, in Montague Square, and on the 20th
June—after just over fifty-four years’ service—he
was at last promoted to the rank of Lieutenant-
General.

For the few months which his new appointment
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lasted, General Thackwell was kept very busy,
constantly travelling to inspect depdts of cavalry
regiments in England, Scotland, and Ireland, and
sending men and remounts to the regiments in
the Crimea. On the 1st February 1855, however,
Major-General Lord Cardigan was appointed to be
Inspector-General of Cavalry, and Sir Joseph was
then offered by Lord Hardinge the L.ieutenant-
Governorship of Chelsea Hospital, which, however,
he declined.

Previous to leaving India he had purchased a
property called Conneragh in. county Waterford,
and in 1858 Ke had bought another place, called
Aghada Hall, in county Cork, and here he estab-
lished his headquarters and passed the greater part
of the last quiet years of his busy and eventful
life—shooting, carrying out improvements in his
property, and running over from time to time to
England to visit his nephew, John Cam Thackwell,
J.P., D.L., the son of his eldest brother, who
occupied the family house at Wilton Place, Dymock,
in Gloucestershire. All Sir Joseph’s sons had
gone into the Army, and of the eldest we have
seen something during the campaign in the Punjab ;
he died in 1908. William de Wilton Roche had
served in the Crimea with the 89th Regiment and,
exchanging to the 88th, rose to command, and
retired, with the rank of Major-General, Osbert
D’Abitét had entered the Indidn Army.and had
greatly distinguished himself against the rebels in
Rajputana and Neemuch, after his regiment, the
15th "Native Infantry, had mutinied; he was
present at the siege of Lucknow under Lord Clyde,
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and was killed in the streets after its capture on the
21st March 1858. Francis John Roche entered the
5th Royal Irish Lancers and rose to the rank of
Captain, but died in 1869 from the effects of wounds
received from a tiger. Of the daughters, all three—
Elizabeth Cranbourne, Annie Esther, and Maria
Roche—survived their father. The second was the
wife of the Rev. T. P. Little, M.A., Vicar of The
Edge, Gloucestershire, and died in 1902; the
youngest married Lieutenant-Colonel James
Bennett. ILady Thackwell survived her husband
until the 21st June 1874.

Early in 1856 there seemed some pssibility that
the great services of Sir Joseph Thackwell might
be further recognised by the grant of a baronetcy,
but , in a letter, dated the 15th March, Sir
Charles Yorke wrote that the Field Marshal
Commanding-in-Chief had submitted Sir Joseph’s
name for the dignity of a baronet to Il.ord
Palmerston,—

“stating at the same time the high opinion
which he entertained for your services—particularly
in the wars in India, when you hegd a large
command of cavalry. . . that Lord Hardinge has
received in reply an answer from Lord Palmerston,
in which he expresses how fully he appreciates the
merit and value of your services, but regrets that he
could not recommend you to the Queen for the
honour in question without creating an inconvenient
precedent.” !

' Lord Hardinge had asked for the baronetcy on the grounds that
Sir Joseph had been second in command to Lord Gough : there was
of course ample precedent for conferring even a higher title upon the
second in command of & successful general.
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Towards the end of 1858 and in the beginning of
the following year there were signs that Sir Joseph’s
health was beginning to fail, and that even his iron
constitution was at last affected by nearly sixty
years of war and strife. The journal which he had
commenced with his entrance into the army is
kept up to the end, and it is only on the 6th April
that the last entry is recorded, and that the pen
drops from the fingers. Two days later—on the
8th April—heart failure had supervened, and the
brave life had come to an end.

The services of Sir Joseph Thackwell speak for
themselves ; ® cannot be denied that they were
great, and it must be admitted that even for those
days—when reward was more sparingly bestowed
and praise- less loudly declaimed than in modern
times—these services were by no means lavishly
recompensed. It is, however, to be hoped that
those who have followed to the end this memoir of
the military life of one whose experience of the
employment of the mounted arm was greater and
more varied than perhaps any other British cavalry
man, will have recognised that not only was Sir
Joseph Thackwell one of the most loyal of men—
alike towards his superiors, his contemporaries, and
his subordinates—but that he had a soul far above
self-advertisement. If one may venture to suggest
another characteristic for consideration, it seems to
be that upon which the greatest of living British
cavalry leaders has recently laid much stress. Sir
John French has lately said that  comradeship and
unselfishness ” form the keynote of true military
endeavour ; that—
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“the motto of the soldier should be ‘to love his
comrade as himself,’ and that he believed that this
forgetfulness of self and unalloyed striving for the
good of the whole to be more difficult to practise
n the military than in any other profession.”

Surely these were the principles which Sir Joseph
Thackwell had striven throughout his sixty years of
arduous service to live up to; to sink all idea of
individual gain, of personal distinction, in the
general good of the noble service to which he was
so proud to belong; and if the striving after these
ideals should result in & certain curtailment of all
that has perhaps in other ways been hoped for and
desired, the knowledge and the memory of their
attainment must “ bring a man peace at the last.”
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DESPATCHES. AFGHANISTAN

SECRRT DEPARTMENT, SIMLAE, August 18th, 1830,

The Right Honourable the (Glovernor-General of India has great
gratification in publishing for genersl information a copy of a report this
day received from His Exocellency Lieutenant-General 8ir J. Keane,
K.C.B., etc.,, Commander-in-Chief of the Army of the Indus, an-
nouncing the capture, by storm, on the 23rd ultimo, of the important
fortress of (Ghuznee. :

A salute of 21 guns will be fired on the receipt of this intelligence
at all the principcgu stations of the army in the three Preaidencies.

By order, eto.
(Signed) T. H. MADDOCK,
Officiating Secretary to Govexnment of India,
With the Governor-General.

“ HBADQUARTERS OAMP, GHUZNEE, July 24¢h, 1839,

¢ To TrRE RigaT HonoUurABLE LORD AUCKLAND, G.C.B., ET0., ETO.,
BTO.

“ My Lorb,

1. “I have the satisfuction to acquaint your Lordship that the
army under my command has succeeded in performing one of the most
brilliant acts it has ever been mylot to witness during my service of
forty-five years, in the four quarters of the globe, in the capture, by
storm, of the strong and important fortress and citadel of Ghuznee,
yesterday.

2. “ It is not only that the Afghan nation, and, I understand, Asia
generally, have looked upon it as impregnable, but it is in resiity a

lace of great strength, both by nature and art, far more so than I
Ead reason to suppose from any description that I have receivéd of
it ; although some are from officers from our own service who had
seen it in their travels.

3. *“1 was surprised to find a high rampart in good repair, built
on a scarped mound, about 35 feet high, flanked by numerous
towers, and surrounded by a ‘faussebraye’ and a wet ditch, whilst
the height of the ‘ citadel * covered the intorior from the commanding

' In these sppandices onlg those despatohes have been included whereln General Thaok-
well’s name is mantionod, and all detailed )18ta ot casualties have been omitied.
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fire of the hills from the north, rendering it nugatory. In addition
to this, scteen walls had been built before the gates; the ditch was
filled with water, and unfordable, and an outwork built on the right
bank of the river, so as to command the bed of it.

4, * It is therefors the more honourable to the troops, and must
appear to the enemy out of all calculation extraordinary, that a for-
tress and citadel, to the strength of which, for the laat 30 years,
they had been adding something each year, and which had a garrison
of 3,500 Afghan soldiers, commanded by Prince Mahomed Hyder,
the son of Dost Mahomed Khan, the ruler of the country, with a com-
manding number of guns, and abundance of ammunition and other
stores, provisions, etc., for a regular siege, should be taken by British
science and British valour, in less than two hours from the time the
attack was made, and the whole, including the Governor and garrison;
should fall into our handsa.

8. ** My despatch of the 20th inst. from Nannee will have made known
to your Lordship that the camp of His Majesty Shah Shoojah-ool-
Moolk, and of Major-General Willshire, with the Bombay troops, had
there joined me, in accordance with my desire; and the onlowing
morning we made our march of 12 miles to Ghuznee. The line of
march being over a fine plain, the troops were digposed in & muanner
that would have enabled me at any moment, had wo been attacked,
as was probable from the large bodies of troops moving on each side of
us, to have placed them in position to receive the enmemy. They did
not, however, appear, but on our coming within range of the guns of
the citadel and fortress of Ghuznee, a smart cannonade was opened
on our leading columns, together with a heavy fire of musketry from
behind garden walls and temporary fieldworks thrown up, as well as
the strong outwork I have already alluded to, which commanded the
bed of the river. From all but the outworks the enemy were driven
in, under the walls of the fort, in a spirited manner by parties thrown
iforward by Major-General 8ir W. Cotton, of the 16th and 48th Bengal
Native Infantry, and H.M.’s 13th Light Infantry under Brigadier Sale.
1 ordered forward three troops of horse artillery, the camel-battery,
and one foot-battery, to opon upon the citadel and fortress by throwing
shrapnel shells, whioh was done in & masterly style, under the direction
of Brigadier Stevenson. My object in this was to make the enemy
show their strength in , and in other respects, which completely
succeeded, and our shells must have done great execution and occa-
sioned great consternation. Being aYferfact;ly satisfied on the point of
their strength, in the course of half an hour I ordered the fire to
cease, and placed the troops en bivouac. A close reconnaissance of the
place all round was then undertaken by Captain Thomson, the chief
engineer, and Captain Peat of the Bornbay Engineers, accompanied
by Major Garden, the Deputy Quartermaster-General of the Bengal
Army, supported by a strong party of H.M.’s 16th Lanocers,! and one
of HM.’s 13th Light Infantry. On this party & steady fire was kept
up, and some casualties oocurred. Captain Thomson’s report was
very clear (he found the fortifications equally strong all round), and
a8 my own opinions coincided with his, I did not hesitate a moment
as to the manner in which our approach and attack upon the place
should be made; mnotwithstanding the march the troops had per-
formed in the morning, and their having been a oonsiderable time
engaged with the enemy, [ ordered the whole to move across the river
(whioh runa close under the fort walls), in columns to the right and
left of the town, and they were placed in position on the north sido,

* A mistake for the 9nd Bengal Light Oavalry,
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on more commanding ground, and securing the Cabool road. I had
information that e n{? t attack upon the camp was intended from
without. Mahomed Ufzul Khan, the eldest son of Dost Mahomed
Khan, had been sent by his father with a strong body of troops from
Cabool to his brother's assistance st Ghuznee, end was encamped
outside the walls, but abandoned his position on our approach,
keeping, however, at the distance of a few miles from us. V’lg:e two
rebel chiefs of the Gilzie tribe, men of great influence, viz., Abdool
Rhuman and Gool Mahomed Khan, had joined him with 1,500
Horse, and also a body of 3,000 Ghazees from Zeinat under a mixture
of chiefs and Moolahs, carrying banners, and who had been assembled
on the cry of a roligious war. In short, we were, in all directions,
surrounded by enemies. These last actually came down the hills on
the 22nd, and attacked the part of the oafmp occupied by His
Majesty Sheh 8hoojah and his troops; but were driven back with
considerable loss, and bannera taken.

8. ““ At daylight on the 22nd I reconnoitred Ghuznee, in company
with the chief engineer and the Brigadier commanding the Artiﬁ ,
with the Adjutant and Quartermaster-General of the Bengal Army,
for the purpose of making all arrangements for carrying the place by
storm, and these wore completed in the course of the day. Instead’
of the tedious process of breaching (for which wo wero ilf,prepa.red),
Captain Thomson undertook, with the assistance of Captain Peat
of the Bombay Engineers, Lieutenants Durand end MeacLeod, of the
Bengal Engineers, and other officers undor himn (Captain Thomson),
to bfow in the Caboal gate (the weakest point) with gunpowder ; and
8o much faith did I place on the success of the operation, that my
plans for the assault were immediately laid down, and the orders
given.

7. “ The different troops of horse artillery, the camel and foot
batteries, moved off to their ground at 12 o'clock that night, without
the slightest noise, as had been directed, and in the most correct manner
took up the position assigned to them, about 250 yards from the
walls ; in like manner, and with the same silence, the infantry soon
after moved from their ground, and all were at their post at the
proper time. A few minutes before 3 o’clock in ‘the morning the
‘ explogion * took place, and proved completely successful. Captain
Peat of the Bombay Fingineers was thrown down and stunned by it,
but shortly after recovered his senses and feeling. On hearing the
advance sounded by the bugles (being the signal for the gate having
been blown in) the artillery, under the able directions of Brigadier
Stevenson, consisting of Captain Grant’s troop of Bengal Horse
Artillery, the camel-battery under Captain Abbott, both superintended
by Major Pew, Captains Martin’s and Cotgrave’s troops of Bombay
Horse Artillery, and Captain Lloyd's battery of Bombay Foot Artillery,
all opened a terrific fire upon the citadel and ramparts of the fort, and
in a certain degroe paralysed the enemy.

8. ' Under the guidance of Captain Thomson of the Be;{gal En-
gineers, the chief of the Department, Colonel Dennie, of H.M.'s 13th
Light Infantry commanding the advance, consisting of the light
companies of H.M.’s 2nd and 17th Foot, and of the Bengal European
regiment, with one company of H.M.’s 13th Light Infantry, proceeded
to the gate, and with great difficulty, from the rubbish thrown down,
and the determined opposition offered by the enemy, offected an en-
trance and established themselves within the gateway, closely followed
by the main column, led in a spirit of great gallantry by Brigadier
Sale, to whom I had entrusted the important post of commandin
the ' storming party,’ consisting (with the advance above mentioned
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of HM.'s 2nd Foot under Major Carruthers, the Bengsl European
Ra(gment under Lieutenant-Colonel Orchard, followed by H.M.'s
18th Light Infantry under Major Tronson, and H.M.’s 17th Regiment
under Lisutenant-Colonel Croker. The struggle within the fort was
desperate for a considerable time; in addition to the heavy fire kept
up, our troops were assailed by the enemy, sword in hand, and with
daggers, pistols, etc., but British courage, perseverance, and fortitude
overcame all oppusition, and tho fire of the enemy in the lower area
of the fort being nearly silenced, Brigadier Bale turned towards the
citadel, from which could now be seen men abandoning their guns,
ing in all directions, throwing themselves down from immense
heights, endeavouring to make their escape, and on reaching the gate,
witi H.M.'s 17th, wider Lisutenant-Colonel Croker, followed by the
. ¥8th, forced it open ; at b o’clock in the morning the colours of H.M.’s
18th and 17th were planted on the citadel of Ghuznee, amid the cheers
of aliranks. Instant protection was granted to the women found in the
citadel (amongst whom were those of Mahomed Hyder, the Governor),
and sentries placed over the magazine for its security. Brigadier Sale
reports having received much assistanco from Captain Kershaw, of
H.M.’s 13th Light Infantry, throughout the whole of the service of
the storming.

9, “ Major-General Bir W. Cotton executed, in & manner much to
my satisfaction, the orders he had received. The Major-General
followed closely the assaulting party into the fort, with the ‘ Reserve,’
namely, Brigadier Roberts, with the only available regiment in his
brigede, the 36th Native Infantry, under Licutenant-Colonel Mon-
teath ; - part of Brigadier Bale’s brigade, the 16th Native Infantry
under Major MocLaren, and 48th Native Infantry under Lieutenant-
Colonel Wheeler ; and they immediately occupied the ramparts, puttin
down opposition wherever they mo$ any, and making prisoners untﬁ
the place was completely in our possession. A desultory fire was kept
up in the town leng after the citadel was in our hands, from those who
had taken refuge in houses, and in desperation kept firing on sall that
approached them. In this way several of our men were wounded and
some killed, but the aggressors paid dearly for their bad conduct in
not surrendering when the place was completely ours, I must not
omit to mention that the three companies of the 35th Native Infantry
under Captain Hay, ordered to tho south side of the fort, to begin with
a false attack, to attract attention to that side, performed that servioce,
at the proper time, and greatly to my satisfaction.

10. “ As we were threatened with an attack for the relief of the
garrison, I ordered the 19th Bombay Native Infantry, under the com-
mand of Lieutenant-Colonel Stalker, to guard the Cabool road, and
to be in support of the cavalry division, This might have proved an
important position to occupy ; but as it was, no onemy ap .

11. “ The cavalry division under Major-General Thackwell, in addi-
tion to watching the approach of the enemy, had directions to surround
Ghuznee and to sweep the plain, preventing the escape of runawa,
from the garrison. Brigadier Arnold’s brigade (the brigudier himself,
1 deeply regret to say, was labouring under very severe illness, having
shortly before burst a blood-vessel internally, which rendored it wholly
impossible for him to mount a horee that day), consisting of H.M.’s
18th Lancers under Lisutenant-Colonel Persse, momentarily commands
ingjthe brigade, and Major McDowel, the junior major, the regiment ;
the senior major of the 16th Lancors, Major Cureton, an officer of
great merit, being actively engaged in the execution of his duties as
Assistant Adjutant-General of the cavalry division; the 2nd Cavalry
under Major Salter, and the 3rd under Lieutenant-Colonel 8myth, were
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ordered to watch the south and west sides. Brigadier Scott's brigade
was placed on the Cabool road, consisting of H.M.’s 4th Light Dragoons
under Major Daly, and the lst Bombay Cavalry under Lisutenant-
Colonel 8andwith, to watch the north and east sides, This duty was
performed in a manner greatly to my satisfaction.

12. ** After the storming, and that quiet was in some degree restored
within, I conducted His Majesty 8hah Shoojsh-ool-Moolk, and the
British Envoy and Minister, Mr. Macnaghten, round the citade!l and
& great part of the fortress. The king was perfectly astonished at our
having made ourselves masters of a place conceived to be impregnable,
when defended, in the short space of two hours, and in less than
48 hours after we came before it. His Majesty was of course greatly
delighted at the result. When I afterwards, in tle course of the day,
took Mahomed Hyder Khan, the Governor, first to the British Minister,
and then to the king, to make his submission, I informed His Majesty
that I had made a promise that his life should not be touched, and the
king in very handsome terms assented, and informed Mahomed Hyder
in my presence, that although he and his family had been rebels, yet
he was willing to forgive and forget all.

13. *‘ Princo Mahomed Hyder, the Governor of Ghuznee, is a prisoner
of war in my camp, and under the surveillance of 8ir A. Burnes; an
arrangement very agreeable to the former.

14. ** From Major-General 8ir W. Cotton, commnmanding the First
Infantry Division (of the Bengal Army), I have invariably received the
strongest support, and on this occasion his exertions were manifest in
support of the honour of the profession and of our country.

15. *“ I have likewise at all tinesreceived able assistance from Major-
Geperal Willshire, commanding the Second Infantry Division (of the
Bombay Army), which it was found expediont on that day to break up,
some for the storming party, and some for other duties; the Major-
QGeneral, as directed, wus in attendance upon myself.

16. “ To Brigadier Salo I feel deeply indebted for the gallant and
soldier-like manner in which he conducted the responsible and arduous
duty entrusted to him, in command of the storming party, and for the
arrangements he made in the citadel immediately after taking posses-
sion of it. The sabre wound which he received in the face £d not
prevent his continuing to direot his colurnn until everything was secure,
and I am happy in the opportunity of bringing to your Lordship’s
notice the exoeYlent conduct of Brigadier Sale on this occasion.

17. ** Brigadier Stevenson, in command of the artillery, was all L
could wish; and he reports that Brigade Majors Backhouse and
Coghlan ably assisted him ; his arrangements were good, and the execu-
tion done by the arm he commands was such as cannot bo forgotten by
those of the enemy who have witnessed and survived it.

18. * To Brigadier Roberts, to Colonel Dennie (who commanded the
advance), and to the difforent officers commanding regiments already
mentionad, as well aa to the officers and gallant soldiers under them,
who 8o nobly maintained the honour and reputation of our country,
my beat acknowledgments are due.

19. “ To Captain Thomson, of the Bengal Engineers, the chief of
the department with me, much of the credit of the success of this
brilliant ¢ coup-de-main ' is due; a place of the same strength, and
by such simple means as this highly talented and scientific officer
recommended to be tried, has perhaps never before been taken, and I
feal I cannot do sufficient justice to gupt&in Thomson’s merits for his
conduct throughout, In the execution he was ably supported by the
officers already mentioned; and so eager were tho ather officers of the
Engineers, of both’ Presidencies, for the honour of carrying the powder
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bags, that the point could only be decided by seniority, whioh shows
the fins fecling by which they are animated.

20. “T must now inform your Lordship that sinoe I joined the
Bengal column in the valley of Shawl, I have continued my march with
it in the advance, and it has been my good fortune to have had the
asgistance of two most efficient staff officers, in Major Craigie, Deputy
Adjutant-General and Major Garden, Deputy Quartermaster-General.
Tt is but justice to these officers that I should state to your Lordshi
the high satisfaction I have derived from the manner in whioh all their
dutjes have been performed up to this day; and I look upon them as
promising officers to fill the higher ranks. To the other officers of both
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Gexerar ORpDERS BY THE COMMANDER OF THE Foroms: HEAD-
QUARTERS, MERRUT, NOVEMBER 228D, 1839. By the Right Honour-
able the Governor-General, Oamp Somalka, November 19th, 1839,

The following Genersl Orders, issued by the Right Honourable the
Governor-General in the Secret Departmsent under date the 18th instant,
are published for general information to the army.

* GENERAY, ORDERS BY TEE RIGET HONOURABLE THRE GOVERNOR-
GENRRAL oF INDIA.

“ 8BORET DEPARTMENT, OAMP, PANIPUT, November 18tA, 1889.

L ]

1. * Intelligence was this day received of the arrival, within the
Peshawar territory, of His Exoellency Lioutenant-General 8ir John
Keane, K.C.B. and G.C.H., Commander-in-Chief of the Army of the Indus,
with a portion of that force on its return to the British provinges, The
military operations under the direction of His Excellency having now
been brought to a close, the Right Honourable the Governor-General
has, on the part of the Government of India, to acquit himself of the
gratifying duty of offering publicly his warmest thanks to His Excellency,
and to the officers and men who have served under his command, for the
soldierlike spirit and conduct of all ranks throughout the late campaign,
and he again cordially congratulates them on the attainment of the
great objects of national security and honour for which the expedition
was undertaken.

2. *The plans of aggression, by which the British empire in India
waa dangerously threatened, have, under Providence, been arrested.
The Chiefs of Caboal and Candahar, who had joined in hostile designa
egainst us, have been deprived of power, and the territories which they
ruled have been restored to the Government of a friendly monarch. The

eers of Scinde have acknowledged the supremaocy of the British
Government, and ranged ' themselvea under its protection; their
country will now be an outwork of defence, and the navigation of the
Indus within their dominions, oxempt from all duties, has been opened
to commercial enterprise. With the allied Government of the Seikhs,
the closest harmony has besn maintained ; and on the side of Herat,
the British alliance has been courted, and a good understanding, with
& view to common sufoty,' has been established with that power.

3. ¢ For these important results the Governor-General is proud to
express the acknowledgments of the Government to the Army of the
Indus, which, alike by its valour, its discipline, and cheerfulness under
hardships and privations, and its conciliatory conduct to the inhabit-
ants of the countries through which it passed, has earned respect for the
British name, and has confirmed in central Asia & just impression of
British energy and resouroces.

4. “* The native and European soldiers have vied with each other
in effort and endurance. A march of extraordinary length,! through
difficult and untried countries, has been within & few months succeas-
fully sccomplished ; and in the capture of the one stronghold where
resistance was attempted, a trophy of victory has been won, which
will add a fresh lustre to tho reputation of the armies of India.

5. “To Lieutenant-Genersl Bir John Keane, the Commander-in-
Chief of the Army, the Governor-General would partioularly declare
his thanks for his direction of these honourable achievements. He
would especially acknowledge the marked forbearance and just
appreciation of the viows of the Government whioh guided His

* More than 1,700 miles ; on arriving at Ferotepoor, 3,070 imiles,
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Exoellenay in his interoourse with the Ameers of Scinde. He feels the
Government to be under the deepest obligations to His Excellency,
for the unshaken firmness of purpose with which, throughout the whole
course of the operations, obstacles and discouragements were dis-
regarded, and the prescribed objects of polioy were pursued, and, above
all, he would warmly applaud the decisive judgment with whioh the
attack upon the fortress of Ghuznee was planned, and its capture
effected ; nor would he omit to remark upon that spirit of perfect co-
operation with which His Excellency gave all support to the political
authorities with whom he was associated. Mr. Macnaghten, the Envoy
and Minister at the Court of Shah Bhoojah-ool-Moolk, and Colonel
Pottinger, the Resident in Scinde, have been chiefly enabled by the
cordial good understanding which has throughout subsisted between
them and His Excellency, to render the important services by which
they have entitled themselves to the high approbation of tho Govern-
ment; and his Lordship has much pleasure in noticing the feelings of
satisfaction with which His Excellency regarded the valuable services
of Lieutensut-Colonel Sir A. Burnes, who was politically attached to
him in the advance upon Ghuznoe.

6. “The Governor-General would follow His Excellency the Com-
mander-in-Chief in acknowledging the manner in which Major-General
8ir Willoughby Cotton, K.C.B. and K.C.H., exercised his command
of the Bengal division throughout the campaign, and supported the
honour of his country on July 23rd ; and His Lordship would also offer
the thanks of the Government to Major-General Willshire, C.B., com-
manding the Second Infantry Division; to Major-General Thackwell,
C.B. and K.H. commanding the cavalry division; to Brigadier
Roberts, commanding the 4th Infantry Brigade ; to Brigadier Stevenson,
commanding the artillery of the army ; to Brigadier Scott, commanding
the Bombay Cavalry brigade ; and to Brigadier Persse, upon whom,
on the lamented death of the late Brigadier Arnold, devolved the
ocommand of the Bengal Cavalry brigade ; as well as to the coramand-
ants of corps and detachments, with the officers and men under their
respective commands ; and to the officers at the head of the several
departments, with all of whom His KExcellency the Commander-in-
Chief has expressed his high satisfaction.

7. *“To Brigadier Sale, C.B., already honunrably distinguished in the
annals of Indian warfare, who commanded the storming party at
Ghuenes ; to Lieutenant-Colonel Dennie, C.B., who led the advance on
the same occasion ; and to Captain George Thomson, of the Bengal
Engineers, whose servicos in the capture of that fortress have been
noticed in marked terms of commendation by His Excellency the
Commander-in-Chief ; and to Captain Peat, of the Bombay Engineers, -
and Lieutenants Durand and MacLeod, of the Bengal Engineers, and
the other officers and men of the Bengal and Borubay Engineers under
their comamand, the Governor-General would especially tender the
expression of his admiration of the gallantry and solence which
they respectively displayed in the execution of the important duties

*confided to them in that memorable operation.

8. “In testimony of the services of the Army of the Indus, the
Governor-General is pleased to resolve that sll the corps, European and
native, in the services of the East India Company, which proceeded be-
yond the Bolan Pass, shall have on their regimental colours the word
' Afghanistan,’ and such of them as were employed in the reduction

. of the fortress of that name, the word ¢ Ghuznee ’ in addition.
“In behalf of the Queen’s regiments, the Governor-General will
*‘recommend to Her Majesty, through the proper channel, that the
same distinotion may be granted to them.
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9. * The Governor-General would here notice with agproba.tion the
praiseworthy conduct, during this expedition, of the officers and men
attached to the disciplined force of His Majesty Shah S8hoojah-ool-
Moolk, This force was newly raised, and opportunities had not been
afforded for its perfect organisation and instruction; but it shared
honourably in the labours and difficulties of the campaign, and it had
the good fortune, in repelling an attack made by the enemy in force,
on the day prior to the storming of Ghuznee, to be enabled to give
promise of the excellent services which may hereafter be expected
from it.

10. * His Lordship has also much satisfaction in adding that the best
acknowledgments of tho Government are due to Lisutenant-Colonel
Wade, who waa employod upon the Peshawar. frontier, and who, gal-
lantly supported by the officers and inen of all ranks under him, and
soconded%y the cordial aid of the Beikh Government—an aid the more
honourable because rendered at a painful crisis of its affairs—opened
the Khyber Pass, and overthrow the authority of the enemy in that
guartor, at thoe moment when the advance of the forces of the Shah

adah Tymoor could most conduce to the success of the general opera-
tions.

* By command, etc, (Sgd:) *“J. StewaRT, Lieutenani-

(Sgd.) «T. H. MappoCR, Colonel, Secretary to the Govern-

Officiating Secretary to ‘(overn-  mentof India, Military Department,

ment of India, with  the with the Right Honourable the
Governor-General. Governor-General.

* By order of the Commmander of the Forcea.
(Sgd.) “J. R. LuMiEYy, Major-General,
Adjutant-General of the Army.”
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DESPATCHES. GWALIOR

¢ GENERAL ORDERS BY THE RIGHRT HONOURABLE THE GGOVERNOR-
(IENERAL OF INDIA.

“0AMP, GWALIOR RESIDENCY, January 4th, 1844,

« The Governor-General directs the publication of the annexed
despatch, from His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief, reporting
the operations of the corps under His Excellency’s immediate com-
mand, and of that under the command of Major-General Grey, against
the mutinous troops which overawed and controlled the Government
of His Highness the Maharajah Jyajee Rao Scindiah, and attacked the
British forces, on their advance to Gwalior to His Highness’s support.

* Tho Governor-General deeply laments the severe loss in killed and
wounded which has been sustained in these operations ; but it has been
sustained in the execution of & great and necessary service, and the
viotories of Maharajpore and Punniar, while they have shed new glory
upon the British army, have restored the authority of the Maharajah,
and have given new seourity to the British empire in India.

“The Governor-General cordially congratulates His Excollency
the Commander-in-Chief upon the success of his able combinations,
by which two victories wore obtained on the same day, and the two
wings of the army, l}:rocaedin from distant points, have been now
united under the walls of Gwalior.

“To His Excellency, and to Major-General Grey, and to all the

enerals and other officers, and to ull the soldiers of the army, the
?}ovemor-(}eneral, in the name of the Government, and of all the
people of India, offers his' most grateful acknowledgments of the
distinguished service they have performed ; nor can he withhold the
tribute of his admiration justly dye to the devoted courage manifested
by all ranks in action with brave enemies, who yielded their numerous
and well-served artillery only with their lives.

* The Governor-General's special thunks are due to Her Majesty’s
39th and 40th Regiments, to the 2nd and 16th Regiments of Native
Grenadiers, to the 56th Regiment of Native Infantry, which took with
the bayonet the batteries in front of Maharajpore.

* Her Majosty’s 39th Regiment had the peculiar fortune of adding to
the honour of having won at Plassy, the first great battle which %aid
the foundation of the British empire in India, the further honour of
thus contributing to this, as it may be hoped, the last and crowning
vietory by which that empire has been secured,

368
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‘* Hor Majesty’s 40th Regiment, and the 2nd and 16th Regiments
of Native Grenadiers, again serving together, agein displayed their
pre-eminent qualities as soldiers, and well supported the character of
the ever-viotorious army of Candahar.

*‘ The corps of Major-General Grey, suddenly attacked at Punniar,
after 8 long march, carried the several strong positions of the enemy
with a resclution no advantage of ground could enable him to with-
stand ; and Her Majesty’s 3rd Buffs and 50th Regiment added new
lustre to the reputation they gained in the Peninsular War.

“ Everywhere, at Muharajpore and at Punniar, the British and the
native troops, emulating oach other, and animated by the same
spirit of military devotion, proved that an army so composed, and
united by the bonds of mutual esteem and confidence, must ever
remain invincible in Asia.

*“The Government, of India will, a8 a mark of its grateful sense of
their distinguished merit, present to every general and other officer,
and to every soldier enga.geg in the battlea of Maharajpore and Punniar,
an Indian star of bronze, made out of the guns taken at those battles,
and all officers and eoldiers in the service of the Government of India
will be permitted to wear the star with their uniforms.

‘“His Excollency the Commander-in-Chief is requested to furnish
the Governor-General with nominal rolls of all the officers and soldiers
engaged in the two battles respectively, in order that the star pre-
sented to each may be inscribe(i1 with the name of the battle in which
he waa engaged.

“ A trinmphal monument, commemorative of the campaign of Gwalior,
will be erected at Calcutta, and inscribed with the names of all wha
fell in the two battles.

“The Governor-General directs that the words ‘ Maharajpore ' and
‘ Punniar ' shall be borne upon the colours or standards and ap-
pointments of the several regiments, troops, snd companies named
below, as respoctively engaged in those battles :

¢ MAHARAJPORE,

‘“ 2nd troop Second Brigade Horse Artillery ; 3rd ditto, ditto, ditto ;
Becond ditto Third Brigade ditto ; let company lst Battalion of Foot
Artillery ; 1st ditto, 4th ditto, ditto; Her Majesty’s 16th Lancers;
Governor-General's Bodyguard; 1st Regiment Light Cavalry;
4th ditto, ditto; 10th ditto, ditto; 4th Regiment Irregular Cavalry ;
Detachment of 6th Light Cavalry; ditto, 8th ditto; 3rd, 4th, and
6th companies of Bappers and Miners ; Her Majesty’s 39th Regiment
of Foot; ditto, 40th ditto; 2nd Regiment of Grenadiers; l4th
Regiment of Native Infantry; 16th ditto of Grenadiors; 31st ditto
of Native Infantry ; 43rd ditto of Light Infantry ; 56th ditto of Nativo
Infantry ; 6th Company 39th Native Infantry; flank companies
of the Khelat-i-Ghilzie Regiment. The few men of No. 1 company
of the Khelat-i-Ghilzie Regiment, and of the cavalry and infantry,
of the Bundelcund legion, who were present, will receive stars.

** PUNNIAR.

*“ 1st troop Third Brigade Horse Artillery ; 3rd ditto, ditto, ditto ;
6th company 6th Battalion Foot Artillery ; 2 squadrons Her Majeety's
gth Lancers; 2 ditto 5th Regiment Light Cavalry ; 2 ditto 11th ditto,
ditto ; 8th Regiment Light Cavalry ; 8th Regiment Irregular Cavalry ;
1st Company of S8appers and Miners; Her Majeaty's Srd Buffs; Her
Majesty’'s 50th Foot; 39th Regiment Native Infantry; 80th ditto,
ditto ; 8lst ditto, ditto ; 88th ditto, ditto. The cavalry, infantry, and
artillery of the SBeepree contingent,
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“ A royal salute and a feu-de-jote will be fired at all the stations
of the army, on the receipt of this Order.
“ By order of the Right Honourable the Governor-General of India.
(Signed) “‘ F. Curris,
** Secretary to the Government of India,
‘¢ with the Governor-General.”

“Frox His Exormrrency GeNerar Bir H. Goucr, Barr, G.C.B.s
Commander-in-Chsef, East Indses.

“To aE R1GET HONOURABLE THE GOVERNOR-GENERAL, ETO., BTO,, BTO.
DATED HEADQUARTERS OAMP, BEFORK GWALIOR, January 4th, 1844,

‘“My Lorp,

“Your Lordship having witnessed the operations of the
26th, and being in possession, from my frequent communications,
of my military arrangements for the attack on the Mahratta army
in ite strong position of Chonda, I do not feel it necessary to enter
much into detail, either as to the enemy's position or the dispositions
I made for attacking it; I shall here merely ohserve that it waa
peculiarly well-chosen, and most obstinately defended; indeed, 1
may safely assert that 1 never witnessed guns better served, nor &

y of infantry apparontly more devoted to the protection of their
reqimental guns, held by the Mahratta corps as objects of worship.

*1 previously communicated to your Lordship that my intention
was to have turned the enemy’s left flank by Brigadier Cureton’s
brigade of cavalry, oonsiatix}f of Her Majesty’s 16th Lancers under
Lieutenant-Colone) McDowell, your Lordship’s Bodyguard under
Captain Dawkins, lst Regiment of Light Cavalry under %:ajor Crom-
melin, C.B., 4th Irregular Cavalry under Major Oldfleld, C.B., with
Major Lane’s and Major Alexander’s troops of horse artillery under
Brigadier Gowan ; the whole under the orders of Major-General Bir
J. Thackwell, K.C.B. and K.H., commanding tho cavalry division.

* With this force the Third Brigade of Infantry under Major-General
Valiant, K.H., was directod to co-operate, consisting of Her Majesty’s
40th Regiment of Foot under Major Stopford, 2nd Regiment of Grena-
diers under Lieutenant-Colonel Hamilton, and the 16th Regiment of
Grenadiers under Lieutenant-Colonel McLaren, C.B.,

“1t is equally known to your Lordship that I proposed to have
attacked the centre, with Brigadier 8tacy’s brigade of the 8econd Division
of Infantry, which consisted of the 14th Regiment Native Infantry
under Lieutenant-Colonel Gairdner, the 3lst Native Infantry under
Lieutenant-Colonel Weston, and the 43rd Light Infantry under Major
Nash, to which I attached No. 17 Light Fie?d Battery under Captain
Browne; the whole under Major-General Dennis, commanding the
Second Division of Infantry.

“The force was to have been supported by Brigadier Wright's
brigade, composed of Her Majesty’s 38th Regiment commanded by
Major Bray, end the 56th Native Infantry under Major Dick, with
No. 10 Light Field Battery under Brevet-Major S8anders ; Major-General
Little, commanding the Third Division of Infantry, superintended the
movement of this column,

** On the left of this force I placed the Fourth Brigade of Cavalry under
Brigadier Scott, C.B., of Her Majesty’s 8th Lancers, consisting of the
4th Light Cavalry {Lancers) under Major Mactier, and the 10th Light
Cavalry under Lisutenant-Colonel Pope, with Captain Grant’s troop
of horse artillery; with this force I proposed threasening the right
flank of the enemy’s position,
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** Your Lordship Is aware of the extreme difficulty of the country,
intersected by deep and almost impassable ravines, which were only
made practicable by the unremitting labour of Major Smith, with the
Sappers; and that I had to pass the Koharee river in three columns
at considerable distances, on the morning of the 28th; but, by tho
judicious movements of their respective leaders, the whole were in
the appointed positions by 8 o'clock a.m., about & Inile in front of
Maharajpore.

“1 found the Mahrattas had ocoupied this very strong position
during the previous night, by eeven regiments of infantry, with their
guns, which they entrenched; each corps having four guns, which
opened on our advances. This obliged me to alter, in some measure,
my disposition.

* Major-General Littler’s column being exactly in front of Maharaj-

re, I ordered it to advance direct, while Major-General Valiant's

rigade took it in reverse, both supported by Major-General Dennis's
column, and the two light field battories.

“Your Lordship must have witnossed, with the same pride and
pleasure that I did, the brilliant advance of these columns under their
respective leaders; the Kuropean and native soldiers appoaring
emulous to prove their loyalty and devotion. And here I must do
justice to the gallantry of their opponents, who received the ahock
without flinehing ; their guns doing severe execution as we advanced,
but nothing could withstand the rush of British soldiers.

*“ Her Majesty’s 39th Foot, with their accustomed dash, ably sup-
ported by the 56th Regiment Native Infantry, drove the enemy from
their guns into the village, bayoneting the gunners at their poste.
Here a most sanguinary conflict ensued: the Mahratta troops, after
discharging their matchlocks, fought sword in hand with the most
determined courage.

“ General Vuliant’s brigade, with equal enthusissm, took Maharaj-
pore in reverse, and 28 guns were captured by this combined
movement ; so desperate was the resistance, that very few of the
defenders of this very strong position escaped. During these
operations Brigadier Scott was opposed by s body of the enemy’s
cavalry on the extreme loft, and made some well-executed charges,
most ably supported by Captain  Grant’s troop of horse artillery
and 4th Lancers, capturing some guns and taking two standards,
thus threatening the right flank of the enemy.

**In conformity with previous instructions, Major-General Valiant,
supported by the Third Cavalry Brigade, maoved on the right of the
enemy’s position at Chonda. During the advance Major-General
Valiant had to take in succossion three strong entrenched positions,
where the enemy defended their guns with frantic desperation; Her
Majesty’s 40th Regiment losing two successive commanding officers,
Major Btopford and Captain Coddington, who fell wounded at the
very muzzles of the guns, and capturing four regimental standards.
This corps was ably and nobly supported by the 2nd Grenadiers, who
captured two regimental standards, and by the 16th Grenadiers, under
Lieutenant-Colonels Hamilton and McLaren. Too much praise can-
not be given to these three regiments.

“ Major-General Littler, with Brigadier Wright's brigade, after
dispersing tho right of the enemy’s position at Meharajpore,
steadily advanced to fulfil his inatructions of attacking the main
position ut Chonda in front, supported most ably by Captain Grant’s
troop of horse artillery and the 1st Regiment of Light Cavalry. This
column had to advance under a very mevere fire over very difficult
ground, but when within a short distance, again the rush of the 30th
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Regiment, as before, under Major Bray, esa.llantly supported by the
86th Regiment under Major Dick, carried everything before them,
and thus gainod the entrenched main position of Chonda. In this
charge the 39th Regiment lost the services of its brave commanding
officer, Major Bray, who was desperately wounded by the blowing
ug of one of the enemy’s tumbrils in the midst of the corps, and were
ably brought out of action by Major Straubenzee. This gellant corps
on this occasion captured two regimental gtendarda.

« A small work of four guns on the left of this position was long and
obstinately defended, but subsequently carried, and the guns captured
by the Grenadiers of the 38th under Captain Campbell, admirably
s;g orted by a wing of the 56th Native Infantry under Major

ps.

“ Brigadier Cureton’s brigade of cavalry taking advantage of every
opportunity, manceuvred most judiciously on the right, and would have
got in rear of the position, and cut off the retreat of the whole, had they
not been prevented by an impassable ravine. I witnessed with much
pride the rapidity of movement of the three troops of horse artillery,
which bore a conspicuous part in this well-contested action; their
leaders promptly brought them forward in every available position, and
the precision og, their firc was admirable. \Vith the two light fleld
batteries I have every reason to be plessed: they well supported the
high character of the Bengal artillery.

“1 was greatly gratified with a spirited charge made by Major
Oldfleld, C.B., of the 4th Irregular Cavalry, who had been left to cover
Major Alexander’s troop of horse artillery, and who charged, by my
orders, a considerable body of the enemy’s infantry, who were moving
off from the right position of Maharajpore. Two guns and two stand-
ards rewarded this charge.

“I was likewise much pleased with a charge made by my personal
escort under Cornet Stannus, which did great credit to himself and the
small body of the 5th Light Cavalry which formed it.

“ 8everal aots of individual heroism occurred on this day; none
exceeded those of Major-Goneral Churchill, C.B., Quartermaster-
General of Her Majesty’s forces in India, and Captain Somerset, of the
Grenadier Guards, your Lordship’s military secretary, whom you kindly
allowed to act on my staff, and whom I sent with Brigadier Cureton’s
brigade, to communicate to me the movements of that corps.. These
two gellant officers nobly feli, having received soveral wounds in
personal rencontre. In Major-General Churchill, Her Majesty’s service
will experience a great loss ; he died during the night, after amputation
of the leg, but I am glad to add there is every hope that Captain
Somerset will do well, though severely wounded.

* 1 regret to say that our loss has been very severe, inflnitely beyond
what I caloulated on ; indeed 1 did not do justice to the gallantry of my
ops)ononts. Their forco, however, so greatly exceeded ours, particu-
larly in artillery; the position of their was so commanding; they
were so well served, and determinedly gefended, both by their gunners
and their infantry, and the peculiar difficulties of the country giving the
defending force so great advantages, that it could not be otherwise.

*In the return of killed I greatly deplore the loss of Lieutenant-
Colonel E. Banders, C.B., of the Engineers, than whom this army, with
its numerous list of devoted soldiers, could not boast a more promising,
nor a more enthusiastic officer.

“ It is also my painful duty to record my deep regret at the loss of a
most valuable officer, Major Crommelin, C.B., of the lst Light Cavalry,
who died of wounds received when nobly leading his corps in support
of the Fifth Brigade of Infantry.
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“Your Lordship is aware that I had collected a strong force in
Bundlecund under Major-General J. Grey, C.B., to co-operate with me,
and that both corpe crossed the Scjndian frontier, from the north-east
and gsouth-west, at the eame time. It may, therefore, be necessary
here to observe that, on finding that all your Lordship’s strenuous
attempts to maintain those friendly relations which had hitherto existed
between the two Governments were fruitless, and that the Mahratta
army, the ruling power, appeared determined to rost the fate of the
country on the hazard of a general action, I instructed Major-General
Grey, with the troops under his command, to push on as rapidly as
practicable to Punniar, twelve miles south-west of Gwalior, thus
placing the Mahratta army between two corps capablo of supporting
each other, should it remain in the vicinity of its capital, or of sub-
dividing that army to repel or attack these two columns. They adopted
the latter alternative, and, under Divine guidance, the consequence has
been most decisive and honourable to the British arms.

*“1 beg now to enclose Major-General Girey’s report, detailing his
movements and operations, which were us creditable to this meritorious
officer as the result has proved highly honourable to the brave troops
ho had under his commend. 1 beg ocarnestly to draw your Lordship’s
favourable attention to their conduct, and to the recommendations of
Ma.;or-(}eneml Grey.

“1 beg also to bring to your Lordship's notice the several officers
named by those in command of the separate columns. In this list [
shall not re-name these, whom it is my intention to bring to your
Lordship’s favourable consideration as commanding divisions and
brigades, and on the staff, at the conclusion of this report.

"* Mujor-General Sir Josoph Thackwell, commanding the cavalry
division, mentinns having recoived every assistance from Captain Pratt,
16th Lancers, Assistant Adjutant-General; Captain Clayton, 4th Light
Cavalry, Assistant Quartermaster-General, and Lieutenant Pattinson,
16th Lancers, Brigade-Major of Cavalry ; Lieutenant Cowell, 3rd Light
Dragoons, aide-de-camp, and Captain Herries, 3rd Light Dragoons,
your Lordship’s aide-de-camp, who acted aa aide-de-camp to 8ir J. Thack-
well on this occasion, and Lieutenant Renny, of the Engineers, attached
to the cavalry division.

" Major-General Dennis mentions huving derived every assistance
from Captain McKie, H.M.’s 3rd Buffs, Assistant Adjutant-General ;
Lieutenant Sneyd, 57th Native Infantry, Acting Deputy Assistant
Quartormaster-(Qeneral of the Second Division of Infantry, and
Lieutonant Dowman, Her Majesty’s 40th Foot, acting aide-de-camp.

** Major-Genoral Littler strongly brings to notice Major Bray, cotn-
manding 39th Regiment (severely wounded), und Major Straubenzee,
of H.M.’s 36th Regiment ; Majors Dick and Phillip, §6th Native Infantry ;
Major Ryan, Her Majesty’s 50th Regiment; Captain Nixon, H.M.'s
39th Regiment, Drigade-Major; Captain Campbeli, H.M.’s 30th Grena-
dier company ; Captain Graves, 16th Grenadiers, Assistant Adjutant-
GGeneral, and Lieutenant Croker, H.M.’s 30th Regiment, Assistant
Quartermaster-Cioneral, Fifth Brigade of Infantry ; Captain Harris, 70th
Native Infantry, his aide-de-camp, and Captain Alcock, 46th; Captain
Johnstone, 46th, and Lieutenant Vaughan, 21st Native Infantry, acting
aide-de-camp,

** Major-General Valiunt has also atrongly brought to my notice the
conduct of Lieutenant-Colonel McLaren, C.B., 16th Grenadiers; Lieu-
tenant-Colonel Hamilton, 2nd Grenadiers; Major Stopford and Captain
Coddington (both severely wounded), and Captain Oliver, successivel
corvmanding Her Majosty’s 40th Regiment ; Ceptain Manning, 16t
Grenadiers; Captain Young, 2nd Grenadiers; Brigade Major, Captain
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Aberorombie, Engineers, and Lieutenant Nelson, H.M.’s 40th Foot,
his aide-de-camp,

** Brigadier Gowan strongly recommends Captain McDonald, Deputy
Assistant Adjutant-General of Artillery.

** Although it was not their good fortune to come into action, I feel
it is due to Brigadier Tennant, and the officers and men of the foot
artillery, to express my thanks for the great exertions they made to
bring up the heavy ordnance, which alone waa prevented from opening
on Maharajpore by the rapidity of the movement of the attacking
columne, and from tho action having commenced carlier than I expeoted.
My thanks are likewise due to Brigadier Riley, and that portion of the
Bixth Brigade of Infantry which formed the rearguard, for the manner
in which he protected ang brought forward the immense train of stores,
provisions, and baggage which accompanied the army, over so great an
extent of tho enemy's country.

‘T have thus, my Lord, attempted to detail a series of movements,
wmany of which came under your Lordship’s observation. It now
becomes my duty, as Commander-in-Chief of this army, to do justice
to those gallant men who, I feel, I can conscientiously agsure your Lord-
ship, merited my warmest approbation ; and although it fell to the lot
of some, a8 in all actions it must, to be more rrominently forward than
others, yet I am proud to_eay I found in all arms the most animated
enthusiasm and tf\’o most ‘able support.

* To Major-General 8ir Joseph Thackwell, K.C.B., to Major-Generals
Dennis and Littler, and to Brigadier Gowan, commandi divisions, my
best thanks are due, for the manner in which they conducted and led
their respective divisions.

*“To Major-General Valiant, K.H., and Brigadiers Boott, Staocy,
Cureton, and Wright, I am equally indebted, for their gallantry and
exertions in command of brigades; and to the several officers com-
manding corps and troops of horse artillery and light field batteries,
named in a foregoing part of this despateh, I feel called on to express
my warmost approval. Thoy nobly led and were gallantly supported
by the officers and men of their respective corps.

*“ I beg to bring to your Lordship’s notice the high professional talents
of Major 8mith, from whom I derived every assistance, as well aa from
several officers of the Engineer department.

“ To the general staff I am great]?' indebted : from Major-General
Smith, C.B., Adjutant-General of Her Majesty’s forces in Indie, and
Major-General Lumley, Adjutant-General of the army, I experienced
the most cordial support.

“To Lieuteuant-Colonel Garden, Quartermaster-General of the
army, whose exertions were as creditable as they were unceading,
I am very much indebted ; to Major Grant, Deputy Adjutant-General
of the army ; to Major Barr, Assistant Adjutant-Genersl, Her Majesty's
forces, and to Major Drummond, Deputy Quartermaster-General of the
army, I feel under much obligation, for their zeal and assistance,

*The arrangements of Lieutenant-Colonel Burlton, Commissary-
QGeneral, who accompanied me in the field, and Cuaptain Ramsay,
Assistant Cornmissary-General, und principal executive officer, have
been very judicious.

* Lioutenant-Colonel Birch, Judgo-Advooate-General, accompanied
me in the field, and rendered me his assistance, The exertions of the
junior officers in the seversl departments well justify my most favour-
able report of thom, especially Lieutenant W. Fraser Tytler, Deputy
Aessistant Quartermaster-General, and Captain Ekins, Assistunt
Adjutant-General of the army.

‘1 bave every reason to bo eatisfied with the conduot of Superin-



GWALIOR 875

tending Surgeon Wood, and Field-Surgeon Chalmers. This latter
officer peculiarly and most creditably exerted himself in the fleld
hospita.l at Ma.harajgore.

*To Lieutenant-Colonel Gough, C.B.,, HM.'s 8rd Light Dragoons,
my military secretary, and the other officers composing my personal
stafl ; Major Havelock, C.B., H.M.'s 13th Light Infantry, Persian
interpreter ; my aides-de-camp, Lieutenant Frend, of H.M.’s 31at Foot
(who was severely wounded, and had his right arm amputated in the
field); Captain R. Smith, 28th Regiment of Native Infantry; Captain
Evans, 26th Light Infantry, and Lieutenant Bagot, of the 165th Native
Infantry, I am greatly indebted, for their alacrity and zeal in carrying
my orders ; also my best thanke are due to Captain Sir R. Shakespear,
Bt., of the artillery; to Captain Curtis, 37th Native Infantry;
Bub-Assistant Commissary-General ; to Lieutenant Maodonald, of the
2nd Madras Light Cavalry, and to Lieutenant Hayes, of the 62nd
Native Infantry, all of whom acted as iny aides-de-camp during the

day.

XI must not omit to mention Assistant-SBurgeon Stephens, M.D.,
H.M.’s 62nd Regiment, surgeon on my personal staff, who accom-
panied me in the field, and was attentive and useful to the wounded
in the field.

*I have the honour to encloso a list of our killed and wounded ;
that of the enemny must have been exceedingly great.

‘ By the accompanying returns your Lordship will perceive we have
captured in the action of Maharajpore, 58 guns, and the whole of
the enemy’s ammunition waggons.

“I feel I have been lod into & much longer detail than I had in-
tended, and have brought to your Lordship’s notice a very lengthened
list of officers who led, and troops who aogieved a victory that, in one
day, has brought a once powerful mation, and undoubtedly brave
army, to feel the indomitable power of the British arms, thus securing
the internal peace of central India.

“ I have the honour to be, my Lord,
“ Your Lordship’s obedient and humble servant,
(Ssgned) *« H. GouaH, General,
“ Oommander-in-Ohief, East Indses.”
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DESPATCHES. SUTLEJ CAMPAIGN
SBOBRAON

¢ (JRNERAL ORDER BY TEE RIGHT HONOURABLE THE (OVERNOR-
GENERAL OF INDIA.

“ CAMP, KUSS00R, February 44th, 1848.

*The Governor-General, having received from His Excellency
the Commander-in-Chiof, the despatch annexed to this paper, an-
nounces to the army and the people of India, for the fourth time during
this campaign, & most important and memorable victory obtained by
the army of the Butlej over the 8ikh forces at Sobraon, on the 10th
instant. '

“ On that day the enemy’s strongly entrenched camp, defended by
36,000 men, and 67 pieces of artillory, exclusive of heavy guns on
the opposite bank of the river, was stormed by the British army,
under the immediate command of His Excellency Bir Hugh Gough,
Bart., G.C.B., and in two hours the Sikh forces were driven into the
river with immense loss, 67 guns being captured by the victors.

*“The Governor-General most cnrdiaﬂy congratulates the Com-
mander-in-Chief and the British ariny on this exploit, ono of the most
daring ever achieved, by which, in open day, a triple line of breast-
works, flanked by formidable redoubts, bristling with artillery, manned
by 82 regular regiments of infantry, was asssulted and carried by
forces under His Excellency’s command.

* This important operation was. most judicionsly preceded by a
cannonade from the heavy howitzers and mortars, which had arrived
from Delhi on the 8th instant, the same day on which the forces under
Major-General 8ir Harry Smith, which had been detached to Loodiana,
and had gained the victory of Aliwal, rejoined the Commander-in-
Chief’s camp.

*“The vertical fire of the heavy ordnance had the effect intended b
His Excellency; it shook tho enemy’s confidence in works so well
and eo laboriously constructed, and compelled them to seek shelter in
the broken ground within their camp.

‘* The British infantry, formed on the oxtreme left of the line, then
advanced to the assault, and, in spite of every impediment, cleared
the entrenchments, and entered the enemy's camp. H.M.’s 10th,
63rd, and 80th Regiments, with the 33rd, 43rd, 59th, and 63rd Native
Infantry, moving at & firm end steady pace, nover fired a shot till

376
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they had passed the barriers opposed to them, a forbearance much to
be commended and most worthy of constant imitation, to which may
be attributed the sucoess of their first effort, and the small loss the
sustained. This attack was crowned with the success it deserv
and (led by its gallant commander, Major-General 8ir Robert Dick)
obtained the admiration of the army, which witnessed its disciplined
valour. When checked by the formidable obstacles and superior
numbers to which tho attacking division was exposed, the Becond
Division, under Major-General Gilbert, afforded the most opportune
amsistance by rapidly advancing to the attack of the enemy’s batteries,
entering their fortified position after a severe struggle, and sweeping
through the interior of the camp. This division inflicted a very severe
loss on the retreating enemy.

“The same gallant efforts, attended by the same success, distin-
guizhed the attack of the enemy’s left, made by the First Division,
under the command of Major-General 8ir Harry 8mith, K.C.B., in
which the troops nobly suatained their former reputation.

“ These three divisions of infantry, concentrated within the enemy’s
camp, drove his shattered forces into the river, with a loss which far
exceeded that which the most experienced officers had ever witnessed.

“ Thus terminated, in the brief space of two hours, this most remark-
able conflict, in which the military combinations of the Commander-
in-Chief were fully and ably carried into effect with His Excellency’s
characteristic encrgy. The enemy’s select regiments of regular infantry
have beon dispersed, and & large proportion destroyed, with the loss,
since the campaign began, of 220 piecos of artillery taken in action.

“The same evening, six regiments of native infantry crossed the
Sutlej ; on the following day the bridge of boats was nearly completed
by that able and indefatigable officer, Major Abbott, of the Engineers,
and the army is this day encamped at Kussoor, 32 miles from Lahore.

“The Governor-General again most cordially congratulates the
Commander-in-Chief on the important reeults obtained by this memor-
able achievement. The Governor-General, in the name of the
Government and of the people of India, offers to His Excellency
the Commander-in-Chief, to the general officers, and all the other
officers and troops under their command, his grateful and heartfelt
acknowledgments for the services they have performed.

“ To commemorate thie groat victory, the Governor-General will cause
a medal to be struck, with ‘ S0BRAON ' engraved upon it, to be pre-
sented to the victorious urmy in the service of the East India Company,
and requests His Excollency the Commander-in-Chief to forward the
lists usually furnished of those engaged.

* The Governor-Gteneral deeply regrets tho loss of the brave officers
and men who have fallen on this occasion. Major-General Sir Robert
Dick, K.C.B., who led the attack, reccived a mortal wound after he
had entored the enemy’s entrenchments. Thus fell, most gloriously,
at the moment of victory, this vetoran officer, displaying the same
energy and intrepidity as when, 35 years ago, in Spain, he was the
distinguished leader of the 42nd Highlanders.

“ The artuy has also sustained a heavy loss by the death of Brigadier
Taylor, commanding the Third Brigade of the Second Division, 8 most
ahle officer, and very worthy to have been at the hoad of so distinguished
a corps as H.M.'s 29th Regiment, by which he was beloved and
respected.

“The Company’s service has lost an excellent officer in Captain
Fisher, who fell at the head of the brave Sirmoor Regiment, which
greatly distinguished itself.

“ The Governor-General has much satisfaction in again offering to
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Major-General 8ir Harry 8mith, K.C.B., commanding the Firat Division
of infantry, his best thanks for his gallant services on this occasion,
by which he has added to his well-established reputation.

“ The Governor-General acknowledges the meritorious conduct of
Brigadier Penny and Brigadier Hicks, commanding brigades in the
First Division.

‘“ Her Majesty's 31st and 50th Regiments greatly distinguished
themselves, as well as the 42nd and 47th Native Infantry and the
Nusseree battalion.

‘‘ The Glovernor-General’s thanks are also due to Lieutenant-Colonel
Ryan, commeanding H.M.’s 50th, who, he regrots to hear, has been
severely wounded.

“To Major-General Gilbert, commanding the Second Division, the
Governor-General i8 most happy to express his acknowledgmonts for
the judgment, coolness, and intrepidity displayed by him on every
oceasion since the campaign opened ; and on the present, the prompti-
tude and energy of his attack essentially contributed to ensure the
success of the day.

*‘ The Governor-General trusts that the wound received by Brigadier
McLaren will not long deprive the service of one of its best officers.

“ H.M.’s 29th, and the 1st European Regiments, and the 16th, 48th,
81st Native Infantry, and the Sirmoor battalion, have entitled them-
selves, by their gallant conduct, to the thanks of the Government,

“‘ To Brigadier Stacy, on whom the command of the Second Division
devolved, the Governor-General’s thanks are especially due, for the
able manner in which the attack within the enemy's camp wae directed.

‘“The Governor-Gleneral is also glad to have this opportunity of
acknowledging the servicos of Brigadier Wilkinson, commanding the
Sixth Brigade of the attacking division,

“ The brigade composed of H.M.’s 8th and 62nd Regiments, and
the 26th Native Infantry, under the commend of Brigadier tho Honour-
able T. Ashburnham, placed in support of the attacking division, by
its firm and judicious advance contributed to the success of the assault.

“ The cavalry, under the command of Major-General 8ir J, Thackwell,
K.C.B., Brigadiers Cureton, 8cott, and Campbell, were well in hand,
and ready for any emergency. H.M.’s 3rd Light Dragoons, as usual,
were in the foremost ranks, and distinguished thomselves under their
commanding officer, Lieutenant-Colonel White.

‘ Brigadier S8mith, the commanding Engineer, fully accomplished
the Commander-in-Chief’s instructions; and to Captain Baker and
Lieutenant Becher of the Engineers, the Governor- ral’s acknow-
ledgments are due, for leading the division of attack into the enemy’s
camp. These officers will maintain the r:‘futation of their corps
whenever gallantry or science may be required from its members,

* Major Abbott, of the Engineers, exclusive of his exertions in con-
structing the bridge of boats, displayed much intelligence in the field.
The merits of Major Reilly, commanding that most useful corps the
Sappers and Minors, are acknowledged. The ability and zeal of
Brigadier Irvine, the senior officer of the Engineer corps, are well
known to the Governor-General ; and his forbearance in not assuming
the command, having reached tho camp on the preceding evening, is
duly appreciated.

" “Brigadier Gowan, commanding the artillery, ably directed the

practice of the heavy artillery on the left, assisted by Lieutenant-

Colonel Biddulph, Lieutenant-Colonel Brooke, Lieutenant-Colonel

Wood, and Captain Pillans,

g,“ On the right, the howitzer practice was well sustained by Major
rant.
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‘“The troops of horse artillery of Lieutenant-Colonel Lane and
Captain Fordyce greatly assisted the attack of our infantry on the
left ; and whilst the enemy were orossing the river, the fire of Liouten-
ant-Colonel Alexander's troop was most effective.

*“The troops of Captain Horsford and Captain Swinley also did
good Bervice,

“ The Governor-Cleneral’s aoknowledgments are due to Major Grant,
Deputy Adjutant-General, and to his department generally, for their
ability and intelligence. To the Quartermaster-Ceneral the service
is much indebted for the judgment and zeal which mark sll the
proceedings of that officer, and the Governor-General offers
acknowledgments to him, ta the Deputy Quartermaster-General,
Lieutenant-Colonel Drummond, and the officers of that department.

“To Lieutenant-Colonel Barr, Acting Adjutant-General, and to
Lisutenant-Colonel Gough, Acting Quartermaster-General, Queen’s
service, the Govornor-General's thanks are due. He regrets the
temporary privation of tho services of these officera by the wounds
they have received.

“To Lioutenant-Colonel Birch, J udge- Advocate-General, the
Governor-Goneral again has to_repeat his thanks for his intelligence
and gallantry.

** To Lieutenunt-Colonel Havelock, Persian interpreter, the lovernor-
General offers his best thanks.

* The Governor-General desires to record hia obligations to Count
Ravensburg, and to the officers of His Royal Highness's staff, Count
Oriola and Count Greuben. This gallant and amiable Prince, with
his bravo associates of the Prussian army, has shared all the dangers
and secured for himself the respect and admiration of the British
army ; and the Governor-General begs to convey to His Royal Highness
and to his staff, his cordiel thanks for tho ready offers of their services
on the field of battle.

*“ Tho Governor-General has now to acknowledge the services
rendered by the officers attaclied to his own staff,

* He renews to Lieutenant-Colonel Benson, of the Military Board,
his strong sense of the important services rondered by that officer
during the whole of this campaign, whose general information in military
details, and cool judgment in action, deserve this acknowledgment.

** Lieutenant-Colonel Wood, the Governor-General’s Military Secre-
tary, displayed on tho 10th instant the same intelligence and gallantry
as on former occasions.

“ Major Lawrence, the Governor-General's Political Agent, haas,
throughout these operations, afforded most usoful assistance by his
ability, zeal, and activity in the field, as well as on every other ocoasion.

* Captain Mills, Assistant Political Agent, and Honorary Aide-de-
camp to the (fovernor-General, has shown the most unwearied devotion
to the service as well in the ficld as in the vxercise of his personal
influence in the protected Sikh States.

* The Governor-General’s thanks are also due to Captain Cunning-
ham, Engineers, Assistant Political Agent. )

** The Governor-General’s Aides-de-carap, Captain Grant, Lord Arthur
Hay, Captain Peel, and Captain Hardinge, by thoir gallantry and in-
telligence, rendered themselves most useful,

*In the operations of this campsign, in which officers of the oivil
service have accompanied the camp, und participated in the risks
incidental to active warfare, the Govomor-genera ’s thanks are due
for their readiness in encountering these risks, and their endurance
of Px'iva.tions.

“ The Governor General acknowledges the able assistance he has
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at all times received from the Political Secretary, F. Curris, Esq.
His acknowledgments are also due to his Private S8ecretary, C. Hardinge,
Elq., and to the Assistant Politioal Agent, R. Cust, Esq.

‘' Lisutenant-Colonel Parsons, Deputy Commissary-General, has
succeeded in keeping the Army well supplied ; and the Governor-
General is much eatisfied with his exertions, and those of the officers
under his command. The army took the field under circumstances of
great difficulty ; and, by strenuous exertions, and good arrangementa
on the part of the Lieutenant-Colonel, the army has now a large supply
in reserve, a result very favourable to the Chiof of the Commissariat
Department. &he manner in which Captain Johnson has conducted
the commiseariat duties entrusted to him has also met with the Gover-
nor-General's approbation.

‘“To Dr. Ma.cf:sod, superintonding surgoon, and to Dr. Graham, us
well a8 to the officers of the medical departinent generally, the Governor-
QGeneral offers his acknowledgments.

“ His thanks are due to Dr. Walker, surgeon to the Governor-
General, whose ability is only to be equelied by his zeal and humanity.

‘A salute of 21 guns will be fired in celebration of the victory
of Bobraon at all the usual stations of the army.

** By order of the Right Honourable the Governor-General of Indis.
(Stgned) “ F.  CURRIE,
¢ Secretary to the Government of India,
“ with the Governor-General.”

“GeNeRaL Stz Huen GoueR, BArT., G.C.B., COMMANDER-IN-CHIER
oF THE Forces IN INDIA, T0 THE GOVERNOR-GENERAL OF INDIA.
* HEADQUARTERS, ARMY OF THE SUTLKJ, OaMr, KUHSOOR, February 13th, 1848,

* Rieer HoNouraBLE SIR,

“This is the fourth despatch which I have had the honour of
addressing to you since the opening of the campaign. Thanks to
Almighty (God, whosge hand I desire to acknowledge in all our successes,
the occasion of my writing mow ie to announce a fourth and most
glorious and decisive victory.

“My last communication detailed the movements of the Bikhs
and our counter-manmuvres since the great day of Ferozeshah. De-
feated on the Upﬂer Butlej, the enemy continued to occupy his position
on the rght bank, and his formidable tete-du-pont and entrenchments
on the left bank of the river, in front of the main body of our army.
But on the 10th inatant, all that he held of British territory, which
was comprised in the ground on which one of his camps stood, was
stormed from his grasp, and his audacity was again signally punished
by a blow, sudden, hoavy, and overwhelming. It is my gratifying daty
to deteil the measures which have led to this glorious result.

“ The enemy’s works had been repeatedly reconnoitred during the
time of my headquarters being fixed at Nihalkee, by myself, my
departmental staff, and my engineer and artillery officers. Our
observations, coupled with the reports of spies, convinced us that there
had devolved on us the arduous task of attacking a position covered
with formidable entrenchments, not fower than 30,000 men, the best
of the Khalsa troops, with 70 pieces of cannon, united by a good
bridge to a reserve on the opposite bank, on which the enemy had a
congiderable camp and some artillery, commanding and flanking his
fileldworke on our side. Major-General Sir Harry Smith's division
having rejoined me on the evening of the 8th, and part of my siege
train having come up with me, I resolved, on the morning of the 10th,
to digposs our mortaras and battering guns on the alluw land, within
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good range of the enemy’s picquets at the post of observation in front
of Kodeewalla, and at the Little Bobraon. It waa direoted that this
ehould be done during the night of the 9th, but the execution of this
part of the plan was deferred, owing to misconceptions and’casual
ciroumstances, until near daybreak. Tho dolay was of little impor-
tance, as the event showod that the S8ikhs had followed our example,
in occupying the two posts in force by day only. Of both, therefore,
possession waa taken without opposition. ~ The battering and dispos-
able fleld artillery was then put in position on an extended ssmicirole,
embracing within its fire the works of the Sikhs, It had been
intended that the cannonade should have commenced at daybreak ;
but so heavy a mist hung over the plain and river that it becamo neces-
sary to wait until the rays of the sun had penetrated it and cloared
the atmosphere. Meanwhile on the margin of the Butlej, on our
left, two brigades of Major-General Sir Robert Dick’s division, under
his personal command, stood ready to commence the assault against
the enemy's extreme right. His Soventh Brigade, in which was the 10th
Foot, reinforced by the 53rd Foot, and lod by Brigadier Stacy, was
to head the attack, supported, at 200 yards’ distance, by the Sixth
Brigade, under Brigadier Wilkinson. In resorvo was the Fifth Brigade,
under Brigadier the Honourable T. Ashburnham, which was to move
forward from the entrenched village of Kodeowalls, leaving, if necessary,
a regiment for its defence. In the centre, Major-Genoral Gilbert’s
division was deployed for support or attack, ita right resting on and
in the village of the Little 8obraon.  Major-General 8ir Harry Smith’s
division was formed near the village of Guttah, with ita right thrown
up towards the Butlej. Brigadier Curgton’s cavalry threatened, by «
feignod attacks, tho ford at Hurrokee and the enemy’s horse, under
Rajah Lal Singh Misr, on the opposite bank. Brigndier Campbell,
taking an intermediate position in. the rear botweon Major-General
Gilbert’s right and Major-General 8ir Harry Smith’s left, protected
both. Major-General Sir Joseph Thackwell, under whom waa Brigadier
Boott, held in reserve on our left, ready to act as circumstances might
demand, the rest of the cavalry.

“ Our battery of nine-pounders, enlarged into twelves, opened near
the Little Bobraon with a brigade of howitzers formed from the light
field batteriee and troops of horse artillery, shortly after daybreak.
But it was half-past 6 boforo the whole of our artillery fire was
developed. It wasmost spirited and well-directed. 1 cannot spesak in
terms too high of the judicious disposition of the guna, their admirable
gmotice, or the activity with which the cannonude was sustained.

ut, notwithstanding the formidable calibre of our iron guns, mortars,
aod howitzers, and the admirable way in which they were served,
and aided by a rocket battery, it would have been visionary to expect
that they could, within any limited time, silence the fire of 70
pieces behind well-conatructed batteries of earth, plank, and fascines,
or dislodge troops, covered either by redoubts or epanlements, or within
& treblo line of trenches. The effect of the cannonade was, as has
been since proved by an inspection of the camp, most severely felt by
the enemy, but it soon became evident that the issue of this struggle
must be brought to the arbitrament of musketry and the bayonet.

“ At 9 o’clock, Brigadier Btacy’s brigade, supported on either
flank by Captains Horsford’s and Fordyce's batteries, and Lisutenant-
Colonel Lane’s troop of horse artillery, moved to the attack in
admirable order. The infantry and guns aided each other correlatively.
The former marched ateadily on in line, which they halted only to
carrect whon necessary. The latter took up successive positions at
the gallop, until at length they were within three hundred yards of
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the heavy batteries of the SBikha; but, notwithstanding the regularity
and ocoolness und scientific character of this assault, which Brigadier
Wilkinson well supported, so hot was the fire of cannon, musketry,
and zumboorucks, kept up by the Khalsa troops, that it scemed for
some moments imposaible that the entrenchments could be won under
it ; but soon, persevering gallantry triumphed, and the whole army
had the satisfaction to see the gallant Brigadier Stacy’s soldiers driving
the 8ikhs in confusion before them within the area of their encamp-
ment. The 10th Foot, under Lieutenant-Colonel Franks, now for
the first time brought into serious contact with the enemy, greatly
distinguished themeelves. The rogiment nevor fired a shot until
it had got within the worke of the enemy. The onset of Her Majesty's
83rd Foot was as gallant and effective. The 43rd and 58th Native
Infantry, brigaded with them, emulated both in cool determination.

* At the moment of the first success I directed Brigadier the Honour-
able T. Ashburnham’s brigade to move on in support, and Major-
General Gilbert’s and Sir Harry Smith’s divisions to throw out their
light troops to threaten the works, aided by artillery. As these
attacks of the centre and right commenced, the fire of our heavy guns
had first to be directed on the right, and then gradually to cease ; but
at one time the thunder of full 120 pieces ogr ordnance reverberated
in this mighty combat throngh the valley of the Sutlej ; and as it was
soon seon that the weight of the whole force within the Sikh camp
waa likely to be thrown upon the two brigades that had passed its
trenches, it became necessary to convert into close and serious attacks
the demonstrations with skirmishers and artillery of the centre and
rxgglt; and the battle raged with inconceivable fury from right to
left. The 8ikhs, even when at particular points their entrenchments
were mastered with the bayonet, strove to regain them by the flercest
conflict, sword in hand. Nor was it until the cavalry of the left, under
Major-General 8ir Joseph Thackwell, had moved forward and ridden
through the openings in the entrenchments made by our Bappors in
single file, and re-formed us they passed them, and the 3rd Dragoons,
whom no obstacle usually held. formidable by horse appears to check,
had on this day, a8 at Forozeshah, gulloped over and cut down the
obstinate defenders of battorios and fialldworks, and until the full
weight of three divisions of infantry, with overy field artillery gun
which could be sent to their aid, had been cast into the scale, that
victory finally declared for the British. The fire of the Sikhs first
slackened, and then nearly $eased; and the victors then pressing
them on every side, precipitated them in masses over their bridge,
end into the Butlej, which a sudden rise of seven inches had rendered
hardly fordable. In their efforts to reach the right bank through
the despened water, they suffered from our horse artillery a terrible
carnage. Hundreds fell undor this cannonade; hundreds upon hun-
dreds were drownod in attempting the perilous passage. Their awful
slaughter, confusion, and dismay were such as would have excited
compassion in tho hearts of their generous conquerors, if the Khalaa
troops had not, in the earlier part of the action, sullied their gallantry
by elaughtering and barbarously mangling every woundeg soldier
whom, in the vicissitudes of attaok, the fortune of war left at their
mercy. I must pause in this narrative especially to notice the deter-
mined hardihood and bravery with which our two battalions of Ghoork-
has, the SBirmoor and Nusscree, met the Sikhs, wherever they were
opposed to them. Boldiers of small stature but indomitable spirit,

ey vied in ardent courage in the charge with tho Grenadiers of our
own nation, and, armed with the short weapon of their mountains,
were & terror to the Sikhs thronghout this great combat.
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** Bixty-seven pieces of cannon, upwards of 200 camel-swivels {(zum-
boorucks), numerous standards, and vast munitions of war, oaptured
by our troops, are the pledges and trophies of our victory. The battle
waa over by 11 in the morning; and in the forenoon I caused our
Engineers to burn a part and to sink a part of the vaunted bridge of
the Khalsa army, across which they had boaatfully come once more
to defy us, and to threaten India with ruin and devastation.

“ We have to deplore & loss severe in itself, but certainly not heavy
when weighed in tﬁe balance against the obstacles overcome and the
advantages obtained. I have ospecially to lament the fall of Major-
General Sir Robert Dick, K.C.B., a gallant vetoran of the Peninsula
and Waterloo campaigns. He survived only until the evening the
dangerous grape-shot wound which he received close to the 80th
Regiment, in their career of noble daring. Major-General Gilbert,
to whose gallantry and unceasing exertions 1 have been so deeply
indebted, and whose services have been so eminent throughout this
eventful campaign, and Brigadier Stacy, the leader of the brigade
most hotly and successfully engaged, both received contusions. hey
were such as would have caused many tnen to retire from the field,
but they did not interrupt for a moment the efforts of theee heroic
officers. Brigadier McLaren, so distinguished in the campaigns in
Afghanistan, at Maharajpore, and now again in our conflicts with the
8ikhs, has been badly wounded by a ball in the knee. Brigadier
Taylor, C.B., one of the most gallant and intelligent officers in the
army, to whom I have felt deeply indebted on many occasions, fell
in this fight, at the head of his brigade, in close encounter with the
enemy, and covered with honourable wounds. - Brigadier Penny, of the
Nussereo battalion, commanding the Second Brigade, has been wounded,
but not, I trust, severoly. I am deprived for the present of the valuable
sorvices of Lieutenant-Colonel J, B. Gough, C.B., Acting Quarter-
master-General of Her Meajesty’s troops, whose aid I have so highly
prized in all my campaigns in China and India. He received a wound
from s grape-shot, which is severe, but T hope not dangerous. Lisuten-
ant-Colonel Barr, Acting Adjutant-General of Her Majesty’s forces,
whose superior merit as a staff-officar T have before recorded, has
suffered a compound fracture in the left arm by a ball. It is feared
that amputation may be necessary. Lieutenant-Colonels Ryan and
Petit, of the 50th Foot, were both badly wounded with that gallant
reﬁiment. Captein John Fisher, commandant of the 8irmoor battalion,
fell at the head of his valiant little corps, respected and lamented by
tho whole army.

“1 have now to make the attempt, difficult, nay, impracticable 1
deem it, of expressing in adequate terms my eense of obligation ta those
who especially aided me by their talents and self-devotion in the hard-
fought fleld of Bobraon.

*"First, Right Honourablo Sir, you must permnit ine to speak of
yourself, Before the action, 1 hmg tho satisfaction of submitting to
you my plan of attack, and I cunnot describe the support which 1
derived from the circumstances of its having in all its details met
your approbation. When a soldior of such sound judgment and
experience as your Excellency assured me that my projected opera-
tion deserved success, I could not permit myself to doubt that, by
the blessing of Divine Providence, the victory would be ours, Nor
did your assistance stop here; though suffering severely from the
effects of a fall, and unable to mount on horseback without assistance,
your uncontrollable desive to sco this army once more triumphant
carried you into the hottest of the fire, filling all who witneesed your
exposure to such peril at once with admiration of the intrepidity that
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mpted it, and anxiety for your personal safety, involving so deeply
in itself the intereatsa and happiness of British India. I must acknow-
ledge my obligation to yon for having, whilat I was busied with
another portion of our operations, superintended all the arrangements
that related to laying our bridge across the Sutlej,.near Ferozepore,
Our prompt appearance on this side of the river, after victory, and
advance to this place, which has enabled us to surprise its fort, and
encamp without opposition in one of the strongest positions in the
country, is the result of this valuable assistance.

‘ The Major-Generals of the divisions engaged deserve far more
commendation that I am able, within the limits of a despatch, to
bestow. Major-General 8ir Robert Dick, as I haves already related, has
fallen on 2 field of renown worthy of his military career and services, and
the affectionate regret of his country will follow him to a soldier’s grave.

* In hia attack on the enemy’s left, Major-General 8ir Harry Smith
displayed the same valour and judgment which gave him the victory
of Aliwal. A more arduous task has seldom, if ever, been assigned to a
division. Never has an attempt been more gloriously carried through.

* I want words to express my gratitude to Major-General Gilbert.
Not only have I to record that in this great fight all was achieved by
him which, a8 Commander-in-Chief, I’ could desire to have exeouted.
Not only on this day was his division enabled, by his skill and courageous
example, to triumph over obstacles from which a leas ardent spirit
would have recoiled as insurmountable ; but, since the hour in which
our leading columns moved out to Umballa, T have found in the Major-
General an officer who has not merely carried out all my orders to the
{etter, but whose zeal and tact have snabled him in a hundred instances
to perform valuable services in oxact anticipation of my wishes, 1
beg explicitly to recommend him to your Excellency’s especial notice
a8 a8 divisional cornmander of the highest merit.

** Major-General 8ir Joseph Thackwell has established a claim on
this day to the rare commendation of having achieved much with a
cavalry force, where the duty to be done consisted of an attack on
fleldworks, usually supposed to be the particular province of infantry
and artillery. His vigilance and activity throughout our operations,
and the superior manner in which our outpost dutiés have been carried
on under hie superintendence, demand my warmest acknowledgments.

* Brigadier Stacy, C.B., I must commond to your special protection
and favour. On him devalved the arduous duty of leading the flrat
oolumn to the attack, turning the enemy’s right, encountering his
fire, before his numbers had been thinned, or his epirit broken, and,
to use a phrase which a soldier like your Excellency will comprehend,
taking off the rough edge of the Bikhs in the fight, How ably, how
gallantly, how suoccessfully this was done, I have before endeavoured
to relate. I feel certain that Brigadier Stacy and his noble troops
will hold their due place in your Excellency’s estimation, and that his
merits will meet with fit reward.

** Brigadier Orchard, C.B., in consequence of the only regiment under
his command that was engaged in the action bei with Brigadier
Stacy’s brigade, attached himself to it, and shar‘:f all its dangers,
glories, and success.

“1 beg as warmly and sincerely to praise the manner in which
Brigadier Wilkinson supported Brigadier Stacy, and followed his lead
into the enemy’s works.

* Brigadier the Honourable T. Ashburnham manceuvred with great
ooolness and success 2s a reserve to the two last-mentioned brigades.

‘ Brigadier Taylor, of H.M.’s 20th, fell nobly, as has already been
told, in the discharge of his duty. He is himself beyond' the reach of
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carthly praise ; but it is now my earnest desire that his memory may

be honoured in his fall, and that his regiment, the army with which

he served, and his country, may know that no bfficer beld & higher

gleéeTin {ny poor estimation, for gallantry ‘or skill, than Brigadier
. C, Taylor,

* Brigadier McLaren, C.B., in whom I have ever confided, as one
of the ablest of the senior officers of this force, sustained on this day,
a8 I have before intimated, his already enviable reputation. I trust
he may not long be kept by his wound out of the sphere of active
exertion, which is his natural element.

“ Brigadiers Ponny and Hicks commanded the two brigades of
Major-General 8ir Harry Smith’s division, and overcame at their head
the most formidable opposition. 1 beg to bring both, in the most
earnest manner, to your notice, trusting that Brigadier Penny’s active
service will soon becomo once more available.

‘“ The manceuvres of Brigadier Cureton’s cavalry, in attracting and
fixing the attention of Rajah Lal Bingh Misr's horse, fulfilled every
egpectation which 1 had formed, and were worthy of the skill of the
officer employed, whose prominent exploits at the battle of Aliwal I have
recently had the honour to bring to your notice.

** Brigadier Scott, C.B., in command of the Firat Brigade of cavalry,
had the rare fortune of meeting and overcoming a powerful body of
in.ant:y in ‘the rear of a line of formidsble fleldworks. I have to
congratulate him on the success of the noble troops underhim, and to -
thank him for his own meritorious exertiona. I am quite certain that
your Excellency will bear them in mind.

“* Brigadier Campbeoll’s brigade was less actively employed ; ‘but
all that was required of it was most creditably performed. The
demonstration on the enemy's left by the 9th Lancers, towards the
conclusion of the battle, was made in the best order under a sharp
cannonade.

** Brigadier Gowan, C.B:, deserves my best thanks for his able
arrangements, the value of which was 8o fully evinced in the first hour
and a half of this, conflict, when it was almost exclusively an artillery
fight. Brigadiers Biddulph, Brooke, g#nd  Dennis supported him in
the ablest way throughout the day, and have given me the most
effectual assistance under every circumstance of the cam aign.

*“ The effective practice of our rockets, under Brigadier Brooke,
elicited my particular admiration.

* Brigadier 8mith, C.B., had made all the dispositions in the Engineer
department, which were in the highest degree judicious, and in every
respect oxcellent., On the evening of the 9th instant Brigadier Irvine, .
whose name is associated with one of the most brilignt events in our
military history, the capture of Bhurtpore, arrived in camp. The
command would, of course, have devolved on him, ‘but with that
generosity of spirit which ever accompanies true valour and ability,
he declined to agsume it, in order that all the credit of that work which
be bad begun might attach to Brigadier Smith. For himself, Brigadier
Irvine sought only the opportunity of sharing our perils in the field,
and he personally accompanied me throughout the day. Brigadier
8mith has earned & title to the highest praise I can bestow.

** To the general staff 1 am in every way indebted. Nothing could
surpass the activity and intelligence of Lieutenant-Colonel Garden
and Major Grant, who are the heads of it, in the discharge of the dutiss
of their departments, ever very laborious, and during this campaign
almoet overwhelming. Both yet suffer under the effects of wounds
previously received. Lieutenant-Colonel Drummond, C.B., Doputy
Quartermeaster-General, and Lieutenant Arthur Becher, Doputy

25
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Assistant Quartermaster-General, ably supported the former; and
the exertions of Ceptains Anson and Tucker, Assistant Adjutants-
General, have been most eatisfactory to the latter and to myself.

* Lieutenant-Colonel Parsons, Deputy Commissary-General, has
evinced the most successful persoverance in his important endeavours
to supply the army. He has been ably aided at headquarters by
Major QV J. Thompson, C.B., and Major Curtis, S8ub-Assistant Com-
missary-General ; all three of those officers were most active in oon-
veying ey orders in tho battle of S8obraon in the face of every danger.
I have, in the most explicit way, to record the same intelligence and
ability, and the same activity and bravery, in the case of Lieutenant-
€olonel Birch, Judge-Advocate-General, both as respects departmental
duties and active attendance on me in the fleld. I have already apoken
of the loss which I have sustained by Lientenant-Colonels Gough and
Barr being wounded. The exertions of both in enimating our troops
in moments of emergency were laudable beyond my power to praise.
Lieutenant 8andys, 65th Regiment Native Infantry, postmaster of the
force, assisted in conveying my orders.

¢ Superintending Surgeon B. Macleod, M.D., has been indefatigable
in ulfilment of every requirement of his important and responsible
situation. 1 am entirely satisfled with his exertions and their results.
1 must bring to notice also the merita of Field-Surgeon J. Steel, M.D.,
and Burgeoh Graham, M.D., in charge of the depdt of sick.

“1 waa acdompanied during the action by the following officers of my
personel staff : Captain the%ionourable C. R. Backville Weat, H.M.'s
21st Foot, officiating military secretary (Captain Haines, for whom
he acts, still being disabled by his severe wound); Lieutenant-Colonel
H. Hawvelock, C.B.,, H.M.'s 36th Foot, Persian interpreter; Lieu-
tenant, Bagot, 15th“Native Infantry ;' Lieutenant Edwards, 1st Euro-
pean Light+Infantry ; and Cornet Lord James Browne, 8th Lancers,
my aides-de-camp ; and Assistant Surgeon J. E. Stephens, M.D., my
medical officer, asgisted in conveying my orders to various points,
in the thickest of the fight and the hottest of the fire, and to all of them
I feel greatly indebted.

“1 have to acknowledgp the services in the command of regimenta,
troops, and batteries, or on select and pasticnlar duties in the Engineer
department, of the following officers, and ¥, recommend them to your
Exoellency’s special favour, viz. : Major.¥.s ¥ibott, who laid the bridge
by which the army crossed igto the ]Punjaub, and who was present at
Sobraon, and did excellent Yervice ; Captain Baker and Lieutenant
Joltn Beecher, Engineers, who conducted Brigadier Stacy’s column

.y (the last of these was wounded); Lieutenant Colonel Wood, artillery,
comnmanding the mortar battery; Major Lawrenson, commanding
the I18-pounder battery; Lieutenant-Colonel Huthwaite, ocom-
manding- the 8-inch howitzer battery; and Lieutenant-Colonel
Geddes, commanding the rockets ; Captain R, Waller, horse artillery ;
Captain G. H, 8winley, Captain E, F. Day, Captain J. Turton, Brevet-
Major €. Grant, Brevet-Lieutenant-Colonel J. Alexander, Brevet-
Major J. Brind, Brevet-Lieutenant-Colonel J. T. Lane, Brevet-Major
J. Campbell, Captain J. Fordyce, Captain R, Horsford, and Lisutenant
G. Holland, commanding troops and batteries ; Major B. Y, Reilly,
commanding Bappers and Miners ; Lieutenant-Colonel White, C.By ,
commanding the 3rd Light Dragoons; Captain Nash, 4th Light Cavalry:
Major Alexander, 6th Light Cavalry; é:lptain Christie, 8th Irregular
Cavalry ; Lisutenant-Colonel Fullerton, 9th Lancers ; Captain Leeson,
2nd Irfegular Cavalry ; Brevet-Captain Beecher, 8th Irregular Cavalry ;
Captain Pearson, 16th Lancers; Brevet-Captain Quin, Governor-
General's Bodyguard; Brevet-Major Angelo, 3rd Light Cavalry;
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Lieutenant-Colonel 8pence, 31st Foot; Captain Corfleld, 4Tth Native
Infantry ; Brevet-Lieutenant-Colonel Ryan, and Brevet-Lieutenant
Colonel Petit, and Captain Long, 50th Foot; Major Polwhele, 42nd
Regiment Native Infantry ; Cagtain O’Brien, and Lisutenant Travers,
Nusseree battalion; Captain Btepney, 29th Foot; Major Sibbald,
41st Rogiment Native nfantrly; Major Birrell and Brevet-Captain
Seaton, lst European Light Infantry; Brevet-Major Graves, 18th
QGrenadiers ; Lieutenant Reid, Sirmoor battalion ; Lieutenant-Colonel
Davis, 9th Foot ; Major Hanscomb, 26th Regiment Native Infantry ;
Lieutenant-Colonel Bunbury, 80th Foot; Captain Hoggan, 63rd
Regiment Native Infantry ; Captain 8andeman, 38rd Regiment Native
Infantry ; Lieutenant-Colonel Franks, 10th Foot; Brevet-Lisu-
tenant-Colonel Nash, 43rd Regiment Native Infantry; Brevet-
Lieutenant-Colonel Thompson, 5%8th Regiment Native Infantry ;
Lieutenant-Colonel Phillips, 53rd Foot; Mujor S8hortt, 82nd Foot ;
Brevet-Major Marshall, 68th Regiment Native Infantry ; and Captain
Bhort, 45th Regiment Infantry.

* The following staff and engineer officers I have also to bring to
your especial notice, and to pray that their services may be favourably
remembered, and the survivora duly rewarded, viz. : Captain E. Christie,
Deputy Assistant Adjutant-General, and Lieutenant Maxwell, Deputy
Assistant Quartermaster-General of Artillery, and Captain Pillans
and Brevet-Captain W. K. Warner, Commissaries of Ordnance ; Brevet-
Captain M. Mackenzie and Brevet-Captain E. G, Austdn, and First
Lieutenant E. Kaye, Artillory, Majors of Brigade; Napier, Major of
Brigade of Engineers; Captain Tritton, 3rd Light Dragoons, Deputy
Assistant Adjutant-General; Lisutonant E. Roche, 3rd Dragoons,
aide-de-camp to Major-General Bir J. Thackwell, and Officiating
Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General of Cavalry, in the place of
Captain Havelock, 9th Foot, who was present in the field, but unable,
from the effects of § wound, to discharge the duties of his office ;
Captain E. Lugard, 3lst Foot, Deputy Assistant Adjutant-General ;
Lieutenant A. 8. QGalloway, 3rd Light Cavalry, Deputy Assistant
Quartermaster-General ; Lioutenant E. A, Holdich, 80th Foot, aide-

" de-cump to Major-General 8if Harry 8mith; Lieutenant F. M'D.
Gilbert, 2nd Grenadiers, acting aide-de-camp to Major General
Gilbert ; Captain R. Houghton, 83rd Regiment Native Infantry, Offici-
ating Assistant Adjutant-General; Lieutenant Rawson, Deputy
Assistant Quartermaster-General, killed; Lieutenant R. Bates, 82nd
Foot, aide-de-camp to the late Major-General Sir R. Dick ; Captain
Jd. R. Pond, 1st European Light Infantry, Deputy Assistant Adju-
-tant-General ; Lieutenant J. 8, Paton, 14th Regiment Native Infantry,
Officiating Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General ; Brevet-Captain
Harrington, 8th Light Cavalry ; Captain A. Spottiswoode, 9th Lancers ;
Lieutenant R. Pattinson, 16th Lancers; Captain J. Garvock, 3lst
Foot ; Lieutenant G. H. M. Jones, 29th Foot ; Captain J. L. Taylor,
26th Light Infantry; Lieutenant H. F. Dunsford,” 59th Regimont
Native Infantry, Majors of Brigade; Captain Combe, lst European
Light Infantry, Major of Brigade S8econd Brigade ; Captain Gordon,
11th Native Infantry, Major of Brigade, 8ixth Brigade ; Captain
A. G. Ward, 88th Native Infantry, Major of Brigade, and Lieutenant
R. Hay, Meajor of Brigade, killed.

“ Having ventured to speak of your Excellency’s own part in this
action, it would be most gratifying to me to go on to mention the
brilliant share taken in it by Lieutenant-Colonel Wood and the officers
of your porsonal staff, as well as by the civil, political, and other military
officers attached to you. But as these were all under your own eyes,
I cannot doubt that you will yourself do justice to their exertions.
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*“ We were in thie battle again honoured with the presence of Prince
Waldemar of Prussia, and the two noblemen in his suite, Count Oriola
and Count Greuben. Here, as at Moodkee and Ferozeshah, these dis-
tinguished visitors did not content themselves with a distant view of
the action, but, throughout it, were to be seen in front whersver danger
most urgently ss;g

“The loss of the enemy has been imnense ; an estimation must be
formed with a due allowance for the spirit of exaggeration which
pervades all statements of Asiatics where their interest leads them to
magnify numbers ; but our own observation on the river banks and in
the enemy’s carp, combined with the reports brought to our Intelli-
genos Department, convince me that the Khalsa casualties were
between 8,000 and 10,000! men killed and wounded in action and
drowned in the passage of the river. Amongst the slain are Sirdar
Sham 8ingh Attareewalls, Generals Gholab 8ingh Koopta and Heera
Bingh, Topee, Sirdar Kishen Singh, son of the late Jemadar Kooshuall
8ingh ; nerals Mobaruck Ally and Illahee Buksh, and Shah Newaz
Khan, son of Futtehood-deon, Khan of Kuasoor. The body of Sham
Bingh was sought for in the capturod camp by his followers; and
respeoting the gallantry with which he ie reported to have devoted
himself to death rather than accompany the army in its flight, I forbade
his people being molested in their search, which was finally successful.

** The consequences of this great action have yet to be fully developed.
It has at least, in God’s providence, once more expelled the Sikhs from
our territory, and planted our standards on the soil of the Punjaub.
After oocoupying their entrenched position for nearly a month, the
Khalsa army had perhaps mistaken the caution whioh had induced us
to wait for the necessary material, for timidity. But they must now
deeply feel that the blow which has fallen on them from the British
arm has only been the heavier for being so long delayed.

] have, etc.
(Signed) ‘“'H. Gouvenr, General,
¢ Commander-in-Chief, East Indies.”

* MAJOGENERAL Sir JosEpr TracxweLr, K.C.B.,, K.H., Com-
MANDING CAvarry DIVISION, TO. THE ADJUTANT-GENERAL OF

« TED ABMY OF THE.SUTLEJ.

“ SIR, T “ 0AMP, KUSSOOR, February 11th, 1846,

‘' Thave the honour to report, for the information of His Excellency

¢he Commander-in-Chief, the operations of that part of the cavalry
division under my command wgich had the happiness in participatin
in the glorious victory abtained over the Sikhs on February 10th, 1848,

* The Third Brigade of Cavalry, under Brigadier Cureton, consisting of
the 16th Lancers, commanded by Captain Pearson, the 3rd Light
Cavalry, under Major Angelo, and the Bodyguard, under the command
of Captain Quin, with & troop of horse artillery, had been directed to
make a demonastration in t{w g\’tection of Hurreekee Ghat. TheS8econd
Brigade, under Brigadier Campbell, consisting of H.M.’s 8th Lancers,
under the command of Lieutenant-Colone! Fullerton, and the 2nd
Irregular Cavalry, undor the command of Captain Leeson, and Major
Campbell's troop of horse artillery, had been ordered to support the
8econd Division of Infantry near Sobraon. The First Brigade o? Se.valry,
under the command of Brigadier 8cott, C.B., composed of H.M.’s 3rd
Light Dragoons, under the commmand of Lieutenant-Colonel White, C.B.,

' We have since ascertained, from undoubted authorit, , that the Sikhs acknowledged
they had 37,000 men engaged in this battle, excluave of the large forve, articularly of
cavalry, at this side of the dver, and that their loss ou this occaslon was from 13,000 to 14,000
men.
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the 4th Native Cavalry, under that of Ca;;)ta.in Nash, the 5th Light
Cavalry, under Major Alexander, and the gth Irregular Cavalyy, under
Captain Christie, with the 8th Irregular Cavalry, under Captain her,
had been ordered to take post in front of the village of Asyah. The
troops arrived on their ground at the time ordered, and it becomes my
duty to state the operations of the troops immediately under my com-
mand, the reports of the brigadiers of the S8econd and Third Brigades
being best calculated to show theirs. I will therefore advert shortly to
those operations of the First Brigade. Eerly in the morning, on a party
of the enomy’s cavalry showing themselves, the 8th Irregular Cavalry
and & squadron of the 8rd Light Dragoons were detached three-quarters
of a m(he in front of Alawales, and the enemy retired and made no
further demonstration on that point. On the advance of Sir Robert
Dick’s division the cavalry under Brigadier Scott supported it at a
short distance, and on his entering the enemy’s entrenchments they
made a flank movement to their right, at first intended to support the
8econd Division ; but ere I advert to the effects of this movement I must
bear testimony to the gallant conduct of Lieutenant-Colonel Lane's
troop of horse artillery, which came into action within a short distance
of the onemy’s entrenchments. - Part of Brigadier Scott's brigade was
ordered to support, and I took two squadrons of the 3rd Light Dragoons,
followed by the 4th and 5th Light Cavalry, along the ravine or nullah
in front of the enemy's line till the head of the column came upon a
part which he still defended, flanked by & battery of three guns. But
the firm appearance of the cavalry made the Sikhs gradually give way
on the riggt, and on my discovering a passage into the entrenchment
the troops were passed through in single file.

** On the first squadron being formed I ordered it to charge, and led
it over broken ground against the enemy’s retiring infantry (many of
whom were sabred) nearly to the ford. | The difficulty of the ground
prevented support arriving in due time, and the squadron, on being
pressed upon by large masses of infantry, was obliged to repass the diffi-
cult ground it had before goneover. In ashort time the second squadron
of the 3rd came up, together with the 4¢th and 5th Native Cavalsy, and
t,l!:e enemy were oharged, pressed upon by the leading squadrons, into
the river, . Lo

** On entering the entronchments I had sent for a troop of artille
to play upon the ford, and Major Grant’s troop and, near the end,
Lieutenant-Colonel Lane’s,'were employed on this service, * e

* 1 beg to assure His Excellency that I am well satisfled with the
conduct of all the officers and men engaged under my own observation,
and the gallant manner in which the 3rd Light Nyagoons and the other
troops above mentioned entered the entrenchments deserves my warm-
est commendations, and T beg to state that I derived every assistance
from Brigadier Scott, who conducted his brigade much to my satisfac-
tion during the conflict, as did also commanding officers thoir respective
regiments. T hegto bring to His Excellency’s notice the highly satis-
factory conduct of Captain Hale at the head of the right squadron of the
drd Light Dragoons in the attack on the enemy, and I am greatl
indebted to the able agsistance of Captain Tritton, the Deputy Assistan
Adjutant-General of the division; to Lieutenant Roche, Srd Light
Dragoons, my aide-de-camp, and Officlating Deputy Assistant Quarter-
master-General, and to Lieutenant Francis of the 0th Lancers, who
acted as my extra aide-do-camp. «I have, etc

(Signed) * Jos. THACKWELL, Major-General,

“ To the Adjutant-General of the Army,
“ Jommanding Cavairy Diwision,”
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DESPATCHES. PUNJAB CAMPAIGN

NOTIFICATION
FOREIGN DEPARTMENT, CAMP, UMBALLAR, December 8th, 1848,

The Right Honourable the Governor-General has much pleasure in
publishing, for general information, the following despatch from His
Egxocellency the Gommander-in-Chief.

“ HEADQUARTERS, FLYING CAMP, HILLAH, December 5th, 1848,

* My Lorp,

«It has pleased Almighty God to vouchsafe to the British
arms the most successful issue to the extensive combinatigns rendered
necdwagy for the purpose of effecting the passage of the Chenab, the
defeat and dispersion of the Sikh force under the insurgent Rejah 8here

,g%, and tho numerous Sikh sirdars, who had the temerity to set at
iflance the British power. This force, from all my information,
amounted to from 30,000 to 40,000 mén, %ith 28 guns, and was strongly
entrenched an the right bank of the Chenab, at the principal ford, about
fyo milea from the town of Ramnuggar.
“ My despatch of November 23rd will have made your Lordship ac-
usinted with the motives which induced me to penetrate thus far into
the Punjaub, and the occurrences of the previous day, when the enemy
wero ejected from the left bank of the Chenab. My daily private chm-
munications will have placed your Lordship in possession of the diffi-
culties I had to encounter in a country 8o little known, and in the passage
of a river, the fords of which were most strictly watched by a numerous
and‘vigilant enemy, and presenting more difficulties than most rivers,
whilst I was surrounded by a hostile peasantry.
« “ Finding that to force the passage at the ford in my front must have
been attended with considerable loss, from the very strong entrench-
ments and well-selected batteries which protected the paasage, 1 in-
struoted the field-engineer, Major Tromenhore, in co-operation with the
Quartermuster-General's department, to ascertain (under the difficulties
before noticod) the practicability of the several fords reported to exist
on both my flanks, while I had batteries erected and made demonstra-
tions 8o as to draw the attontion of the enomy to the main ford in my
front, and with the view, if my batteries could silence their guns, toact

390
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simultaneously with the foree I proposed to detgach under an officer
of much experience in India, MajortGeneral Bir Joseph Thackwell.

*‘ On the night of November 30th, this officer, in command of*the
following force, and more partioularly detailed in the agoompanying
memoranduin :

European, Native, Total,
3 Troops Horse Artillery .. 3
2 Light Field Batteries
1 Brigade_of Cavalry ..
3 Brigades of Infantry

0D = 0
R OO
W® T W

“ . .. twoeighteen-pounders with elephant draft and detail artillery,
pontoon train, with two companies, moved up the river in light marching
order, without tents and with three days’ provisions, upon a ford which
I had every reason to consider very ‘&)racticable (and which I have since
ascertained Was s0), but which the Major-General deemed so dangerous
and difficult that he proceeded (as he waa instructed should such turn out:
to bs the case) to Wuzeerabad, a<own 22 miles up the river, where
Lieutenant Nicholeon, a most energetic assistant to the Reasident at
Lahore, had secured 18 boats, with the aid of which this forco effected
the passage oun the evening of the 1st and morning of the 2nd ingtart.

“%pon learning from an aide-de-camp sent for the purpose that
the Major-General’s force had croesed and was in movement, I directed
8 heavy cannonade to comonce upon the enemy’s batterjes and
encampment at Ramnuggar, which was roturned by only a few guns,
which guarded effectdally the ford, bt so buried that, although the
practice of our aitillery was admirable under Major Mowatt and Captiin
8ir Richmond 8hakespear, we could not, from the width of the river,
silence them. This cannonade, however, inflicted very severe logs to
the enemy in their camp and batteries, and forced him to fall raok
with his camp about two miles, which enabled me, without the loss of
a man, to push my batteries and breastworks, on the night of the 2nd,
to the b of the river, the principal ford of which T then commanded.,
By this 1 was enabled to detach another brigade of . infantry, under
Brigadier Godby, at daylight on the 3rd, which eNected thy passage,
with the aid of pontoon train, six miles up the river, and got igto
communication with Major-General 8ir Joseph Thackwell., :

* The cannonuade and demonstration to oross at Ramnuggar were kept
up on the 2nd and 3rd, so a8 to fix a large portion of the enemy there
to defend that point. Having communicated to Sir Joseph my ¥iews
and intentions, and although giving discretionary power to attack any
portion of the Sikh force sent to oppose him, I expressed a wish that
when he covered the crossing of Brigadier Godby’s brigade he should
await their junotion, except the enemy attempt to retreat ; this induced
him to halt within about two or three miles of the left of their position.
About 2 o'clock on the 3rd, the princiﬁal part of the enemy’s force,
oncouraged by the halt, moved to attack the detached column, whegn a
smart cannonade on the part of the enemy took place, and an attempt
to turn both Majar-General Sir Joseph Thackwell’s flanks by numerqus
bodies of cavalry was mado. After about one hour’s distant cannonade
on the part of the Bikhs, the British artillery never returning a shot,
the enemy took courage and advanced, when our artillery, commanded
by that excellent officer Lieutenant-Colonel C. Grant, poured in upon
themn a most destructive fire, which soon silenced all their gunas and
frustrated all their operations, with very severo loss upon their aide ;
but the exhaustod state of both man and horse induced the Major-General
to postpone the attack upon their flank and rear, as he was directed,
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until the following morning, the day having nearly closed when the
caunonade oceased.

I regret to say that during the night of the 3rd the whole of the
‘8ikh force precipitately fled, concealing or carrying with them their
artillery, and exploding their magazines. I immediately pushed across
the river the 9th Lancers and 14th Light Dragoons in pursuit, under
that ; most energetic officer, Major-General 8ir Walter Gilbert. The
Bikhs, it appears, retreated in the greatest disorder, léaving in the villages
numerous wounded men. They have subdivided into three divisions,
which have become more a flight than a retreat ; and I understand a
great portion of those not belonging to the revolted Khalsa army
have dispersed and returned to their homes, thus, I trust, effectually
frustrating the views of the rebel Bhere 8ing and his rebel associates.

“I have not received Major-General Sir Joseph Thackwell’s report,
nor the returns of his lo 8, but I am most thankful to say that our whole
loss, subsequent to November 22nd, does not much exceed 40 men ; no
officers have been killed, and but three wounded. Captain Austin, of
the artillery, only appears severely so.

“ I have to congratulate your Lordship upon events so fraught with
importance, and which will, I have no doubt, with God’s blessing, tend
to most momentous results. It is, as I anticipate, most gratifying to
me to assure your Lordship that the noble army under nfy command
has, in these operations, upheld tho well-established fame of the arms
of India, both Eurcpean and native, each vying who should best
perform his duty. Every officer, from the general of division to the
youngest subaltern, well supported their Commander-in-Chiof, and
cheerfully carried out his views, which at a future period, and when we
shall have effected the views of the Government, I shall feel proud in
bringing to your Lordship’s notice.

' * I have, eto.
(Signed) ‘ Gougn.”

FORBION DEPARTMENT, FORT WILLIAM, February 2nd, 1848,

The President of ghe Council of India in Council is pleased to direct
the publication ¢f the following General Order by the Right Honourable
the GoVernor-Géneral, with the Commander-in-Chief’s d toh, dated
Jenuary 16th, detailing the operations of the army under His Ex-
cellency’s command at Chillianwallah.

By order of the President of the Cbunail of Indis in Council.
(Signed) FrED. Jas. HarLLIDAY, .
Offictating Secretary to the Government of India,

L]

« GENERAL ORDER BY THE RIGRT HONOURABLE THE GOVERNOR-
GENERAL OF INDIA.

 FOREIGN DEPARTMENT, CAMP, MUKEO, January 234th, 1849.

“Phe Governor-General, having received from the Commander-in-

: g:\iei in India a despatch, dated the 16th instant, difects that it shall
published for the thformation of the army and of the people of India.

“ In this despatch JHis Excellency reports the successful operations

of the troops under his immediate command, on the afternoon of the
13th instant, whon they attacked and defeated the Sikh army under

the command of Rajah 8here Sing.

“ Notwithstanding great superiority in numbers, and the formidable
position which he occupied, the enemy, after a severe and obatinate
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resistance, was driven hack, and retreated from every part of his
position in great disorder, with much slaughter, and-with the loss of
12 Pieoea of artillery. . .

" 'The Govemorgenet&l congratulates the Commander-in-Chief on
the viotory 8o obtained by the army under his command; and, on
behalf of t{o Government of India, he desires cordially to acknowledge
the gallant services which have been rendered on this occasion, by Hi
Excellency the Commander-in-Chief, the generals, the officers, non-
commisgioned officers, and scldiers of the army in the fleld.

*'The Governor-General offers his thanks to Major-General 8ir J oseph
Thackwell, K.C.B. and K.H., for his services, and to Brigadier White,
for his conduct of the brigade of cavalry on the left.

** Major-General 8ir W, R. Gilbert, K.C.B., and Brigadier-General
Campbell, C.B., are entitled to the especial thanks of the Governor-
General, for the admirable manner in which they directed the divisions
under their orders.

** To Brigadier Mountain, C.B., and to Brigadier Haoggan, the Gover-
nor-General tenders his acknowledgments for the gallant example they
offered in the lead of their men ; and to them, to Brigadier Godby, C.B.,
and Brigadier Penny, C.B., for their able conduct of their respective
brigades,

“The warm thanks of the Governor-General are due to Brigadier
General Tennant, commanding the artillery division; to Brigadier
Brooke, C.B., and Brigadier Huthwaite, C.B., for their direction of the
operations of that distinguished arm, and for the effective service which
it rendered.

* To the heads of the vaflous departments, and to the officers of the
general and personsal staff, whose services are acknowled by the
Commander-in-Chief, the Governor-General offers his thanks,

“ The Governor-General deeply regrets the loss of Brigadier Penny-
ocuick, C.B., and of tho gallant officers and men who have honourab! y
fallen in the service of the country.

* It has afforded the Governor-General the highest gratification to
observe that the conduct of the troops generslly was worthy of all

praise.

* The Governor-General, indeed, is concerned to think that any order
or misapprohension of an order ‘could have produced the movements
of the right brigade of cavalry which His Excellency the Commandeér-
in-Chief reports,

“To the artillery, European and native, to the cavalry on the left,
snd to the European and native infantry, the Governor-General offers
his hearty thanke, especially to those corps, Europea.n and native,
which His Excellency reports to have acted under trying circumstances
with a gallantry worthy of the greatest admiration.

“The (lovernor-General will have sincere satisfaction in bringing
the servicesof this army under tho favourable notice of HM.’s Govern-
ment and the Honourable Eest Indie Company.

* A salute of 21 guns has been ordered to be g;ed from every principal
station of the Army of India.

* The (Jovernor-General repeats to the Commander-in-Chief and to
the army the assurance of his cordial thunks, and expresses his confident
belief that the victory which, under Divine providencs, they have won,
will exercise & most important influenee on the sugeessful progress of
the war in which they are engaged.

By order of the Right Honourable the (3overnor-General of India.

(Signed) “ H. M. EvviorT,
““ Secretary to the Government of India,
' with the Governor-General,”
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* Frou His EXOBLLENOY THE COMMANDPR-IN-CHI®F, TO THE RIGHT
HoNoURABLE THE GOVERNOR-GENERAL OF INDIA.

H¥ADQUARTRRS CAMP, OHILLIANWALLAYN, Jantuory 1605, 1849,

“My Lorp,

“Major Mackeson, your Lordship’s litical agent with m
camp, officially communicated to me, on tl‘m): 10th instant, the fall
of Attock and the advance of Birdar Chutter Sing in order to conoen-
trate his force with the army in my front, under Shere Sinf. already
arnounting to from 30,000 to 40,000 men, with 82 guns, concluding his
letter thus: ‘I would urge, in the event of your Lordship's finding
yourself strong enough with the army under your command to strike
an effectual blow at the enemy in our front, that the blow should be
atruck with the least pussible delay.’

* Concurring entirely with Major Mackeson, and feeling that I was
perfectly competent effectually to overthrow Shere Sing's army, I
moved from Loah Tibba, at daylight on the 12th, to Dingee, about 12
miles. Having learnt from my spies, and from other sources of
information, that Shere Sing still held with his right the village of
Lukhneewalls and Futtehshaw-ke-Chuck, having the great body of his
force at the village of Woolianwalla, with his left at Russool, on the
Jhelum, strongly occupying the southern extremity of & low range of
hills, intersected by ravines, which oxtend nearly to that village, 1
made my arrangements accordingly that evening, and communicated
them to the commanders of tho several divisions ; but to insure correct
information as to the nature of the country, which I believed to be
excessively difficult and ill-adapted to the advance of a regular army,
I determined upon moving on this village with a view to rebonnoitre,

*“ On the morning of the 13th the force advanced. 1 made a ocon-
siderable detour to my right, partly in order to distract the enemy’s
attention, but principally to get as clear as I could of the jungle, on
which it would appear that the enemy mainly relied.

“ We approached this village about 12 o'clock, and I found, on a
mound olose to it, & strong picquet of the enemy’s cavalry and in-
fantry, which we at onco disporsed, obtaining from the mound a very
extended view of tho country before us, and the onemy drawn out in
battle array, he having, either during the night or that morning, moved
out of his several positions, and occupied the ground in our front,
which, though not deneo, was still a difficult jungle, his right in advance
of, Futtehshaw-ke-Chuck, and his left on the furrowed hills before
desoribed.

‘“ The day being so far advanced, I decided upon taking up a position
in reer of the village, in order to reconnoitre muy front, finding that [
could not turn the enemy’s flanks, which rested upon a dense jungle,
extending nearly to Hillsh, which I had previously occupied for some
time, and the neighbourhood of which I knew, and upon the raviney
hills near Russool, without detaching a force to a distance ; this I
considered both inexpedient and dangerous.

*‘ The engineer departmont hed been ordered to examine the country
before us and the Quartermaster-Genersl was in the act of taking up
ground for the encampment, when the enemy advanced some horse

< artillery, and opened fire un the skirmishers in front of the village.

* 1 immediately ordered them to be silenced by a few rounds from
our heavy guns, which advanced to an open space in front of the
village. Their firo wus instantly roturned by that of nearly the whole
of the enemy’s fleld artillery ; thus exposing the position of his guns,
which the jungle had hitherto concealed.

“1t was now evident that the enemy intended to fight, and would
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probably advance his guns 8o as to reach the encampment during the
night.

* I therefore drew up in order of battle, S8ir Walter Gilbert’s division
on the right, flanked by Brigadier Pope’s brigade of cavalry, which I
strengthened by the 14th Light Dragoons, well aware that the enemy
was strong in cavalry upon his left. To this were attached three troops
of horse artillery under Lieutenant-Colonel Grant.

* The heavy guns were in the centre.

‘ Brigadier-General Campbell’s division formed the left, flanked by
Brigadier White’s brigado of cavalry, and three troops of horse artillery
under Lieutenant-Colonel Brind.

* The field batteries wore with the infantry divisions.

*“ Thus formed, the troops were ordered to lie down, whilst the heavy
guns, under Major Horsford, ably seconded b{ Brevet-Majors Ludlow
and 8ir Richmond Shakespear, opened a well-directod and powerful
fire upon the enemy’s centre, where his guns appeared principally to
be placed ; and this fire was ably supported on the flanks by the field
batteries of the infantry divisions.

* After about an hour’s fire the enemy appeared to be, if not silenced,
sufficiently disabled to justify an edvance upon his position and

una.

“T1 then orflered my left division to advance, which had to move
over a great extent of ground, and in front of which the enemy sgemed
not to have many guns. Soon after, I directed Sir Walter Gilbert to
advance, and sent orders tn Brigadier Popo to protect the flank and
support the movement. Brigadier Penny’s brigade was held in reserve,
while the irregular cavalry under Brigadier Hearsey, with the 20th Native
Infantry, was ordered to protect the enormous amount of provision
and bagguge that so hampers the movement of an Indian army.

** Bome time after the advance, I found that Brigadier Pennycuick’s
brigado had failed in maintaining the position it had carried, and imme-
diatoly ordered Brigadier Penny's reserve to its support ; but Brigadier-
General Campbell, with that steady coolness and military decision for
which he is 80 remarkable, having pushed on his left brigade and formed
line to his right, carried evorything before him, and soon overthrew that

rtion of the enemy which had obtained a temporary advantage over

is right brigade.

“ This laat brigade, I am informed, mistook for the signal to move in
doublo time the action of their brave leaders, Brigadier Pennycuick
and Lieutenant-Colonel Brooks (two officors not surpassed for sound
judgment and military daring in this or sny other army), who waved
their swords over their heads as they cheered on their gallant comrades,
This unhappy mistake led to the Europeans outstripping the native
corps, which could not keep pace, and arriving, completely blown, at a
belt of thick jungle, where they got into some confusion, and Lientenant-
Colonel Brooks, leading the 24th, was killed between the enemy’s guns.
At this moment a largo body of infantry, which supported their guns,
opened upon them 8o destructive a fire that the brigade was forced to
retire, having lost their gallant and lamented leador, Brigadier Penny-
cuick, and the three other field-officers of the 24th, and nearly half the
regiment beforo it gave way, the native regiment, when it came up,
also suffering severely, In justice to this brigade, I must be allowed
to state that thoy behaved heroically, and, but for their too hasty, and
consequently disorderly advance, would have emulated the conduct of
their left brigade, which, left unsupported for & time, had to charge to
their front and right wherever un enemy appeared. The brigade of
horse artillery on their left, under Lieutenant-Colonel Brind, judiciously
and gallantly aiding, maintained an effective fire.
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* Major-General 8ir J. Thackwell, bn the extreme left and rear,
char'god the enemy’s cavalry wherever they showed themselves.

“'Che right attack of infantry, under that able officer Major-General
Bir Walter Gilbert, was most praiseworthy and successful. The left
brigade, under Brigadier Mountain, advanced under a heavy fire
upon the enemy’s guns, in & manner that did credit to the brigadier
and his gallant brigade, which came flrst into action and suffered
severely ; the right brigade, under Brigadier Godby, ably supported
the advance.

* This division nobly maintained the character of the Indian army,
taking and epiking the whole of the enemy’s guns, in their front, and
di ‘?euing the 8ikhs wherever they were seen.

b The Major-General reports most favourably of the fire of his fleld
attery.

¢ Trl{o right brigade of cavalry, under Brigadier Pope, was not, I
regrot to say,so successful. Either by some order, or misapprehension
of an order, they got into much confusion, hampered the fine brigade
of horse artillery, which, while getting into action, against a body of
the enemy’s cavalry that was coming down upon them, had their
horses separated from their guns by the false movementsof our cavalry,
and notwithstanding the heroic conduct of the gunners, four of whose
guns were disabled to an extent which rendered their withdrawal, at
the moment, impossible. The moment the artillery was extricated
and the cavelry re-formed, & few rounds putito flight the enemy that
had occasioned this confusion.

“ With this exception, the conduct of the troops gonerally was most
exemplary, some corps, both Furopean and native, acting under
most trying circumstances (from the temporary failure on our left
centre and right, and the cover which tho jungle afforded to the
enemy’s movements), and with a gallantry worthy of the highest

iration.

* Although the enemy, who defended not only his guns but his

sition, with desperation, was driven in much confusion, and with

eavy logs, from every part of it.and the greater part of his field artillery
was actually captured, the march of brigades to their flanks to repel
parties that had rallied, and the want of numbers and consequent
support to our right flank, aided by the cover of the jungle and the
close of the day, enabled him, upon our further advance in pursuit,
to return and carry off unobserved the greater portion of the guns
we had thus gallantly carried at the point of the bayonet.

“I remained witz Brigadier-General Campbell's division, which
had been reinforced by Brigadier Mountain’s brigade, until near
8 o’clock, in order to effect the bringing in of the captured ordnance
and of the wounded, and I hoped to bring in the rest of the guns next
morning. But I did not foel justified in remaining longer out. The
night was very dark. I knew not how far I had advanced. There
were no wells nearer than the line of this village. The troops had been
arduously employed all day, and there was every appearsnce of a
wet night ; rain did fall before morning.

*I should have felt groater satisfaction if I were onabled to state
that my expeotations in regard to the guns had been realised ; but
although a brigade of cavalry, under Brigadier White, with a troop of
horse artillery, were on the ground soon after daylight, we found that
the enemy, assisted by the neighbouring villagers, had carried off their
guns, excepting twelve, which we had brought in the night before. Most
of the oa;:’tured waggons [ had caused to be blown up before leaving

the ground.
“?‘l‘;o victory wasg complete, &s to the total overthrow of the enemy ;
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and his sense of ufter discomfiture und defoat will, I trust, soon be
made agp&rent, unless, indeed, the rumours prevalent this day, of his
having been joined by Chutter 8ing, prove correct.

‘1 am informed that the loss of the Sikhs has been very great,
and chiofly amongst their old and tried soldiers. In no action do I
remember seeing 8o many of an enemy’s slain upon the same space
~B8obraon perhaps only excepted.

** 1 have now, my Lord, stated the general movements of this army
previous to and during the action of Chillianwallah, and as that action
waa characterised by peculiar features, which rendered it impossible for
the Commander-in-Chief to witness all the operations of the foroe, I
shall beg leave to bring prominently to your Lordship’s notice the
names of the several officers and corps particularly mentioned by the
divisional commanders.

“I have already stated the obligations I am under to Major-General
Bir J oniefl Thackwell and 8ir Walter Gilbert, and to Brigadier-General
Campbell, for their most valuable services. 1 warmly conour with
them in the thanks which they have expressed to the several brigadjers
and officers commanding corps, and to the troops generally.

** 8ir Joseph Thackwell names, with much satisfaction, Brigadier
White's conduct of his brigade; Major Yerbury, commmending 3rd
Light Dragoons; the gallant charge of Captain Unett, in command
of a squadron of that corps; Major Meckenzie, commanding the 8th,
with & squadron detached in support of the artillery. He further
notioes the assistance he derived from the zeal and activity of Captain
Pratt, Assistant Adjutant-General, and Lieutenant Tucker, Deputy
Assistant Quartermaster-General of his division; of Captain Cautley,
Major of Brigade, of his aide-de-camp, Lioutenant Thackwoell, and of
Lieutonant 8impson, Sub-Assistant Commissary-General.

“ Brigadier-General Campbell speaks in terms of admiration of the
Fifth Brigade, led on by that distinguished officer, Brigadier Pennyouick,
and particularly of the gallant oxertions of H.M.'s 24th Foot, under
the command of Lieutenant-Colonel Brooks ; and the good and ateady
advanoe of the 25th and 46th Native Infantry, under the command
of Lisutenant-Colonel Corbett and Major Williams. He particularises
the undaunted example set to his brigade by Brigadier Hoggan ; the
continued steediness and gallantry of H.M.’s 61st Regiment, commanded
by Lioutenant-Colonel Macleod, under the most trying circumstances ;
the distinguished conduct of Major Fleming and the officers of the
36th Native Infuntry ; and of the 46th Native Infantry, under Meajor
Tudor ; as also the ablo and zealous exertions of the %rigade Major,
Caﬁtain Keiller. The Brigadior-Generul also brings to notice his
obligations to Major Tucker, Assistant Adjutant-General of the army ;
and to Captain Goldie and Lieutenant 1lrwin, of the Engineers, who
were sent to his assistance, and the cordial and able support which he
received frotn Major Ponsonby, his Assistant Adjutant-General; and
he particularly mentions the conduct of Ensign Garden, his Deputy
Assistant Quurtermaster-General ; and Captain Haythorne, his aide-
de-camp; further naming Lieutcnant Grant, of H.M.’s 24th Regiment ;
Lioutenant Powys, of H.M.’s 61st, who attended him as orderly officers ;
and of Lieutenant and Adjutunt Shadwell, of H.M.’s 88th, who was
with him as & volunteer.

*“ Sir Walter Gilbert speake warmly of the charge led by Brigadier
Mountain, against a laurge battery of the enemy, and followed up on the
right by Brigudier Godby ; and of the subsequent conduct of thess officers ;
as also of the conduot of Major Chester, Assistant Adjutant-General;
and Lieutenant Galloway, Deeuty Assistant Quartermaster-General of
the division ; of Lieutenant Colt, his aide-de-camp ; of Captain Sher-
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will, and Lieutenant Macdannell, Majora of Brigades ; and of Captain
Glasfurd and Lieutenant W. E. Morton, of the Engineers.

“ The Major-General further mentions the undaunted bravery on
this occasion of H.M.’s 29th Regiment, under Lieutenant-Colonel
Congreve ; the distinguished conduct of the 2nd European Regiment,
under Major Steel ; and the manner in which Majors S8mith and Way,
of the 28th, and Major Talbot, of the 2nd Europeans, seconded their
able commanders. He also expresses his thanks to Lieutenant-
Colonel Jack, commanding the 30th Native Infantry ; Major Banfield,
commanding the 86th Native Infantry, who was mortelly wounded ;
Major Corfleld, commanding the 3lst Native Infantry, and Major
MocCausland, commanding the 70th Native Infantry, for the manner
in which they led their regiments into action ; naming likewise Captain
Nembhard, of the 56th, who succeeded to the command of that corps ;
Captain Dawes, commanding the fleld-battery of the division; and
Captain Robbins, of the 16th, who acted as his aide-de-eamp.

* The Reserve, consisting of the 156th Native Infantry, and eight
companies of the 69th Native Infantry, was ably handled by Brigadier
Penny, well seconded by Lieutenant-Colonels Sibbald and Mercer,
commanding the corps. The Brigadier particularly mentions the
steady conduct of the rifle company of the 68th, under Captain
Bissmore ; and acknowledges the services of Captain Macpherson, his
Masjor of Brigade, and Brevet-Captain Morris, of the 20th Native
Infantry, who attended him as orderly officer.

* Brigadior-General Tennant, commanding the artillery division,
rendered me every aid, and presided over the noble arm of which
he -is the head, moat creditably to himself and most beneficially to
the service. The Brigadier-General particularly mentions Brigadier
J. Brooke, who commanded the whole of the horse artillery ; Brigadier
Huthwaite, commanding the foot artillery; Lieutenant-Colonels
C. Grant and J. Brind ; Major R. Horsford and Major Mowatt ; all
of whom were in important commands. He further bringa to notice
Captain J. Abercrombie, Deputy Assistant Adjutant-General; Lieu-
tensnt Tombs, Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General, his aide-de-
ocamp ; Lisutenant Olpherts; Captain Hogge, Commissary of Ordnance ;
and Lieutenant de Tassier, who attended himn as orderly officer.

*I have, in the beginning of this despatch, noticed the services of
Brevet-Major 8ir Richmond Bhakespear and Brevet-Major Ludlow,
in command of the heavy batteries, under the general superintendence
of Major Horsford; and it only remains for me to add that the
conduct of Major Fordyce, Captaine Warner and Duncan, Lisutenaents
Robingon and Walker, commanding troops and field-batteries, as woll
aa the officers and men of the artillery generally, have been named in
terms of praise by the divisional commander.

*‘Lieutenants C. V. Cox and E. Kaye, Brigade Majors of this arm,
have also been named by their respective brigadiers.

‘*From the engineer department, under Major Tremenhere, I
received active assistance, ably aided by Captain Durand, Lieutenants
R. Baird-8mith, and Goodwyn.

“To the general staff I am greatly indebted. Lieutenant-Colonel
Gough, C.B., Quartermaster-General, and Major Lugard, Acting Ad-
jutant-General, and Captain C. OQttor, Acting Assistant Adjutant-
General of Her Majesty s forces ; Lieutenant-Colonel P. Grant, C.B.,
Adjutant-General of the army ; Major C. Elkins (killed), a vajued and
much-regretted officer, Deputy Adjutant-General ; and Major Tucker,
Assistagt Adjutant-Genera! of the army; Lieutenant-Colonel W.
QGarden, C.B., Quartermaster-General of the army ; Lieutenant W. F.
Tytler, Assistant Quartermaster-General, and Lieutenant Paton, Deputy
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Asgsistant Quartermaster-General of the army; Lisutenant-Colonel
Birch, Judge-Advocate-General ; and Lieutenant G. B. Johnson, Deputy
Judge-Advocate-General ; Major G. Thomson, Assistant Commnissary-
Qeneral ; Lieutenant-Colonel J. G. W. Curtis, Assistant Commiseary-
General ; Captain C. Campbell, Paymaster to the army; Captaein
J. Lang, poastmsater ; and H. Frunklin, Esq.; Inspector-General of Her
Majesty’s hospitals.

* To my personsl staff 1 am also much indebted : Captain F. P.
Haines, military secretary ; Major N. Bates, aide-de-camp; Lieu-
tenant A. Bagot, aide-de-camp ; Lisutenant 8. J. Hire, aide-de-camp ;
Captain Gabbett, aide-de-camp ; Lieutenant G. N. Hardinge, aide-
de-camp ; and Lieutenant W. G. Prendergast, Persian interpreter.

* The unwearied exertions of Dr. Penny, superintending surgeon,
and of Dr. MacRae, field-surgeon, in the care ofp the wounded, vae
been beyond all praise. :

* Tho Earl of Gifford kindly accompanied me throughout the opera-
tions, and was most useful in conveying my orders to the several
divigions and brigades. I had also the advantage throughout the dey
of the active services of Lieutenant-Colonel 8ir Henry M. Lawrence,
Mujor Mackeson, Mr., Cocks, C.8., Captuin Nicholson, and Lieutenant
Robinson, a8 well as of Major Anstruther, of the Madras Artillery, and
Lieutenant H. O. Mayne, of the 6th Madras Light Cavalry.

* Captain Ramsay, Joint Deputy Commissary-General, with the
several officers of that department, has beeon most indefatigable, and
hitherto kept the army well supplied..

I have, etc.
(Signed) ** GouaH, General,
¢ Commander-in-Chief.”

** FrROM MAJOR-GENERAL SIR JosErPH THACKkWELL, K.C.13., COMMANDING
Cavarry Division.

“ QR “ CAMP CHTLIANWALLA, 18tk Januaey, 1849.
£d

**1 have the honour to report for the information of His Ex-
cellency the Right Honourable the Commander-in-Chief, that the
cavalry under my command 'advanced on tho flanks of the army on
the morning of the 13th inst. from Dinghie, detailed as in the margin.!
The right brigade in columns of squadrons, left in front. The left
brigade in column of the same front, right in front. Both brigades
coverad by advanced guerds and strong flanking parties, those on
the right to patrol to the fuot of the hills, A squadron of the 8th
Light Cevalry under Captain Moore I ordered to form the advance
guard to the left column of artillery, and this squadron romained then
employod during the operations of the day. I had intended to join
the right colunn of cavalry, but on tho enemy’s line being discavered
in quite a different position from what it wasimagined they occupied the
previous ovening, I thought it likely they had as large a bedy of cuvalry
on their right flank as on thoir left, and particularly as officers sent out
to reconnoitre reportod that thoy were making a movement towards
our left rear. 1 remained therefore with the cavalry of this wing, though
I did not believe the report. On the infantry deploying into line and
advancing, the cavalry did the same on the left of Lieutenant-Colonel
Brind’s battery, the left regiment being rofused, the movement of

* 1st Brigade: Hrigadier White, C.H.; H.M.'s 3rd Light Dragoons, Major Yerbury ; 5th
bt Cavslry, Captaln Wheatley ; 8th Tight Cavalry, Major Mackeunzie; $nd Brigade,
grfaad!er Pope, C.J‘s’.; 1. M.’s 9th Lancers, Major Grant, 0.B.; H.M,'s 14th Light Dragoons,

rag
Lieutenant-Colonel King; 1lat Light Cavalry, Lleutonant-Colonel Bradford; 6th Light
Qavalry, Major Qoventry. . :
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the infantry greatly to the left caused Lieutenant-Colonel Brind’s
and the cavalry to make a similar rmaovement, which soon brought
the line under thez'e of a strong battery on the enemy’s right flank,
upon which Lisutenant-Colonel Brind’s guns soon openod with great
ect ; and after a cannonade of nearly three-quarters of an hour,
judging that many of the onemy's guns were disabled, I ordered the
5th Light Cavalry and a squadren of the 3rd Light Dragoons to charge
a body of oavalry which threatened our left, to drive them back and
také the enemy’s guns in flank, whilst a part of the remaining cavalry
was to charge them in front. This intention was abandoned in con-
ugnoe of the 6th Light Cavalry being driven back. From the
ant charge of the squadron of the 3rd Light Dragoons under
aptain Unett, who dispersed the troops opposed to him and the good
countenance of the remainder of the cavalry, this cavalry did not dare to
advance in pursuit of the 5th Light Cavalry, neither did their cavalry and
infantry near their guns dare make any offensive movement. At this time
Idirected Lisutenant-Colonel Brind to make a movement to his right to
support the Third Division of Infantry which had suddenly moved to the
same flank? The enemy then directed their fire more rigorously from
about six guns which had not heen silenced, and the cavalry sustained
dome casualties in meking their flank movement to the right and
eventually to the left rear of Chilianwalla.

‘I greatly regret to learn of the misconduct of the cavalry of the
right wing, but aa their movement did not come under my observation
T have the honour to transmit the reports of Brigadier Pope, Lieutenant-
Colonel Bradford, Lieutenant-Colonel King, and Major Grant, and it
would appear that many faults were committed, such as having no
reserve in the rear to support and prevent theright flank being turned ;
secondly, that care had not been taken not to get before the artillery
on the left, the denseness of the jungle being no excuse for such a false
step; and thirdly, that commanding officers, although thoy might
have heard the words ‘' Three’s about,’ did not take upon themselves
to charge any of the enemy’s cavalry which were pressing upon the
line. Could I have anticipated such an untoward circumstance as
oceurred I should have been on the spot to have given the benefit of
my experience to an officer deemod fully competent to have command
of a brigade of cavalry, and 1 feel assured from what I have heard of
Brigadier Pope and the conduct of the cavalry of the right that their
retrograde movement originated more from mistake thad & fear of
encountering an insignificant enemy, and I have every confidence on
the next occasion the 9th Lancers and the {4th Light Dragoons will
remove the stigma now cast upon them and earn similar laurels to
those their prodecessors gained in the Peninsula. I onlyrregret for
myself that I have not the gift of ubiquity. In furtherance of my
degire to give every information to His Excellency I have the honour
to forward the reports named in the margin,! by which, although I
cannot advance much in favour of the 2nd Brigade of Cavalry, I have
much to say in praise of the lst Brigade, two regiments of which did
their duty entirely to my satisfaction; and although the 5th Light
Cavalry met with a check, but soon rallied, the gallant conduct of the
squadron of the 3rd Light Dragoons unger Captain Unett, who was
soverely wounded, has contributed more to establish the invincibility
of the British cavalry than the accidental mishaps ocoasioning the loss
of a few lives can have aided in lessening a faith in it. Having thus
detailed the operations of the Cavalry Division from observation and
report, I'have now a pleasing duty to perform in bringing to the notice

Byigadier Pope, Lieutenant-Colonel King, Licutenant-Colone! Bradford, Major Grant.
Not yet received,
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of the Right Honourable the Commander-in-Chief that Brigadier
White conducted his brigade much to my satisfaction, aa did also Major
Yerbury, Major Mackenzie, and Captain Wheatlby their regiments;
and I must particularise the gallant charge made by the squadron
under Captain Unett and the steady support given by the squadron
of the 8th Light Cavalry under Captain Moone to the guns of Lieutenant-
Colonel Brind’s battery and to Captain Warner's guns when acting
with the Third Division of Infantry to the last moment. I amalso well
satisfied with the conduct of the officers of this brigade and of. the
men, with few exceptions. I slso beg to bring to his Lordship’s notice
the zeal and activity of my Deputy Asgistant Adjutant-General, Captain
Pratt, and my Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General Lieutenant
Tucker, and I havederived great assistance from both on all oceasions.
Y also be% tonotice the zeal and activity of my pide-de-camp, Lioutenant
Thackwell, and the Bub.-Assistant Commissaty-Gieneral of the Cavalry
Division, Lieutonant Simpson, also the zeal and actiyvity of Ceptain
Cautley, Major of Brigade 1st Cavalry Brigade. Lieutenant-Colonel
Brind, Major Fordyce, Captains Warner and Duncan attached to this
Brigade of Cavalry conducted their operations greatly to mysatisfaction
and they and the officers and men are deserving of all praise. I beg
leave to transmit a return of killed, wounded, and missing. '
* I have the honour to be,
(1] Sir,
“Your most obedient: Servant,
.. “ JOSEPH THACKWELL,
¢ Major-General Commanding Cavalry Division drmy of the Punjab.

** LIBUTENANT-CoLONEL GraANT, C.B.,
** Adjutant-GQeneral of the Army Headguarters.”

‘' FroM THE RigaT HoNOURABLE tHE COMMANDEE-IN-CHIRF, TO THE
Ricar HONOURABLE THE (GOVERNOR-GNNHRAL OF INDIA, HTO.,
ETC., ETO.

* HEADQUARTERS OAMP, RAMNUGUAR, December 10th, 1848,

“My Lorp,

“In continuation of my letter ' of the Bth instent, I have
now the honour to enclose to your Lordship a copy of Major-General Sir
Jogoph Thackwell’s despatch, dated the 6th idem, but only received last
night, detailing the operations of the force under his command, after it
had been detached from my headquarters.

“T ean only repeat the warm approval I have already expressed
of the coriduet of the Major-General and of every officer a,ng man under
his command, and I beg your Lordship’s favourable consideration of
the services of those named by S8ir Joseph Thackwsll.

I beg to enclose arough sketch of the operations of the 3rd instant.

‘I have, etc.,
(Stgned) “ Goves,”

‘' FroM Major-GENERAL 8Ir Joserm TrackweLLn, K.C.B. axn K.H.,
TO Lgmnxmm-(}omnmn GraNT, C.B.,, ADJUTANT-GENERAL OF
THE ARMY.

“g % OAMP, HEYLEH, Decembyr Gth, 1848,
IR,
“1 have the honour to report, for the information of the Right
Honourable the Commander-in-Chief, that, agreeably to His Excelléncy’s

26
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orders, I left the camp at Ramnuggar, with the troops named in the
margin,! at about halgpa.st 3 o’clock on the morning of December 1st,
1848, instead of at 1 o’clock, as T had ordered, some of the troops
having lost their way among the intricacies of the rear of the encamp-
ment, and proceeded to the vicinity of the ford on the Chenab at
Runnee-Khanke-Puttun, distant thirteen miles from Ramnuggar,
which, owing to the broken ground and narrow roads, where any
existed for the first four miles, 1 did not reach before 11 o’clock, The
enemy had infantry at this ford, which report afterwards magnified
to 4,000 men, but the villagers said it was much deeper than the one
at Allee-8here-ke-Chuck, a mile higher up the river. I am much
indebted to Lieutenant Paton, Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General,
for his anxious exertions in examining this ford ; and from this report
I came to the conclusian that this ford of Allee-ke-Chuck could not
have artillery on the left bank of the river to cover the passage of the
troops, from the insecure bottom of the first ford, meither could the
pontoon train bé of much use, for the same reason, and the deep sands
which lay between the fords. The pontoon train might have been laid
over the main stream under cover of a battery, near the enemy’s in-
fantry ; but beyond the river the sands seemed wet and insecure, and
@ branch of the river beyond them was said to be deep, with a muddy
bottom. Under all these disadvantages, I came to the decision that
it was more advisable to try the passage of the river near Wuzeerabad,
where Captain Nicholson, aesistant to the Resident at Lahore, informed
me that at the ferry were seventeen boats, and a ford not more than
three feet ten inches deep, with a good bottom, than to run the risk of
a sovere loss by passing the river near the enemy, This survey of
the ford occupied three hours, and at 2 o’clock I put the column in
movement to the ford and ferry at Wuzeerabad, which was in posses-
sion of Lieutenant Nicholson’s pattans, where the leading infantry
arrived about 5 o’clock in the afternoon, having made a march of about
twenty-five miles. The 6th brigade of infantry and some of the guns
were passed over the Chenab immediately, and I am indebted to
Brigadier-General Campbell, Lisutenant-Colonel Grant, horse ar-
tillery, and Captain S8mith of the Engineers, for their great exertions
in forwarding this object, Brigadier Eckford I hoped would have
orossed the river by the three fords that evening ; but as it became
too dark and hazy for such an operation, he halted for the night on the
dry sands near the last branch of the river. Major Tait, 3rd Irregular
Cavalry, was enabled to pass over three of his risallas, in doing which,
I am sorry to say, three sowars and one horse were drowned. On the
morrow the infantry, cavalry, and all the troops were soon over the
river by ferry and ford, and all the baggage and commissariat animals
passed the same by 12 o’clock, without any further loss,

' Major Christie’s troop Horse Artillery ; Captain Huish’s troop Horse Artillery ; Captain
Warner's troop Horge Artijlery ; Captain egide, No. 5 Light Field Battery; Captain
Angtin, No. 10 Light Field Battery; Captain Robinson and two 18-pounders, under the

d of Lieut t-Colonel Grant, Horse Artillery: 2 companies of pioneers; the
pontoon traln; 1st Brigade of Cavalry, commanded by fBrign.d.ier White ; 8rd Light Dra-
goons, commanded by Major Yerbury ; 6th Light Cavalry, commanded by Oaptain W. ea.t.leg H
8th Light Oavairy, commanded by Captain Moone ; 3rd Irregular Cavalry, commanded by
Major Talt; 12th Itregular Cavalry, commanded by Lientemant Cunningham ; 3rd Brigade
of Infantry, Brigadier Eckford ; 31st Native Infantry, Major Corfield ; 56th Native Infantry,
Major Bamfield; Third Division of Infantry, Br%adier-(}aneml Campbell commanding ;
Bixth Brigade of Infantry, Brigadier Pennycuick ; H.M.'s 24th Foot, Major Harris ; 2 flank
compnanies, 2nd Battallon companﬁ 22nd Native Infantry, Major S8ampson ; Righth Brigade of
Infantry, Brigadier Hoggan ; H.M.’s 81lst Foot, Lioutenant-Colonel McLeod ; 36th Natlve
Infantry, Major Flemyng; 46th Natfve Infantry, Major Tudor. Of the above detail, the
following returned in charge ot the two 18-pounders and pontoon train: 2 guns of No. 10
Light Field Battery ; 12th Drvegular Cavalry ; 2 companies 22nd Native Infantry,
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* At 2 p.m., after the troops had dined, I marched, in order of battle,
three brigade columns of companies, at half distance left in front, at
deploying interval; the First Brigade of Cavalry, in the game order on
the right, with atrong flanking parties and rearguard, end the 3rd
Irregu%ar Cavalry on the left, with orders to patrol to the river and
clear the right bank, aided by infantry, if necessary. In this order I
arrived at Dporawal at dusk, about twelve miles from the ferry, and
halted for the night. On Sunday, December 3rd, at daylight, the troops
proceeded in the same order towards the 8ikh position, and I intended
to have reconnoitred and commenced an attack upon it by 11 o’cloek ;
hearing, however, when within about four miles of it or less, that
reinforcements were expected to pass over the Chenab at the ford near
CGhurree-ke-Puttun, it became necessary to secure that post, and which
had been found without an enemy an hour before, but to which it now
seemed that a body of about 600 of theenemy were seen approaching,
and I detached a wing of the 56th Native Infantry, and two risalias
of the 3rd Irregular Cavalry under Major Tait, who secured the post
and frustrated the attempt of the enemy. This cansed so much delay,
that enough of daylight would not be left for the advance and attack
on the left and rear of the enemy’s position. About 2 p.m. some of the
enemy’s gunsopened on a patrol of the th Light Cavalry, and he was seen
advancing in large bodies of cavalry and infantry, and the picquets,
which occupied three villages with large plantations of sugar-cane, being
too much in advance to be supported, fell back without any loss, and
the enemy occupied these villages with cavalry on the right, guns and
bodies of infantry, and the main body of their cavalry with horse
artillery were on their left. When the enemy’s guns opened, I ordered
Brigadier-General Campbell to deploy the infantry into line in frontof
the village of Sudoolapoor, Brigadier Eckford and part of Brigadier
Hoggan’s brigade being extended, in order not to be outflanked. It
wag not until the enemy came well within range of our guns that I
eaused them to open their fire, which they then did with great effect.
The enemy tried to turn both our flanks, which having foreseen, I had
caused Captain Warner to move his troop of artillery to the left of the
infantry, and had sent the 5th Light Cavalry to the left to support these
guns, and to act in conjunction with the two risailas of the 3rd Irregular
Cavalry under Captain Biddulph, who were posted on open ground, and
these soon drove the enemy back. The a.ctemﬁt to turn our right was
met by extending the 8th Light Cavalry and H. M."s 3rd Light Dragoons,
supported by Major Christie’s troop of artillery. As the cavalry on the
right advanced, the enemy’s sowars gave way, and they fell back on
their infantry, having lost some men by the skirmishers of the 3rd
Light Dragoongs. After a cannonade of about two hours the fire of the
enemy slackened, and I sent Lisutenant Paton to desire the cavalry
on the right to charge and take the enemy’s guns, if possible, intending
to support them by moving the brigades in échelon from the right at
intervals according to circumstances ; but as no opportunity offered
for the cavalry to charge, and g0 little of the daylight remained, I deemed
it safer to remain in my position than attempt to drive back an enemy
8o strongly posted on their right and centre, with the prospect of having
to attack their entrenched position afterwards. From this position
the Sikhs began to retire at about 12 o’clock at night, as was afterwarda
asoertained, and as was conjectured by the barking of the dogs in their
rear. I have every reason to believe that Bhere S8ingh attacked with
twenty guns, and nearly the whole of the 8ikh army were employed
against my position, which was by no means what I could have wished
it ; but the fire of our artillery was so effective, that he did not dare to
bring his masses to théfront, and my brave, steady, and ardent infantry,
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whom T had caused to lie down to avoid the heavy fire, had no chance
of firing & shot, except a fow companies on the left of the line. The
enemy’s loss has been severe ; ours comparatively emadll, I regret not
being able to capture the enemy’s guns; but with the small force of
cavalry—two regiments on the right only—it would have been a matter
of difficulty for tired cavalry to overtake horse artillery, fresh and well
mounted, In these operations the conduct of all has merited my warm-
est praise, and the patient endurance of the artillery, cavalry, European
infantry and sepoys, under privations of no ordinary nature, has been
most, praiseworthy. '

“ To Brigadier-General Campbell I am much indebted for his able
assistance during these movements, and to Lieutenant-Colonel Grant,
commanding the artillery, Major bhriatie, Captaing Huish, Warner,
Austin, and Kinleside, and the officers and men under their command,
I cannot bestow too much praise for their skill and gallantry in over-
coming the fire of & numerous artillery, some of which were of heavy
calibre. I am also greatly indebted to :Captain 8mith of the Engineers,
for hisexertions in passing over guns at the Wuzeerabad ferry, and for
his assistance in conveying my orders on various occagions. And my
thanks are due to Lieutenants Yule and Crommelin of the same corps,
and Lieutenant Bacon of the Sappers; to Lisutenant Paton, Deputy
Assigtant Quartermester-General, my best. thanks are due for his
exertions and assistance in the advance of the troops, and during the
action ; and to Captain Nicholson, assistant to the Resident at Lahore,
I beg to offer my best thanks for his endeavours to procure intelligence
of the enemy’s movements, for his endeavours to procure supplies for
the troops, and his able assistance on all occasions. Captain Pratt,
my Deputy Assistant Adjutant-General; Lieutenant Tucker, Deputy
Asgistant Quartermaster-General, and Lieutenant Thackwell, aide-de-
eamp, have been most zealous in performing their respective duties, and
have rendered me every assistance ; and I feel assured that if the cavalry
and infantry had been brought into cloge action, I should have had the
great satisfaction of thanking brigadiers commanding, officers of corps,
and the officers and men, for their gallantry and noble bearing in
action, a8 I now do for their steadiness and good conduct. To
Major Mainwaring, Captains Gerrard, Simpson, Faddy, and James,
I am much indebted for their exertions in their respective depart-
ments.

“1 beg further to state that on the morning of the 4th I put the
troops in motion to pursue the enemy, who had retreated during the
preceding night, and encamped about eleven miles from the Chenab,
on the road to Jullalpore, the 9th Lancers having been pushed to the
front, but without seeing amything of the enemy, who had retreated
by the Jhelum, Jullalpore, and Pind Dadun Khan roads, On the
following day I arrived at this place, and sent two regiments of cavalry
on the road to Dingee, one of them, the 14th Light Dragoons, and two
regiments of cavalry, and a troop of horse artillery on the road to Jullal-
pore. The latter g&rty observed two bodies of the enemy of about 800
and 400 men each, imagined to be a strong rearguard, about eight
miles from this, and behind a thick jungle which reaches to the river ;
and the former went to Dinges, which place the enemy had left, and the
villagers said had gone over to the Jhelum. Both parties returned
to this camp without, I am sorry to say, having overtaken any of the
enemy’s troops or guns.

" '* I beg leave to enclose a return of the killed and wounded.
“1 have, etc.,
(Signed) * Jos, TrAORWERLL, Major-General,
“ Qommanding the advanced post of the Army.”
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“THE SECRETARY WITH THE (GOVEENOR-GENERAL TO THE ADJUTANT-
(GENBRAL OF THE ARMY.

“ FEROZEPORE, January 31s:, 1849,

“1 am directed to acknowledge the receipt of His Exocellency the
Commander-in-Chief’s despatches, dated the 5th, 10th, and 16th ultimo,
reporting the particulars of an action with the enemy at Sadoolapore,
a.nc(!} the passage of the Chenab by Major-General 8ir Joseph Thackwell,
K.C.B

* The Governor-General regrots to find that he inadvertently omitted
to issue instructions founded on a minute which he had recorded on the
subject of the despatches under acknowledgment. His Lordship begs
to congratulate the Commander-in-Chief on the success of the measures
which he adopted for effecting the passage of the Chenab, and to convey
to him the assurance of his satisfaction with, and his best thanks for,
the judicious arrangements by which he was enabled, with comparativel
little loss, to carry into execution his plans for the passage of that diffioult
river, and for compelling the retreat of the 8ikh army from the formid-
able position which they occupied on its further bank, after they had
been engaged, and beaten back by the forces under Major-General Sir
Joseph Thackwell. The result of His Excéllency’s movements, in
driving the Sikh army from their entrenchments, and forcing them
to retire on the other extremity of the Daoab, wes of much importance.

“ The Governor-General/ offers his best thanks to Major-General
Bir Joseph Thackwell for his succegsful direction of the force under his
commaend, and for the dispositions by which he ecompelled the enemy
to retire, and ultimately to quit the ground he had occupied. The
Governor-General tenders his best, thanks to Brigadier-General Camp-
bell for the able assistance which he rendered to Major-General Bir
Joseph Thackwell, and to Lieutenant-Colonel Grant for the powerful
and effective use which he made of the artillery under his command,

* The Governor-General has had much gratification in observing the
terms in which the Commander-in-Chief has spoken of the army under
his command in the field; and he concurs with His Excellency in
bestowing upon them the praise which is their due.”

GENERAL ORDERS BY TnE RicAT HoNOUBABLE THE (GOVERNOR-
GENERAL OF INDIA,

CAMP FRROZBPORK, February 24¢h, 1849,

The following notifications from the Foreign Department are pub-
lished for the information of the army: '

* Notification.

“ FORBIGN DEPARIMENT, UAMP, FEROZEPORT, Febryary 28rd, 1840,

“The Governor-Gleneral has the gratification of intimating to the
President in Council, and notifying for public information, that he has
this day received a despatch from Major Mackeson, C.B., agent to the
Governor-General with the Commander-in-Chief, conveying the intelli-
gence that the forces under His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief
on the 21st instant attacked and routed the Sikh army in the neigh-
bourhood of Goojerat.

‘“The enemy was beaten in every point and retreated in disorder,
leaving in the hands of the British troops, by whom he was pursued,
great portion of his artillery, his ammunition, and the whole of his
standing camp,



406 APPENDIX D

‘ The official despatghes of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief
will be published as soon as they are received.

*“The Governor-General directs that a salute of 21 guns shall be
fired, at every principal station of the army, on the receipt of this
notification.

* By order of the Right Honourable the Governor-General of India.

(Stgned) ** H. M. EvrvrIOTT,
 Secretary to the Governor of India,
* with the Governor-General.”

Notification.
FORKIGN DEPARTMENT, CAMP, FEROZEPORE, Pedruary 34ih, 1849.

The Right Honourable the Governor-General directs the publica-
tion of the following letter from His Excellency the Commander-in-
Chief, reporting the complete defeat of the 8ikh army on the 21st instant.
The detailed despatches will be published hereafter.

« FroM His EXOELLENCY THE COMMANDER-IN-CEIEF IN INDIA, TO TER
RIGHT HONOURABLE THE GOVERNOR-GENERAL.

* CAMP IN FRONT 0P GGOOJERAT, February 91s:, 1840.

My Losp, g

“I have the honour to report to your Lordship that I have

this day obtained g victory of no common orger, cither in its charaster,
* or, I trusty in its effects. ’

“ T was joined yesterday by Brigadier Markham’s brigade, Brigadier-
General Dundas having joinod late the preceding mnight. I moved on.
in the afternoon of yesterday, as soon a8 these troops were refreshed,
from Trikur, to the village of Bhadiwal, and at 7 thia morning I
moved to the attack, which .commenced at half-past 8 o’clock, and
by 1 o’clock I was in possession of the whole of the 8ikh position,
with all his camp equipag ', baggage, magazines, and, I hope, a large

roportion of his guns; the exact number I cannot at present state,
rom the great extent of his position and length of pursuit, as I followed
up the enemy from four to five milos on the Bimber road, and pushed
on Bir Joseph Thackwell with the cavalry. The rout has been most
complete; the whole roud for twelve miles is strewed with guns,
ammunition waggons, arms, and baggage.

* My loss was comparatively small (%e hope within 300 killed and
wounded) when it is considered 1 had to attack 60,000 8ikhs, in a very
strong position, armed with upwards of 80 guns. The loss of the enemy
must have been very severe.

‘“The conduct of the whole army, in every arm, was conspicuous
for steadiness in movpment dnd'gallantry in action. The details I shall
furnish hereafter. '

‘I have, etc.,
(Signed) ‘' GouaGH, General,
** Commander-in-Chief ¢n India.
¢« By order of the Right Honourable the Governor-General of India.
(Stgned) ‘“H. M. EcrLvrior.
““ Secretary to the Government of India, with the Governor-General.
_ (Stgned) . J. Bruarr, Colonel,
“ Secretary to the Government of India, Military Department,
¢ with the Governor-General,”
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FORT WILLIAM, FOREIGN DRPARTMENT, March fith, 1840,

The President in Council is pleased to direct the publication of the
Mlowing notification issued by the Right Honourable the Governor-
lenoral at his Lordship’s headquarters, with a° despatch from His
ixcellency the Commander-in-Chief, reporting the details of the com-
lete victory which was gained over the Bikh force at Goojerat, on the
‘18t ultimo, by the army under His Excellency's command.

By order of the President of the Council of Iz;dia. in Council.

(Signed) Frep. Jas, Harripay,
Officiating Secretary to the Government of India,

 GeNERAL OaDER oF THE Rionr HONOURABLE THE (OVERNOR-
. GENBRAL OF INDIA.

“ FOREIGN DRPARTMENT, CAMP, FEROZEPORW, March lst, 1849,

“ The Governor-General, having received from His Excellency the
Commander-in-Chief a despatch, reporting the details of the brilliant
victory which was gainetl by the British army &t Goojerat, on the 31st
ultimo, directs that it be published for the information of the army
and of the people of India,

*“ The Bikh army, under the command of Birdar Chutter 8ing and of
Rajah Shere Bing, combined with the Afghan troops in the serviee of
the Ameer of Cabool, were posted in great strength near to the town of
Goojerat. : : i

“ Their numbers were estimated at 60,000 men, ahd 59 guns were
brought by them into actién,

“ On the morning of the 21st they were attacked by the forces under
the personal command of His Excellency the Commander-in-Chief. A
powerful and sustained cannoriade by theé British artillery compelled
them, after some time, to retire from the positions they had well and
resolutely maintained.

*“ The subsequent advance of the British army drove them buck at
once from every (foint, and retreat having been speedily converted -
into rout, they fled in the utmost disorder, and, abandoning their guns,
and throwing away their arms, were pursued by the artillery and cavalry
till the evening, for many miles beyond the town.

“ Fifty-throe pieces of the enemy’s artillery, his camp, his baggage,
his magazines, and vast stores of ammunition left in the hands of the
British troops, bear testimony to the completeness and to the import-
ance of the vietory that has been won.

“ The Governor-General, in the name and on behalf of the Govern-
ment of India, most cordially congratulates his Excellency the Com-
mander-in-Chief and the whole army on the glorious success which,
under the blessing of Divine providence, their gkill and gallantry
have achieved ; and he offers to his Excellency, to the generals, the
officers, non-commissioned officers and soldiers of the force, his grateful
acknowledgments of the services they have thug rendered to the
Government and to their country.

“The Governor-General begs especially to thank Major-General
Bir Joseph Thackwell, K.C.B, and K.H.; Major-General Bir W.
QGilbert, K.C.B.: Major-General Whish, C.B.; Brigadier-General
Campbell, C.B.; and Brigadier-General the Honourable H. Dundas,
C.B., for the ability and judgment with which they directed the opera-
tions of the divisions respectively under their command.
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*To the chief engjneer, Brigadier Cheape, C.B.; to the officers
ocommayding brigades, Brigadier Brooke, C.B,; Brigadier Huthwsite,
C.B.; Brigadier%eeson ; to Brigadier White, C.B., Brigadier Hearsey
and Brigadier Lockwood, C.B.; to Brigadier Hervey and Brigadier
Markham ; to Brigadier Mountain, C.B. ; Brigadier Capon and Briga-
dier Hoggan ; Brigadier Carnegy and Brigadier MclLeod, the besat
thanks of the Governor-General are due. .

“ The services of Brigadier-Gen Tennant and of the artillery
of the force have been recorded in the degpatch of the Commander-in-
Chief in terms of which they may justly be proud.

** The Governor-General cordially joins with his Excellency in
acknowledging their merit, and in bestowing upon them the praise
thay have earned so woll, . .

**To Major Lugard, to Lieutenant-Colonel Gough, C.B., and to the
officers of the genepal staff of Fler Muajesty’s army; to Lieutenant-
Oolonel Grant, C.B.; to Lieutenant<Colonel Garden, C.B. ;. and to the
officers of the general staff of the army ; to Captain Ramsay and the
officers of the commisgarjat depsrtmont; to' Mr. Franklin, inspector-
general of Her Majesty’s hespitals; to Dr. Renny and the officers of
the medicel department, and to the officers of his Exocellency’s personal
stafl, the Governor-General offers his best thagks, and assures them of
his full appreciation of their services.

‘“ And t® gll the troops of every arm, BEuropean and native, the
Governor-General desires convey his entire approbation of their
steady and gallant copduct throughout the day; particularly to a
portion of the 9th Lancers and the Scinde Horse for their charge
against the Afghan cavalry; to the Third Brigade of Infantry, under
Brigadier Penny, C.B., for their attack on the village of Kalra ; and to
‘a portion of Brigadier Hervey’s brigade for their charge led by Lieu-
tengnt-Colonel Franks, C.B., all of which have been speciglly reported
by his Excellenoy the Commander-in-Chief,

*“ The Governor-General esfimates highly the important results which
the battle gained on the 2lst ultimo is calculated to produce. He
entertains a hepo that the conviction, which the ovents of that day
must foroe upon all, of the vast superiority which the British army
derived from the, possession of sciegce and military resource, will
induce the enemy shortly to abandon a contest which is a hopeless one.

*“ The war in which we are engaged must be prosecuted with vigour
and deterniination, to the entire defeat and dispersion of all who are
in arms against' us, whether Sikhs or Afghans.

* The Govegnor-General has ever felt, and feels, unbounded con-

fidenge dn the army which serves in India. He relies fully on the con-
viotion that their services will be given cheerfully and gallantly, as
heretofora, whatever may be the obstacles opposed to them ; and he
does not doubt that, with the blessing of Heaven, such full auccess will
continue to follow their efforts as shall speedily give to the Govern-
men&of India the victory over its enemies, and restore the country
to the enjoyment of paeace,
... The (Govermor-Genera] will not fail earnestly to commend
the fast services of this army to the favourable consideration of
Her Majesty's Government and of the Honourable East India
Company.

*“ A salute of 21 guns has been ordered at every prinoipal station of
the army in India.

* By ovder of the Right Honourable the @overnor-General of India.

(Signed) # H. M. Eruror,
# Secretary 1o the Government of India,
“ with the Governor-General.”
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“FroM THE RiGET HONOURABLE THE COMMANDER-IN-CHIEFIN INDIA,
10 THE RicaT HoNOURABLE THR (HOVRRNOR-GENERAL OF INDIA.

“ HEADQUARTERE CAMP, GOOJERAT, Februgry 20th, 1849.

“ My Lowp,

“ By my .letter of the 2lst instant, written on the fleld
of battle immediately after the action, your Lordship will have been
made acquainted with the glorioup result of my operations on that day
against the Sikh army, caleulated frorm all eredible reports at 60,000
men of all arme and 59 pieces of artillery, under the command of
8irdar Chutter Sing and Rajah 8here 8ing, with a body of 1,500 Afghan
Horse led by Akram Khan, son of the Ameer Dost Mahomed . Khan ;
a result, my Lord, glorious indeed for the ever-victorious army of
India ! the ranks of the enemy broken, their position carried, their
guns, ammunition, camp equipage, and baggage captured, their flying
maases @riven before the victorious pursuers from mid-day to dusk,
recdiving a most severe punisiment in their flight ; and, my Lord,
with gratitude to a mereiful Providence, I have the satisfaction of add-
ing that, notwithstanding the obspinate resisttmce of the enemy, this
triumphant success, this ‘brilliant victory has been achieved with
comparatively little lows on our side. : i

“ The number of guns taken in-action and captured in thé line of
pursuit, I now find to be 53, ,

* The official report made by the Adjutant-General of the army
on the 20th instant will have infortned yout Lordship that I had
directed Brigadier-General the Honourable H. Dundas to join me by
forced marches, and that I had elosed up to so short a distance of the
Bikh army that they could not possibly attempt the passage of thg
Chenab, in order to put into execution their avowed determinmtion
of moving upon Lahore, make a retrograde movement by the Kooree
Pass (the only practicable ane for guns), or indeed quit their positien,
without my being able to atteck them and defeat their movement,

““On the 18th instant Brigadier Markham had procesded from .
Ramnuoggar up the left bank of the river to Kanokee, to which ‘T
had directed 47 boate to be sent up. On the morning of the
20¢6h this officer crossed the Ohenab, by my instructions, and joined,
me at 11 o’clock a.rn. At the same time Lieutenant-Colonel Byrne
was directed to move down the left bank, from the positign he held in
front of Wuzeerabad, with two corps of infantry and four gtns, leaving
two regiments of irregular cavalry to watoh the fords, and to prevent any
marauding parties or bodies of the routed enemy from effecting a

ge. . C

 On the same day a reconnaissance was made of the enemy’s position,
and it was ascertained that their cam nearly encircléd the town of
(Goojerat, their regular troops being placed immediately fronting us
between the town and a deep watercourse, the dry bed of the River
Dwara—this nullah, which is very tortuous, passing round mearly
two sides of the town of Goojerat, diverging to a considerable distance
on the north and west faces, and then taking a southerly dirpotion,
running through the centre of the ground I occupied at Shadiwal.
Thus the enemy’s position on the right was generally strengthened, the
nullah giving cover to his infantry n front of his guns, whilst another
deep, though narrow wet nullah running from the east of the town and
falling into the Chenab, in the direction of Wuzeerabad, covered hia left.

* The ground between these nullahs, for a space of nearly three miles,
being well calculated for the operations of all arms, and presenting
no obstacle to the movement of my heavy guns, I determined to make
my prigeipal attack in that directiop and dispose my force accordingly.
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* On the extreme left I placed the Bombay column, commanded
by Brigadier the Honourable % Dundas, supported by Brigadier White’s
brigade of cavalry and the Scinde Horse, under Sir Joseph Thackwell,
to protect the left and to prevent large bodies of Bikh and Afghan
cavalfy from turning that flank ; with this cavalry I placed Captains
Duncan and Huish's troops of horse artillery, whilst the i.nfa.ntry
gim covered by the Bombay troop of horse artillery under Major

ood. '

“ On the right of the Bombdy column, and with its right resting on
the nullah, I placed Brigadier-General Campbell’s division of infantry,
covered by No. 6 and No. 10 Light Field Batteries, under Major Ludlow
and Lieutenant Robertson, having Brigadier Hoggan's brigade of
infantry in reserve. -

*“ Upon theright of the nullah I plated the infantry divigion of Major-
Ge&er&l Bir Walter Gilbert, the heavy guns, 18 in number,
under Majors Day and Horsford, with Captain hakspear and Brevet-
Major 8ir Richmond S8hakspear, commanding batteries, being disposed
in two divisions upon the flanks of his loft brigade.

‘ Thig line was prolonged by Major-General Whish’s division of
infantry, under Brigadier Markham, in support of second line, and the
whole covered by three troops of horse artillery, Major Fordyce's,
Captaing . Mackenzie’s, and Anderson’s; No. 17 Light Field Battery,
under Captain Dawes, with Lisutenant-Colonel Lane's and Captain
Kinleside's troops of horse artillery, in & second line in reserve, under
Lieutenant-Colonel Brind. ;

“My right flank was protected by Brigadiers Hearsey’s and Lock-
wo&l)lcll’s brigaded of cavalry, with Captain Warner’s troop of horse
artillery,

* Tg 5th and 6th Light Cavalry, with ti% Bombay Light Field
Battery, and the 45th and 69th Regiments, under the command of
lI;i?m!sezmnt-Colonel Mercer, most. effectually protocted my rear and

agZage.

% ‘E‘SWith my right wing I proposed penetrating the centre of the
enbmy’s line, 80 as to turn the pasition of their force in rear of the
nullah, and thus enable my left wing to cross it with little loss, and in
co-operation with the right to double upon the centre of the wing of
the enemy’s force opposed to them. i

* At half-past 7 o’clock the army advanced in the order degcribed,
with the precision of a parade movement. The enemy opened their
fire at a very long distance, which exposed to my artillery both the
position and range of their guns. I halted the infantry just out of fire,
and advanced the whole of my artillery, covered by skirmishers.

* The cannonade now opened upon the enemy was the most magni-
ficent I ever witnessed, and as terrible in ita effect.

“ The 8ikh guns were served with their accustomed rapidity, and the
enemy well and resolutely maintained his position; but the terrific
force of our fire obliged them, after an obstinate resistance, to fall
back. . I then deployed the infantry, and directed & general advance,
covering the movement by my artillery as before.

* The village of Burra-Kalra, the left one of those of that name, in
which the enemy had concealed a large body of infantry, and which waa
apparently the key of their position, lay immediately in the line of

ajor-General Sir Walter Gilbert’s advance, and was carried in the
most brilliant style, by a spirited attack of the Third Brigade, under
Brigadier Penny, consisting of the 2nd Europeans, 31st and 70th Regi-
menta of Native Infantry, which drove the enemy from their cover with
groat slaughter,

* % & very spirited and successful movement was also made about the
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same time against & heavy body of the enemy’s troops, in and about
Chota-Kalra, by part of Brigadier Hervey's brigade, most gallantly
led by Lieutenant-UColonel Franks of H.M.’s 10th Foot,

“The heavy artillery continued to advance with extraordinary
celerity, taking up successive forward positions, driving the enemy
from those they hed retired to, whilst the rapid advance and .beautiful
fire of the horse artillery and light field batteries, which I strengthened
by bringing te the front the two reserved troops of horse artillery under
Lieutenant-Colonel Brind—Brigadier Brovke having the general super-
intendence of the whole of the horee artillery—broke the ranks of the
enemy at all points. The whole infantry line now rapidly advanced
and drove the enemy before it ; the nullah wes cleared, several villages
stormed, the guns that wers in polition carried, the camp captured,
and the enemy routed in every direction ! —the right wing and Briga-
dier-General Campbell’s division passing in pursuit to the eastward,
the Bombay column to the westward of the town.

* The retreat of the Sikh army, thus hotly pressed, soon became a

ect flight, all arms disperding over the.country, repidly pursued

v our troops for a distance of twelve miles, their track strewed with

their wounded, their arms, and military equipments, which they threw
away to conceal that they were soldiers.

* Throughout the operations thus detailed, the cavalry brigades on
the flanks were threatened, and occasionally attacked by vast masses
of the enemy’s cavalry, which were, in ‘every instance, put to flight
by the steady movements and spirited manceuvres of our cavalry, most
zealously and judiciously supported by the troops of horse artillery
attached to them, from whom the enemy received the seyerest punish-
ment. ! :

*“ On the left, o most successful and gallant charge wes made upon
the Afghan cavalry and a large body of Goorchurras, by the Secinde
Horge and a party of the 9th Lancers, when some standards wers
captured.

*‘ The determined front shown by the 14th Light Dragobns and the
other cavalry regiments on tho right, both regular and irregular,
completely overawed the enemy, and contributedrmuch to the success
of the day ; the conduect of all in following up the fugitive enemy was
beyond all praise,

“A competent force, under the command of Major-General Bir
Walter Gilbert, resumed the pursuit towards the Jhelum on the follow-
ing morning, with a view of cutting off the enemy from the only practi-
cable gun road to the Jhelum, Another division of infantry, under
Brigadier-General Campbell, advanced on the road to Bimber, scoyring
the country in that direction, to prevent their carrying off the guns by
that route, and a body of cavalry, under Lieutenant-Colonel Bradford,
succesgfully pushed on several miles into the hills, and twenty-four
from Goojerat, accompanied by that most energetic political officer,
Captain Nicholson, for the same purposo, whilst I remained in possess
sion of the field for the purpose of supporting these operations, covering
the fords of the Chenab, and destroying the vast magazine of ammu-
nition left scattered about in all directions. I am happy to add. that
these combinations have been entirely successful, the detached parties
coming at every step on the wreck of the dispersed and flying foe.

“ Having thus endeavoured to convey to your Lordship the par-
tioulars of the operations of the battle of (Goojerat, I beg now toq
offer my heartfelt congratulations to your Lordship, and to the
Government of India, upon this signal victory achieved under the-
blessing of Divine providence by the united efforts and indomitable
gallantry of the noble army under my sefnmand, & victory, my Lord,
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a8 glorious to the army that gained it as it must be satisfactory to
yourself and the Govérnment of India, from the very important and
decisive results to be expected from-it.

* It is quite impossible for me sufficiently to express my admiration
of the ga}lant and steady conduct of the officers and men, as well
native as European, upon this occasion.

“ The brilliant service they have performed in so signally defeating
8o vastly a superior force, amongst whom were the élite of the old

army, meking & last, united, and desperate struggle, will
speaél:rfor iteelf, and will, T am confident, be justly estimated %y your
Lordship.

“1 ca%,not too strongly express to your Lordship my deep sense of
obligation to the general officers and brigadier-generals in command of
divisions, who o ably carried out my views and directed the operations
of their troops on this day,

* I beg to annex for your Lordship’s information the reports I have
received from them, and to bring most prominently to your Lordship’s
notice the brigadiers commanding brigades ; the commanding officers
of regiments and of troops of horse artillery and light fleld batteries ;
and the peveral officers of the divisional and brigade staff enwmerated
in these reports, in terms of such just commendation.

1 feel much indebted to Major-General Sir Joseph Thackwell for
the able and judicious manner he manceuvred the cavalry, with horse
artillery attached, on the left, keeping in check the immensely superior
force of the enemy, whose main objoet was to turn my flanks. I am
also greatly indebied to this tried and gallant officer for his valnablé
assistance and untiring exertions throughout the present and previous
operations as second in command with this force.

* To Major-General Sir Walter Gilbert, whose services upon this,
a8 on all former occasions, were invaluable, and ever marked by energy,
zeal, and devotion; as well a8 to Major-Cleneral Whish, Brigadier-
Generals Campbell and Dundas, for their able assistance, T am deeply
indebted.

“To Brigadier-General Tennant, commanding that splendid arm,
the artillery, to whose irresistible power I am mainly indebted for the
glorious victory of Goojerat, I am indeed most grateful. Conspicuous
a8 the artillery has ever proved itself, never was its superiority over
that of the enemy, its irresistible and annihilating power, more truth-
fully shown than in this battle. The heavy batteries manmuvred
with the celerity of light guns, and the rapid advance, the scientiflc
and judicious selection of points of attack, the effective and well-directed
fire of the troops of horse artillery and light fleld-batteries, merit my
warmest praise ; and I beg most earnestly to recommend their brave
and gallant commanders, with the several officers named in Brigadier-
General Tepnant’s report, to your Lordship’s most favourable notice.

“ From Brigadier Cheape, the chief engineer, and the talented
officers in that department as named in the Brigadier’s report, I have
received the most valuable assistance in reconnoitring the enemy’s
position and on the field of battle. The SBappers and Pioneers, under
that most able officer, Captain Siddons, did excellent service, and
were ever in front to overcome any obstacle to the advance of the
artillery. :

*To the officers of the general staff of Her Majesty's service, Major
Lugard, Acting Adjutant-General, and Lieutenant-Colonel Gough,
Quartermaster-General of Hor Majesty’s troops in India, my best thanks
are due ; their exertions upon the present occasion and throughout the
recent operations were most valuable, and I beg to bring them under
your Lordship’s most favourable notice. I am equally indebted to
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Ceptain Otter, Acting Assistant Adjutant-General of Her Majesty's
forces, for his valuable services,

* To the officers of the general staff of the army, Lieutenant-Colonel
Grant, Adjutant-General, end Lieutenant-Colonsl Garden, Quarter-
master-General, whose most onerous and very important duties have
invariably been conducted to my entire satisfaction, I am under the
greatest obligation. Their valuable assistance in the field, and their
indefatigable exertions throughout operations of no ordinary character,
deserve my warmest thanks and your Lordehip’s approbation.

*“To Lieutenant-Colonel Birch, J udge-Advocate-General, T am much
indebted for his assistance upon every occasion,

** To Major Tucker, Deputy Adjutant-General, a most gallant, ener-

tic, and valuable officer ; t0 Lieutenant-Colonel Drummond, Deputy
%éuartermaster—(}eneml, whose gervices have been most praiseworthy ;
to Major Chester, Assistant Adjutant-General, and Lieutenant Tytler,
Asgistant Quartermaster-Goneral ; Lieutenant Johnston, De uty
Judge-Advooate-General ; Major G. Thompson, and Lieutenant-Colonel
Curtis, Assistant Commissary-General ; Captain C. Campbell, paymaster
to the army, I offer my best thanks for their services whilst attending
me in the field, and the efficient manner they have performed their
several duties,

* Mr. Franklin, inspector-general of Her Majesty’s hospitals, has
been unceasing in his exertions inrendering every aid to the sick and
wounded of the royal service, and giving the benefit of his long pro-
fessional experience in such duties ; as hag Doctor Renny, superintend-
ing surgeon of this army, who has besn indefatigable in hig professional
exertions and well-organised medical arrangements,

“T feel I cannot too prominently bring to notice the valuable exer-
tions of Doctor MacRae, field-surgeon, and of the medical officers of the
army generally ; they have been most unwearied and praiseworthy.

**To Captain Ramsay, Deputy Commissary-General, and to the officers
of his department, I am much indebted, and feel grateful for their
unceasing and successful exertions, amidst ell difficulties, to supply the
troops, and thus pregerve the efficiency of the army.

“ The officers of my personal staffhave well merited my best thanks
and your Lordship's favourable notice. | Captain Haines, military
secretary, who has rendered me most valuable aid; Brevet-Major
Bates, aide-de-camp ; Lieutenant A. Bagot, aide-de-camp ; Lieutenant
8. J. Hire, aide-de-camp ; Captain Gabbett, aide-de-camp; Lieu-
tenant G, Hardinge, aide-de-camp ; and Lieutenant W. G. Prender-
gest, my Persian interpreter.

* 1 beg also to acknowledge the valuable assistance I have received
from the political officers, Major Mackeson, Mr. Cocks, Captain Nichol-
son, and Lieutenant Robinson, both in the field and throughout the
operations. I regret to add that Mr. Cocks was seriously wounded
during the action in a rencontre with a 8ikh horseman.

* I would also bring to your Lordship’s notice the name of Lieutenant
Btannus, of the 6th Light Cavalry. This officer has commanded the
cavalry party attached to my escort throughout the operations to
my entire satisfaction, He was severely wounded on the 21st, when
gallantly charging a party of the enemy’s horsemen.

*“ Major Anstruther, of the Madrps Artillery; Lieutenant Mayne,
of the Madras Cavalry, and Captain Showers, of the l4th Native
Infantry, attended me in the field.

“1 have most unwillingly been delayed from sooner forwardi
this despatch, from the circumstance of having only this day receiv:
Brigadier-General the Honourable H. Dundas's report, and some of
the casualty returns have not even yet reached us. As soon as the
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whole come in, & full, amended, general return shall be transmitted
without loss of time for your Lordship’s information.
“T have the pleasure to enclose & plan of the battle of Goojerat,
also & return of the captured ordnance,
“1T have, etc.
(Signed) * Gouan, General,
* Commander-in-Chief in India.

“P.8,—The casualty liats having arrived, I have the honour to
enclose the return of killed and wounded, which, I am sorry to see, is so
much heavier than I at first anticipated. Several of these were ocoa-
sioned by accidental explosions of the enemy’s tumbrils and magazines
after the action, : <G

“ FroM Masor-GeENERAL Sin J. Tuackwsrn, K.C.B. axp K.H.,
ComMaNDINg CAvarry DivisioN, T0 LIisEUTENANT-COLONEL
GrANT, C.B.,, ADJUTANT-GENERAL OF THE ARMY.

“ HEADQUARTERS OAMP, GOOJERAT, Februnry 36th, 1849

* BiR,

I have the honour to report, for the information of His Excel-
lency the Right Honourable the Comamander-in-Chief, the operations
of the division of cavalry under my command, in the battle fought
on the 21st instant, near the town of Goojerat. .

*“ The left column of cavalry, under the command of Brigadier
White, C.B., consisting of the troope named in the margin,' was as-
sembled in column of troops at half distance, right in front, at deploying
interval, on the left of the Bombay column of infantry, at 7 o'clock
in the morning. ‘

“The right column,. composed of troops named in the margin,?
under the command of Brigadiers Hearsey and Lockwood, C.B., were
formed in column left in front at the same hour.

“ The Third Division of lnfantry and the Bombay brigade, all on the
left of the nullah, leading towards Goojerat, being under my immediate
superintendence, I remained on the left flank of the army; and I
make no doubt Brigadier-Generals Dundes and Campbell have made
you fully acquainted with the operations of the troops under their
command.

“ On approaching the village of Nurrawalla, just without the range
of the enemy’s batteries, the infantry deployed into line, and Brigadier
White formed his cavalry in front of that village with his left back,
and parallel to a gentle riging of the ground on which was posted the
enemy’s right, consisting of a large body of Afghans and Goorchurra
Horse. From this position a fire of round shot was opened, and the
enemy’s cavelry extended to the right, so as to threaten to turn our
left flank, To oppose the enemy's guns, I ordered Captain Duncan
to move his troop of horse artillery to the front, which he did in good
style, and opened his fire within five hundred or six hundred yards.

* Lefi Column. First Brigade of Oavalry, Brigadier White, 0.B., commanding: H.M,a
Srd Dragoons, Major Yerbury; H.M,s 9th Lancers Lieutenant-Colonel Fullerton: 8th
Light Oavalry, Major Mackenzie; Beinde Horse, Captaln Malcolm ; Captain Duncan’s
troo%ﬂom rtillery ; Captain Huish’s troop Horse Artillery. .

* Right Qolumn. Second Brigade of Cavalry, Brigadier Lockwood, 0.B., commaading ;
HM.'s 14th Light Dragoons, Lieutenant-Colonel King; 1st Light Cavalry, Lieutenant-
Colonel Bradford; 2 risallas 11th Irregular Cavalry, Captain Masters; 2 résalles 14th

Qavalry, Lieutenant. Robarts ; Captain Warher's troop Horse Artillery,

. Fourth Brigade Oavalry, Brigadier Hearsey commanding : 3rd Irregular Oavalry, Major
Tait, O.B,; 9th Irregular Cavalry, Major Christie,. The Gth and 6th Light Cavelty were
toft in the rear to protect the baggage. -

L4
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This movement was followed by the advance of Captain Huish’s troop,
and both did considerable exscution upon the enemy, but did not
prevent the attempt of the Afghans to outflank our left. The Beinde
Horse were on the loft of my line, and I ordered them to advance with
& Bquadron of the fth Lancers, under Captain Campbell, a part of the
former to be in reserve, and supported by 8 squadron of the 8th Lancers,
under Major Grant, C.B., in échelon on the right. These troops meade &
most brilliant charge upon the enemy ; at the same time I advanced
the guns and cavalry towards the enemy’s line. The fire of the guns
soon put the Goorchurras in retreat, and the glorious charge of the
troops on the left caused their whole force to seek safety in retreat by
the Burradurree. A gun was captured during these proceedings ;
but as we were then considerably in advance of the left of the infantry
—although Captain Duncan was enabled to enfilade a battery opposed
to them—and ignorant of the foree the enemy might have between
the Burradurree and the town, a space covered with trees, it became
necessary to proceed with caution; yet I soon was enabled to open
& fire upon the enemy, both on the right and left of the former place
which caused them considerable loss, and hastened their retreat.

*I may here observe that all the enemy’s tents were left standing
near the Burradurree, and on the Sikh right of the town, with pro-
bably much baggage in them, all of which were probably plundered by
the camp followers.

* The enemy being now in full retreat, I moved Brigadier White’s
brigade well to the left front, and soon forced the enemy from the
Jhelum road, and eventually from that of Bimber, also cutting off
large bodies of the enemy, much baggage, and many guns, which were
secured by this brigade, as well as the troops of the Second and Fourth
Brigades, which had been ordered to join in the pursuit, At 4.20 p.m.,
none of the enemy being in sight, and’ being, as was said by the villagers,
nine or ten miles from Goojorat, I discontinued the pursuit and returned
to camp at this place. In this pursuit Captains Duncan and Huish’s -
troops of artillery, latterly joined by Major Leeson and Major Blood’s
troop of the same arm, brought their guns to bear upon the enemy
with good effect on several occasions, and their advance was as rapid
a8 the intersected nature of the ground (by nullahs) would admit, and
the 9th Lancers and 8th Light Cavalry made gallant attempts to close
with the enemy’s cavalry, which, however, were frustrated by the rapid
retreat of the latter, yet a groat number of the enemy were slain by
this brigade in the pursuit. I witnessed the activity of Captain Unett,
and part of his squadron of the 3rd Light Dragoons, and Brigadier
White mentions that the whole of that regiment was actively ongaged
in this work of retribution,

“Being an eye-witness to all the movements of the First Brigade,
Thave great satisfaction in stating that Brigadier White conducted themn
very much to my satisfaction. I am also well satisfied with the manner
in which Lieutenant-Colonel Fullerton, Majors Yerbury -and Mackenzie -
commanded their respective regiments, and in which Major Grant
supported the charge of cavalry on the left. The charge of the Scinde
Horse reflects the highest credit on Captain Malcolm, and I have groat
pleasure in having witnessed the gallant bearing of all the officers and
men of this brigade during the operationa.of the day ; and I fee] sure
that their only regret was that the enemy’s cavalry so often declined
the attack.

“To Captains Duncan and Huish and Majors Leeson and Blood T
am much indebted for the manner in which they brought their guus
into action whenever an opportunity occurred, and the steadiness and
good conduct of both officers and men were very conspicuous,
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** I haive now the pleating duty to state, that I have received every
assiatance and support from my Deputy Assistant Adjutant-General,
Captain Pratt, on the present occasgion, as well as during the campaign,
To my Deputy Assistant Quartermaster-General, Lisutenant Tucker,
T am greatly indebted for his zeal, activity, intelligence, and successful
endeavours to procure intelligence of the movements of the enemy
during the operations. He, as well as my ajde-de-camp, Lieutenant
Thackwell, Lieutenant Young, of the Engineers, Lieutenant—~rter,
of the Pioneers, and Cornet Beatson, of the 6th Light Cavalry, accom-
panied me during the battle, and afforded me essential service in
c;.rrg;ng my orders on various occasions during the operations of
the day.

* Brigadier White states how greatly he was satisfied with the
conduct of his Brigade Major, Captain Cautley, end the whole of the
officers and men of his brigade,

* Asthe operations of the 8econd and Fourth Brigades of cavalry did
not come under my observation, except towards the latter end of the
pursuit, I have the honour to forward Brigadier Lockwood’s report,
and it would appear therefrom that he conducted his brigade judi-
ciously ; and I am gratified to learn that both officers and men
behaved greatly to his satisfaction, and thatthe 14th Light Dragoons and
1st Light Cavalry conducted themselves gallantly, and evinced every
anxiety to close with the enemy. I am happy to observe that the
Brigadier has mentioned with great approbation the conduct of Lieu-
tenant-Colonels Bradford and King, in command of their regiments ;
and I cannot aveid here stating, for the information of his Lordship,
that I observed with much satisfaction the zeal and judgment evinced
by both officers, when in command of considerable bodies of cavalry
detached from the camp at Chillisnwallah on important duties.

“T regret that I have not yet received any report from Brigadier
Hearsey, or return of casualties from his brigade or the Scinde Horse ;
theee will be forwarded when they arrive.

‘1 have, eto.
' (Signed) *“ J. THACKWHLL.
« Major-Gleneral commanding Cavalry Diviston,”
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Mahmood, tomb of, 144
Mahmood of Ghuznee, 233
Manners, Gen. Lord Charles, 225,
345
Mansfield, Capt. James, &
Maggxhum, Brigadier, 249, 332,
8
Martin, Gen. Claud, 228
Maule, Capt., 166
Mayorga, Junction of Moore's and
Baird’s forces, 14
MoCaskill, Brigadier-Gen., 113
MoLeod, Brigadier, 332
Medals for Waterloo, 83
Mercer, Major, 79

128,

INDEX

Mina, 43

Moore, 8ir John, 9

-— — resolves on retreat, 17"

Moreton Court, 1

Morillo, Gen., 48, 52

Mountain, Brigadier, 288, 299, 804,
812, 348

Mowatt, Capt., 262, 289, 205, 206,
297, 320 ‘

Mulraj, Dewan, 233 et seq.

Multan, 233 et seq.

Napier, Gen, 8ir Charles, 221, 222,

260, 347

Napoleon leaves Elbs, 67

Newcastle, Duke of, 94, 95, 104,
352

Nicholls, Major-Gen, O., 8

Nicholson, Lieut. John, 250, 252,
271, 277,

Nicholson, Capt. John, 258

Nicolls, Gen. 8ir Jaeper, 167 &
seq., 347

Nihal Bingh, 163

Norton, . B8

Nott, Gen., 171

Nottingham Castle, attack on, 87

Otway, Col., 18th Hussars, 18
Oudh, King of, 227 et seq.
Outram, Capt. James, 148
Ovitts, Private William, 92

Pack, Brigadier-Gen., 30, 81

Paget, Major-Gen. Lord, 8, 23

Palmerston, Lord, 352, 366

Paris, Gen., 45, 52, 63

Parker, Capt., 2

Paton, Lieut,, 246, 247

Pattiala, Raja of, 167

Pattingon, Lieut., 186

Penny, Brigadier, 241, 281, 289
304, 332, 335

Pennycuick, Brigadier, 240, 250,
262, 288, 201, 295, 296, 312

Persse, Col., 137

— Brigadier, 158

Peshawar, 152 et aeq.

Picton, Lieut.-Gen. 8ir Thomaa,
40, 46, 47

Pisuerga River, e of, 36

Pocklington, Major, 91

Polllsock, Qen., 167, 168, 169, 171,

8 !

Ponsonby, Col., 80, 81, 36, 48, 48

Pope, Brigadier, 241, 280, 288,
290, 299, 300 et seq.
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Pottinger, Col., 117
Pratt, Capt., 177, 188
Prole, Capt., 154

Raban, Lisut., 164
gar, action at, 241
Ranjit SBingh, 183, 153, 198, 221,
233, 234
Ranjur Siugh, 206, 208
Rattray, Lieut., 185
Reddie, Capt., 155
Regimente (British) :
Life Guards, 25, 70
3rd Heavy Dragoons, 37
4th Heavy Dragoons, 37
&th Heavy Dragoons, 37
8rd Light Dragoons, 37, 108,
160, 167, 168, 188, 180, 1908,
199, 205, 207, 209, 210, 211
et seq., 225, 244, 250, 272,
279, 289, 202, 806, 329, 832,
345, 352
4th Light Dragoons, 115, 132
5th Dragoons, 35 ¢
7th Hussars, 8, 10, 55, 69, 70,
77, 18, 82, 882
8th Hussars, 104
8th Lancers, 199, 220, 239,
268, 263, 271, 272, 288, 300,
331. 340, 338, 336, 337, 338,
839
10th Hussars, 8, 10, 24, 28, 34,
35, 40, 43, 49, 51, 59
11th Light Dragoons, 82, 110
12¢h Dr ns, 35, 37, 38
13th LigEt Dragoons, 44, 70,
78, 76, 78, 79, 83
14th Light Dragoons, 365, 37, 44,
258, 268, 270, 272, 288, 300,
301, 332, 339, 841
Eliott’s Light Horse, 4, 82
15th Light Dragoons, 4; strength
of in 1801, 6 ; converted into
hussars, 8
15th Hussars, 28, 85, 40, 43, 48,
54, 66, 76, 78, 79, 82, 83, 89,
90, 91, 82, 149, 342, 343, 345,
846 ; at Toulouse, 03 et gegq. ;
at Vittoria, 41; casualties
in, at Waterloo, 72 ; changes
among officers, 59; embark
at Portamouth for Corunna,
10 ; embark for Belgium, 68 ;
embark for Lisbon, 2§ ; enter
France, 61; formation at
Waterloo, 73; march to
Quatre Bras, 69 ; position at
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Regiments (British)—consinued :
Waterloo, 74; reduction on
peace, 67 ; return home, 66 ;
return to England, 22 ; speoi-
ally mentioned, 58 ; ltnmgﬂx
of aquadrons at Waterloo, 78 ;
atrength on landing at Corun-
na, 1

16th Light Dragoons, 37, 38

16th Lancers, 115, 128, 1290,
187, 138, 148, 160, 157, 171,
181, 185, 186, 187, 200, 203,
345, 3562

18th Hussars, 14, 24, 28, 33, 34,
36, 40, 43, 49, 54, 82

Worcester Regiment of Pro-
visionalCavalry,1,4 ; strength
of, 3; disbandment of, 4

Worcester Regiment of Fen-
cible Cavalry, 4

Worcester Regiment of Light
Dragoons, 4

2nd Foot, 132, 138

10th Foot, 829

18th Light Infantry, 133, 138,
1561, 171

17th Foot, 182, 139

24th Foot, 240, 260, 200, 206
et aeq,

31st Foot, 160

32nd Foot, 220

38th Foot, 8

40th Foot, 172

418t Foot, 172

44th Foot, 164

50th Foot, 203

6lst Foot, 83, 70

53rd Foot, 207

60th Rifles, 329

61st Foot, 240, 207, 208

988th Foot, 220

2nd European Regt., 258, 263,
335

lst Hussars, King’s German
Legion, 35, 37, 43, 54
2nd Husesars, King’s German

8rd Hussars, King's GQerman
Legion, 8, 14, 78

2nd Light Dragoons, King's
German Legion, 8

Chasseurs Britanniques, 33

Duke of Cumberland’s Hano-
verian Hussars, 70

Regiments (Foreign):

13th Chasseurs & Cheval, 57,

80
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Bolgémenu (Fox:iggi—-mﬁnued :

21st Dragoons, 34

Regiments (Native) :

1st al Light Cavalry, 113,
182, 181, 182, 188, 187, 200,
288, 300, 882, 340

2nd Bengal Light Cavalry, 115,

aﬂizo, 182, Il.?:l'x 1%8, ‘l‘ﬁg: 150

Benﬁ ight Cav , 1185,

120, 138, 182, 137, 138, 150,
160, 171, 200, 208

4th Bengal Light Cavalry, 181,
109, 208, 208, 209

&th Bengal Light Cavalry, 171,
189, 204, 206, 208, 209, 229,
230, 259, 260, 272, 279, 289,
202-205, 332, 333, 335

6th Bengal Light Cavalry, 288,
800, 382, 833

7th Bengal Light Cavalry, 171

8th Bengal Light Cavalry, 160,
200, 207, 208, 260, 272, 279,
288, 202, 200, 832, 337, 340

lOtthengal Light Cavalry, 180,
22

11th Bengal Light Cavalry, 199,
208, 332
2ntil Bengal Native Infantry,
72

4th Bengal Native Infantry, 239

7th Bengal Native Infantry, 160

8th Bengal Native Infantry, 329

15th Bengal Native Infantry,
241

16th &l Native Infantry,
132% 172

20th Bengal Native Infantry,
149, 154, 241, 280

21st Bengal Native Infantry,
140, 150, 164

n/;x;o Bengal Native Infantry,

Slat al Native Infantry,
187,B;§g

36th Native Infantry,
240, 29

387th al Native Infantry,
154, 156, 164

38th Bengal Native Infantry,
172

42n,cr12 Bengal Native Infantry,
1

43:d2Bengol Native Infantry,
7

45th Bengal Native Infantry,
240, 258, 208

INDEX
Regiments (Native}—continued :

46th Bongal Native Infantry,

240

48th al Native Infantry,
184, 18

49&!1608011331 Native Infantry,
1

60zheBengAl Native Infantry,
34

52nd Bengal Native Infantry,
329

54th Bengal Native Infantry,
104

56th Bengal Native Infantry,
257

67tl.h Bengal Native Infantry,

68th Bengal Native Infantry,
180

66th Bengal Native Infantry,
241

70th Bengal Native Infantry,
268, 263, 385

1at Bombay Cavalry, 128

3rd Bonbay Light Cavalry, 172

18th Bombay Infantyy, 133

22nd Bombay Infantry, 122

26th Bombay Infantry, 3122

2nd Irregular Cavalry, 199, 204

3rd Irregular Cavalry, 200, 244,
260, 254, 287, 260, 272, 277,
332, 339

4th Irregular Cavalry, 171, 181-
183, 187, 200, 208

6th Irregular Cavalry, 171

Stg Irregular Cavalry, 199, 2086,
09

9th Irregular Cavalry, 199, 205,
2}(1)6, 13388."309. %58, jgyz. 8892

11¢] egular Cav , 382,
333, 334, 880

12th Irregular Cavalry, 244,
251, 383

18th Irregular Cavalry, 332,
834, 340

14th Irregular Cavalry, 832,
333, 834, 840

Khelat-i-Ghilzai Regiment, 187

4th Looal Horse, 131

1st Bkinner's Horse, 131

Ludhiana Regiment of Sikhs,
220, 230

Poona Local Horse, 115

Boinde Horis, 838, 333, 336,
338, 330, 340

Birmoor Battalion, 208, 218

Reille, Gen., 45
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Renney, Lieut., 186

Richmond, Col., 228

Riets, Luddists, 25

— at Nottingham, 84 et aeq.

Roche, Miss, 80

Roche, Col., 89, 80

Roche, Francis, 89

Rache, Cornet Edmund, 3rd Light
Dragoons, 118, 119, 132, 1386,
137, 158, 100, 197

— Lieut. Edmund, 200

Robertson, Lieut,, 289, 297, 308,
800-312, 821

Robinson, Capt., 164

Rolleston, Major, 990

Rose, Cornet, 15th Hussars, 88

Ross, Col., 20th Foot, 82

Russell, Lord John, 104

Rye Court, 1

Sale, Brigadier Robert, 132

— QGen., 184, 165

Salusbury, Ensign, 165

Sanchez, 43

Saun. Lieut..Col., 182

Scinde, Ameers of, 116

8cott, Brigadier, 183, 196, 196,
201, 204, 208, 209

S8hah 8huja, 111,112, 115, 120, 123,
128, 13¢, 189, 188; reaches
Kandahar, 131 ; enters Kabul,
148

8h , Major, 262

Bhelton Goa, 164

Sher Singh, Maharajs, 103, 235,
236, 282, 285, 325, 826, 337, 341

8iborne, Lieut., 72, 76

Bimpson, Major-Gen., 123

Sindia, Daulat Rao, 173

8kinner, Col. James, 114

8lade, Major Charles, 3rd Light

. Dragoons, 111

Slade, Gen. John, 10, 342

Smith, Sir Harry, 179, 184, 189,
160, 201, 202, 204207, 213, 214,
220, 225, 226, 343, 360

Smyth, Lieut.-Col.,, 158

Somers Cocks, Lieut.-Col. Hon.
John, 2

Somerset, Capt., 170, 182

Somerset, Major-Gen. Lord Ed-
ward, 43, 47, 58

Somersot, Lord Fitzroy, 189, 228,
347

Somnaut, temple of, 144

Soult, Marshal, 18, 45, 49

— —— Duke of Dalmatia, 66
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8pain, army of, & th of, 45

8¢, Hillaire, Gen, 68

Stecy, Brigadjer, 183, 185

Stannus, Lieut., 335

Bu;wa.rt, Brigadier-Gen. Charles,
4

Stiste'd, ;ieut.-Col. Charles, 108

— Col., 208

Btisted, Lieut., 208

Stoddert, Col., 168

Swayne, Capt., 164

Temple, Lieut., 15th Husaars, 88

Thackwell, Joseph, attached to
Horse Artillery, 6; Cornet in
18th Light Dragoons, 4 ; joins
provisional cavalry, 1; Lieut. in
provisionsl cavalry, 3; placed
on half-pay, 7; promoted Capt.,
8 ; re-posted to 15th, 7

Thackwell, Capt. Joseph, action
at 8t. Germier, 80 ; at Grenade,
56, 57; at Pampeluna, 51;
command of 16th g:volves up-
on, 72; commands advance at
passage of the Esla, 38 ; ocom-
mands cavalry picquets, 21;
describes march, 28; left arm
amputated, 80 ; promoted Ma-
jor, 83 ; receives contusion, 42 ;
recommended for a brevet, 68 ;
rejoins regiment, 81; severely
wounded, 72

— Major Joseph, brevet ofLieut.-
Col.,, 84 ; riots in Birmingham,
84

— Lisut.-Col. Joseph, command
of 16th Hussars, 86

— Col, Joseph, attends foreign
manceuvres, 88; children of,
107; embarks for India, 109;
exchanges, 108 ; gazetted C.B.,
111; uelphio Order, 108;
Major-Gen. in India ; marriage
of, 89, 90 ; on half-pay, 104

— Major-Gen.- 8ir Joseph, ap-
pointed Col, 16th Lancers, 345 ;
appointed Inspector-General of
cavalry, 352 ; appointed Lieut.-
Gen., 353 ; at Ghuznes, 138 et
8eq. ; receives Order of the
Durani Empire, 150; to com-
mand Cavalry Divigion, 241 ; to
oommand cavalry in Afghani-
stan, 113; to command flank
movementa, 243 ; handling of
the cavalry at Gujerat, 338,
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8894 his Sadulapore report, 274
#6g.; receives Peninsular
medd, 847 ; receives the G.C.B.
844 ; reception at home, 851 ;
verdict on ocavalry disaster at
Chillianwala, 804
'.l‘hackwoll. Gen. Bir Joaegh, 225
inted K.C.B
Yo ted yof obeervat.lon,
67;a jpore, 181 et seq.;
at braon. 208 ; commands
osvalry for Gwsuor, 176 ; ooh-
firthed as Ma or-Gen., 226 ;
opinions, 160 e ¢eq.; Qi'dered
‘ wjointhoarmyofﬁho ]&b
230; return home, ™1
thanks of Parliament, 924; to
command Third Division, 240 ;
transferred to-Meerut, 220
— Lieut,-Gen. 8ir Joseph, family,
854, 3853 ; death of,
Thackwell, Miss Elizabeth, 230
Thackwell, Cornet Edward, 3rd
Light Dr aons, 226, 230
— Lieut. Edward, 313
MMO well, Capt., 22nd Regiment,
Timur 8hah, 182, 133
Torrens, Gon.. 114 .
Torrea Vedrag, lnr:a of, 28

ouse, description. of defences,

2 dis| itnom {or attack on,
62; a3 ; retire n, 61
Tremenhere, Major, 257, 264, 267

Tucker, hiout., 201
— Capt., 311, 818, 815, 318

'{‘uyﬁng Capt., 18th Hu:sars, 41 -
er, Lieut., 262

Unett, Capt. Walter, 3rd Light

Dragoons, 203, 306
Ux , Lord, 60, 82

Veliant, Brigadier, 122

~— Major-Gen., 181, 184, 189

S;m !g:ndt, Ge;x ?34 235
ngrees of, 6

Vilhte, Gen., 47

Vivian,. Col 54, 63

168; op-

INDEX

* Wade, Major, g;&. 149, 150

~—Col,, 1838, 1

Waldemn. Prince, of Ptuma. 222

Walton, Private Robert, 5!

Warner, Capt., 260, 289, 299, 310,
335

Waterloo, honowws for, 83

Webb, Capt. Thomas, 3

Wellesley. 8ir Arthur, 9

Wellington, Lord, 69 ; his plans,
27; preparations for cam
of 1818, 26; dispositions after
Vit.toria., 48; dispositions before
Toulouss, 81 ; headquarters, 36 ;
orders for 21st June, 39, 40;
theatre of operations, 46

— Duke of, 189, 344, 350

Wheatley, Oapt., 208

Wheeler, Gen., 287. 238

Wheeler, Lieut,, 185 -

Wheeler, Lieut.-Col., 156

Whish, Major-Gen., 285. 238
324, 336

Wh(h Brigadier, 244, 254, 273,
289, 201, 310, 817, 312, 832,
838, 336, 352

White, Lieut.-Col. Michael, 211

Wildman, Col., 88

Wilkins, the Reformer, 96

Williams, Gen. 8ir Edmund, 160,
168, 166, 170, 191

Willshire, Gen., 135, 145

Wilgon, Lieut.-Gen. Bir Robert,
92, 03

Wilnon. Robert, &

Wodehouao, Capt., 15th Hussars,
88,70 -

— Lieut.-Col., 73

ngdberry, Lieut., ‘18th Hussars,

Woodburn, Calpt 168

Wright, Col., 184, 185
Yerbury, Col, 3rd Light Dra-
ns, 294

ajor, 3rd Light Dragoons, 327
York Duke of, 83
Yule, Libut. H., Royal Engmeen,
252
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THE LETTERS OF QUEEN VICTORIA.
A Selection from Her Majesty’s Correspondence, 1837—
1861. Published by authority of His Majesty the King,
Edited by Arthur Christopher Benson, M.A.,
C.V.0., and. Viscount Esher, G.C.V.0., K.C.B.
With numerous Photogravures, Medium 8vo. Three
Volumes. £3 38. net.

LIFE AND CORRESPONDENCE OF JOHN
THADEUS DELANE, Editor of Z%e Times, 1841—1877.
Containing hitherto unpublished Letters of Palmerston,
Disraeli, and other Statesmen, and numerous Anecdotes of
the Court and London Society in the Reign of Queen
Victoria, By Arthur Irwin Dasent, With Illustrations.
2 Vols. Demy 8vo, 328. net.

CORRESPONDENCE OF GEORGE CAN-
NING AND SOME INTIMATE FRIENDS. Containing
hitherto Unpublished Letters, fewx a'Lsprit, etc., of George
Canning, the Honble. Charles Bagot, the Rev. J. Sneyd,
the Marquess Wellesley, Lord Binning, Willam Wellesley
Pole, Lord Lyttelton, George and Charles Ellis, Bootle
Wilbraham, John Hooker Frere, Stratford Canning, and
many others, Edited by Josceline Bagot. With
Portraits, 2z Vols. Demy 8vo.

OUR FIRST AMBASSADOR TO CHINA.

THE LIFE AND CORRESPONDENCE OF

GEORGE, FIRST EARL MACARTNEY, 1737—1806,
Governor of Grenada, Envoy Extraordinary at St. Petersburg,
Chief Secretary for Ireland, Governor of Madras, Ambassador
Extraordinary to Pekin, Governor of the Cape of Good
‘Hope, etc, By Mrs. Helen H. Robbins, With Por-
traits and other Illustrations. Demy 8vo. 168. net.

THE REMINISCENCES OF THE LATE
ALBERT PELL, sometime M.P, for South Leicestershire.
Edited, with a Memoir, by Thomas Mackay.
With an Appreciation by the Right Hon. James
Bryce. With Illustrations. Demy 8vo. 158. net.

FOURTEEN YEARS IN PARLIAMENT,
1892—1906. By A. 8. T. Griffith-Boscawen, formerly
M.P. for the Tonbridge Division of Kent. Demy 8vo,
108, 6d. net.
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SIR ROBERT PEEL. Based on bis Correspondence
and Private Documents. Edited by Charles Stuart
Parker. With a Summary of Sir Robert Peel’s Life and
Character by his Grandson, the Hon. George Peel. 3 Vols.
Vol. I.—From his Birth to 1827. With Portraits. 8vo. 168,
Vols. II. and III.—From 1827 to his Death in 1853, With
Portraits, 8vo. 3as.

# A work of first importance to English histori.”—-—Du‘Iy News,
¢ Mr. Parker bas done his work with admirable fidelity and judgment.”—

~ **They replace the gossip of Croker and Greville with suthentic dats, and
tell in themselves a u?e more eloguent than that of all the previous writers
of the time,”—Dasly Chronicle,

THE DUKE OF ARGYLL, 1823-~-1900.
Edited by the Dowager Duchess of Argyll, With
Portraits and other Iilustrations, 3 Vols, Mediym 8vo.

368, net.
*It is full of vivid reminiscence. of persons who have filled large places in
the history of their country, of science, and of literature. For the general

sader the charm of these volumes will be found in the personal reminiscences,
and the refreshing irregularity jn which chapters upon high affairs of State are
interspersed with notes of travel, natura history, literature, and general
saciety,”— Morning Post,

LIFE OF THE MARQUIS OF DUFFERIN
AND AVA. By Sir Alfred Lyall, P.C. Third Im-
pression. With Portraits, etc. Demy 8vo. 2 Vols. 36s.
net.

‘A masterpiece of biographical art; the writer never obtrudes his own

nality, devoting sound judgment and consummate skill to moulding in
Just proportions the figure and lineaments of his subject.”— Punc.

THE HATZFELDT LETTERS. Letters of

Count Paul Hatzfeldt to His Wife, written from the Head-
?uarters of the King of Prussia, 1870-71. Translated
rom the French by J. L. Bashford, M.A. With
Hlustrations. Demy 8vo. 158, net.

¢ Will be one of the most widely read volumes of the present season, because

it teveals & personality of infinite attraction, . . . We have nothing but praise
for this most attractive book."—Merning Pest.

THE LIFE AND LETTERS OF GEORG
JOACHIM GOSCHEN, 1753-1828. By Viscount
Goschen, With Portrait and Illustrations. Demy 8vo,
368. uet, .

This is not merely & biography of a distinguished publisher and m?tcr, but

Is gncueally 8 history of German literature durin¥ the latter of the
[ 4

teenth benm?' Siénlclu ing many previously unpublished letters from Goethe,
Schiller, Wielan: opstock, etc.), and of the political struggles of Germany
Napoleonic Era, :



THE LIFE AND LETTERS OF SIR
JAMES GRAHAM, 1792-1861, First Lord of the
Admiralty in the Ministries of Lord Grey and Lord Aber-
deen, and Home Secretary in the Administration of Sir
Robert Peel. Edited by C. 8. Parker, Editor of “ Life
of Sir Robert Peel.” With Portraits and other Illustrations,
2 Vols. Demy 8vo, 2348. net.

SIDNEY HERBERT. Lord Herbert of Lea. A
Memoir, By Lord Stanmore. 2 Vols, With Portraits
and other Illustrations. Demy 8vo. 248. net,

" An admirable record of a noble and all too brief career."—Pali Mal?
Gasetis.

¢ Will rank high among political biographies, . . . Will be read as a
matter of course by all students of political history. It {5 a most valuable
contribution to the chronicles of the Government of fifty years ago, and it is
also & wonderful picture of the desperately hard life of a minister of the Crown,
The book is most instructive and most salutary.”—Dasly Telagragh. )

FURTHER MEMOIRS OF THE WHIG
PARTY, 1807-1827, With some Miscellaneous Remini-
scences. By Henry Richard Vassall, 3grd Lord
Holland. Edited by the Earl of llchester, Editor
of the * Letters of Lady Sarah Lennox.” With Portraits,
Demy 8vo. 18s. net.

“Lord Holland’s writings form one of the most admirable running
comments upon an interesting period of history that a politician has ever left
behind him. These Memoirs are admirably writtén, and they abound in wise
sayings, kieen observations of character, and many flashes of wit and epigram,"—
Westminster Gasette,

THE LIFE OF ISABELLA BIRD (Mm.
Bishop). By Miss Anna M. Stoddart. Third Impres-
sion. With Portraits, Maps, and other Illustrations, Demr
8vo, 188, net.

* Have you ever been taken into a studio by an artist to look at the portrait
of a friend, and been delighted and surprised by the likeness? This is exactly
what will happen to the friends of Mrs. Bishop who read Miss Stoddart’s life of
her. . . . Miss Stoddart has portrayed for us, as few could have done, the

wntirable and brilliant mind of the feeble body, the loving and broadening
soul, and the wide and philanthropic charity of Isabella Bird Bishop,"—
Blackwosd's Magasina,



LETTERS OF RICHARD FORD, legg-
1858, Edited by Rowland E. Prothero, M,V.0.,
Author of “The Psalms in Human Life,” etc,, etc. With
Portraits and other Illustrations. Demy 8vo. 108. 6d. net.

** Full of interesting reading about many people and far travels.”—Dasly

Chronicle,

‘It is altogether a welcome and fascinating windfall, or rather treasure-
trove.”— Owtlook,

DIARIES AND CORRESPONDENCE OF
SIR CHARLES JAMES FOX BUNBURY, Baronet,
1809~1886. Edited by his Sister-in-Law, Mrs. Henry
Lyell. With Portraits. 2 Vols. Demy 8vo. 308. net.

Sir Charles Bunbury was a distinguished member of Society and an accom-
plished botanist and geologist during the middle and later part of the nine-
teenth century. These volumes contain his Diaries and Letters to his family,

together with much of his Correspondence with Sir Charles Lyell, remini-
scences of eminent men of his day, of his life in London, of his travels, etc,

MOLTKE IN HIS HOME. By Friedrich
August Dressler. Authorised Translation by Mrs. C. E.
Barrett-Lennard, with an Introduction by General Lord
Methuen. With Illustrations. = Demy 8vo. 6s. net.

This does not attempt to give & biography of the great Field-Marshal, but

contains a series of sketches and incidents of his life, and of the characteristics
and surroundings of one of the greatest soldiers of the nineteenth century.

MEMOIRS OF THE LORD OF JOIN-
VILLE. By Mrs. Josiah Wedgwood. Square demy
8vo. ¢8. net.

* This is one of the most delightful works we have come across for a long
time. The translation is spirited and excellent, and the preface and notes age

just what & reader wants, and no more than he wants, for intelligent enjoyment
of one of the great stories of all times,”-— 2A¢ Spectator.

A PIETIST OF THE NAPOLEONIC
WARS AND AFTER. The Life of the Countess Reden.
From Diaries, Letters, etc., hitherto unpublished. By
Eleonore Princess Reuss. Authorised Translation: by
Mrs. Charles Edward Barrett-Lennard and M. W. Hoper.
With an Introductory Note by Robert S. Rait. With
Portraits and other Illustrations. Demy 8vo. I8, net.
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QUEEN AND CARDINAL. A Memoir of Anpe
of Austria, and of her Relations with Cardinal Mazarin.
By Mrs. Colquhoun Grant, Author of “A Mother of
Czars,” *The French Noblesse of the Eighteenth Century,”
etc, With Illustrations, Demy 8vo. 128. net,

THE FRENCH NOBLESSE OF THE
EIGHTEENTH CENTURY. Translated by Mrs.
Colquhoun Grant from “ Les Souvenirs de la Marquise
de Créquy,” publishedin 1834. Second Impression. Demy
8vo, 128, net.

* Mme. de Créquy is alive and vigorous, and we are much mistaken if, in
the new English dress, she does not make thousands of friends." — 74e Times.

ELIZABETH MONTAGU, The Queen of the
Blue-stockings. Her Correspondence from 1720 to 1461,
By her great-great Niece Emily J. Climenson.
With 15 Photogravure Portraits and other Illustrations,
2 Vols. Demy 8vo, 368, net.

*“There is a store of delightful entertainment in this collection of letters,
and the volumes should be bought and read by'all who find pleasure in con-
temporary pictures of English life in the days of our great-great-grandmothers.”

ribuna.

MRS. MONTAGU AND HER FRIENDS.
A Sketch. By René Huchon. Crown 8vo, 6s. net.

1. Characteristics.—II. The ‘ Essay on Shakespeare.”—
III. Mrs. Montagu's Social and Literary Circle: The
Blue Stockings.—IV. Conclusion,

BYGONE YEARS. Personal Reminiscences. By the
Hon. Frederick Leveson Gower, Third Impression. .
With Photogravure Portrait. Demy 8vo, 128, net.

““Long and rich social experience . . . and to add to the world’s stock of
anecdotes about distinguished people from the days of Lady Holland down to
those of My, Lowell. Will attract and give pleasure to & large number
of readers.”—7he Times,
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THE BOOK OF THE SPIRITUAL LIFE,
By the Lady Dilke. WITH A MEMOIR OF THE
A,gTHOR. By the Rt. Hon. Sir Charles Dilke,
Bart.; M.P. - With Portraits and Illustrations. Second
Impression. Square demy 8vo. 108, 6d. net. '

* Sir Charles prefaces the book with a memoir from which my Baronite
learns much that is fresh of & many-sided character, whose charm of manner

had a tendency to hide the depth of feeling and character that gleamed
beseith it.”—-THE BakoN bx }?oox-Woms in Punch, ‘

CHEAP EDITION.,

THE CORRESPONDENCE OF LADY
SARAH LENNOX, 1745-1826. Edited by the
Countess of Ilchester and Lord  Stavordale.
With numerous Portraits. 1 Vol. Demy 8vo. 108, 6d. net.

‘' Lady Ilchester and her son have earned the gratitude of all lovers of the
eighteenth century by their pullication. of the * Life and Letters of Lady Sarah

Lennox’ , . ; the letters abound with imetestin% vignettes of the society of
the life at Court, at Newmarket, in Paris, and in Ireland.”—-74he Z¥mes,

' CHEAP EDITION,

THE CREEVEY PAPERS, 1768-1838. From
Family Papers hitherto unpublished. Edited by the Rt.
Hon. Sir Herbert Maxwell, Bart., M.P. With
Portraits, 1 Vol. Demy 8vo, 108, 6d. net.

“‘ There is hardly a distingunished man of the time that Creevey did not count
his friend, . . . Wherever you turn in this remarkable volume you may find
vivid sketches of distinguished personages, the warmest praise oly friends, and
the most outspoken abuse of enemies. .. . He knew himself as Samuel Pepys
knew bimself, and like Pepys he does not mind making full and open confes-

“sioh of his sins. . . . At f;st, then, Thomas Creevey has won immortality
thlouﬁll the skilful editing of Sir Heérbert Maxwell, and our only regret is that
we did not make his better acquaintance many years ago."—The Spactator,

COMPLETION OF THE NEW LIBRARY EDITION OF THE
HISTORICAL WORKS OF , ‘

JOHN LOTHROP MOTLEY. with Photogra-
vure Illustrations. In g Vols, Demy 8vo. 108. 6d. net
each. “ History of the Rise of the Dutch Republic.,” 3 Vols,
—* History of the United Netherlands.” 4 Vols.—* John
of Barneveld.” 2 Vols. ‘

" “For the library, this series will be always indispensable, The excellent

typography and stout binding give the set every recommendation, and it is

well fitted to remain the standard edition of a work which will be permanent
in its public demand and reputation,”—FPall Mall Gaseite,



FORTIFICATION : Its Past Achievements, Recent Dévelop-
ments, Future Progress. By Colonel 8ir George 8. Clirke,
R.E., K.CM.G., F.R:S. New Edition Enlarged. With
numerous Illustrations. Medium 8va. 188. net.

ARTILLERY AND EXPLOSIVES. Essays and

Lectures written and delivered at various times, By Sir Andrew
Noble, K.C.B,, D.C.L., F.R.S. With numerous diagrams
and Illustrations. Medium 8vo. 2a18. net.

““No one can speak on the subject of modern artillery and explasives with greater
authority than Sir Andrew Noble."— Emgincering.

THE ARMY IN 1906. A Policy and a Vindication. By
the Rt. Hon. H. O. Arnold-Forster, M.P. Demy 8vo.
158. net. :

* Mr. Arnold-Forster's remarkable work will be read with the deepest attention and
respect by all who have the interest of the Army at heart; and though many may
differ from him, now as formerly, in reference to matters of detail, few will be found
to deny that the principles he enunciates are in themselves absolutely sound. . . .
However much any may disagree with Mr. Arnold-Forster's proposals, few will deny
that he hes givén very strong reasons in support of them all.”— Westminster Gasatéc.

IMPERIAL OUTPOSTS. From a Strategical and Com-
mercial Aspect. With Special Reference to the Japanese Alljance,
By Colonel A. M. Murray. With a Preface by Field-
Marshal The Earl Roberts, V.C., K.G. With Maps and
Nlustrations, Demy 8vo.  138. net.
 We sBould like to see every officer in the British Anmy with the wide vision and
interest in the strategical and commercial organization of the Empire which Colone
Murray displays.”—Sgectator.
¢ Colon€l Marray deals with subjects of the highest interest. If we note thoss
opinions. from which we differ, it inust be with the preliminary remarks that there
is still more in the book with which we thoroughly agrec, and that the whole of it is
suggestive and worthy of the most careful consideration.”— Atkenesm.

THE ART OF RECONNAISSANCE. By Colonel

Ddvid Henderson, D.S.0. With Diagridins. Small crown
8vo. §8s. net.

PRINCIPLES AND METHODS—PROTRCTION AND SecORITY~CONTACT—INDE-
PENDENT RRCONNAISSANCE—~THE SCOUT—THE PATROL—RRCONNAISSANCR OF
GROUND—TRANSMIGSION OF INFORMATION.

This wark is a guide to the study of reconnaissance in the field undér modern
conditions of war, and deals with the practical details as well as with the theoretical
principles of the subject. It has been -printed in clear type on spécial paper and so
bound that it can be conveniently carried in the pocket by military students.
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CAVALRY IN FUTURE WARSs By HiaExcel-
lency Lt.-General Frederick von Bernhavdl, Commander
of the yth Division of the German Army. Translated by Charles
&d_ney Goldman, Editor of “ The Empire and the Century.”

ith "an Introduttion %y General Sir John French,
x-c}“ﬁ'ﬂo, Koc‘Bu Gnc- .0- Demy 870. 108. Gd‘ net, ’
o H;m « u;,“ww ! unpf.;:’ have a really foyportant woek on thé

q:gen:ﬁl!om:‘wwma g mﬁ’ékgz'ﬂﬁhmwm o1 t:)f.‘:l&:

panﬁ!ely uz%ing details ; he displays & sound know! and judgment conceming

il orgapization, simtegy, tactics, and ing; and moreover, he

y understands horses, so that he is enabled to offer very valuable service
on evmt connected with them, from training of the remount to the economical
use of h in war.”— Wastminster Gasette.

THE GERMAN OFFICIAL ACCOUNT OFf
THE WAR IN SOUTH AFRICA. Prepared iri the Historical
Section of the Great General Staff, Berlin. Translated by
Colone! W. H. H, Waters, R.A,, C.V.0,, and Colonel
Hubert Du Cane, R.A,, M.V.O. 2 Vols, With Maps and
Plans, Demy 8vo. 158. net each.

 The most valuable work in which, since its close, the war has been discussed.
It stands alone, because it is the only work in which the war has been surveyed by
trained and competent students of war, the only one of which the {xd ents ars
based on & familiarity with the modern theory of war, The best book that has yet
appeared on the South African War.”— The Morming FPost.

FROM LIBAU TO TSU-SHIMA. A Narrative of the
Voyage of Admiral Rojdestvensky’s Squadron to the East, including
a detailed Account of the Dogger Bank Incident. By the late
Eugene Politovsky, Chief Engineer of the Squadron. Trans-
lated by Major F. R. Godfrey, R.M,L.I. Crown 8vo. 6s.

¢ A painful book, but n deeply interesting and a really valuable one, which will
ave & place of ‘permanent value among the documents of the Russo-Japanese war.”

—~Daily Telegraph,
BEFORE PORT ARTHUR IN A DESTROYER.

The Persona_l_Dia.rg of a Japanese Naval Officer. Translated
from the Spanish Edition by Captain R. Grant, D,8.0.,
Rifle Brigade. With Maps and IHustrations. Cheap Edition.
Square 8vo. 38, 6d. net.

1t is pre-eminently a book to be read for enjoyment as well as §nstruction
but it wﬂF fall short of its more imrediate value if measures are not devised fo{
bringing it before the attention of those responsible for the education of * youngsters
in training for a sea life.”—Pall Mail Gazette, :

THE BATTLE OF TSU-SHIMA. Between the

Japanese and Russian Fleets, fought on the a7th May, 1905, By
Capgain Viadimir Semenoft (one ofthe survivors), Transa
lated by Captain A. B. Lindsay. With a face by
Sir George Sydenham Clarke. Crown 8vo. 38. 6d. net.
s0 14 is one of the most thrillink and touching records of naval warfare thét w
bave ever read.”— Zhs Westminsicr Gasetts.

LoxpoN: JOHN MURRAY, ALBEMARLE STRBLT.
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